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ABSTRACT 

This study examines the validity of a theory oflslamic Corporate Repo1iing proposed by Baydoun 

and Willett (1994). Specifically, the theory suggests that Islamic communities would be better 

served by a corporate repmiing model which includes a current value financial position statement 

and a value added statement. Baydoun and Willett's normative model was developed based on 

what Muslims ought to desire (the desirable). To determine if the desirable aligns with what 

Muslims actually desire (the desired), the theory was empirically tested in this thesis by reference 

to Muslim and non-Muslim users in Malaysia and New Zealand. 

Data was collected through a questionnaire survey and a quasi-experiment. Survey respondents 

comprised of accountants, bank lending officers, financial analysts and zakat officers. Subjects 

for the quasi-experiment comp1ised final year accounting students of four universities, three :in 

Malaysia and one in New Zealand. Primarily, the study examines perception differences between 

Muslims and non-Muslims relating to the usefuh1ess of the current value balance sheet and the 

value added statement. The thesis also investigates the difference in perceived usefulness between 

two types of financial statements: differences between the current value balance sheet and the 

histmical cost balance sheet, and differences between the value added statement and the income 

statement by Muslims and non-Muslims separately. 

Overall the hypothesis that Muslims and non-Muslims would differ in their perceptions of the 

usefulness of the current value balance sheet and the value added statement have not been 

supported by the results of this study. Similarly, there was very little evidence to show that 

Muslims would prefer the value added statement over the profit and loss account or the cmTent 

value financial position statement over the historical cost balance sheet. The results regarding 
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non-Muslims were s:imilar. Thus, superficially, there appears to be little to support the contention 

that the cultural context of human activities ( of which religion is a significant part) is relevant to 

financial repo1ting. 

However, such empirical :findings have to be interpreted with care. To ask questions concerning 

the proper fonn of accounting in an Islamic society, which is ultimately an ethical matter, it is 

necessary to invoke a purposive dimension in the search for answers. The way things are does 

not necessaiily imply the way things should be. It may be, for example, that the technology of 

accounting which has been imported into Islamic communities is destructive of their values in 

some instances. This issue (i.e. the reasons why accounting is what it is in Islamic societies today 

and not based on what it apparently should be) is developed in significance as the research 

progresses. It becomes a central theme in the later stages of the thesis. 
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1 The Problem 

Chapter 1 

Introduction 

Presently, one witnesses a mounting religious commitment throughout the Muslim world1
• At the 

heart of this resurgence is an increased emphasis on the Islamic Shari 'a as the basic source from 

which a Muslim's religious identity and practice in individual and corporate life are detived 

(Esposito, 1991)2. In line with this, Muslim countries are gradually realigning their economic 

activities to accord with the tenets of Islam. There is also a perception, among some writers, of 

a growing trend towards unifying Muslims into a political-economic entity which may eventually 

influence the direction of world trade (Abdel-Magid, 1981)3. Given that accounting is a product 

of its environment (e.g. Perera, 1989a; Choi and Mueller, 1992; AlHashim and Arpan, 1992; 

Radebaugh and Gray, 1993), the phenomenon enveloping the Muslim world today will impose 

1Chanclra Muzaffar (1986) listed the following factors as contributing to the Islamic resurgence: 
1. disillusionment with Wes tern civilization among a new Muslim generation, 
2. the failure of capitalism and socialism, 
3. the life style of secular elites in Muslim states, 
4. the desire for power among a segment of the expanding middle class that cannot be accommodated politically, 
5. the search for psychological security among new urban migrants, 
6. the city environment, 
7. the economic strength of certain Muslim countries as a result of the new oil wealth and finally, 
8. a sense of confidence about the future in the wake of the 1973 Egyptian victory, the 1979 Iranian revolution and the 

dawn of the fifteenth century of the Muslim calendar. 

2The Oxford Dictionary defines 'resurgence' as 'the act of rising again'. According to Muzaffar (1986), resurgence was 
his choice of word to describe the phenomenon in the Muslim world today for three main reasons. Firstly, it conveys the 
impression that Islam is regaining its prestige and self-respect. Secondly, "rising again" connotes a phenomenon that has 
happened before, referring to the past glory of Islam. Finally, resurgence embodies the notion of challenge to those who 
adhere to other worldviews, suggesting the espousal of an Islamic alternative as a possible threat to the prevailing 
dominant social systems. For an interesting discussion on the distinction between Islamic resurgence, Islamic revivalism 
and Islamic fundamentalism, see Muzaffar (1986). ln this thesis however, the terms resurgence and revivalism are used 

interchangeably. 

3 A Muslim country refers to a nation that has a predominantly large Muslim population; its way of life may or may not 
strictly follow the tenets of Islam (e.g. see Pryor, 1985; Al-Burney, 1990). An Islamic country, on the other hand, is one 
in which the Shari'a is the authoritative regulative law of the state and the society, both in theory and practice (e.g. 
Rosenthal, 1965). 

1 



new infonnation objectives. More specifically, since the environment in Muslim societies is 

culturally different :in several respects from that of the developed West, it follows that the 

objectives of 'Islamic' accounting may also be different4• Thus, the emergence of an Islamic 

accounting system seems plausible (Choi and Mueller, 1992). 

Several writers such as Gambling and Karim (1991), Hamid et al (1993), and Baydoun and Willett 

(1994) have suggested that the relationship between Islam and accounting could or should be a 

significant one. From an Islamic perspective, the Western disclosure framework may be too 

restrictive with regard to fulfilling certain accountability aspects embodied in the Islamic Shari'a 

(Baydoun and Willett, 1994). Since Islam has its own cohesive rules that dictate how a business 

should be conducted, for accounting theory and practices to be relevant to devout Muslim users, 

theories must be developed in accordance with the Islamic Shari'a (Gambling and Kaiim, 1991). 

The principal issue addressed :in this study is whether or not the financial reporting systems 

cmTently adopted by Muslim countries meet the needs of Muslim users and, if not, what form they 

should take. 

To specifically address the above issue and in the context of corporate reporting, Baydoun and 

Willett (1994) developed a theory as to what should constitute Islamic Corporate Rep01ts. The 

development of the model was in response to criticisms published in international accounting 

journals :in recent years that Western accounting procedures are often not relevant to the needs 

of non-Western societies, particularly those with developing economies (e.g. Scott, 1970; Briston, 

1978; Samuels and Oliga, 1982) and distinctive religious beliefs (e.g. Gambling and Karim, 1991; 

Hamid et al, 1993; Baydoun a11d Willett, 1994). It was ai-gued that, given the emphasis on 

4The term 'Islamic accounting' or 'Islamic Corporate Reporting' denotes a system that is in accordance with Islamic 
principles. It does not connote a 'religious' system as such. 
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responsibility and accountability in Islam, an info11nation system that is relevant to such societies 

would be one that satisfies the plinciples of full disclosure and social accountability. Specifically, 

the theory suggests that Islamic societies would be better served by an Islamic Corporate 

Reporting model that includes a current value financial position statement and a value added 

statement rather than just the traditional Western reports of historic cost balance sheet and profit 

and loss account5
• Baydoun and Willett's theory may be regarded as an adaptation of the 

purposive model advocated by AlHashim and Arpan (1992). The purposive model presclibes 

accounting methods, standards, and reports in response to definitive user needs6
• The theoretical 

underpinnings of the relevance of the cmTent value balance sheet and the value added statement 

to Muslim users are elaborated in Chapter 4. 

2 Objectives of the study 

Baydoun and Willett's (1994) framework is based on the nonnative values of Muslims, that is on 

what Muslims ought to desire (the desirable)7. Whether or not this aligns with what Muslims 

actually desire (the desired) is one of the issues discussed in this thesis. While the fo11ner refers 

to what is ethically light and is related to ideology, the latter relates to more pragmatic issues 

(Hofstede, 1980). This study investigates the relationship between the desired and the desirable 

by reference to Muslim users in Malaysia. Data are collected on the perceptions of accounting 

info11nation users regarding the usefulness of certain financial statements. 

5Since the source and application of funds statement (or the cash flow statement) is present in both systems, it is not 
specifically mentioned. 

6 Al-Faisal and AlHashim (1993) suggested that the purposive model would be most suitable for developing 
countries, especially Saudi Arabia, because of the unique environmental forces (e.g. religion). 

7According to Hofstede (1980) there is a need to distinguish between the "desired" and the "desirable". "Desired" 
values are values that people actually desire and "desirable" values are those values they think ought to be desired. 
Hofstede argued that values held by the majority would be those that are "desired". He then suggested that values should 
not be equated to deeds for behaviour depends on both the person and the situation. Consequently, this gives rise to 
another possible discrepancy: that between the "actual" and the "desired". This study however, concentrates on the first 
mentioned level of analysis, i.e. the "desired" and the "desirable". 
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Two plimary issues are investigated. Firstly, the thesis examines differences :in perceptions 

between Muslims and non-Muslims on the usefuh1ess of the current value balance sheet and the 

value added statement. Secondly, it investigates the difference in perceived usefulness between 

two types of financial statements: differences between the current value balance sheet and the 

hist01ical cost balance sheet, and differences between the value added statement and the income 

statement by Muslims and non-Muslims separately. The first is a comparison between two 

religious groups, the second focuses on a compaiison of the usefuh1ess of two financial statements 

by each group. 

3 Scope of research 

The emp:iJ.ical component of this study does not test whether the form of reporting suggested by 

Baydoun arid Willett (1994) is desirable from an Islamic point of view. The latter issue is 

addressed rather, through a process of clitical analysis. This point needs emphasising. Baydoun 

arid Willett's theory is based on what Muslims ought to desire, while the empilical work reported 

here is an investigation on what Muslims actually desire and how they would act on the 

infonnation given. Clearly, all three levels of analysis (what should be desired; what is actually 

desired; and action taken) may differ in the way they ar·e best investigated. The first must be 

derived using a deductive approach based on reasoning from ethical precepts; the second is 

investigated empiiically using a postal questionnaire survey, and the last through a quasi

expe1iment. Individuals may act differently to what they desire and what they desire may not be 

desirable. Given the fact that what is desirable accounting practice may not coincide with what 

is desired by way of accounting information, and what is cmTently practised may not align with 

either of the first two levels of ai1alysis, the results from such investigation may provide a.ii 

:iJ.1terest:iJ.1g :iJ.1sight into the whole issue of what constructing an Islamic accounting system entails8
• 

8As noted in Hofstede (1980), Levitin cautioned against equating the desired (or the actual) with the desirable, 
contending that equating the two may lead to "positivistic fallacy". 
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Related to these are two pe1tinent issues: the first concerns the distinction between the 'scope' and 

the 'force' of Islam; and the second is the issue of 'universal' and 'particular' Islam. Both of these 

issues may give 1ise to the present existence of a gap between the desired and the desirable, in the 

context of an Islamic accounting system. 

3.1 The 'scope' and 'force' of Islam 

According to Geertz (1968), 'scope' refers to the range of social contexts within which religious 

considerations are regarded while 'force' refers to the thoroughness with which such a pattern is 

:internalised in the personalities of the individuals who adopt it. In Malaysia today, one witnesses 

a 'return to Islamic living'. While an obvious example of this trend is that of the modest attire 

worn by Muslim females, other subtle changes in conduct and behaviour may not be so obvious. 

Whether this outward manifestation of Islamic values is brought about because of direct personal 

commitment and expeiience or from subscribing to the tenor of the times is hard to say (Nagata, 

1984). Hassan (1994) is of the opinion that both the scope and force of Islam in Malaysia have 

progressively expanded. If such a contention is true and if Baydoun and Willett's analysis is 

correct, one would expect to find a difference in the perceptions of usefulness of the value added 

statement and the current value balance sheet between Muslims and non-Muslims. One would 

expect what Muslims actually desire would align with what they ought to desire. This matter is, 

of course, significantly influenced by the environment within which Islam is being practised. 

3.2 The 'universalistic' and the 'particularistic' aspects of Islam 

When one conceives oflslam as an ideology, a contradiction between two perspectives emerges: 

the 'universalistic' and the 'paiticularistic' (Siddique, 1985). The fonner reflects on canonical 

Islam and its orthodox commentaiies as embodied in the Qur'an and the Shari'a. The latter is 

essentially a product of the environment. The distinction between 'universal' and 'particular' Islam 

may have some parallel to the concepts of the desirable and the desired mentioned earlier. 

Universal !slain dictates that politically, there should exist an ideal worldwide ummah ( community 
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of believers) and that there should be an economic system based on social justice and the 

redistribution of wealth as idealised :in the payment of zakat. This universalistic perspective of 

Islam, sometimes referred to as nonnative Islam, constitutes the 'valid' Islam of the religious 

scholars (Holy, 1991, p5). Baydoun and Willett's theory is thus based on 'universal' Islam, i.e. on 

what Muslims ought to perceive as appropriate. 

The way Muslims lead their lives is sometimes far from the ideal. Ahmed (1988) has alluded to 

the fact that a gap between the 'desirable' and the 'desired' is highly likely. In addition, although 

the fundamental elements of belief and practice of Islam are agreed upon by all Muslims as norms 

which they seek to fulfill, the degree of emphasis put on each one is variable throughout Muslim 

c01mnunities, societies and traditions. This may be explained, in part, by the influence of localised 

elements of indigenous customs and cultural expressions. One would not expect all Muslim 

countries (or for that matter, all Muslims) to be similar in respect of the characteristics reported 

ill this study . Hence, generalisations on the basis of the findings of this study would be 

misleading. The alternative universalist view in the present context is that there is no difference 

between Musfun societies or between any society as far as accounting is concerned. The research 

reported in this thesis is relevant to the issue of the 'universality' of accounting practices. 

4 Motivation for and contribution of research 

Although there has been an increased awareness of the possible :influence of Islam on accounting 

(e.g. Hamid et al, 1993; Gambling and Karim, 1991; Baydoun and Willett, 1994 and 1995), the 

literature is funited at the present tune. Empirical research is almost non-existent. Furthennore, 

there has not been any detailed analysis of concrete instances. It is hoped that the findings of this 

study will help to claiify some of the complex issues associated with the relationship between a 

religion and accounting. While identifying a.11d reviewing literature on !slain a.11d Islainic 

eco1101nics posed no paiticular problem ill the pursuit of this thesis, finding material on accounting 
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from an Islamic perspective in the English language proved to be difficult. This fact acted as a 

catalyst to the development of the research. 

By contrast, the more general question of the influence of culture on accounting has been a hotly 

debated topic (e.g. Gray, 1988; Perera, 1989a & 1989b; Baydoun and Willett, 1995). Given that 

religion is a subset of culture (a point which will be explicated in more detail later), the theoretical 

approaches used in the 'culture and accounting' literature are obvious points of departure for this 

research. This is one of the main reasons why the Hofstede-Gray model of the cultural relevance 

of accounting systems is dealt with :in greater detail at various points in the following chapters. The 

:importance of the Hofstede-Gray paradigm in the study is in relation to assessing the usefuh1ess 

of the proposed Islamic Corporate Reporting model rather than to the dete1mination of the 

descliptive 'correctness' of such a model. Baydoun and Willett's (1994) perspective was similar. 

While the researcher acknowledges the deficiencies of the Hofstede-Gray theory, it neve1theless 

provides a strncture with which the relationship between culture, religion and accounting may be 

examined. In order to detennine the significance and impo1tance of accounting to a particular 

cmmnunity, it is necessary to understand its value system. In the case of Islamic societies, the key 

to Islamic accounting and financial reporting lies in the individual's relationship to God, the world 

he lives in, his relationship with others and the nature and purpose of his existence. The analysis 

of the Islamic worldview in relation to Baydoun and Willett's (1994) theory may be considered as 

one pe1tinent contribution of this study. Baydoun and Willett's work on the Islamic Corporate 

Repmting model lacks this aspect of analysis. 

Several fmther contlibutions of this research are anticipated. The methodology used in gathering 

data for this study differs from previous studies in at least two respects. Firstly, while p1ior 

research examining the usefuh1ess of financial statements relied solely on laboratory experiments, 

7 



questionnaire surveys or :interviews, th:is project used all three methods9
• Secondly, in the survey, 

questionnaires were sent to bank lending officers, financial analysts, accountants, and zakat 

officers10
• While the first three have been investigated many times before, zakat officers have 

never before been examined as a user group for the obvious reason that this group does not exist 

in the West. In the case of Muslim count1ies, zakat officers would be considered to be an 

important user group. 

The data gathered here may help shape policy decisions pe1taining to impo1tant disclosure issues 

in financial rep01ting in Malaysia. It may, for example, guide policy makers concerned with 

evolving a better framework for published financial statements to be more in line with what 

Malaysian users perceive as being useful. Whatever the outcomes of the empirical investigation, 

the info1mation gathered should provide a useful input for policy recommendations. The study 

should make a contribution to cmTent research in attempting for the first time to test a theory in 

an area of the literature where theoretical concepts are noticeably vague. Empilical work is 

usually less focused than the approach suggested here. According to Wallace (1990), research 

on accounting in developing countries lacks depth. To some extent, this research aims to address 

that concern. 

While prior work examini11g the implications of Islam on accounting generally focused on the 

nonnative view of what should be (e.g. Gambling and Kaiim, 1991; Hainid et al, 1993; Baydoun 

mid Willett, 1994 ), this study examines Islainic accounting from the perspective of both: what is 

actually desired by users of accounts and what should be desired. To the extent that a gap exists 

9Interviews were conducted during the pilot study. 

10Zakat is a religious levy on Muslims whose wealth exceeds a certain specified minimum, the amount so collected is 
distributed to the needy. Zakat officers are those entrusted with the collection and disbursement of such funds. 
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between what is desired and what ought to be desired, this research should provide for an 

interesting analysis of the phenomenon. Further, given the dearth of research investigating 

Malaysian users' accounting information needs, it is envisaged that the study will further enhance 

the literature :in this area too. It is hoped that the empilical part of the work in Malaysia may 

contribute, to some extent, towards the Malaysian government's Islam:isation project11
• 

Finally, and with regard to the last point, there is the larger issue of whether the question of 

Islamic Corporate Reporting is essentially one which can be addressed through positivistic 

research. Fact finding and descliptive research of the type canied out in this thesis are necessary 

:in order to base infonnal judgements about matters pertaining to ethics on sound foundations. 

However, ultimately, one :inevitably returns to questions of moral judgement which in this context 

lie in the Qur'an. Thus, there is the overall question of the extent to which currently produced 

'Western' financial statements serve or act against the teachings of Islam. This matter is also 

discussed :in detail in this thesis. 

5 Organisation of chapters 

This study is reported in three main stages: a review of the literature, data collection, and a 

discussion of the findings. These stages of the thesis are organised into eight chapters as follows: 

Chapter 2 reviews the literature on culture, religion and accounting. More specifically, 

Hofstede's (1980) study on culture and Gray's (1988) theory on the relationship between 

accounting practice and societal values are highlighted with a view to establishing a theoretical 

framework of the thesis. Baydoun and Willett's (1995) theory is used in this context and :is 

elaborated in detail. 

11Islamisation is the process of realising that the unitive Islamic worldview does not recognise the separation of life into 
the realm of God and the realm of man or the separation of material concerns from spiritual values. 
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Chapter 3 is a review of Islam, its worldview and how this may influence the behaviour of 

Muslims. Although this is not a study of theology per se, it is necessary to elaborate on Islam and 

its philosophical foundations in order to understand the relevance of the theory developed dming 

the course of this thesis. It is argued that since Islam does not separate the religious and the 

secular and because Islamic values penneate every activity of a Muslim, one can expect the Islamic 

faith to influence what Muslims will perceive as useful accounting infonnation. The ethical 

axioms of Unity, Equiliblium, Free Will and Responsibility provide a basis on which a true system 

of Islamic accounting may eventually be developed. Again, it is emphasised that this chapter 

examines 'universal' Islam, that is the nonnative aspect of Islam 12
• The material from Chapters 

2 and 3 fonns the basis for the theoretical framework discussed in the following chapter. 

Chapter 4 establishes the theoretical framework used in the remainder of the thesis. The issues 

exam:ined fall into three distinct areas: those which attempt specifically to claiify the relationship 

between accounting approaches and cultural values; the general issues of measurement and 

disclosure aspects of accounting practice; and the Islamic Shari 'a. The last represents the source 

from which the fraine of reference for many beliefs about the nature and role of accounting is 

delived in Islamic societies. As mentioned above, the theoretical framework for the study relies 

to a great extent on the Hofstede-Gray model as extended by Baydoun and Willett (1995), while 

the empilical work draws on Baydoun ai1d Willett's (1994) theory of Islamic Corporate Reporting. 

In order to examine the validity of the theory, the model is clitically evaluated against the ideal 

Islamic value system. In addition, the usefulness of the model is also assessed using the Hofstede

Gray framework. 

12up to a point, upon which opinions differ (Nasr, 1985), universal Islam is common (as in the five pillars of Islam and 
the two primary sources of the Shari'a) to the two sects in Islam, the Shi'ites and the Sunnis and between the four schools 
of thoughts among the Sunnis. The four schools of thought in Sunni Islam are the Maliki, the Hanafi, the Hanbali and 
the Shafi'i. A full discussion of this is beyond the scope of this thesis. However, interested readers may refer to Nasr 
(1985) and Denny (1994). 
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Chapter 5 discusses the main research methods for gathering the empilical data, namely the 

survey, the experilnent and the case study method. The employment of multiple methods in 

gathering data, according to some researchers (e.g. Birnberg et al, 1990; Gable, 1994), increases 

the robustness of the results and strengthens the validity of the research. Data for this project was 

thus collected through both a laboratory experiment and a mail questionnaire survey. The former 

(which used students as smTogates for ilwestors) enabled inferences to be made about actual 

behaviour in response to the provision of infonnation. The latter had the advantage of covering 

a wide cross section of users, which is an :important issue in an exploratory study. The survey was 

conducted in Malaysia while the experilnent used subjects from Malaysia. and New Zealand. For 

the latter, data was collected from Malaysian accounting students in Otago University. 

Chapter 6 describes the data collection and its analysis. Both the data collected from the 

experiment and the survey were mainly analysed using non-parametric statistics, namely the Mann 

Whitney U and the Wilcoxon Signed Rank test. Survey data was also subjected to further testing 

using equivalent parametric tests (the t-test and the paired t-test). Only the results from the non

parametric tests are discussed because the data appeared to be non-n01mal. The results of the 

parametric tests are included in an appendix. 

Chapter 7 provides a discussion of the results. More specifically this chapter examines the 

possible ca.uses that may have contributed to the existence of the 'gap', identified in Chapter 6, 

between what Muslims ought to desire and what they actually desire. Following Wallerstein 

(1979), it is argued that capitalism gives rise to one common world economy. In creating an 

il1terdependent world, the Western European colonisation in the nineteenth and twentieth centuries 

has ilnposed its own accomplishments as a universal standard. Globalisation has raised the 
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pressure for the acceptance of universal practices (such as economics, banking, accounting, etc) 

in the spilit of capitalism regardless of one's religious affiliation or cultural inclinations. The 

consequences of this for the belief systems of Islam and Islamic principles are discussed and their 

policy implications analysed. 

Chapter 8 summarises the findings m1d discusses the limitations of the research, provides 

recommendations with regards to financial rep01iing in Malaysia and suggests some directions for 

future research. 

In addition, the accounting environment and the development of Islam in Malaysia m·e discussed 

in Appendix A and Appendix E respectively. 
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Chapter 2 

Culture and Accounting: A Review of Literature 

Introduction 

This chapter reviews research examining culture's influence on accounting. Given that religious 

beliefs can be interpreted as a subset of culture (see section 2.1), the objective of this review is to 

develop a basis for a theoretical framework for this study. The following section deals with the 

relevance of Western accounting models to developing countries. Section 2 examines the various 

concepts of culture including national culture and the relationship of religion to these. Section 3 

assesses Gray's framework on the supposed linkages between cultural values and accounting and 

a brief review of studies that have adopted Gray's framework. Section 4 addresses the influence 

of Islam on society in general, and accounting in particular. Section 5 summarises the main points 

aiising from the review. 

1 The relevance of Western based accounting systems to developing economies 

Accounting is claimed by some writers to be a product of its environment (e.g. Perera, 1989a; 

Choi and Mueller, 1992; AlHashim and Arpan, 1992; Radebaugh and Gray, 1993). As such, a 

country's accounting system may be significantly influenced by a variety of environmental factors. 

These include the legal and political framework, the nature of ownership, size and complexity of 

businesses, the level of sophistication of business maiiagers and the financial community, the 

degree of legislative inte1ference in business, the presence of specific accounting legislation, the 

speed of business innovations, the level of economic development and growth pattern, the status 

of professional education and organisation, and the social climate (e.g. Choi and Mueller, 1992; 

A1Hashim and Arpan, 1992; Radebaugh and Gray, 1993). 

According to certain schools of thought, accounting is a set of beliefs and techniques that has the 
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ability to link actions and values so as to legitimise those actions (Richardson, 1987). Hopwood 

(1991) elaborated this view further by stating that accounting can be considered as a technical 

phenomenon shaped by the cultures, institutional configurations, and the socio-historical 

circumstances of the specific societies from which it emerges. Despite recognising environmental 

factors as having a significant influence in moulding a country's accounting system, most 

developing countries have neve1theless, in practice, imported their accounting systems from the 

indust1ialised Western count1ies (Briston, 1978)1. Thus, it is not surprising that some studies on 

accounting in developing countries have concluded that Western based accounting systems a.re 

irrelevant to the needs of developing countries (e.g. Briston, 1978; Samuels and Oliga, 1982; 

Perera, 1989b; Belkaoui and Picur, 1991). These 'imp01ts' do not reflect the circumstances of the 

'imp01ters'. 

More recently, however, there has been increasing discussion about the possible influence of 

culture on accounting practices (e.g. Jaggi, 1975; Gray, 1988; Perera, 1989a; Fechner and Kilgore, 

1994; Hamid et al, 1993; Hussein, 1996; Secord and Su, 1994; Baydoun and Willett, 1995). This 

is to be expected, for if accounting is a socio-technical activity, it is unlikely to be free of cultural 

influences (see Violet, 1983; Perera, 1989a). Various authors have suggested that the extent of 

disclosure in financial reports appear to be different between countries in line with the value 

01ientations of the preparers (e.g. Jaggi, 1975; Violet, 1983; Perera, 1989a). Hussein (1996) also 

expressed the belief that the cultural context of human activities is relevant to financial reporting 

and that culture is a major factor underlying the evolution of accounting systems internationally. 

There appears to be a general consensus that the impact of culture on accounting is significant. 

1V arious channels through which this 'importation' takes place include the presence of multinational companies 
(Seidler, 1969), colonisation (Heatly, 1979), local affiliates of professional accounting firms and financial and technical 
aid granted by the industrialised West. All these factors have a significant impact on the development of accounting 
systems in developing countries (Baydoun and Willett, 1995). 
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2 Aspects of culture 

Logically, to examine the :impact of culture on accounting practices, one must first identify the way 

:in which a set of specific cultural factors is likely to be associated with accounting practices and 

then examine the manner :in which the relationship occurs (Perera, 1989a). However, defining 

culture is no easy task. There is no overall consensus as to the precise meaning of culture 

(Seymour-Smith, 1986). Soeters and Schreuder (1988) stated that there are as many definitions 

of culture as there are authors writing on the subject. The classical definition of culture, as noted 

:in Violet (1983), is learned behaviour2
• Tylor (1929), considered by many to be the founder of 

modern anthropology, regarded culture as the knowledge, belief, mt, morals, law, custom, and any 

other capabilities and habits that are acquired by man as a member of society. 

Winthrop (1991) defined culture according to the context in which it was being used. In social 

anthropology, culture is said to be the atTangements of belief and custom through which social 

relations are expressed. In material studies, it is the patterned knowledge, technique m1d 

behaviour through which humans adapt to the natural world. In ethnoscience, culture is a set of 

standm·ds for behaviour considered auth01itative within a society; and finally, in symbolic studies, 

a system of meanings through which social life is interpreted. Hence, culture is a product of 

mankind; an integrated system of learned behaviour patterns chm·actedstic of the members of a 

society. It is a social phenomenon invented to cope with the natural environment (Violet, 1983). 

According to Wissler (1923), the broader concept of culture includes speech, matedal traits, mt, 

knowledge, religion, society, property, government and war. Thus, the study of culture is 

characterised by a unique problem arising from the numerous factors that constitute its 

components. In order to develop a commonly acceptable, well-defined and empidcally based 

2The definition of culture as learned behaviour distinguishes it from instinctive reactions to environmental factors. The 
latter is generally determined through genetic codes while the former is a product of man's activities (Violet, 1983). 
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methodology to describe culture, Hofstede identified four (later five) distinct dimensions which 

he regarded as reflective of the cultural 01ientation of a country. Hofstede's societal values are 

discussed next. 

2.1 National culture 

Hofstede (1987) likened culture to a software; being invisible and unconscious, culture represents 

alternative answers to common questions posed by particular categories of people. He defined 

culture as "the collective prograimning of the 1nind which distinguishes the members of one human 

group from a11other" (Hofstede, 1980, p25). Thus, from Hofstede's perspective, the culture of 

a society represents the set of likely reactions of citizens with a common mental programming. 

From his extensive empilical study of IBM and its subsidiaries in forty (later fifty three) countries 

exainining the differences and similaiities of societal ( cultural) values of different countties, he 

developed four culture based societal values, which, it was argued, captured the essential 

distinctive features of national culture: Individualism, Power Distance, Uncertainty Avoidance, 

Mascufuuty a11d Confucia11 Dynaillism (Short versus Long Tenn Orientation). Subsequent to this, 

authors investigating the impact of culture on accounting have often had occasion to use 

Hofstede's cultural dimensions (e.g. Gray, 1988; Perera, 1989a; Gerhady, 1990, Baydoun and 

Willett, 1995). Hofstede's five cultural values or dimensions ai·e briefly described below: 

Individualism versus Collectivism 
This dimension addresses the degree of interdependence that a society maintains amongst individuals. 
Individualism is the preference for a loosely knit social framework where the "I" concept is prominent. 
On the other hand, collectivism describes a society which prefers a tightly knit social framework where 
the concept of "we" prevails. 

Large versus small Power Distance 
Power Distance measures the way inequalities in status are handled by members of a society. Large 
Power Distance societies accept the established hierarchical order. In small Power Distance societies 
people strive for power equalisation and demand justification for power inequalities. 

Strong versus weak Uncertainty Avoidance 
Uncertainty Avoidance describes the extent to which the members of a society feel comfortable with 
uncertainty and ambiguity. Strong Uncertainty Avoidance societies tend to have rigid codes of belief 
and behaviour and tend to be intolerant towards deviant persons and ideas. In contrast, Weak 
Uncertainty Avoidance societies maintain a more relaxed atmosphere where pragmatism is more 
important than theoretical principle, and deviant behaviour is more acceptable. 
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Masculinity versus Femineity 
Masculinity addresses the way societies allocate social roles. A society is said to be Masculine if it 
attributes higher value to the characteristics of achievement, heroism, assertiveness and material 
success. On the other hand, a society is said to be Feminine if it prefers 'nurturing' relationships, 
modesty, caring for the weak and quality of life. 

Short versus Long Term Orientation3 

This dimension refers to the way some societies take a short-term view of life while others go for a long
term outlook. The former is characterised ( among other things) by a society that has high regards for 
maintaining traditions, a greater respect for social and status obligations, does not rank savings as a 
priority and the expectation of quick results. A society with a LongTerm Orientation is one which is 
willing to adapt traditions to be more in line with the modern world, only respect social and status 
obligations within limits, would tend towards thriftiness and would exhibit a perseverance for slow 
results. 

The origins of societal values can be found in a variety of factors that affect the ecological 

enviromnent (the geographic, economic, demographic, historical, technological, and urbanisation 

factors). Both ecological factors and societal values may be expected to influence the 

development and maintenance of institutions in societies. Those institutions include legal and 

political systems, financial systems, the nature of business ownership, the education system, 

professional associations, and religious institutions. Once developed, these institutional 

arrangements tend to reinforce the societal values and the factors giving rise to those values 

(Hofstede, 1980; Radebaugh and Gray, 1993). However, changes in societal values may occur 

,md these are mainly the result of external influences through the forces of nature or the forces of 

the people. The latter comprises factors such as international trade and investment as well as 

conquests (colonisation and wars). Accordingly, such external forces affect societal values 

primaiily through shifts in the ecological enviromnent (Hofstede, 1980; Gray, 1988; Perera, 1989a; 

Radebaugh and Gray, 1993). Perera's (1989a) diagrain on these relationships is depicted in Figure 

2.1. Although accounting values and accounting systems have been included in the diagra.111, these 

issues will be examined :in the context of the Hofstede-Gray model to be discussed in section 3. 

Given the broad definition of culture just outlined, it can also be argued that ecological factors, 

3Few studies have yet used this dimension in the analysis of accounting issues. Willett et al (1997a) briefly discussed 
the relevance of this cultural dimension to accounting. 

17 



societal values and institutional consequences shown in the diagram may themselves be regarded 

as sub-components of culture. This enables us to understand how the vaiious sub-elements of 

culture interact with each other. While this thesis focuses on Islam's influences on accounting 

practice, the broader framework presented in Figure 2.1 provides a comprehensive frame of 

reference within which the results of this study may be interpreted. These are discussed in Chapter 

7. The importance of religion as a cultural variable is discussed next. 

2.2 Religion 

Fai·uqi (1989) contended that religion is the very essence and core of culture. However, religion 

is complex and difficult to desciibe (Acquaviva, 1979; Clark, 1958). Geertz (1973) defined 

religion as, 

a system of symbols which acts to establish powerful, pervasive, and long-lasting moods and 
motivations in men by formulating conceptions of a general order of existence and clothing these 
conceptions with such an aura of factuality that the moods and motivations seem uniquely realistic (p 
90). 

Spiro and D'Andrade's (1958) definition of religion as an institution consisting of a culturally 

patterned interaction shifts the concept of religion from a concern with psychological questions 

of belief to a focus on cultural actions, patterned by a world view, ai1d reflected in iituals. 

Similarly, the main sociological theories of religion emphasise its role as a variable that offers a 

socially shared set of meairings. Religious behaviour, beliefs and expeiiences are simply pait of 

the culture, and are regulai·ly transmitted from generation to generation in the same way as any 

other customs (Argyle and Beit-Hallahmi, 1975). 

Acquaviva (1979) argued that religion has always exerted a profound influence on many aspects 

of human life and personality. Every society has a religious dimension which it shates and 

expresses in all aspects of the social life of :individuals: their laws, their customs and habits (Gilkey, 

1981). In fact, it has been proposed that capitalism owes its beginnings to the Protestant ethic 

which emphasised frugality and industry (Weber, 1985). According to Faruqi (1989), religion is 
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the lens through which all understanding and thinking take place, making it the foundation of all 

decisions and actions. As such, religious ideas and practices have always been at the centre of 

human activities. Religion, therefore, can reasonably be seen as a part of the overall set of cultural 

values of a society. Given this fact, the Hofstede-Gray framework on the cultural relevance of 

accounting systems could be an appropriate framework to adopt when examining the relationship 

between religion and accounting. The next section assesses the Hofstede-Gray model. 

3 Relationship between culture and accounting: framework identified 

Gray (1988) argued that societal value orientations may be expected, :in varying degrees, to 

permeate through to organisational and occupational subcultures. As such, he proposed that 

societal values can be expressed at the level of the accounting subculture. The latter, according 

to Gray, will in turn influence the manner in which accounting is practised. These general 

relationships are shown in Figure 2.1 presented earlier. From a review of accounting literature 

and practice, Gray (1988) derived four accounting subcultural values (professionalism, uniformity, 

conservatism and secrecy) and he linked these to Hofstede's cultural dimensions. Figure 2.2 

represents a more detailed framework identifying the specific linkages between Gray's accounting 

values and different dimensions of accounting practice. Such a framework, it was argued, enables 

one to gain a fundamental insight into the differences between national accounting systems and 

financial repo1ting of different countries (Gray, 1988; Radebaugh and Gray, 1993). A brief 

description of Gray's accounting subcultural values is as follows: 

Professionalism versus Statutory Control 
Professionalism is a preference for the exercise of individual professional judgement and the 
maintenance of professional self regulation. Statutory control on the other hand, is the preference for 
compliance with prescriptive legal requirements. 

Uniformity versus Flexibility 
Uniformity is a preference for the enforcement of uniform accounting practices between companies and 
for the consistent use of those practices over time. Flexibility allows accounting practices to be in 
accordance with the perceived circumstances of individual companies, rather than to be set by 
predetermined, generally applicable rules. 
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Conservatism versus Optimism 
Conservatism refers to the cautious approach to measurement preferring the understatement of profit 
to its overstatement. Optimism refers to the more optimistic, laissez-faire, risk-taking approach and 
a willingness to recognise uncertain future profits. 

Secrecy versus Transparency 
Secrecy refers to the preference for confidentiality and the restriction of disclosure of information about 
the business only to those who are closely involved with its management and financing as opposed to 
a more Transparent, open and publicly accountable approach 

Gray then distinguished the authority for and enforcement of accounting systems from the 

measurement and disclosure issues of accounting practice, linking the first two to the accounting 

subcultural values of professionalism and uniformity. Hence, by a direct application of Hofstede's 

theory, cultural values (and thus religion) will affect accounting practices through the way 

institutions are organised and the processes that they use (Baydoun and Willett, 1995). 

Measurement of assets and profits, for example, would be :influenced by the value of conservatism. 

The value of secrecy, on the other hand, would influence the nature and extent of disclosure 

practices. To further structure the relationship between Hofstede's cultural values and accounting 

subcultural values, Gray developed four hypotheses as follows (Gray, 1988, pp9-11) 

H1: The higher a country ranks in terms of individualism and the lower it ranks in terms 
of uncertainty avoidance and power distance then the more likely it is to rank highly 
in terms of professionalism. 

H2 : The higher a country ranks in terms of uncertainty avoidance and power distance 
and the lower it ranks in terms of individualism then the more likely it is to rank 
highly in terms of uniformity. 

H3: The higher a country ranks in terms of uncertainty avoidance and the lower it ranks 
in terms of individualism and masculinity then the more likely it is to rank highly 
in terms of conservatism. 

H4: The higher a country ranks in terms of uncertainty avoidance and power distance 
and the lower it ranks in terms of individualism and masculinity then the more likely 
it is to rank highly in terms of secrecy. 

A useful table developed by Baydoun and Willett (1995) on the above relationships is reproduced 

in Table 2.1. 
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TABLE 2.1 
GRAY'S ACCOUNTING VALUES AND HOFSTEDE'S 

CULTURAL DIMENSIONS 

~ ACCOUNTING VALUES 
E 

CULTURAL VALUES PROFESSIONALISM UNIFORMITY CONSERVATISM SECRECY 

POWER DISTANCE - + ? + 
UNCERTAINTY + + + AVOIDANCE 

.. 
INDIVIDUALISM + .. - .. 
MASCULINITY ? ? .. .. 

Note : " + "indicate a direct relationship between the relevant variables, "-" indicate an inverse 
relationship. Question marks indicate that the nature of the relationship is indeterminate 

Source: Baydoun and Willett (1995) 
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Gray suggested that Unce1tainty Avoidance and hldividualism are the two most influential cultural 

elements on accounting values, affecting all four subcultural values4
• However, his analysis is 

sometimes vague and unclear. For instance, the discussion of the last of the four hypotheses (H4) 

was ambiguous. While H4 predicts a disclosure policy that is highly secretive for societies 

exhibiting low Individualism and low Masculinity, Gray apparently believed that more caring 

societies (where more emphasis is given to the quality of life, people and the environment) would 

tend to be more open especially those pertaining to socially related info11natio11 (p 11 ). It could 

also be argued, however, that highly individualistic societies would in fact prefer a highly secretive 

disclosure practice plimmily because the competitive spilit does not allow one to divulge more 

tl1a11 what is necessary. Perera (1989a) addressed this issue by suggesting that while collectivist 

societies tended to favour inf011natio11 of a social nature, highly individualistic societies would 

prefer user-oliented information. 

The problem of vagueness extends to other aspects of Gray's theory. More specifically, 

accounting values were defined in tenns of social dispositions rather than in terms of the attributes 

of financial reports (Baydoun mid Willett, 1995). Consequently, what constitutes low 

conservatism or low secrecy is not ve1y clear where the specific characteristics of finm1cial 

statements are concerned. It would have been preferable to extend the Hofstede-Gray model to 

explicitly consider the basic technical accounting dimensions of measurement and disclosure in 

order to detennine in a more definite manner the relevance of a particular society's accounting 

system (Baydoun and Willett, 1995). This will be discussed later in tl1e chapter. 

Notwithstm1ding the preceding criticisms, however, the Hofstede-Gray paradigm provides some 

4Hofstede (1980) suggested that Uncertainty Avoidance may be considered a summary index affecting all other 
values. 
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structure for the analysis of the cultural relevance of accounting systems. The alternatives of 

infonnal, eclectic or piecemeal approaches have not yet proved popular in the accounting 

literature, and most authors have adopted the Hofstede-Gray framework. This study adopts this 

structured approach by using Baydoun and Willett's extension of the Hofstede-Gray model. 

3.1 Prior studies 

Although there have been attempts to test Gray's hypotheses empilically (e.g. Eddie, 1991; 

Carlson, 1995), the maj01ity of the studies adopting Gray's framework are largely theoretical and 

desciiptive in nature (e.g. Perera, 1989a; Gerhady, 1990; Fechner and Kilgore, 1994; Mathews 

and Perera 1993; Baydoun and Willett, 1995). Basically, to use the model, one has first to 

dete1mine the particular country's societal values ar1d from these, deduce the accounting values 

of that country5. The type of accounting system is then determined i11 te1ms of its relevance to 

the preferences for particular courses of action. 

Perera (1989a) built on Gray's theoretical framework and applied it to developi11g countries in 

general. Gerhady (1990), using the Hofstede-Gray model, attempted to exami11e the 

relationship between cultural values and the accounting system in West Ge1many. Fechner and 

Kilgore (1994) modified Gray's framework to i11clude micro and macro economic factors ar1d 

positing these variables as well as societal values as moderating variables. Baydoun and Willett 

(1995) used Gray's model to ar1alyse the question of the relevance of the French Uniform 

Accounting System to Lebar1011. 

Perera (1989a) argued in support of Gray's contention that Unce1tai11ty Avoidance ar1d 

Individualism would have a greater ililluence on accounting practices than Power Distance or 

5Either through Hofstede's results if the particular country falls in the fifty three countries of his study or through 'ernic' 
data as in Baydoun and Willett's study of Lebanon. 
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Masculinity. Like Gray, he postulated that countlies which rank high on Individualism and weak 

on Uncertainty Avoidance would exhibit a high degree of professionalism and would tend towards 

low unifonnity, low conservatism and low secrecy in their accounting practices. In contrast, 

Collectivist societies with strong Uncertainty Avoidance would, he maintained, exhibit a high 

degree of conservatism, secrecy and uniformity in their accounting subcultural values. 

Professionalism would rank low. Whereas Gray used all four of Hofstede's cultural dimensions 

in postulating his hypotheses, Perera only used the two dimensions that seemed to affect 

accounting practices significantly, namely, Unce1tainty Avoidance and Individualism. Although 

Perera's nairnwing focus seems less exacting, both Gray and Perera did not provide for the 

situation in which a nation's cultural value ranks low on both Unce1tainty Avoidance and 

Individualism. This is precisely the case when the cultural values of Islamic societies are analysed 

in Chapter 4. Gerhady's (1990) suggestion of a 'dominant' cultural value that will significantly 

affect the development of a country's accounting system could, perhaps, address this issue. 

Gerhady (1990) found that Gray's model did not satisfactorily 'explain' Gennany's current 

accounting system. Hofstede (1980) described Germany as a country that ranks low on Power 

Distance and average on Unce1tainty Avoidance. Given these characteristics and using Gray's 

model, Gennany's accounting system should exhibit high professionalism and low unifonnity, 

conservatism and secrecy. The contrary, however, was tme. Germany's accounting system rai1k:s 

low on professionalism and high on uniformity. Therefore, either Ge1many's present accounting 

system fails to meet the needs of German accounting users or that Gray's theory is invalid. 

On the basis of his findings, Gerhady argued that there might have been a cultural value that 

overshadowed the influences of the other tln·ee societal values. Specific to Gennany, he concluded 

that the society's desire to minimise unce1tainty and ambiguity far outweighed the society's 
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preference for equality, Individualism and Masculinity. This explains why the German accounting 

system is what it is. This led him to suggest the importance of determining a 'dominant' cultural 

value. This suggestion appears plausible and may be pe1tinent in the case of this study ( on Islamic 

societies) where both Individualism and Unce1tainty Avoidance are found to be low. Arguably, 

Islam's emphasis on brotherhood and cooperation (discussed in Chapter 3) would rank 

Individualism as a dominant cultural value that would significantly impact on the development of 

accounting in Islamic societies. Gerhady's study also raises a very imp01tant issue pe1taining to 

the definition of cultural relevance. According to Baydoun and Willett (1995), to determine the 

cultural relevance of an accounting system (using Gray' model), one must, in the first instance, 

have a definition of what is meant by 'culturally relevant'. Given that this is highly unlikely to be 

achieved, at best Gray's model should be regarded as an implied definition of cultural relevance. 

Therefore, if such a view is taken, Gerhady's results can be regarded as a reflection of the 

i1Televance of Gennany's accounting system. If such is the case, it might be possible to develop 

an accounting system more appropriate to Gennany's needs using Baydoun and Willett's (1995) 

model, discussed below. 

Although there has been a general consensus that culture is a significant environmental factor 

influenci11g accounting practices, the manner i11 which culture influences accounting is yet to be 

resolved. For example, on which paiticular aspect or aspects of accounting would cultural values 

have the strongest influence? Baydoun and Willett (1995) argued that, 

culture does exert an influence on the technology of accounting but it does so differentially, affecting 
some parts strongly, other parts less so and certain parts hardly at all (p83). 

They suggested that the major signi:ficai1ce of the concepts of cultural values and cultural relevance 

is l:ikely to have more to do with disclosure than measurement6 (see also Fechner and Kilgore, 

6Nair and Frank's (1980) study, however, found no support to indicate that culture is more closely associated with 
disclosure practices. While cultural relevance studies reviewed in this chapter adopted Hofstede's cultural dimensions, 
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1994). Baydoun and Willett's (1995) framework developed the Hofstede-Gray model on the basis 

of the distinction between measurement and disclosure and is shown in Figure 2.3. 

3.2 Baydoun and Willett'sframework 

The Baydoun-Willett framework suggests that measurement should be further classified into 

"direct" (fundamental) and "indirect" ( derived) measurements. This distinction between direct 

and de1ived measurements is pe1tinent as some inputs into the accounting processing system are 

based on "hard facts" ( direct measurements such as recording the invoiced costs of purchase of 

fixed assets and inventories) whilst others are very much the product of judgement (derived 

measurements such as depreciation and market values). Direct accounting measurements are less 

affected by social and cultural differences than are indirect measurements. 'Derived' 

measurements (being decision specific "statistics") are more likely to become ilrnlevant to user 

needs if arbitrarily trar1sfe1Ted across cultural boundaries. Given this, Baydoun and Willett (1995) 

asse1ted that culture may have a greater influence on the disclosure aspect of financial reporting 

as opposed to the measurement issue. 

Gray, as explaiI1ed earlier, defined his accounting values in terms of preferences for particular 

courses of actions. As such, his model lacks a detailed structural relationship by which these 

accounting values may be translated iI1to the physical attributes of financial statements (Baydoun 

and Willett, 1995). This is essentially what Baydoun and Willett attempted to do when they 

extended the Hofstede-Gray frarnework to explicitly fo1mulate the nature of the technical 

dilnensions of measurement and disclosure. Gray's values were reinterpreted into a list of 

qualitative characteristics of financial statements as shown in Table 2.2. By extendiI1g the 

Hofstede-Gray frarnework in this manner, it may be possible to explain in a more formal manner, 

some of the more important qualitative characteristics of finar1cial repmts. 
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TABLE 2.2 
RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN GRAY'S REINTERPRETED DIMENSIONS, 
QUALITIVE CHARACTERISTICS AND THE FORM AND CONTENT OF 

CORPORA TE REPORTS 

Uniformity 

Conservatism 

Secrecy 

Uniform content and 
presentation : 

Consistency 
Comparability 

Quality of Information: 

Timeliness 
Materiality 
Objectivity 
Verifiability 
Reliability 
Neutrality 
Substance over form 

Amount of information: 

Accountability 
Decision usefulness 

Source: Baydoun and Willett (1995) 
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Standardized accounts 
Accounting policies 

Normal publication date 
Cost versus market values 
Cash flow accounting 
Lower of cost and market 

Extent of disaggregated data : 

Number of items disclosed 
Group accounts 
Supplementary statements 



As can be observed from Table 2.2, Gray's three concepts of uniformity, conservatism and secrecy 

have been manifested into the technical disclosure characteristics of the fo1m and content of annual 

repo1ts. For example, uniformity relates to the twin concepts of consistency and comparability. 

The former refers to the consistent accounting policies adopted through time while the latter is the 

comparability of accounts across companies and through time. Conservatism considers the 

objectivity, reliability, neutrality as well as the substance over fo1m issues relating to disclosed 

information. Thus, conservatism is pe1tinent to the quality of disclosure. More imp01tantly, 

conservatism determines such specific issues as in the communication of the historic cost versus 

current value accounting or in the use of rules such as the 'lower of cost and market'. Secrecy 

refers to the number of items as well as the extent to which disaggregated data is disclosed. The 

suggested relationships shown in Table 2.2. were used by Baydoun and Willett to analyse 

Lebanon's accounting system. Similarly, the types of :financial statements most relevant to Islamic 

societies could conceivably be argued to be discernible from the above model. This will be 

explained in the theoretical framework in Chapter 4. 

Hofstede emphasised that his cultural values relate to the characteristics of nations. However, 

prior studies addressing the relevance of accounting infonnation have generally focused on 

homogeneous groups of users such as shareholders, creditors, investors and so on. It appears that 

the focus of cultural relevance studies tend to deviate from this nonn (Baydoun and Willett, 1995). 

Whether these two approaches are reconcilable is relevant to this study. Fmther, although 

Hofstede (1980) acknowledged the existence of subcultural groups within a country (in alignment 

with religious beliefs or ethnic groups), he appeared to believe that most subcultures within a 

society share c01mnon characteristics with other subcultures (p26)7. This is why Hofstede stated 

7A subcultural group may be defined as an ethnic group living alongside at least one other cultural group in a particular 
geographic area. These groups coexist in a single nation state and have common political, economic and legal systems 
(Berry, 1979). 
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that it would be more appropriate to talk of a national culture (Hofstede, 1991, p 12). However, 

Beny (1979) argued that although subgroups do not constitute fully distinctive and independent 

ways of life within a country, members of each group do, to a certain extent, retain their cultural 

heritage. This is especially true in the case of Islamic societies. Islam greatly constrains the 

integration between ethnic subcultures because of its prescriptions for a highly disciplined code 

of behaviour among its followers (Nik Yacob, 1989). Additionally, in Islamic communities, the 

mosque functions as a symbol for social integration and at the same time it serves to exclude non

believers (Talib, 1977)8
• The subcultural values of these groups might even be contrmy to 

apparent national cultural values (Baydoun and Willett, 1995). Hence, the study of how such a 

social milieu might possibly influence accounting would add richness to cross cultural reseai-ch in 

accounting. 

Baydoun and Willett's (1994) model (on which this thesis is based) relates to Islamic societies in 

general. In this regard, the model departs from prior cultural relevance studies. Previous studies 

exam:ining the cultural relevance of accounting systems, as may be recalled, relate to nations (e.g. 

Gerhady, 1990; Baydoun and Willett, 1995). The focus in this study, however is on Islam, a 

religion, and its influence on accounting. 

4 Islam, society and accounting 

In Islamic societies there is an explicit link between religion and the way businesses should be 

conducted and an implicit link to the manner in which accounting should be practised (e.g. 

Gambling and Karim, 1991; Hamid et al, 1993; Clarke et al, 1996). Many Muslim countries m·e 

now attempting to align their economies to accord with the tenets of Islam, especially in the field 

8Argyle and Beit-Hallahmi (1975) are of the same opinion. They suggested that claims of exclusive access to divine 
t:tuth and the strong emotional involvement in the group create hostility toward those who do not share the group's beliefs. 
Williams (1956) pointed to the dual role of religion as unifying the community of believers around a consensus of values 
while at the same time making in-group and out-group distinctions which contribute to social divisions. 
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ofbanldng. In Egypt, The Nasser Social Bank was founded in 1971 (Tomkins and Karim, 1987) 

and in 197 5, the reluctance of residents to deal with conventional banks led to the Gulf Arab 

States to incorporate its first Islamic bank (Al-Suwaidi, 1991). The fonner was plimaiily for 

social welfare purposes; lending to the poor to meet unexpected debts arising from illness, family 

deaths and the like. Thereafter, various other Muslim countries provided interest free banking 

services to their nationals. 

In Malaysia, the growing influence of Islam culminated in the fo1mation of its first Islamic bank 

in 1983. Today, conventional banks in Malaysia have Islamic banking counters to serve the needs 

of Muslims (as well as non-Muslims) who do not want to be involved with any fonn of usury. 

Not only are Islamic banks on the increase in Muslim countlies, such banks are also appeaiing in 

Great Blitain and continental Europe (Tomkins and Karim, 1987). With Islamic banks providing 

more financial supp01i to Islamic compliant businesses, one would expect an increase in businesses 

conducted stlictly in accordance with Islamic p1inciples (Hamid et al, 1993) ai1d in turn, this would 

be expected to impact on accounting practices (e.g. Gambling and Kalim, 1991; Hamid et al, 

1993; Baydoun and Willett, 1995). Thus, the contention that religion could be directed at 

changing rather than perpetuating a social order may have some basis (Winthrop, 1991). This 

is basically what is argued in this thesis: that Islam should influence the social order of Islamic 

societies and by implication, impact on the manner accounting is practised. 

As to the latter, Hofstede (1980) specifically acknowledged that in Islamic societies religion may, 

in fact, significantly influence the manner accounting is practised. Despite this, p1ior studies on 

the importance of culture on accounting practices have rarely given any explicit recognition to 

Islam as a possible influence on accounting practices. Hamid et al's (1993) study on 

hannonisation of accounting practices, Baydoun and Willett's (1994) study on Islamic Corporate 
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Reporting, and Gambling and Karim's (1991) book on Business and Accounting Ethics in Islam 

are the few exceptions. If the appropriate extent of disclosure in financial reports does depend 

on the value orientation of preparers (see Jaggi, 1975; Perera, 1989a; Baydoun and Willett, 1995), 

and if the cultural values of Islamic societies differ from those of the Western world, the type of 

disclosure advocated in such societies either could or should be different from that which has been 

traditionally assumed to be relevant to Muslim countries. Baydoun and Willett (1994), using the 

extended Hofstede-Gray framework described above, suggested that an Islamic Corporate Report 

should include a current value financial position statement and a value added statement. Their 

theory is based on nonnative considerations rather than positive ones, that is on what Islamic users 

ought to desire, not necessarily what they actually desire. Baydoun and Willett's model will be 

discussed in Chapter 4. Given that Islamic beliefs are possibly conditioned by the other forces 

depicted in Figure 2.1 above, what is desirable may not necessarily accord with what is being 

desired. The results of this study may provide insight into this issue. If the empirical findings do 

not support Baydoun and Willett's theory, one may conclude that the impact of Islam on 

accounting may not be as significant as suggested by earlier studies. Alternatively, one could 

attribute such a result to the factors depicted in Figure 2.1 (such as education, colonisation, 

international trade and others) modifying the application of religious teachings to life (Clark, 

1958). These issues will be further deliberated in the penultimate chapter. 

5 Summary 

The pmpose of this chapter has been p1imaiily to discuss the relationship of religion to accounting, 

its relationship to culture and its effect upon accounting as a part of culture. Prior studies 

exainining the cultural releva.11ce of accounting systems have generally adopted Hofstede's cultural 

dimensions of Uncertainty Avoida.11ce, Power Distance, Individualism and Masculinity. Gray's 

frainework on the relationship between cultural values and accounting was also discussed. Gray's 

theory, although lai·gely untested, is one of the few providing a comprehensive framework for 
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blinging the cultural dimensions of accounting into focus. It was argued that, because religion 

is an aspect of culture, one may adapt Gray's framework to examine the impact of religion on 

accounting. Baydoun and Willett's framework is adopted for this purpose. 

This is not a study on theology. Accordingly, the nature and significance of Islam will not be 

explored in detail. However, to better understand the development of accounting thoughts and 

practices from an Islamic perspective, some knowledge of the sources from which Islamic 

accounting p1inciples could be derived is important. With this objective, the next chapter 

discusses Islam, its worldview and how this may have a bearing on what Islamic accounting 

practices should be. 
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Chapter 3 

Islam and its Worldview 

Introduction 

This chapter provides an overview of Islam, its worldview and what impact this may have on the 

development of Islamic accounting. There are four main sections. Section 1 discusses Islam. 

Different types of Islamic business organisation are examined in section 2. Section 3 deals with 

Islamic accounting and its development, elaborating on the specifics of Islamic accounting such 

as interest, zakat and ethics. Section 4 presents the chapter summary. 

1 Islam 

Islam, meaning 'submission', is the second largest of the world's religions with close to a billion 

followers (Hamid et al, 1993; Haeri, 1993). Muslims believe in the unity of God, His Angels, the 

Holy Qur'an, His Prophets, the Day of Judgement and Predestination 1. Besides being a religion, 

Islam is also a social order with a complete code of life (Al-Buraey, 1990). Unlike Christianity, 

which epitomises doctrine as an essential element of Christian belief, Islam's central expression 

is in its law, the Shari'a (Esposito, 1991). Literally, the Shari'a means 'the right path'. Rahman 

(1966) translates it as the ordaining of the way. Even though faith places a Muslim on the straight 

path, it is his actions that demonstrate his commitment and faithfulness. Accordingly, the purpose 

of life is not simply to affi.1.m one's faith in God but rather to actualise that faith. Merely 

professing belief in God is not enough; the main objective is to realise God's will for one will finally 

be divinely judged by one's book of deeds (Esposito, 1991). The Shari'a, the blueprint of an ideal 

Islamic society, is a code of behaviour which concerns the practical aspects of a Muslim 

1Belief in predestination leads man to exert a continuous effort and activity in which he finds reward. The secrets of 
destiny keep his hopes high, for destiny is comprehensible through his deeds. Belief in predestination reduces anxiety 
when calamities befall man (Tabbarah, 1988). However, Muslims have misunderstood this concept, using it as a 
convenient way to justify laziness and irresponsible conduct. For a full discussion, see Kharofa (1992), pp35-37. 
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manifesting his faith and belief. It consists of a set of divinely revealed general principles, 

directives and values. In the Shari 'a one sees the impact of Islam on both the personal and the 

social aspects of life (Esposito, 1991) binding Muslims into a single community (Nasr, 1985). 

1.1 The Shari'a 

To understand the Shari'a, one must first examine its sources. The Shari'a is drawn pdmarily 

from the Qur'an (the book of faith and moral conduct) and provides a comprehensive, divinely 

ordained, and eternally valid master plan to which the structure of the state and society must 

ideally confo1m. However, the Qur'an contains only the broad guidelines and general principles2
• 

Consequently, one has to examine the sunnah through the hadith to supplement the revelations 

in the Qur'an3
• The sunnah may be considered as the operationalisation of the pdnciples in the 

Qur'an. It refers to Prophet Muhammad's customs, his words, deeds and habitual practices. 

Thus, the sunnah may be regarded as Islam :in action. The sunnah is remembered and transmitted 

by a report known as the hadith. The hadith and the sunnah explain and amplify the pdnciples 

embodied in the Qur'an and together constitute the second basic source of the Law. 

The sunnah does not provide specific legislation and guidance. Consequently, a third source of 

the Law, qiyas, was developed. This is the practice of analogical reasoning. If a problem arises 

that has neither been addressed in the Qur'an nor in the hadith, an attempt is made to find an 

analogous situation in which a clear detennination already exists (Denny, 1994)4. Legislation on 

2Rahman (1966) disagrees. According to him, the Qur'an does not give many general principles. What the Qur'an 
provides are solutions and rulings on specific issues. In addition, the Qur' an also provides the rationale behind those rules 
from which one can infer the general principles. This proves to be a minority view. 

3The verse in the Qur'an indicating the sunnah as one of the sources from which the Shari'a is derived is, 

So take what the Messenger gives you and refrain from what he prohibits you (59:7). 

4A case in point is the concept of separate legal entity in Islam. Although this concept is similar to the administrative 
apparatus ofnon-proftt organizations as in the bait al-mal (the treasury) and waqf (charitable foundation), it has not been 
applied to the case oflslarnic business organizations. However, some Muslim jurists are of the opinion that the concept 
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the basis of analogical deductions is generally limited to matters that concern social and financial 

matters (Nomani and Rahnema, 1995). The fourth source of the Law is ijma, the consensus of 

the community. The consensus is fanned on the advice of those who are learned and 

knowledgeable in the Law, whose opinions are respected and accepted. According to Denny 

(1994), the doctrine of ijma is characteristically Islamic as it reflects Islam's preoccupation with 

the cmmnunity as a social, political, cultural and spiritual reality. Although the Shari'a possesses 

an underlying unity, ve1y often the conclusions resulting from an interpretation of the Shari'a bore 

the mark of different geographical contexts and customs coupled with diffe1ing intellectual 

orientations (Esposito, 1992). 

In fact, while the first two sources discussed above are agreed upon by all Muslims, the third and 

the fourth are more specific to Muslims of the Sunni sect. The Shi'ites believe that ijtihad 

(independent reasoning) is the third source of the Shari'a, arguing that qiyas is a particular form 

of ijtihad (Nomani and Rahnema, 1995)5. Ijtihad is the process whereby every possible rational 

effort is made by a jurist to anive at an appropriate ruling on the basis of the Shari'a. For the 

Sunnis, ijtihad as a mechanism to deduce Islamic rulings ended dming the 13th century (Nomani 

and Rahnema, 1995). Pro-ijtihad Muslim scholars have argued that ijtihad is the bilthright of 

every intelligent Muslim (e.g. Mannan, 1986; Saeed, 1994; Kamali, 1994b) suggesting that 

individual reasoning could be utilised to revitalise and modernise Islamic Law and life. Thus, 

while the general principles, as found in the primaiy sources of the Law are fixed and eternal, 

paiticulai· laws dealing with time-specific and geographically-specific details must be derived from 

of separate legal entity is allowed in Islam based on this analogy (Chapra, 1992b). 

5Qiyas (analogy), ljma (consensus), Urf (custom) and Istihsan Quristic preference) may be regarded as subsets of 
ljtihad (Kamali, 1994b; Nomani and Rahnerna, 1995). Juristic preference is when a jurist attempts to find an alternative, 
or a preferable solution to a given problem because he is convinced that applying the existing law leads to unfair results 
(Kamali, 1994b). 
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the primary sources through ijtihad. Hence, the process of ijtihad reflects on the adaptability of 

Islamic Law through its responsiveness to the emerging needs and problems of the Islamic 

cmmnunity. Because ijtihad deals with a situation that emerges from time to time, it may not be 

the same for all time to come. It follows that Islamic jurisprudence (fiqh) may not necessarily 

recognise the rule of precedence in quite the same way as is done in the legal system of the West 

(e.g. Amuli, 1989; Kama.Ii, 1994b). The distinction between the Law (the Shari1a) and the science 

of the Law (fiqh) is important. While the former provides the guideline, the latter works out the 

specific solutions. All solutions, however varied, must conform to the general guidance of the 

Shari'a (Kama.Ii, 1994b). 

Despite this division over legal specifics between the Sunnis and the Shi 'ites, the core beliefs, 

practices, and institutions of the Islamic tradition are essentially similar. The central features are 

the five "pillars" of Islam: the declaration of faith (shahada), daily prayers, the giving of alms 

(zakat), fasting, and pilg1image. Consequently Nasr (1985) asserted that Islam displays more 

homogeneity and less religious diversity than other religions. All Muslims from the Shi'ite and 

Sunni sects and all four Sunni schools of thought agree with the fundamentals of Islam (as in the 

five pillars of the Islamic faith) and that the rituals attaching to these 'pillars' will lift a devout 

Muslim to a higher plane of spirituality6
• 

1.2 The five pillars of Islam 

The five pillars of Islam provide the framework of a Muslim's life. At the heart of the Islamic 

belief is the shahada, signifying the oneness of God and attesting to Prophet Mohamed as God's 

messenger. The acceptance of this obliges Muslims to follow the Prophet's exemplary conduct 

in every way. Salat or daily prayers constitute the second pillar. Muslims have to face the 

6As stated in the footnote to Chapter 1, the four Sunni schools of thought are theHanafi, theMaliki, the Shafi'i 
and the Hanbali. 
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direction of the Kaaba whilst pe1fonning their five daily prayers7. Prayers signify man's direct link 

with God. The pe1fonnance of prayers at prescribed times teaches a Muslim self discipline and 

punctuality (Choudhury, 1993). Additionally, the repetition of prayers five times in a day serves 

to break, in a systematic fashion, man's negligence of God (Nasr, 1985). Prayers will also 

strengthen and enliven an individual's belief in God as it will inspire one to a higher standard of 

morality, purifying his heart and soul and suppressing his evil inclinations (Al-Burney, 1990). 

Fasting dming Ramadan, the ninth month of the Muslim calendar, is the next pillar. A Muslim 

abstains from food, drink, and sexual relations from sunrise to sunset. This is plimarily a spiritual 

ritual for self pmification (Choudhury, 1993), teaching a Muslim self discipline and scrupulous 

obedience to God's commands. Fasting also trains a Muslim to be kind and sympathetic towards 

the poor. Al-Buraey (1990) asserted that fasting teaches love, devotion, and sincerity, and 

cultivates in the individual a sound conscience, patience, unselfishness, and willpower. In 

addition, fasting signifies the spiritual union between God and His creation through a process of 

self control by abstaining from the comforts and pleasures of life8
• However mere abstention 

without mental pmification makes the action itself futile for Islam places great emphasis on 

spiritual purification. 

Zakat, considered a tool of income redistribution by Islamic economists (Mannan, 1986), is the 

fourth pillar of Islam. 'Zakat means purification and growth. Zakat washes a way the greed and 

the acquisitive olientation of the rich. Further, Muslims believe that the giving of alms will not 

7Tue Kaaba is the sacred shrine of the Muslims in the holy city of Mecca. 

8The verse in the Qur'an specifically mentions God's objective in fasting. 

0 ye who believe! fasting is prescribed to you as it was prescribed to those before you, that ye may 
learn self restraint (2: 183) 
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reduce one's wealth; if at all, it will increase one's riches further (2:261)9
• Choudhury (1993), 

considered zakat or alms giving as a social security system in Islam. The rich, endowed with 

wealth that ultimately belongs to God, have an obligation to spend it :in the way of God and to 

redress any social injustice. This entails giving the poorer members of society some part of what 

is in excess of their needs (nisab )10
• The significance of zakat will be specifically addressed in a 

later section of this chapter. 

Pilgrimage to Mecca is the last pillar of Islam. Muslims who are physically able and financially 

secured must make the trip to the Kaaba at least once in their lifetime. It is dming the haj 

(pilgrimage) that one witnesses the sense of community and of being one ummah (community of 

the faithful). The haj symbolises the unifying force oflslam (Al-Burney, 1990). Siddique (1985) 

contended that the ethereal image of the universal, ideological ideal that all Muslims are equal may 

be observed for the duration of the pilgrimage. However, the departure of these same pilgrims 

by different modes of transport ranging from the most primitive as in camel caravans to jet 

aeroplanes signifies the fragmentary quality of international reality. The distinction between 

'universal' and 'paiticular' Islam is of impmi here (Siddique, 1985). While the latter is shaped by 

the environment, the fonner describes Isla.in at the ideological level (nonnative Isla.in). Thus, 

particular or 'local' Isla.in may not mirror the universal Islamic ideals. Although Isla.in unites 

Muslims, one caimot claim that Isla.in has produced cultural unifonnity. The localised elements 

of indigenous custom and cultural expression highlights geographically inherent differences and 

sometimes inherited pre-Islainic behaviour (Haeri, 1993). The theory adopted in this thesis, 

9Tbe parable of those who spend their substance in the way of Allah is that of a grain of corn: it groweth seven ears, 
and each ear hath a hundred grains. Allah giveth manifold increase to whom He pleaseth (2:261). 

10Tbe percentage varies depending on the category of wealth. For gold, silver and profits on trade, the percentage is 
2.5%. The same rate applies to assets consisting of cattle and other domestic animals. Agricultural and farming produce 
are 'taxed' at 10% if the land is irrigated by natural means (i.e. rain) but 5% if it is irrigated through artificial means 
requiring extra effort by the owner. If a mine or a treasure-trove is discovered, either by individuals or the state, the rate 
is 20% (Mannan, 1986; Islahi, 1988). 
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however, examines the values oflslamic societies at the ideological level, i.e. examining the values 

of Islamic societies based on what is 'desirable'. This matter is discussed fmther in the theoretical 

framework. 

From the foregoing discussion, one observes that every act of worship involves certain benefits: 

cleanliness from the necessary ablution before one prays, orderliness and punctuality from praying 

at specific times, patience and forbearance through fasting, generosity through zakat, and equality 

and humility through pilgrimage (Sulayman, 1993; Choudhury, 1993; Al-Buraey, 1990). The 

objective :in every case is to prepare the soul to perform good deeds, to honour trusts, to bear the 

responsibilities of a vicegerent, and to do good through reform and civilisation (Sulayman, 1993). 

One may thus regard Islam as a practical religion since four out of its five pillars require some form 

of action on the part of the believer. The Law on the five pillars of Islam is immutable. For 

example, praying five times a day is not an issue for debate. However, whether certain prayers 

can be combined remains a matter of disagreement between the Sunnis and the Shi'ites 11
• 

1.3 Islamic worldview 

To understand how Islam might influence accounting, one needs to understand what Islam stands 

for. The word 'Muslim' means 'one who submits' to God. God is the Lord and man, His servant. 

As such, submission and obedience is the most natural and appropriate response. Man lives by 

God's law, the Shari'a. The Shari'a provides a general framework for operationalising Islamic 

values (Sardar, 1987). It contains the regulations pertaining to religious rituals, personal 

character, morals, habits, family relationships, social and economic affairs, administration, rights 

and duties of citizens, judicial systems, laws of war and peace as well as international relations 

11 While the Shi'ites combine the noon prayer (Zohor) with the mid-afternoon prayer (Asar) and the Mag rib prayer 
(sunset) with the evening prayer (Isyak) on a daily basis, the Sunnis believe that such a practice is allowed only on certain 
occassions (especially during one's travels). 
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(Maududi, 1986). Hence, the Shari'a governs man's relationship with God as well as his social, 

economic and political behaviour, thus, encompassing the totality of man's life. The basis of the 

Shari'a is the wisdom and welfare of the people in this world as well as the Hereafter. This 

welfare lies in complete justice, mercy, well being, and wisdom. Being God given, the Shari'a 

is the manifestation of His infinite mercy; the only true embodiment of the best way to justice. A 

distinction between the Shari'a (Islamic law) and Fiqh Gmisprudence) was made in section 1.1. 

Fiqh, the science of the law, is but a system designed to facilitate human obedience and service 

to God (Denny, 1994). 

According to Williams (1994), Chlistianity is a theological religion, deeply concerned with the 

right articles of faith to hold. Islam on the other hand, is plirnarily an ethical religion, deeply 

concerned with the right things to do. It sees civilisation itself as depending on the right way to 

live. Whether or not an action is ethical will depend on the beliefs we have, the values we uphold 

and the judgements we make about it. GambHng and Kaiim (1986), writing in an accounting 

context, suggested that the non-existence of a common source from which ethical plinciples can 

be defined, may give 1ise to the concept of the self-evident ideal model. In an accounting context, 

what this mea.11s essentially, is that every unit in society (individuals, associations, groups or 

cultures) sees itself as an ideal model for the development of accounting standards. In the case 

of Islainic societies, because ethical plinciples come from one plimai-y source, the Shari 'a provides 

the fmmdation from which accounting systems in such societies may be developed (Gambling and 

Karim, 1991). Thus, one may argue that the key to a religion-oliented accounting lies in the 

individual's relationship to God, the world he lives in, his relationship with others, and the nature 

and purpose of his existence. In order to draw out the implications of this worldview and to 

provide a premise upon which an Islamic Corporate Reporting model may be based, an 

examination of these will now be undertaken in a more precise setting. 
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Naqvi (1981) suggested that Islamic ethical philosophy can be summaiised by four ethical axioms: 

Unity, Equiliblium, Free Will and Responsibility. Unity, according to this viewpoint, constitutes 

the ve1tical dimension oflslain. At the level of the absolute, Unity differentiates the Creator from 

the created, requiting unconditional smTender of man to God's Will. Unity is a concept where the 

political, economic, social and religious aspects of an individual's life are integrated into a 

homogeneous whole, consistent from within the individual himself as well as integrated with the 

vast Universe. The doctrine of Unity preserves the absolute monotheism of Islam where God's 

sovereignty is recognised. This dominates Islainic belief and practices and consequently affects 

how Muslims view religion. To Muslims, !slain is viewed as it1tegral to the state, law a.11d society. 

This viewpoit1t differs from the modem Western perspective that regards religion as separate from 

the state (Esposito, 1991). To Siddiqi (1981) and various other writers (e.g. Ahmad, 1979; Al

Buraey, 1990; Chapra, 1992a) the concept of Unity is Tawhid. Tawhid is the basis on which 

the Islamic worldview and strategy are founded (Chapra, 1992a). 

With every huma.11 being sharing the same relationship with God and His Universe, a definite 

relationship between it1dividuals is also prescribed. The axiom of Equilib1ium or Al-Adl prescribes 

the relationship ainongst individuals. Related to Equilibrium is the concept of justice. From the 

perspective of the absolute, this refers to the supreme attribute of God. God Himself promises 

justice for all (2:286)12
• From the perspective of social action, Equiliblium is the binding moral 

commitment of individuals it1 society to uphold a delicate bala.11ce between individual rights and 

responsibility towards the ummah. Accordingly, it1 Islam, everyone is ultimately accountable to 

God and this accountability also encompasses accountability to society. 

Although Naqvi (1981) explait1ed the axiom of Equilibrium in the context of justice, Equilibrium 

12011 no soul doth God place a burden greater than it can bear (2:286). 
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can also be considered as a reflection on the concept of balance :in Islam. For example, the 

following verse in the Qur'an explicitly deals with a Muslim's need to balance worldly affairs with 

the hereafter. 

But seek with the wealth which Allah has bestowed on thee, the Home of the Hereafter, nor forget thy 
portion in this world (28:77). 

Specifically on the issue of expenditure, the following verse from the Qur'an explicates the 

concept of balance. 

Those who they spend are not extravagant and not niggardly, but hold a just balance between those 
extremes (25:67). 

The above concept, although very delicate, is of primary imp01tance in the conduct of a Muslim's 

life. 

One of the most 01iginal contributions oflslam to social philosophy is the concept of a "free" man 

and the axiom of Free Will is de1ived from this concept (Naqvi, 1981). Islam recognises human 

freedom as applying both to the individual man and the collective man and emphasises a correct 

balance between the two. Thus, the Islamic concept of freedom differs from that of Western 

social philosophy. The concept of private prope1ty in Islam helps clarify the Islamic concept of 

freedom fmther. Islam does not accord an unqualified sanction to an individual's right of private 

prope1ty for real ownership of prope1ty belongs to God and man holds property in trust for which 

he is accountable to Him (Naqvi, 1981; Siddiqi, 1981). Naqvi argued that the precondition of an 

Islamic society is the removal of the conflict between private and social interests. Further, he 

stressed that if human freedom is God-given and individuals act in accordance with the ethics of 

this freedom, the element of coercion involved in reconciling private and social interests should 

be minimal. 

The fomth and final ethical axiom is Responsibility (Naqvi, 1981). Responsibility is related to 
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Free Will. The axiom of Responsibility sets limits to what man is free to do by making him 

responsible for what he does and as such, individualism in the Western sense is constrained in 

Islam (Naqvi, 1981). As emphasised earlier, in Islam, there should be no contradiction between 

individual freedom and collective freedom. The difference between the two is bridged by the 

sense of social consciousness and responsibility. Thus, one's freedom of choice is exercised with 

a conscious effort to ensure that the wider interests of the community are safeguarded. 

Chapra (1992a) contended that self interest is automatically held in check if each and every 

individual fulfils his duties, thus safeguarding the lights of each individual. In a similar vein to 

Naqvi's ethical axioms, Chapra asserted that the Islamic worldview is based on three fundamental 

plinciples: Tawhid (Unity), Khilafah (Vicegerency) andAdalah (Justice). As explained above, 

Tawhid is the foundation of the Islamic faith. It refers to the Unity of God and the belief that the 

universe has been consciously designed and created by God and did not come into existence by 

chance or accident. The concept of Khilafah (vicegerency) defines a person's status and role, 

specifying the individual's responsibilities to himself and his responsibility to the ummah. Chapra 

suggested four implications emanating from the concept of khilafah. The first is universal 

brotherhood where mutual sacrifice and cooperation are the social order. Such a social order 

allows the development of the entire human potential. Accordingly, from the perspective of 

business enterp1ises, competition is encouraged if it is healthy, raises efficiency, and helps promote 

the well-being of society. Competition that results in jealousy, ruthlessness and destruction must 

be avoided. The second implication of khilafah is that the individual is regarded as the trustee for 

God's resources. This leads to a totally different meaning to private ownership as understood in 

the secular world. Although plivate ownership is recognised in Islam, ownership is not absolute. 

The property owner recognises his responsibility of using his resources in a manner that will 

provide benefits not only to himself but more importantly, to society. The third implication of 
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khilafah is the emphasis on a humble lifestyle. A lifestyle of extravagance may result :in 

mmecessary pressure on resources which in tum may lead to the inability to satisfy the basic needs 

of society. Finally, khilafah also implies the concept of human freedom in Islam. An individual's 

freedom to act is not curtailed by any other individual but is constrained by the bonds of social 

responsibility. Hence there is a qualification as to what individual freedom entails in Islam. As 

Naqvi (1994) contended, unlimited freedom goes hand in hand with unlimited responsibilities. 

Consequently, it is inconceivable that anyone would want unlimited freedom. The concept of 

khilafah expounded by Chapra is similar to Naqvi's ethical axioms of Free Will and Responsibility 

and serves to illustrate these. 

Adalah or justice is strongly emphasised :in the Qur'an. The bonds of brotherhood would be a 

hollow concept if social justice and social responsibility do not exist (Chapra, 1992a). Islam's 

commitment to brotherhood and justice demands that all God-given resources are at the disposal 

of every individual. Accordingly, wealth should not remain concentrated on a few individuals. 

Sardar (1987) contended that there are three basic criteria for the attainment of social justice: 

absolute freedom of conscience, complete equality of all men and the permanent mutual 

responsibility of society and individuals. It follows that if the social behaviour pattern and the 

economy of Islamic societies are sttictly in accordance with Islamic teachings, there cannot exist 

extreme inequalities of income and wealth. However, Islam recognises inequalities in so far as 

these relate to skills, initiatives, efforts, as well as tisk (Chapra, 1992a; Nomani and Rahnema, 

1993)13
. Justice is strongly emphasised in the Qur'an as in the following verses. 

Be just: that is next to piety: and fear Allah. For Allah is well-acquainted with all that ye do (5:8). 

13 The distinction between equitable and equal is of importance. Islam recognises that all men are not equal in their 
characteristics, abilities and contributions to societies. As such the Islamic concept of equity does not imply equal reward 
for everyone. However every individual should be guaranteed a standard of living that is humane and respectable and 
in harmony with the dignity of man in his role as God's vicegerent (Nasr, 1985; Ghazali, 1990; Nomani and Rahnema, 
1995). 
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Say: "My Lord hath commanded Justice; and that ye set your whole selves to Him (7:29). 

Ahmad (1979) contended that an Islamic economic system is rooted in the basic philosophic 

concepts of Tawhid, Khilafah, Rubbubiyyah, and Tazkiyah. Arif (1984) added a fifth concept, 

accountability. The first two of these five concepts were discussed above. Rubbubiyyah refers 

to God's mrnngement for directing things towards a perfect state of humm1 sustenance. 

Consequently, Muslims believe that there are sufficient resources to sustain everybody to achieve 

God's perfect plan for the universe. This is in conflict with the basic tenet of neoclassical 

economic theory that goods m·e in short supply (Gambling m1d Km·im, 1991). It is in the context 

of this divine m-rangement that human efforts take place. Because goods are adequately provided 

by God for every being, greed and self interest should not exist. 

The meaning of Tazkiyah is similar to zakat; that is growth and purification. Muslims believe that 

the mission of all the Prophets was to pe1form the Tazkiyah of man in his relationship with God, 

with other men, and with society. Gambling and Karim (1991) asse1ted that this concept is of 

great importance in Islamic economic theory. Tazkiyah endorses the ideas of change and 

expansion which, according to them, is absent from Christian canon law. It also requires an 

individual to expend his best eff01ts in order to achieve a better material life. However, mate1ial 

well being must lead to social justice and the spiritual enhancement of society. 

Additionally, Muslims believe that everything created by God has a purpose and it is this purpose 

which gives meaning m1d significance to man's existence. As such, man is accountable to God and 

his success in the hereafter depends on his pe1fo1mance in this life on earth. The following verses 

elaborate the notion of accountability in Islam. 

To Allah belongeth all that is in heavens and on earth. Whether ye show what is in your minds or 
conceal it, Allah calleth you to account for it (2:284). 
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Soon will God observe your work, and His Messenger, and the believers: soon will ye be brought back 
to the Knower of what is hidden and what is open: then will He show you the truth of all ye did (9:105). 

And fear the Day ye shall be brought back to God; then shall every soul be paid what it earned, and 
none will be dealt with unjustly (2:281). 

Sulayrnan (1993) asserted that the three basic principles that guide the Muslim mind in its creative 

and intellectual movement towards an understanding of life and the universe are Unicity, 

Vicegerency and Responsibility; concepts that are similar to those discussed above14
• On 

Responsibility, Sulayrnan (1993) argued that it is a Muslim's belief that peace of mind in this world 

and his destiny in the hereafter is shaped by how well he fulfils his responsibility to work, strive, 

sacrifice and doing good in this life. 

Al-Burney (1990), writing on Islamic administration, emphasised the pdnciples of justice and 

equality and the concepts of freedom and shura (consultation). The pdnciple of justice and the 

concept of freedom in Islam have been discussed above. Muslims believe that all human beings 

are equal in the eyes of God. They differ only in conduct and deeds as indicated by the following 

verse in the Qur'an. 

0 mankind! We created you from a single (pair) of a male and a female and made you into nations 
and tribes, that ye may know each other. Verily the most honoured of you in the sight of Allah is (he 
who is) the most righteous of you (49:13). 

The following hadith reinforces the concept of equality of human beings in Islam (Al-Burney, 

1990). 

People are as equal as the teeth of a comb; there is no superiority of an Arab over a non-Arab except 
by virtue of piety (p85). 

According to Al-Burney (1990), the process of shura (consultation) is fundamental to achieving 

the ideal Islamic society. Gambling and Karim (1991) concurred and suggested that shura is 

important in Islamic business organisations (see section 2). Fmiher, it was reported that the 

Prophet himself consulted his followers on matters pertaining to the state, politics, wars and 

14unicity, in this context, is similar to the concept of Unity (Tawhid). 
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international relations (Al-Burney, 1990). Evidently, the bonds of brotherhood will be further 

strengthened with shura. The following verse explicates the concept of shura in Islam. 

Consult them in affairs ( of moment), then when thou hast taken a decision, put thy trust in Allah, for 
Allah loves those who put their trust in Him (3:159). 

Although shura is encouraged in Islam, no detailed desc1iptions have been given to its 

implementation. Thus, the basic concepts must be interpreted in light of the particular needs and 

circumstances of a particular situation (Al-Burney, 1990). 

Despite the different te1ms used by the various authors to clarify the Islamic worldview, there 

appears to be a general consensus as to what an ideal Islamic society should be. The concept of 

Tawhid (Unity) governs a Muslim's outlook in life, recognising that there is only one God and 

man's accountability is to Him. Additionally, an individual's relationship with other individuals 

1nitTors his relationship with God. Both are equally important. Khilafah prescribes the Islamic 

social order fo1med on the basis of the p1inciples of justice, equality and brotherhood. The 

general theme of the Islamic social order is cooperation and mutual consultation (shura). Further, 

in Islam, individual freedom is constrained by its ethical limits. Thus, an individual's freedom of 

actions must be combined with a sense of responsibility towards others. Since social awareness 

and a concern for individuals are inextricably blended, working for the welfare of others is the 

most promising way of extending one's usefulness in pleasing God. The emphasis on the well

being of the community is implicit. Given this, one would envisage Islamic Corporate Reporting 

to have a wider focus from one that concentrates on the needs of the traditional users of accounts 

(such as the investors, creditors and shareholders) to one which would include satisfying the needs 

of the wider economic environment. Therefore, disclosure policies should not be dependent on 

self interest. Rather, it should be guided by what is best for the society, thus suggesting a greater 

emphasis on social responsibility accounting issues. These issues will be elaborated later in the 
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chapter. 

From the foregoing, it can thus be infe1Ted that although Islam recognises the role of individual 

value judgement, it should always be subordinated to ethical requirements. Trade and commerce 

involve matters of ethics and morality (Gambling and Karim, 1991). More importantly, a firm 

operating in an Islamic environment should not regard itself as operating independently from the 

cmmnmrity. Agency theory if, as it is sometimes understood in the West, is interpreted as a model 

of how people should behave, it is contrary to the philosophy Islam propagates. Economic 

rationalism, with its single minded pursuit of profit maximisation, should not be adopted as the 

nonn of Muslims nor of Islamic businesses. 

The above precepts may be expected to exercise a significant influence on the roles of Islamic 

business orgairisation and on how accounting should be practised in Islamic societies. These two 

matters will be discussed in the following two sections respectively. 

2 Islamic business organisations 

The Islamic concept of accountability influences the fonn of business organisations in Islamic 

societies (Gainbling a.11d Karim, 1991). Khilafah lays a personal responsibility upon all Muslims 

for what is done with the resources entrusted to them a.11d shura ( consultation) requires them to 

listen to the advice and grievances of those affected by what is done in their name. Gambling and 

Kaiim (1991) maintained that adhering strictly to these principles would mean that Muslims ought 

to take a personal :interest in the compa.11ies in which they invest. Traditionally, the two forms of 

business organisations allowed in Islamic societies were mudaraba and musharaka. However, 

as will be discussed in sub-section 2.3, joint stock companies have now been recognised as a 

legitimate form of business organisation in Islain. 
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2.1 Mudaraba 

Mudaraba is a fo1m of business partnership with limited liability where an investor or a group of 

investors (sahib al-mal) provides capital to an agent-manager (mudarib ). The agent, acting in the 

nature of a trnstee, is not entitled to a fixed remuneration or to an absolute amount of profit. The 

agent trades with the capital and in the event of a profit, returns the capital as well as an agreed 

share of the profits to the investor. In the event of a loss, all losses are borne exclusively by the 

investor. The agent is deemed to have lost his contribution in the fo1m of time and effort 

expended in the business. This airnngement enables an entrepreneur who has the skill ai1d 

expertise but no capital, to conduct business. The agreement in a mudaraba pai·tnership may be 

fonnal (wlitten) or otherwise (oral). However, beaiing in mind the emphasis in the Qur'an that 

all loa11 agreements should be in wliting, it would be strongly recommended that such agreements 

be in wdtten fonn (2:282)15
• In addition to this, a mudaraba agreement can also be restricted or 

unrest1icted. The latter imposes no restrictions as to the period of the paitnership, the place of 

business, the specific line of trade, industry or service and the suppliers or the customers the agent 

deals with. Any restlictions on these renders the agreement a restricted mudaraba. All expenses 

that are nonnally incmrnd by the business in respect of the agreement are charged to the 

mudaraba account. The personal expenses of the agent remain to be settled from the agent's 

funds. It is reiterated here that the agent is only entitled to a share of the profit as a reward for 

his mai1agement services with profits being divided in accordance with explicit specifications in 

the original agreement (Chapra, 1992b). The share of profits is based on a percentage of 

earnings, not on absolute amounts. 

2.2 Musharaka 

A musharaka is a general tenn to desclibe a11y paitnership airnngement involving two or more 

150 ye who believe! When ye deal with each other, in transactions involving future obligations in a fixed 
period of time, reduce them to writing (2:282). 
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pa.ities. There me two types of musharaka agreement, the shirkah al-milk (non-contractual) a.11d 

shirkah-al-uqud (contractual). The former refers to a situation where two or more persons gain 

joint ownership of a.11 asset without having entered into a fo1mal pminership agreement, as in the 

receipt of a gift of land or property. In such a situation, those involved ca.imot be considered 

partners in the strict sense of the word as a pminership has not come into existence by mutual 

agreement. However, they a.i·e treated as pa.itners until such a time as the property is sold a.11d the 

proceeds divided amongst the partners. Accordingly, shirkah al-milk, according to Chapra 

(1992b), appem·s in Fiqh discussions as a pedpheral notion. Shirkah al-uqud occurs when parties 

enter into an agreement willingly with the ultimate objective of canying out a business a.11d the 

sha.iing of profits a.11d losses. As before, a.11y agreement should be reduced to writing with proper 

witnesses. Sleeping partners are pe1missible. Again, all profits are shared in accorda.11ce with 

what has been agreed (based on a percentage, not on absolute amounts) and explicitly indicated 

in the agreement. Losses, however, are shared in prop01tion to capital employed (Chapra, 

1992b). There me of course, vadations in agreements as is the case with partnerships in western 

societies16
• The mudaraba described earlier is one such variation. As explained, a mudaraba is 

a pa.itnership where one (or more) paiiy (parties) provides the capital (financier or investor) and 

another provides the labour (see section 2.1 above) 

2.3 Joint stock companies 

Traditionally, Islam did not allow the corporate fonn of business organisation with a separate legal 

entity. There are vaiious reasons for this. The size and the impersonal nature associated with 

joint stock companies ai·e anticipated to lead to problems for the shai·eholders and the wider 

cmmnunity. As is widely acknowledged, joint stock companies tend to separate ownership from 

management. Thus, a shareholder might not be able to exercise proper control over his 

16See Islahi (1988) and Chapra (1992b) for a full discussion on the types of musharaka agreement. 
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investments. Additionally, the ability to raise more funds and thus a fmther increase in the size 

of the business might give rise to monopolies. Ultimately, this works against the best interests 

of the cmmnunity. Perhaps, the most impmtant reason for Islam to forbid the formation of limited 

liability companies, it is argued, lies in the fact that creditors would not have a right of redress if 

a finn is dissolved and has insufficient funds to make good its debts. The creditor is thus duly 

disadvantaged. In Islam, debt repayment is emphasised. It was repmted that the Prophet would 

not pray at the funeral of a person who died without settling his debts. Further, the Prophet was 

repmted to have said that everything will be forgiven to the shaheed (ma1tyr in the cause of Allah) 

except debt (Al-Qaradawi, 1994, p269). Given Islam's emphasis that all debts contracted must 

be paid, the legal fiction under which joint stock companies are formed might be construed as 

enabling this very impmtant Islamic principle to be violated. 

Despite the above, stlict prohibition on the operation of any type of joint stock company would 

severely reduce the scope for economic development in the Islamic state (Gambling and Kaiim, 

1991) and Muslim jmists have now approved the concept of separate legal entity on the basis of 

qiyas (analogy) and istihsan (public :interest) (Chapra, 1992b). As noted in Gambling and Kalim 

(1991), if a paiticular corporation is formed in the public interest, then the general prohibition on 

limited liability should be relaxed. Chapra (1992b) observed that the concept of separate legal 

entity has never been discussed in classical Fiqh discussions. The closest approximation to the 

corporate legal entity has been the administration of the bait-al-mal (public treasury), waqf ( trusts) 

a11d mosques. In 1992, the Islainic Fiqh Academy adopted, as one of its resolutions, the view that 

joint stock companies are in the best interests of the ummah (SFAC 2, p50) 17
• As such there 

should be no objection to limited liability companies as long as the limitation of liability is made 

17 Statement of Financial Accounting No. 2, Financial Accounting Organization for Islamic banks and Financial 
Institutions. 
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known to the public. Chapra (1992b) argued that the modern corporation is essentially a 

combination of mudaraba and musharaka. All shareholders are partners by virtue of their 

contlibutions to the capital of the company. Alternatively, the shareholders may be considered the 

sahib al-mal (investor or financier) as in the mudaraba partnership described earlier. The 

directors of the company can be likened to the mudaribs (agents or trustees). Accordingly, the 

duties and responsibilities of the agent and the investor, as spelt out in the two types of 

pmtnership, actually guide the role of the shareholders m1d directors of the corporation. 

3 Development of Islamic accounting 

Normative-deductive approach to theory development 

Islmnic accounting systems, according to Gambling and Kalim (1991), are rare. Consequently, 

in developing Islamic accounting theory, the nonnative deductive approach is recommended 

(Gmnbling and Karim, 1991). Normative-deductive theolies, being objective oriented, are more 

value laden as they stmt from a value judgement18
• Baydoun and Willett (1994) concmTed with 

Gambling m1d Karim when they suggested that, 

Islamic accounting theory has the nature of prescription about how things should be done to satisfy 
Islamic objectives rather than description about how things are done in practice (p2). 

To date, most studies on the impact of Islmn on accounting practices have concentrated 

specifically on accounting for Islamic banks (e.g. Abdel-Magid, 1981; Bmiaga, 1987; Hashimi, 

1987; Kmim, 1990a m1d 1990b) although some have approached the subject of Islamic accounting 

from a more general perspective: Gmnbling and Karim (1991) on business and accmmting ethics 

in Islmn; Hmnid et al (1993) on harmonisation of accounting standards and Baydoun and Willett 

(1994) on Islamic accounting theory. 

18According to Gray et al (1987) normative-deductive theories seek answers to such questions like: 'How well does 
accounting practice satisfy objective X?' or 'How might accounting practice be improved in order to satisfy objective X?' 
These theories are thus evaluated for both the empirical knowledge of accounting practice they embody and for some 
objective held for the accounting activity. 
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Gambling and Karim (1991) further argued that as Islam has its own cohesive rules which dictate 

how a business should be nm, the development of Islamic accounting theory and practice have to 

pursue these rules if they are to be of any relevance to sincere Muslim users. Subsequently they 

contended that since the conceptual framework of Western based accounting systems was 

developed recognising the dichotomy between business morality and private morality, it will thus 

have limited relevance in societies which have revealed doctrines and morals that govern all social, 

economic and political aspects of life such as the case in Islamic societies. The ex-post 

rationalisation of accounting practices would not be acceptable in Islam because there is little 

evidence that what is being practised so far is necessmily compatible with Islamic principles. 

The normative-deductive approach entails the deduction of the objectives of financial reporting 

from the postulates and definitions of accounting according to the principles and objectives of the 

Shari'a. These objectives, principles, postulates and concepts would form the foundation for an 

Islmnic structural framework of accounting theory and henceforth would act as a reference for the 

development of accounting practices (Gambling and Kmim, 1991). However, in the development 

of Islamic accounting, it is emphasised that the approach taken in this thesis is not an a priori 

rejection of all that originates from the West. As Haq (1986) contended, the ability to borrow 

from other civilisations and assimilate the b01rnwings is a function of self-confidence. Of 

significa11ce is to ensure that the system meets the needs of Islamic users. There are also elements 

of what might be refeITed to as induction in this approach, so it pertains to a matter of emphasis 

rather than an absolutely elem· distinction. The approach might also be described as 'purposive'19
• 

Emphasis on society 

Al-Burney (1990), writing in the context of economic development, asserted that from the Islamic 

19For a discussion on the adoption of the purposive model to accounting standard setting in Saudi Arabia, see 
Al-Faisal and AlHashim (1993). 
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perspective human beings should be the primary focus of development. He emphasised that :if 

efficiency and effectiveness are in conflict with humanism, the latter should prevail. Similarly, 

Chapra (1992a) argued that Islamic economics emphasises human brotherhood and the exercise 

of individual freedom within the context of social responsibility. Its ultimate objective is the 

attainment of social and economic justice and equitable distribution of income. Hayashi (1989) 

concmTed with this when he asserted that the Islamic accounting model is society oriented. This 

accords with the views of various authors writing on contemporary accounting practices such as 

Jaggi (1975), Glautier and Und~rdown (1991) and Perera (1989a) . They suggested that since 

accounting can be considered a social science, it certainly derives its significance from the value 

system of the society in which it operates. This is more so in the case of Islamic societies because 

Islam defines the Will of God, the nonns of human conduct and the ends of human desires in terms 

of societal values. In addition, in Islam, ethics concern actions rather than intentions (Faruqi, 

1978). If society is the focus, an understanding of the Islamic social order is important. The 

Islamic worldview discussed in section 1.3 serves to portray the ideal Islamic society. Extending 

this to a specific context, Naqvi (1981) contended that the Islamic ethical axiom system is an 

appropriate tool with which to analyse Islamic economics, 

which eliminates the possibility of any inconsistency arising between man's spiritual aspirations and 
his legitimate material pursuits. Spiritual bliss and material happiness come together in the Islamic 
unitary vision, which is perfectly equilibrated and balanced, ensuring man's innate freedom but 
simultaneously constraining the individual so as to maximise collective freedom and social happiness 

(pp 43-44). 

Since the material and spiritual are not separate identities, any material pursuit will have a spiritual 

dimension attached (Chapra, 1992a). Only then would the desired satisfaction be achieved. Thus, 

in developing Islamic accounting, the same framework as suggested by Naqvi (1981) above may 

be adopted. Hence, while contemporary accounting practice discounts religion as a possible 

influence on accounting, the same cannot be said for Islamic accounting. 
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The concept of Unity (Tawhic[) in Islam and the social order based on the axioms of Equilibrium, 

Free Will and Responsibility, together, would have a significant influence on the development of 

Islamic accounting thoughts and practices. More specifically, an Islamic sense of accountability 

may provide an appropriate framework within which matters of equity and social responsibility can 

be discussed, something which might, for instance, be manifested in a shift of focus in financial 

statements, such as a move from the income statement to alternative reports like the value added 

statement (Baydoun and Willett, 1994). The imp01tance of the current value balance sheet and 

the value added statement, the two reports suggested by Baydoun and Willett as important to 

Muslims, will be discussed in greater detail in the theoretical framework. The following section 

examines the concept of accountability as it relates to Islamic accounting. 

Accountability 

There have been suggestions that there should be a shift in the focus of financial reporting from 

decision usefulness to accountability (Gray et al, 1987). h1 an accountability-based framework, 

the objective of accounting is to provide a fair inf01mation flow between the accountor and the 

accountee. Using such a framework, the recipients of infonnation are assumed to be the society 

at large and groups within society, and financial repo1ting is assmned to be responsibility driven 

(Gray et al, 1991). From an accountant's perspective, accountability refers to the 

onus, requirement or responsibility to provide an account (by no means necessarily a financial 
account) or the reckoning of the actions for which one is responsible (Gray et al, 1987, p2). 

Benston (1982) asserted that accountability is a consequence of responsibility. Social 

accountability thus, is the responsibility to account for actions for which one has under an 

established contract (Gray et al, 1987). Obviously, responsibility must be clearly defined to 

satisfacto1ily discharge accountability arising from that responsibility. 

In Islam, man has a covenant with God (Ishaque, 1978). Accordingly, this covenant requires that 
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the individual discharges his accountability n1 accordance with the responsibilities laid down in the 

Shari 'a. This is similar to the contract existing between the principal and the agent as espoused 

by Gray et al (1987) n1 the pr:i.ncipal-agent accountability framework. In that framework, the 

principal gives instructions to the agent as to what actions are expected of him. Typically, the 

principal places two primary responsibilities upon the agent; responsibility for action and 

responsibility to account for those actions. In Islam, the believer has an obligation to God. 

Rights, as the n1dividual is made to acknowledge, stem from the individual's primary duty to God. 

It is n1 these duties that his rights and freedom lie. As such, man acknowledges the rights of his 

fellow men because this is a duty imposed on him by God (Ishaque, 1978) . 

I 
.__G_o_o _ _.1~ 

I 
Instructions about actions (Shari'a) lnfonnation 
Reward re: actions 
Power 

'---------.... ""-11 INDIVIDUALI I-___ _,rccountability) 

ACTIONS 

FIGURE 3.1 : The Islamic accountability-based framework 
Adapted from Gray et al (1987) 

From Islam's perspective, life is a matter of mutual cooperation and personal responsibility. 

Spiritual bliss and material happiness must be merged :in the Islamic unitaiy vision so as to 

maximise collective freedom a11d social happiness (Naqvi, 1994). Accountability in Islam means 
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personal accountability to God whereas that of the Western accounting tradition is deemed to be 

accountability to the stakeholders (Baydoun and Willett, 1994). The accountability-based 

framework of a Muslim, adapted from Gray et al (1987), is reflected in Figure 3.1. As can be 

observed, the concept of accountability in Islam has God as the principal and man as His agent and 

the covenant existing between God and man as the contract. 

Baydoun and Willett argued that accountability to God can be interpreted as accountability to the 

ummah (society at large), and that two essential principles flow from this concept: full disclosure 

and social accountability. In line with this, they suggested that an Islamic corporate report should 

include a cmTent value balance sheet and a value added statement. They argued that the need for 

greater awareness of the social impact of firm activities in Islam would render these two financial 

statements more relevant to the needs of Muslims. However, it can be argued that the inclusion 

of these two statements may not totally satisfy the full disclosure aspect of Islamic corporate 

reporting. Given Islam's focus on the community, one would also expect a greater emphasis on 

the reporting of social accountability issues in Islamic Corporate Reports. 

Social responsibility accounting 

On the basis of the above, a reasonable conclusion one may reach at this point is that social 

responsibility accounting, as envisioned n1 the West, forms part of Islamic accounting. As is 

generally understood, the purpose of social responsibility accounting is primarily to detennine the 

effects corporate actions have on the quality of life of society and hence the emphasis on 

accountability2°. The primaiy objective may be similai· but Islamic accounting would have a wider 

focus. The stress on social justice does not only refer to disclosure issues such as reporting on 

the environment, mn1ority employees ai.1d the like (see Gray et al, 1987). Financial statements 

20The Corporate Report (1975) advocating a public accountability framework in financial reporting suggested that 
public accountability is separate from and broader than the legal obligation to report and that it arises from the custodial 
role played in the community by economic entities. 
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from an Islamic perspective should enable a Muslim shareholder to determine the liability for 

zakat, a tool for income redistribution. Additionally, while issues pertaining to interest and unfair 

trading practices (to be elaborated in section 3.3) are not being considered as social issues from 

a Western perspective, in Islam these matters are specifically addressed in the Shari'a because of 

their potential to affect the well-being of the community. Thus, one would expect such issues 

to f01m pait of disclosure practices of a film operating in an Islamic environment. Evidently, the 

scope of social responsibility accounting in Islam would be wider. 

As emphasised earlier, Islam is not against businesses making profits (El-Ashker, 1987; AlHabshi, 

1991). In fact, one cai1 argue that profits are encouraged for the primary reason that without it 

a finn would not be in a position to fulfill its social obligations satisfact01ily. Thus, it is the duty 

of a prope1ty owner to utilise his property to the fullest (Mannan, 1986). However, this should 

not be at the expense of the community (Chapra, 1992a). Herein lies the concept of Tazkiyah, that 

all growth, change and material enhancement must lead to social justice and spiritual betterment 

for the community as well as the owners. One would therefore envisage profit not to be the 

prima1y objective of Islamic businesses although it remains an importai1t objective of ai1y business 

(AlHabshi, 1991). Aliff (1991) argued that profit is allowed in Islam but profiteering is not. 

Hence, exclusive emphasis on the "bottom line" profit would not be appropriate in Islainic 

accounting (e.g. El-Ashker, 1987; Baydoun and Willett, 1994; Gambling, 1994). This is in 

contrast with the modem capitalist economy where success is plimaiily measured in tenns of 

profits. Friedman (1970) even went on to suggest that the only social responsibility of an 

organisation is to eain profits21
• Thus, the motive behind social activities and hence the repo1ting 

of such activities is imp01tant. 

21 Although this is slowly changing with the changing perceptions of the role of corporate responsibility and social 
accounting (Robertson, 1976; Gray et al, 1987). 
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According to Gambling and Kalim (1991) business, as it is practised today, is that of a "modern 

economizing spirit pursuing unbridled self interest within the code of law" (p77). Companies will 

only engage in social responsibility if that ensures better economic pe1formance. Teoh and 

Thong's (1984) findings supported this Benthamite contention. In their study of 100 companies 

operating in Malaysia, they found that consideration of social performance was associated with 

economic pe1formance. Greater emphasis was given to major social perfonnance areas like 

human resources and product development service to consumers where the potential impact on 

the profitability of a company was visible. The pd.me motivation behind the concern for the 

welfare of employees was actually a desire to develop a loyal, capable and dedicated workforce 

which would ultimately lead to :increased productivity and profitability. As for the funds expended 

on product safety and plicing, the motive was rather obvious. This was undertaken because the 

survival of the company, to a great extent, depended on its product. In contrast, activities which 

:involved the community but did not :increase a company's profitability were low in priority. Thus, 

one observes that ethical behaviour is generally utilitarian in motivation. This is an outlook which 

seems to be against the Islamic spilit. Islam emphasises on sincerity of purpose in any activity one 

engages in, for one is ultimately accountable to God. In Islam, ethical conduct should be 

altruistically motivated22
• However, one can argue that utilitarianism may be tolerated if the self

i11terest motive is congment with the increased well-being of the ummah. Herein lies the import 

of the concept of 'balance' in Islam. 

Teoh and Thong suggested that to compel businesses to recognise their social responsibility, 

legislation should be enacted. Islam, it is argued, differs in this regard. Compulsion or legislation 

should be regarded as being the last resort. What is usually advocated is the reform of individuals 

22
Ethical behaviour may be classified into altruistic or utilitarian in motivation. Altruistic behaviour is motivated either 

by a fundamental concern for the welfare of others or by the desire to feel good by helping others. Utilitarian ethical behaviour refers 
to the voluntary compliance of rules that are in the individual's self-interest (Noreen, 1988). 
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through their beliefs which, in the final analysis, moves them to act :in a mam1er consistent with 

Islamic p1inciples. This may eventually tligger refonn in financial reporting. 

The financial accounting framework delived from the Shari'a should be considered as part of the 

social and economic system of Islam which ultimately leads to the goal of worshipping God in the 

way He has prescribed (Gambling and Kaiim, 1991). Gambling and Kaiim ai·gued that there is 

no necessity for specific social repo1ting if man adheres stlictly to the Shari 'a, because the Shari 'a 

specifies the lights and duties of merchant and customer, employer and employee, and landlord 

ai1d tenant. Accordingly, the need for supervision, control and legislation would be considerably 

lessened if each :individual understands his responsibilities and canies out his duties in accordance 

with what is laid down in the Shari'a. Islam recognises that human beings are not perfect and 

thus, an institution known as hisbah (which has its primary and rather general objective of 

'promoting good and preventing evil' in Islamic societies) was developed. Hisbah will be 

explained later :in this chapter. The remainder of this section is concerned with the specifics of 

Islamic accounting: the prohibition of interest, the determination of zakat and ethics. 

3.1 Riha (Usury) 

The word riba literally means 'increase', 'addition', 'expansion' or 'growth'23
• The Shari'a refers 

to riba as the premium that is paid by the borrower to the lender. According to Chapra (1992a), 

the consensus of Muslimjmists is that riba and interest are synonymous. However, in a broader 

context, riba includes any unfair trading practices (Gambling and Kalim, 1991). In this thesis, 

riba refers specifically to interest. The Qur'an clearly forbids riba in the following verses. 

Those who devour usury will not stand except as stands one whom the Evil One by 
his touch has driven to madness. That is, because they say : Trade is like usury ; 
but God hath permitted trade and forbidden usury ( 2:275 ). 

23The wider definition of riba appears to refer to any forms of taking advantage of the poor and the ignorant (Gambling 
and Karim, 1986) 
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God will deprive usury of all blessings but will give increase for deeds of charity (2:276). 

Money is a medium of exchange and it is not a commodity to be traded. As such, the situation 

where money commands a premium is prohibited in an Islamic economy (Ghazali, 1990). The 

moral motive behind the prohibition of :interest is based on the piinciple of not exploiting the poor 

and the needy through charging :interest on loans extended to them. This is interpreted as a form 

of oppression (e.g. Al-Buraey, 1990; Ghazali, 1990; Mannan, 1986). In forbidding interest Islam 

advocates an economic system where capital on its own does not generate a return. Hence, there 

is not to be any gain without risk. However, this does not mean that gambling per se, is allowed. 

The economic motive, according to El-Ashker (1987), is based on the principles of justice, hard 

work and the prevention of wealth being concentrated in the hands of the few. Injustice is deemed 

to mise when there is a guaranteed and fixed return to the lender, but an uncertain and vaiiable 

return to the bo1TOwer (Hamid et al, 1993). Accordingly justice is served if the lender accepts his 

share of the losses as well as the profits such as in the case of the mudaraba partnership discussed 

earlier. If a lender is simply extending financial help to the borrower, then he should not be 

entitled to more than what he has loaned. Islam does not recognise premiums as representing a 

safeguard against risk. Muslims believe that unce1ta:inty is something that an individual has to face 

in this world. Muslims are expected to bem· their share of whatever misfmtune befalls them 

(Gambling and Kmim, 1991). They cannot safeguard against their iisk at another's expense. 

Charging interest shifts the 1isk from lender to bmTOwer (Siddiqi, 1981). What this will eventually 

lead to is the widening of the gap between the iich and the poorer members of society. 

Consequently, the result will be a weakening of the bond of brotherhood which may eventually 

lead to jealousy, hatred and animosity. 

What are some of the :implications of this for accounting in Islamic societies? Firstly, it will 

:influence the capital structure of a company and secondly, its influence on the disclosure practices 
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of financial reporting. As the latter is the subject of this thesis, it will be discussed :in the 

theoretical framework in the next chapter. The remainder of this section discusses the capital 

structure of Islamic business organisations. 

Capital structure 

Companies operating under strict Islamic plinciples are not allowed to participate :in activities 

associated with any kind of riba. However, Islam does provide alternative methods of financing 

like the mudaraba and the musharaka types of financing explained earlier in this chapter. Hence, 

one would expect the capital structure of Islamic business enterprises to be different from that of 

its Western counterparts. Hamid, et al (1993) argued that Islam precludes debt financing because 

of God's prohibition of interest and Prophet Mohamed's admonition against debt itself. However, 

some other authors (e.g. El-Ashker, 1987; Mohsin, 1992) believed that the prohibition of interest 

does not entail a total prohibition of debt transactions. The following is a verse from the Qur 1an 

on the recording of debts. 

0 ye who believe, when ye contract a debt for a fixed term, record it in writing. Let a scribe record it 
in writing between you in (tenns of) equity. No scribe should refuse to write as Allah hath taught him, 
so let him write, and let him who incurreth the debt dictate, and let him observe his duty to Allah his 
Lord, and diminish naught thereof (2:282). 

Accordingly, it can be argued that to the extent that debt transactions do not involve any interest, 

debts are allowed in Islam, although not encouraged. This would mean that debentures are not 

allowed because such debentures carry a fixed rate of interest, and not because they are debt per 

se. On whether preference shares are allowed :in Islam, Hamid et al (1993) observed that 

preference shares are unlawful in Islam because their dividends are fixed. However, El-Ashker 

(1987) and Mohs:in (1992) maintained that if the fixed dividend rate pegged to preference shares 

is to be removed, as a form of capital these preference shares would not violate any precepts of 

the Shari 1a and in fact would be similar to the role played by a sleeping partner in a musharaka 

or a mudaraba. Interestingly, Saudi Arabia legitimised a similar type of preference shares in 

1992. hlstead of being pegged with a fixed rate of dividend, preference shares in Saudi Arabia 
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caITy with them a predetermined rate of return (Nomani and Rahnema, 1995). 

Evidently then, a company conducting its business strictly in accordance with the tenets of Islam 

will not have in its capital structure any debentures or preference shares with a fixed rate of 

dividend. Any long te1m loans obtained from the bank would be in the fonn of a mudaraba 

partnership, where the bank is entitled to a share of the company's profits. In case of losses, the 

bank would lose the amount extended as the loan. What this essentially means is that the Islamic 

source of finance is based on mutual sac1ifice and cooperation between the borrower and the 

lender so as to fulfill the basic needs of both. This is supposed to lead to the fuller development 

of human potential and the emichment of human life (Chapra, 1992a). The impact this might have 

in the relationship between lenders and borrowers is that banks would work more closely with 

companies to ensure the efficient management of their assets. It would seem that on this basis, 

banks would have a much more "interventionist" relationship with their clients than would 

normally be the case in the West. One final issue related to debts concerns the pardoning of 

outstanding amounts. The principle of Islamic brotherhood is reflected in the following verse of 

the Qur'an. 

3.2 ZakafA 

If the debtor is in strained circumstances then (let there be) postponement to the time 
of ease; and that ye remit the debt as alms giving would be better for you if ye did 

but know (2:280). 

Zakat is a tax that every Muslim, whose wealth exceeds a certain nisab (minimum amount) has 

to pay. This is essentially a wealth tax and it ranks second in importance only to prayers as a 

feature of everyday witness to the Islamic faith. To El-Ashker (1987), zakat is a religious tax. 

Mannan (1986) disagreed with this definition. According to him, defining zakat as a religious tax 

24Readers may refer to Muhammad (1993) for a discussion on the concept of alms giving before Islam. In it, he also 
distinguished zakat from charity. While the former connotes 'a rightful share' (i.e. an obligatory duty on the wealthy) the 
latter implies something that is voluntary (p35). 
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would mean that Islam recognises the separation between religion and economics or the separation 

between the spilitual and wordly matters25
• Islam recognises no such dichotomy. Perhaps the 

definition is of lesser impmtance. Of greater significance is its objective, that of redistributing 

wealth (e.g. Al-Burney, 1990; Mannan, 1986). 

Zakat means 'that which pmifies' and 'that which fosters'. It is an integral, compulsory and 

inseparable part of the Islamic way of life, the non-observance of which is tantamount to the 

negation of the religion itself (Ashaari and Mohamed, 1989). Zakat covers the moral, social and 

economic spheres of Islamic finance (Mannan, 1986). In the moral sphere, as explained earlier, 

zakat washes away the greed and acquisitiveness of the Iich, whilst socially, it acts as a unique 

measure to abolish poverty from society as well as encouraging the 1ich to live up to their social 

responsibilities. The Qur'an categorically states this. 

And those in whose wealth is a recognized right. For the needy who asks and him 
who is prevented (for some reason from asking) (70:24-25)26

• 

From the economic point of view, zakat prevents the morbid accumulation of wealth in a few 

hands and allows it to be more widely distributed. Mannan (1986) argued that the payment of 

zakat should be voluntary and for genuine social motives because zakat payment is symbolic of 

the inner unity of religion and economics. However, zakat cannot be regarded as a favour that 

the giver does for his fellow Muslims. This was why the Prophet did not approve the private 

dispensation of zakat. An individual should not be placed in a very embmTassing situation when 

25The verse in the Qur'an (quoted in an earlier section of this chapter) attests to this (i.e. one should always have a 
'balanced' perspective). 

But seek with the wealth which Allah has bestowed on thee, the Home of the Hereafter, nor forget thy 

portion in this world (28:77). 

26The following verse in the Qur' an specifies the categories of people that can receive zakat. 

Alms are for the poor and the needy, and those employed to administer the funds; for those whose 
hearts have been recently reconciled to the Truth; for those in bondage and in debt; in the cause of 
Allah; and for the wayfarer (8:60) 
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receiving zakat from private citizens. Thus, on the one hand, the act of personally giving to a 

needy person will strengthen the bonds of brotherhood but on the other, if such an act would put 

the receiver :in a very uncomf 01table position, the practice should not be undertaken, because the 

giving and receipt of zakat must be accompanied with discretion and dignity. It is for this reason 

that the administration, collection and disbursement of zakat by the state is advocated. Another 

reason is to prevent a situation where a giver cannot find a person in need of the zakat mainly 

because a paiticular area has a large number of rich people who themselves are paying zakat 

(Choudhury, 1993). In the light of the preceding discussion, it is worth digressing at this point 

to briefly look at how a Muslim country like Malaysia administers zakat. 

3.2.1 Zakat in Malaysia 

To overcome the problem cited above, in Malaysia, a national zakat collection system for 

:individuals was proposed in late 1995 (NST, 1995)27
• Presently, zakat collection is decentralised 

with zakat being administered by the State Religious C01mcils28
• Because of this, states with a 

lai·ge number of poor Muslims ai·e greatly disadvai1taged because the amount collected from zakat 

is far less than what is needed. In Malaysia, Muslim taxpayers cai1 get a rebate on their income 

tax by producing a zakat payment receipt from the relevant State Islainic Council. However, for 

vaiious reasons, only one out of five Muslims eligible to pay zakat does so (NST, 1995). Given 

the fact that some Muslims prefer to pay zakat personally to the needy, this figure may not be very 

accurate. Whatever the case may be, it is hoped that the proposed system (where zakat will be 

collected through the Inland Revenue), will provide a more convenient way for Muslims to fulfill 

their religious obligations. It must be stressed here that this proposed new system does not affect 

27Maududi (1986) argued that since the Qur'an specifically states that zakat can be paid to the functionaries of the zakat 
office, it obviously means that zakat should be collected and distributed by a central body. 

28Malaysia is a federation of 14 states. Twelve are located in Peninsular Malaysia, namely, Penang, Perlis, Kedah, 
Perak, Selangor, Negri Sembilan, Malacca, Johore, Kelantan, Trengganu, Pahang and the federal Territory (Wilayah 
Persekutuan). These states make up West Malaysia. The states of Sabah and Sarawak, also known as East Malaysia, 
are located on the island of Borneo. 
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the amount collected by the Inland Revenue. The proposed system, according to the General 

Manager of the Zakat Collection Centre of the Federal Tenitory Islamic Council, will ensure better 

accountability and enable funds from states with a high proportion of Iich Muslims to be 

distributed to states with a large number of poor Muslims. 

3.2.2 Liability for zakat 

The Shari'a specifies that only :individuals are liable for zakat. It is the individual owners who are 

responsible for determining the a.mount that should be paid out as zakat. Consequently Gambling 

and Karim (1991) contended that one of the major objectives of accounting in an Islamic society 

is to provide info1mation to enable the individual to dete1mine his zakat liability29
• This 

supposition is one of the issues investigated :in this study. Another issue that has been the subject 

of considerable debate amongst Islamic jmists is whether or not a company is liable for zakat. This 

was resolved at the Zakat conference in Kuwait in 1985. The conference agreed that in the case 

of a company considered as a separate legal entity, zakat should be detennined based on the 

company's net current assets as if the company was subject to zakat. The zakat so dete1mined 

would then be divided between the owners for the purposes of each owner satisfying his religious 

obligation by himself. However, in the following four cases, Islamic jtuists have come to a 

consensus that a company would be required to satisfy the zakat obligation itself either as an entity 

or on behalf of its owners under the following conditions: 

1. when the law requires the company to satisfy the zakat obligations as an entity. 
2. when the company is required by its charter or by-laws to satisfy the zakat obligation as an entity 
3. when the general assembly of shareholders passes a resolution requiring the company to satisfy the 

zakat obligation as an entity, 
4. when individual owners authorize the company to act as their agent satisfying the zakat 

obligation (SFAC 1, p29). 

29 Askary and Clarke (1997) suggested six objectives ofislamic financial reports: 
1. to assist users in their economic and investment decision making, 
2. to assist governments in macro and financial planning; 
3. to measure and collect zakat; 
4. to plan and allocate economic resources; 
5. to assist business entities, financial and economic institutions in their planning based on the Shari'a; and 
6. to assist investors in their risk-reducing investment decisions (p145). 
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Although voluntarism is encouraged :in Islam, :if zakat is not paid by an individual, the state has the 

power to enforce payment so that social justice prevails. Islam, as one may recall, gives 

preference to the tights of the community over the individual. The government has thus to play 

a major role in ar1 Islamic society. If the general interest of society is unduly harmed, the state has 

the authority to interfere (El-Ashker, 1987; Chapra, 1992a). The advantages of having zakat 

administered by the state have been elaborated ear·lier. In Malaysia, only compatries which are 

owned by a majotity of Muslims ( or totally by Muslims as in the case of the Pilgrims' Funds Board) 

pay zakat on behalf of their shareholders30
• 

3.2.3 Determination of wealth 

'Zakat is payable on the wealth of a business ilTespective of whether or not a profit has been earned 

(El-Badawi and Al-Sultar1, 1992) but zakat is payable only on "growing" capital. "Growth" is 

defined as the realised and unrealised gains on fixed as well as current assets. Gambling and 

Karim (1991) suggested that an accounting system based on zakat should emphasise the 

significar1ce of real assets. Accordingly, all transactions should be analysed in terms of their effect 

on assets, liabilities and owners' equity. This, they argued, would shift the focus from a revenue 

expense approach to an asset-liability approach for income measurement purposes. Consequently 

the balar1ce sheet would become the main source of accounting info1mation. 

There ar·e two categories of assets that need to be distinguished in determining wealth subject to 

zakat. Assets ar·e classified into capital assets and stock of invent01ies. Capital assets ( otherwise 

known as fixed assets) such as tools and machinery are for use in one's business, while stock of 

ilwent01ies (current assets) are for resale. Zakat is payable on cash, inventory, receivables, ar1d 

marketable securities less all liabilities related to these items. Both the realised and unrealised 

gains on cmTent assets ar·e liable for zakat. However, for disttibution purposes, only realised gains 

30To elaborate further on zakat administration would be beyond the scope of this thesis. 
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on fixed and cmTent assets can be distributed as dividends on the basis that further distlibutions 

would diminish the :fum's ability to serve the community in the future (Gambling and Karim, 1991). 

Zakat is thus payable, roughly speaking, on net working capital. However, the accounting 

concept of working capital is not necessarily similar to the theological concept of "growing" 

capital. "Growing" capital will only be equal to net working capital in two situations. The first 

is when there is no long term debt financing any current assets. The second is when there is no 

shmi term debt financing any fixed assets (El-Badawi and Al-Sultan, 1992). However, the above 

situations rarely occur primarily in view of the perceived lack of prudence in financing assets in 

this manner. Hence more often than not zakat is computed on net working capital. As noted in 

El-Badawi arid Al-Sultar1 (1992), assets would only be liable for zakat if the following conditions 

are satisfied: 

1. Ownership is complete and the asset is either in the owner's possession without any 
restriction or it is held by another person but is under the owner's control, 

2. The asset is 'growing' or 'subject to growing', 
3. The asset exceeds a minimum amount (nisab), 
4. The asset exceeds basic personal and trade needs, 
5. The asset is free of debt, 
6. The asset has been held for one year (p71). 

Of the six conditions above, the third and the fomih appear to be rather ambiguous. What one 

individual may deem sufficient for his basic needs might be inadequate for another. It is here that 

the spiritual and ethical dimensions come into play. In ar1y action, Islam emphasises the nobility 

of one's feelir1gs, the loftiness of one's objectives and the pmity of intentions. Fmther, since 

Muslims regard all wealth as ultimately belonging to God, there is absolutely no reason why 

devout followers of Islarn would want to understate their wealth and pay less zakat. Determining 

what is and is not subject to zakat is one aspect of wealth determination; the other equally 

important aspect is that of asset valuation. 

3.2.4 Asset valuation 

The principles of valuing assets to determine the amount liable for zakat are well established in the 
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Shari'a (Gambling and Karim, 1991). However, what the Shari'a provides is a general guideline. 

As a consequence of that, Islamic jurists have not agreed on any one method of valuing assets for 

zakat. Some jurists recommended the sale value on the day on which the amount of zakat was 

determined (El-Badawi and Al-Sultan, 1992). Kahf (1980) preferred the lower of the cost or 

market value. As noted in El-Badawi and Al-Sultan (1992), some Islamic scholars have favoured 

hist01ical costs. However, most jmists recommended the current valuation of assets according 

to their selling ptices. Perhaps this is because current value is more in line with the concept of 

'growing' capital, whether real or estimated (El-Badawi and Al-Sultan, 1992). Gambling and 

Kaiim (1991) and Hainid et al (1993) concurred with this view suggesting that something along 

the line of Chambers's CoCoA (Continuously Contemporary Accounting) be used for valuation 

purposes. Chainbers' CoCoA is referred to in later chapters and a btief discussion of this system 

will therefore be given. 

The basis of asset valuation in CoCoA is the money's worth or money equivalent of assets. The 

current mai·ket value of an asset may be interpreted as being based on an estimate on the average 

value of the set of transactions that are or will be incmTed by the firm if it was engaged in buying 

or selling the asset. It is not dependent on the single, hist01ic transaction cost that was incurred 

by the firrn when it bought the asset, 01iginally. This means that the firm's own activity cost 

database must be extended to include inforrnation from the finn's external environment about other 

entities' transactions if mai·ket value accounting is to be adopted. Baydoun and Willett (1994) 

ai·gued that the use of cmTent value accounting in Islainic Corporate Reporting may be considered 

as one method of extending the accountability of firms into the social domain31
• Suffice to say 

that Islam advocates the fairest manner in airiving at cmrnnt values. What is considered 'fair' is 

31 Baydoun and Willett (1994) noted that the problems of reliability and verifiability have deterred the use of current 
value accounting in the past. However, they argued that since these problems are of a practical rather than of a conceptual 
nature, it may become less severe with the passage of time. 
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interpreted in the light of the circumstances prevailing at that particular time and place. 

On a number of other related issues, Islamic accounting does not support the concept of 

conservatism as is understood in the West, for to be conservative would mean lesser payment of 

zakat which would in tum affect the poorer members of society. The determination of true wealth 

or at least an unbiased estimate of it is therefore important. Hence, Islam's support for cmTent 

values. In fact, the Qur'an warns against miserliness. The case for cmTent values will be further 

explicated in the theoretical framework. 

On bad debts, Islam disallows general provisions; only specific bad debt provisions are allowed 

(El-Ashker, 1987; Gambling and Kaiim, 1991). Although this appears to be contrary to Western 

accounting practice, for Muslims a general provision on bad debts would affect the amount of 

zakat to be paid to the poor. Interestingly, a UK taxation rnle (as well as that of Malaysia) 

disallows general provisions as deductible expenses in arriving at the taxable income of a 

corporation. 

3.3 Ethics 

In the West, incorporating ethics into accounting practice is perceived as becoming increasingly 

important at the present time (Mathews and Perera, 1993). However, its study in accountancy 

may be considered as still in its infancy (Hendriksen a11d Van Breda, 1992). A religion-oriented 

accounting, it is argued, cannot dispense with its ethical dimensions. Accordingly, the basic 

premise on which Islamic accounting can be developed lies in the domain of ethics. 

Developing accounting theory, using an ethical approach to incorporate ethical principles into 

accounting operations, develops numerous problems because there is no common source from 

which ethical values may be derived. As a consequence, questions such as "fair to whom", "for 
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what purpose" and "under what circumstances" are difficult to detennine with any precision 

(Mathews and Perera, 1993). From Islam's perspective however, fundamental business ethics 

flow automatically from the practice of religion, rather than the codes devised and imposed upon 

members by professional organisations (Hamid et al, 1993). Accordingly, developing an Islamic 

accounting themy using an ethical approach is more natural. The Shari'a provides the common 

source from which guidelines on what is considered as ethical business practices could be 

derived32
. As described earlier in this chapter, Islamic ethics rest largely on its conception of man 

in relation to self, God, universe, and society (Naqvi, 1981). The Islamic worldview elaborated 

in Section 1.3 provides the framework within which the Islam's ethical dimensions can be 

incorporated in the Islamic Corporate Reporting model. As can be recalled, the emphasis on the 

wider economic environment and the interests of the general public is central. 

Although the p1imaiy objective of businesses operating in a free private enterprise is the pursuit 

of profits, society has the right to be able to ascertain how those earnings have been achieved. 

Accordingly, the freedom for a furn to operate must coexist with self-induced responsibility (Teoh 

and Thong, 1987; Gerboth, 1987). Given Islam's emphasis on social responsibility and personal 

accountability, the key to accounting objectivity rests with the integ1ity and personal responsibility 

of the accountant. According to Gerboth, now that, 

accounting is being challenged as never before, it must take its direction not from its concepts, but from 
its values; it must find its security not in its intellectual structure, but in its professional conduct; in 
short, it must attend not to the book of accounting, but to the behaviour of accountants (p8). 

Because the Shari'a lays down ce1tain personal responsibilities and obligations to society, the 

accountant cannot simply accept at face value the utility maximising theo1y that traditional 

32 An important aspect of ethical business practices in Islam is the attitude of mind behind the activities (intentions). 
An action cannot merely be 'seen' to be good, it must also be accompanied with good intentions. 
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neoclassical economic theory has advocated33
• The following verses in the Qur'an guide the 

accountant in discharging his accountability. 

0 ye that believe! Betray not the trust of Allah and the Messenger, nor misappropriate knowingly 
things entrusted to you (8:27). 

And know ye that your possessions and your progeny are but a trial; and that it is Allah with whom lies 
your highest reward(8:28). 

Additionally, Islam emphasises ethics and morality as equal in importance to rituals. Thus, a pious 

Muslim should attain a balance between the two. Both are important. One must coexist with 

the other. The following verse in the Qur'an claiifies this. 

It is not righteousness that ye turn your faces towards East or West; but it is righteousness to believe 
in Allal1 and the Last Day, and the Angels, and the Book, and the Messengers; to spend of your 
substance, out of a love for Him, for your kin, for orphans, for the needy, for the wayfarer, for those 
who ask, and for the ransom of slaves; to be steadfast in prayer, and practise regular charity, to fulfil 
the contracts which ye have made (2: 177) 

Additionally, the Prophet Muhammad was reported to have said that an individual is a hypocrite 

(even if he observes fast, offers prayers and pe1forms pilgrimage) (Robinson, 1991), 

when he speaks he lies, when he makes promises he fails to keep it, and when you put your trust in him 
he betrays it (pl3) 

As noted earlier, the ethical approach to accounting theory development places emphasis on the 

concepts of justice, truth and fairness. Justice refers to the equitable treatment accorded to all 

parties involved in the financial statements covered by the accounts. Truth is concerned with 

providing info1mation without any misrepresentation. Fairness refers to those rules and 

procedures that do not serve a particular interest group at the expense of others. This raises the 

question as to whether financial statements should be considered as public or private goods. 

According to Peasnell (1982), for those who are interested either in assessing the extent of 

monopoly power in a compai1y or investing in rival companies, published financial statements can 

be considered as social goods. However, for managers of companies whose main interest lies in 

33The following hadith, cited in Ibrahim and Johnson-Davies (1976) may, perhaps, put the responsibility of the 
accountant in a proper perspective ( on the authority of Abu Hamzah Anas lbn Malik as related by Bukhari and Muslim). 

None of you truly believes until he wishes for his brother what he wishes for himself (p 56). 
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the reduction of agency costs (according to Western positivist thought), published financial 

information can be regarded as a private good. Given Islam's emphasis on the community, one 

could argue that, from Islam's perspective, financial statements should be regarded as public 

goods. The significance of this lies in the fact that if financial statements are public goods, 

corporate reporting ought not to have a nan-ow focus, as is presently the case. Accordingly, the 

emphasis in Islamic accounting, as was indicated earlier, should be on social accountability. A 

discussion on various matters constituting social accountability in Islam ( other than riba and zakat 

discussed in sections 3.1 and 3.2 earlier) are discussed next. 

U11fair trading practices 

Keeping one's promises is considered desirable :in a11y society, be it Islamic or otherwise. 

However, !slain intensifies the feelings of social obligations in an individual by specifically 

providing for the fulfilling of contractual obligations in the Qur'an. 

Oh ye who believe! Fulfil (all) obligations (5: 1) 

Other provisions in the Shari'a that safeguard the wider interests of society include those 

concerning hoai·ding, price manipulation and the giving of con-ect weights and measures. Islam 

forbids the monopolistic hoarding of essential goods (al-ihtikar) as this may ultimately lead to 

price manipulation. The following hadiths relate to hoarding a11d price manipulation (Al

Qaradawi, 1994). 

The man who hoards goods is evil. If prices fall he is grieved and if they rise he is 
happy (p257). 

He who brings goods to the market is blessed with bounty, but he who withholds 
them is cursed (p257). 

Another form of price manipulation is 'collusion' between companies. Competition is only 

effective a11d healthy if there ai·e a large number of firms with none having the ability to influence 

pnce. Thus, Islam prohibits monopoly and oligopoly if such practices harm the interests of 

society (Chapra, 1992a). Additionally, !slain forbids every type of fraud and deception as 
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explicated in the following verse. 

0 ye who believe! Stand out firmly for Allah, as witnesses to fair dealing and let 
not the hatred of others to you make you swerve to wrong and depart from justice 
(5:8). 

The giving of incorrect weights and measures constitutes one form of fraud which is specifically 

prohibited in the Qur 1an. 

And give full measure when you measure and weigh with the straight balance; that 
is most fitting and best in the final determination (17:35). 

Another is concealing defects :in goods. It was reported :in the hadith that the Prophet specifically 

made mention of this as follows (Al-Qaradawi, 1994). 

It is not permissable to sell an article without making everything (about it) clear, nor 
is it permissable for anyone who knows (about its defects) to refrain from 
mentioning them (p261). 

The following hadith reflecting on the concept of brotherhood in Islam sums up the conduct of 

a business in an Islamic society (Ibrahim and Johnson-Davies, 1976). 

Do not envy one another; do not inflate prices one to another; do not hate one 
another, do not turn away from one another; and do not undercut one another, but 
be you O servants of Allah, brothers (p112). 

An important concept in Islam that is fundamental to determining if a pmticular transaction is 

allowed is al-gharar (unce1tainty or lack of clality). The Prophet forbade any transaction that 

would lead to a dispute or conflict or which would result in a litigation due to the uncertain nature 

of a pmticulm· transaction. For example, Muslims are prohibited from selling umipened fruits that 

are still in the orchards (Al-Qaradawi, 1994, p254). This may be interpreted that in Islam 

therefore, trm1sactions or events that are not well-defined or not properly specified are forbidden. 

Although the concept may be of significance to Islamic accounting, its effect on corporate 

rep01ting remains unclem· at the present time. However, one would envisage that al-gharar ties 

:in with the concept of full disclosure suggested by Baydoun and Willett (1994). For example, if 

a subsidiary engages in activities that are specifically forbidden in Islam (such as gambling, 

importing liquor, etc), the holding company's accounts would have to reflect such infonnation; 

thus ensming that info11nation disclosed does not lack clmity. Such a disclosure would enable 
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Muslim shareholders to make infonned decisions as regards their investments in the holding 

company. 

Although Baydoun and Willett (1994) suggested that the Islamic Corporate Reporting model 

should follow the p1inciple of full disclosure, the above matters have not been specifically 

addressed in their paper. Thus, the preceding discussion serves to further illuminate the concept 

of full disclosure in Islam. A finn operating in an Islamic environment would have to consciously 

refrain from involving in fraudulent practices. Hence one can infer that the responsibility of the 

accountant in an Islamic society is not limited to what is being laid down by management and the 

profession, but that compliance with the precepts of the Shari'a is also required. The Islamic 

Corporate Reporting model is therefore a value 01iented model that seeks to maximise Islamic 

ethical standards. In the Western accounting model, that 'self-induced responsibility' has 

unfortunately been overlooked (Teoh and Thong, 1984). However, it can be argued that in the 

specific case oflslamic societies, the concept of self-induced responsibility is brought about by the 

individual's spilitual training (as depicted in the five pillars of Islam) and the Islamic worldview. 

This appears to suggest that an element of voluntalism must be inherent in Islamic Corporate 

Reporting. Voluntmism, as stated elsewhere in the chapter, is encouraged in Islam, but to the 

extent that this is not done, the state has a duty to legislate for such matters (El-Ashker, 1987). 

The institution set up to police social responsibility issues in Islmn is the hisbah. 

The institution of his bah 

Robertson (1976) suggested that to promote the development of procedures in order to match the 

changing social responsibilities of businesses, there should be an organisation established 

independently of government, industry, fina11cial institutions and the trade unions to oversee 

complia11ce with ethical codes. In Islmn, such an institution (hisbah) came into existence with the 
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expansion of the Islamic State (Islahi, 1988; Gambling and Karim, 1991)34
• However, unlike 

Robertson's proposal, this institution was part of the state's administrative machinery. The 

institution of hisbah was developed to assist in the regulation and supervision of the Islamic 

economy and to ensure that Muslims adhere to the Islamic ethical norms. Every Muslim is 

expected to work towards meeting the obligations of enjoining the good and forbidding the evil 

(Sadeq, 1992). This should ultimately lead to social justice in all spheres of life especially those 

pe1taining to trade. The essence of hisbah, explicated in the following verse of the Qur'an, defines 

the function of the members of the Islamic society. 

Let there arise out of you a band of people inviting all that is good, enjoying what 

is right, and forbidding what is wrong: they are the ones to attain felicity (3: 104). 

The officer entrusted with the above tasks is known as the muhtasib (supervising officer). 

Typically, the muhtasib's duty is to enforce Islamic rules pe1taining to honesty, propriety and 

hygiene. This includes detecting and punishing immorality such as the use of false measures, 

adulteration of goods and similar offences (Al-Burney, 1990). As cited in Sadeq (1992), the 

Islamic economist Al-Ghazali discussed the institution of hisbah in great detail, covering a wide 

range of topics including implementation, the qualities of the muhtasib, the activities to be 

supervised, nature of supervision and the nonns of supervision35
• Al-Ghazali realised that there 

was a need for some kind of supervision in order to hold economic agents in the right track and 

keeping them away from malpractices (Sadeq, 1992). The existence of hisbah creates an 

awareness of the social responsibility of members of society and educates them towards following 

the rules of justice. Two of the practices that Al-Ghazali specifically mentioned to be under the 

jmisdiction of the institution of hisbah are the concealment of defects in goods and services and 

false statements to earn profits. The latter generally refers to the role of misleading advertisements 

34According to Islahi (1988), although the institution existed from the time of the Prophet, the term his bah was 
used only in later periods. Writings on the subject appeared even later. 

35Al-Ghazali was an Islamic economist who lived during the period 1058 to 1111 AD. 
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to entice potential customers. Given that one of the objectives of financial statements is to attract 

:investors, one could consider financial statements as a form of adve1tising. On the basis of this 

assumption, the importance of financial repmting to accord with Islamic principles is implicit. It 

follows that creative accounting is forbidden in Islam. 

The institution of hisbah is meant to ensure that a high degree of morality is attained and that 

society is protected from fraud, exploitation and purposely created inefficiencies such as 

uncontrolled monopoly practices. Gambling and Karim (1991) suggested that an institution like 

the hisbah might prove useful in various moral issues related to corporate reporting (p51). As 

reported in Sadeq (1992), Al-Ghazali also emphasised the need to supervise expenditure, to 

control wastage and extravagance and to check that the Islamic Shari'a is followed on all matters 

pe1taining to trade and business contracts. In addition, the muhtasib should make sure that items 

specifically prohibited in the Shari 'a are not traded in the market. 

Today, this function is unde1taken by bodies such as the industrial tribunals; the bureaus 

monitoring fraud, monopolies and other unfair trading practices; and various other groups 

representing the rights of producers, consumers and workers (Ghazali, 1990). Ghazali (1990) 

contended that the institution of hisbah may take any fonn as long as the interest of the weak is 

protected and the objective of socio-economic justice is achieved. More specifically, in an 

accounting context, what comes into mind is the role of the external auditor. The role of the 

external auditor can be likened to the muhtasib. However, the responsibilities of the latter are far 

greater. Not only are the muhtasibs ultimately accountable to Allah, they are also deemed to be 

responsible to the ummah. Additionally, whilst the external auditor theoretically acts on behalf 

of and is appointed by shareholders, the muhtahsib has a duty to the ummah at large. 
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4Summary 

The piimary purpose of this chapter has been to provide an understanding of Islam and its 

worldview in order to fonnulate the theoretical framework of this thesis. This chapter has 

reviewed the literature on Islam and its philosophical foundations which form the premise on 

which Islamic business enterpiises are organised and Islamic accounting developed. Three 

specific areas pe1tinent to the development of Islamic accounting, that of interest, zakat and ethics 

were discussed. The next chapter discusses the theoretical framework. 
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Chapter 4 

The Theoretical Framework 

Introduction 

The previous two chapters reviewed the literature on culture, Islam, and their possible influence 

on accounting. The objective of this chapter is to provide the theoretical underpinnings of the 

rationale for the inclusion of the current value balance sheet and the value added statement in 

Islamic Corporate Reporting. There are five man1 sections in this chapter. The following section 

discusses conceptual framework issues covering theories on the cultural relevance of accounting 

systems, the theory of measurement and disclosure and the Islamic Shari 'a. Section 2 derives the 

Islamic Corporate Reporting model on the basis of the Islamic worldview. Section 3 develops 

the model using an indirect approach based upon the Hofstede-Gray framework. Section 4 

evaluates Baydoun and Willett's Islamic Corporate Reporting model, examines the reasons why 

Muslims should find the current value balance sheet and the value added statement useful, and 

subsequently fonnulates six hypotheses to investigate the primary research questions. Section 

5 provides a summary of the chapter. 

1 Conceptual framework 

Conceptual framework issues dealing with the question of the cultural relevance of Western based 

accounting systems to developing economies focus on two distinct areas: the first concerns 

theories which attempt specifically to clarify the relationship between accounting approaches and 

cultural values; and the second concerns the general issue of measurement and disclosure aspects 

of accounting practice (Baydoun and Willett, 1995). However, when cultural relevance analysis 

is applied to a distinct religious group as in the case of this project, then a third issue is the body 

of religious knowledge from which the frame of reference for many beliefs about the nature and 

role of accounting on society is derived. Figure 4.1 presents the relationship of the three variables: 
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Hofstede's cultural dimensions, accounting practice and religious knowledge. 

Specifically, Islam as a religion is envisaged as being a subset of a larger set of cultural beliefs and 

also as having a pervasive effect on Hofstede's cultural dimensions. The three key theoretical 

areas of cultural relevance theories, measurement and disclosure and the Shari1a will now be 

b1iefly discussed in tum. 

1.1 Cultural relevance theories 

The theoretical framework that is most often used to relate cultural values to accounting systems 

is based on the Hofstede-Gray model (e.g. Perera, 1989a; Gerhady, 1990; Fechner and Kilgore, 

1994; Baydoun and Willett, 1995). Baydoun and Willett (1995) argued that one possible use of 

this theory as applied to developing countries was as a definition of the cultural relevance of 

accounting practices. Basically the same perspective is adopted in this study. As was noted in 

the literature review, Gray linked Hofstede's national cultural values of Power Distance, 

Uncertainty Avoidance, Individualism and Masculinity to the value systems of accountants. 

Subsequently, the accounting subcultural values were linked to the fo1m accounting systems take 

(Gray, 1988). 

The Hofstede-Gray model is based on the basic premise that there should be a close match 

between national cultural values and patterns of accounting systems, given that cultural values 

presumably guide the design of a nation's social systems. One possible approach to determine if 

a particular accounting system is appropriate to a particular country's needs is to determine the 

cultural dimensions of that country and link them via Gray's accounting values to the specific fonn 

and content of financial statements most appropriate for that country. This is essentially what 

Baydoun and Willett (1995) attempted to do and the framework developed by them will be further 

extended to investigate the effect of religious values on accounting. By this method one may be 
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able to translate a knowledge of religious values into a design for a set of financial statements most 

suitable for that specific religious group. Baydoun and Willett's framework will be discussed in 

a later section. What is pe1tinent at this point is to determine the relationship between Islam and 

Hofstede's cultural dimensions (as applied to Islamic societies). 

Although Hofstede recognised the existence of different cultural groups within a country based 

on ethnic and religious drrferences (which he termed 'subcultural groups'), he emphasised that his 

cultural values relate to the characte1istics of nations. The focus on Islamic societies in this study, 

therefore, adapts this approach to the more specific characteristics of a religious community. 

Religion, like culture, is defined by a set of beliefs and are thus intimately related. Farnqi (1989) 

maintained that religion is an important dimension of culture. Gambling and Karim (1986), 

suppo1ted this contention when they argued that the collective personalities of the individuals, who 

comprise a society, fo1m its culture and if the individuals are Muslims, their personalities are 

Islamic and their culture is Islamic. Islam, as a code which permeates the social fabric, influences 

the consciousness of believers to a greater extent than many other religions. Further, in Islam, 

belief is a matter of action. As such, the purpose of life is not simply to affirm one's faith in God 

but to actualise that faith. Consequently, one would expect the cultural dimensions (Hofstede's 

national cultural values) of such societies to be significantly influenced by the Islamic faith. 

This contention is supported by Hofstede (1980). Although Hofstede (1980) argued that 

religious affiliation by itself is less culturally relevant than is often assumed, he apparently believed 

there are circumstances under which religion may affect societal values. More specifically, he 

suggested that Pakistan's low Power Distance is due to Islam (pl32). On this view, in examining 

the relationship between Islam and national culture, one would envisage the influence to be in the 

direction of Islam on national culture as indicated by the arrow in Figure 4.1. Given that 

85 



Hofstede's concepts relate to national culture rather than the religious values of specific subcultural 

groups, it is presently an 'open' question as to the extent those concepts are applicable to the 

analysis of religious groups (Baydoun and Willett, 1995). One consequence of this research 

therefore will be an assessment of the usefulness of the Hofstede approach in addressing this 

matter. 

To accomplish this end and to detennine the detailed structural relationships through which culture 

and religion may be translated :into definite policy recommendations on the individual components 

of financial statements, the Hofstede-Gray model needs to be extended to explicitly consider the 

nature of the basic technical accounting dimensions of measurement and disclosure (Baydoun and 

Willett, 1995). This issue is now briefly discussed. 

1.2 Measurement and disclosure 

Baydoun and Willett's framework, (see Figure 2.3 in Chapter 2) on the measurement and 

disclosure of accounting practice, suggested that cultural factors are most likely to influence 

disclosure rather than measurement practices. Measurement can be split into two ma:in types: 

fundamental and derived measurements. The former, representing direct assignments of numbers 

to accounting events (e.g. transaction costs) are less affected by culture. Derived measurements 

:in contrast may, to a greater extent, be influenced by cultural factors. The recording of the cost 

of a fixed asset is a fundamental (direct) measurement and it is very unlikely that culture would 

have an influence on the :interpretation of the value of such measures. Derived measurements ( of 

the type used :in depreciation and market value calculations, for example) are more likely to be 

culturally determined. However, it is at the disclosure level that one would most expect culture 

and therefore religion (given the viewpoint expressed in Chapter 2) to have the greatest influence. 

The primary focus of this study will therefore be mostly concerned with issues that pertain to 

disclosure. 
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The application of this idea to study the effect of religion on accounting in Baydoun and Willett, 

(1994) led to the question of whether the 'tiiple focus' contained in Western based accounting 

systems on the historic cost balance sheet, the income statement and the funds flow or the cash 

flow statement might cut across religious and cultural boundaries and be in some sense universally 

applicable. This issue was analysed through an application of Statistical Activity Cost Theory 

(SACT), the significance of which in this context is that a distinction is made between the film's 

internal and external databases1
• Following Hodgson et al (1993) historic cost systems of 

accounting are identified with infonnation contained in the internal database only while current 

value systems are identified with information from both internal and external sources2
• Figure 4.2 

clarifies this notion. 

SACT claims that all accounting numbers can be constructed on the basis of measured activity 

costs which are defined in tenns of a start time, duration time and the cost of the resources 

consumed and created by the activity. Each firm collects data about costs incmred in its own 

activities, the activity set partitioning the resource set of the economy as a whole. In Figure 4.2 

the time dimension is graphed on the h01izontal axes and the resource set is drawn on the vertical 

axis. The shaded rectangle AEFD represents the finn's own activity cost database which provides 

data for the preparation of the traditional histoiic cost balance sheet, income statement and sources 

and application of funds statement (the brought forward data being contained in the darker 

rectangle ABCD. In the case of Islamic societies, it is argued that an Islamic society's demand 

for accountability will require the extension of the finn's database to include the fmn's external 

environment beyond that which is indicated by the shaded areas in Figure 4.2. By the nature of 

1Costs include both the revenues and expenses of an activity. See also Gibbins and Willett (1997). 

2This is something of an idealisation because even relatively strict historic cost systems such as those of the US 
include adjustments like 'lower of cost and market' which require certain information other than that which can be 
obtained from the firm's own cost database. 
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the information contained in the extended database this signifies that a current value accounting 

system may be more appropriate to the needs of Islamic users since the determination of cmTent 

values is dependent on the calculation of some kind of measure of central tendency of the 

distribution of all possible transaction costs to which a firm might be party to (and not just those 

contained in the finn's own database) (Baydoun and Willett, 1994). One could also argue that 

the extension of the database (to one which includes the wider economic environment), implies 

an emphasis on the repo1ting of externalities and public costs as well as the purely private costs 

which are the basis of conventional accounting technologies. Given this fact, one would envisage 

corporate repmting from an Islamic perspective to be similar in some respects to certain forms 

of social responsibility accounting. 

1.3 The Shari'a 

The third and final aspect important to the application of the theoretical framework shown :in 

Figure 4.1 is the Shari 'a. The Shari 'a is the general frame of reference from which the Islamic 

worldview is derived and on which the Islamic Corporate Reporting model may be developed. 

Of primary importance is the concept of accountability in Islam. As discussed in the literature 

review, Naqvi (1981) elaborated the Islamic concept of accountability into four ethical axioms: 

Unity, Equilibrium, Free Will and Responsibility. These ethical axioms, it is argued, fonn the 

basis of the Islamic social order and would thus impact on the type of information Islamic users 

reqmre. 

Referring to Figure 4.1, the impact of Islam on accounting can be examined in two ways: one 

directly, and the other indirectly through Hofstede's cultural values. The direct approach means 

theoretically detennining how the Islamic worldview as explicated by the four ethical axioms of 

Unity, Equilibrium, Free Will and Responsibility, would shape corporate reporting. This is 

discussed :in the following section. The :indirect approach examines Islam's influence on corporate 
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repmt:ing us:ing the Hofstede-Gray framework. Section 3 discusses the indirect approach. If the 

models developed using the two approaches are consistent, then the usefulness of the model to 

Islamic societies would be greatly enhanced. 

2 The direct approach to the Islamic corporate reporting model: the Islamic worldview 

To develop a financial accounting and repmting system, it is essential that one understands the 

purpose it serves (Sterling, 1970). From Islam's perspective, the pr:imary objective of accounting 

is to ensure that the system discharges the Islamic concept of accountability satisfactorily. What 

is accountability in Islam and what are its implications on corporate reporting will be discussed 

using the four ethical axioms of Unity, Equilibrium, Free Will and Responsibility. 

The concept of Unity denotes the ve1tical d:imension of Islam recognising God's sovereignty and 

man's unconditional submission to Him. The integrative social role of Unity stems from an 

awareness of God's Omnipotence (35:1)3, of His Knowledge of all things (3:180)4 and of His 

Ownersh:ip of all th:ings (3: 129)5. The essence of Unity or Tawhid requires man to be ult:imately 

accountable to God. However, Islam defines the norms of human conduct and ends of human 

desire :in tenns of values which focus on society (Farnqi, 1978). Thus, man's accountability to 

God also encompasses his accountability to his fellow men. 

The Quranic view of life divides man's functions into haqooqullah, h:is obligations to God and 

haqooqulabad, h:is obligations to society (Brohi, 1978). The eth:ical axiom of Equilibrium 

(denoting the horizontal dimension of Islam) reflects a state of social balance (Naqvi, 1994), 

emphasis:ing on the concept of brotherhood in Islam. Implicit in the concept of brotherhood is the 

3Praise be to Allah, who created out of nothing the heavens and the earth (35:1). 

4And Allah is well acquainted with all that ye do (3: 180) 

5To Allah belongeth all that is in the heavens and on earth (3: 129). 

90 



need to achieve socio-economic justice (Chapra, 1992a). Kahf (1991) argued that the Islamic 

concept of accountability can be interpreted as one that promotes both social justice and social 

accountability. Baydoun and Willett's (1994) perspective was similar, suggesting that from. the 

perspective of financial rep01ting, two essential principles underlie the concept of accountability 

:in Islam.: the precept of full disclosure and the concept of social accountability6. In line with this, 

and adopting Hayashi's suggestion that Islamic accounting is 'society-oriented', one rnay expect 

the Islamic Corporate Reporting model to focus rnore on socially related infonnation. What 

constitute matters of social concern :in Islam are specifically laid out in the Shari 'a. For example, 

as indicated :in the preceding chapter, monopoly practices and unfair trading practices are 

emphasised. In contrast, these issues have not been the focus of social responsibility accounting 

in the West. 

Free Will, from an Islamic perspective, asserts that rnan is not chained by predestination. Having 

been given intelligence, a person has the freedom to choose. However, their choice should not 

:injure society in any way. Related to this concept of freedom of actions is the concept of private 

ownership in Islam. In the context of economics and accounting, Free Will requires individuals 

not to regard private ownership as absolute; their freedom of choice should not be allowed to 

disturb social equilibrium. A person holds property in trust for God and there should be no 

conflict between private and social interests. Islam, by subjecting every individual to a code of 

behaviour that emphasises discipline has, as its primary objective, the well being of all (Naqvi, 

1994). More specifically, in a financial reporting context, such a concept suggests that the 

accountant's accountability focus is enhanced to include a wider audience, namely the public. This 

may be contrasted with capitalist 01iented societies where the primary focus is on investors 

6Arguably, social accountability may, in some sense, constitute a subset of full disclosure. However, since social 
justice is important in Islam, the social accountability aspect of financial reporting is singled out. 
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(Whitman and Shubik, 1973). Thus, one would expect a firm operating in an Islamic environment 

should be pmticularly concerned of the consequences of its own actions on the community. This 

is further elaborated by the axiom of Responsibility. 

The axiom of Responsibility bridges the gap between individual freedom and collective freedom. 

According to Ishaque (1978) the Qur'an is so emphatic about the dischm·ge of an individual's 

obligations that the question of positively articulating a Muslim's rights does not arise. Because 

man's obligations take precedence over his rights, self interest is automatically constrained7
• Hence 

the rights of all will be safeguarded if everyone fulfils his or her duties8 (Chapra, 1992a). Although 

Islam places great emphasis on an individual's responsibility, it does not however, imply that an 

individual's freedom is oflesser significance. Rights and duties in the Qur'an are merged into the 

concept of justice (Kamali, 1994a). The individual acknowledges the rights of others because this 

is a duty imposed on the :individual. Be:ing an integral part of society, a person must not be passive 

to the consequences of the exercise of the individual's own rights (Chapra, 1992a). Mutual 

sacrifice and cooperation should be the process by which human life can be enriched. Viewed 

from this perspective, one would therefore expect a business firm to regard itself as a part of the 

community. As such, the firm's success should be measured by how well it has met the needs of 

the society in which the finn operates. 

In line with the above, it is argued that Islamic accounting is a value-oriented activity, the 

7Haeri (1989) asserted that the difference between a Muslim and an unbeliever is that the unbeliever will ask, 'What 
is my right, what is my right?' A Muslim, on the other hand, asks, 'What is my responsibility?' and prays that Allah will 
increase his responsibility so that he may have no time to increase his ego and arrogance (total submission to Allah's Will). 

1The Qur'an specifies that man has a primordial Covenant with God. His life on this earth is solely to discharge his 
obligations under that Covenant (lshaque, 1978). At the end of it he is made accountable for whatever he has chosen. 
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development of which encompasses the moral, spnitual, material and social aspects9
• Specifically, 

accountiI1g from an Islamic perspective emphasises accountability and Islam's ethical dimensions 

(as explicated by the four axioms of Unity, Equilibrium, Free Will and Responsibility) claiify the 

Islainic concept of accountability. As explained, the Islamic social order is based on the principles 

of equality, justice and brotherhood and the concepts of freedom and responsibility (Al-Buraey, 

1990). Given that accountability in !slain is all encompassing, the scope of Islamic Corporate 

Reporting is thus wider than that which is currently practised in the West. Although ultimate 

accountability is to God, an individual is also accountable to society. 

AccordiI1g to Most (1977), contemporary accounting practices are dominated by the info1mation 

needs of shareholders, creditors, and managers. However, a society dedicated to the 

improvement of the welf ai·e of its members should have an infonnation system that satisfies the 

needs of all interested paities such as employees, external consumer groups, government, the 

general public, as well as those capitalists. Thus, 'accounting must be adapted to provide 

measures of success in achieving more goals than just profitability' (Most, 1977, p326). Specific 

to Islamic societies, finru.1cial reports should enable Muslims to detennine zakat liability and 

ultimately achieving socio-economic justice. Given this and the emphasis on full disclosure, 

Baydoun and Willett (1994) suggested that the current value balance sheet be included as pait of 

the rep01ting requn·ements of finns operating in ru.1 Islainic economy. In addition, they suggested 

that the profit and loss statement (because of its coITuptive influence) should be relegated to the 

Notes. In its place should be the value added statement. However, Baydoun and Willett's 

suggestions may be regarded as providing a bai-e minimum towards satisfying Islain's social 

9Like Islamic accounting, corporate social responsibility accounting is also said to be value laden. Opinions and value 
systems become much more apparent than is usually perceived to be the case with conventional accounting (Gray et al, 
1987). Similarly, economics and economic development from an Islamic perspective are also value-laden activities (e.g. 
Chapra, 1992a; Mannan, 1986; Al-Burney, 1990). 
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accountability obligations. Given Islam's emphasis on safeguarding the welfare of the community, 

a more complete Islamic Corporate Reporting model, it is argued, should also include the 

reporting of externalities. These issues will be further examined in section 4. The following 

section develops the Islamic Corporate Reporting model on the basis of the Hofstede-Gray 

framework. 

3 The indirect approach to the Islamic Corporate Reporting model : the Hofstede-Gray 
framework 

To adopt the Hostede-Gray model, it is necessary to determine how Islamic beliefs affect the 

cultural dimensions of Power Distance, Uncertainty Avoidance, Individualism and Masculinity of 

Islamic societies. 

3.1 Cultural values of Islamic societies 

Given that the ideal Islamic society is largely egalitarian, it should promote equality (e.g. Faruqi, 

1978; Al-Sadr, 1982)10
• As such, Power Distance is expected to be low (Baydoun and Willett, 

1993). Hofstede further described three characteristics of a low Power Distance society: the first 

relates to an interdependence between the less and more powerful members of the group, the 

second pertains to the existence of hierarchy not as representing unequal power but merely 

denoting an inequality of roles, and thirdly, the non-acceptable practice of privileges and status 

symbols. On the basis of the following hadiths and the verse in the Qur'an on shura 

( consultation), it is argued that Hofstede's characterisation of low Power Distance societies 

describes the ideal Islamic society aptly. The verse in the Qur'an (discussed in Chapter 3 and 

repeated here for ease of reference) explicating the need for :interdependence, even by the Prophet 

himself, is as follows: 

Consult them in affairs (of moment). Then, when thou hast taken a decision, put thy trust in Allah 
(3: 159). 

It was also reported that when the Prophet gave less than useful advice on the growing of date 

10see Chapter 3 for the hadith on equality. 
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palms, he was rep01ted as saying (Nomani and Rahnema, 1995), 

I am but a human being. If I give you order on religious matters, then you should obey. If I merely 
voice my opinion, you should know that I am a human being and you are more informed about your own 
worldly affairs (p18). 

The above can be regarded as supporting the first two descriptions of a low Power Distance 

society. The last characteristic ( on privileges and status symbols) can be discerned from Prophet's 

farewell speech (Ahmed, 1978). 

There is no superiority of an Arab over a non-Arab, .... of a white over a dark complexioned ..... person. 
All are equal before God. Only the pious and virtuous amongst you should coillilland greater respect 
than others. And your slaves! See that you feed them with such food as you eat yourselves, and clothe 
them with the stuff you wear; and if they connnit a fault which you are not inclined to forgive, then part 
with them; for they are the servants of thy Lord and are not to be harshly treated (p30). 

On the basis of the above, one may therefore conclude that an ideal Islamic society should exhibit 

low Power Distance. 

Islam is against any fonn of speculation but preaches the need to accept unce1tainty (Mannan, 

1986; Hamid et al, 1993), Uncertainty Avoidance, again as observed by Baydoun and Willett 

(1994), should be weak. Additionally, as discussed in Chapter 3, the belief in Qadar or 

predestination in Islam is a positive affinnation of God's power, suggesting that Islam actually 

helps in accepting uncertainties that an individual cannot defend against. Hofstede further 

contended that there is a greater emphasis on regionalism and internationalism (as opposed to 

nationalism) in weak Unce1tainty Avoidance society. The farewell message of the Prophet 

reported above precisely supports the fact that nonnative Islam does not recognise nationalism. 

These traits all suggest that Islamic societies should exhibit low Unce1tainty Avoidance. 

On Individualism, Baydoun and Willett (1994) argued that Islamic societies should rank high on 

this dimension. According to them the p1inciple of shura gives the individual the right to be heard 

and the power to require inf01mation concerning the effect of the film on the ummah. However, 

this statement requires qualification because in Islamic societies, the larger interest of society takes 
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precedence over the interest of the individual (Chapra, 1992a). Kahf (1991) contended that Islam 

takes a middle path between Individualism and Collectivism. According to him, Islam stdkes a 

balance between human ddves and desires on the one hand and social needs and responsibilities 

on the other, calling for a balanced mix of pragmatism and dogmatism 11. Apparently Baydoun and 

Willett believed that a regard to the rights of the individual on the part of the user, and a belief in 

tl1e obligations to the collectivity on the part of the preparer, will both lead in the direction of full 

disclosure. Consideration of the views of Chapra and Kahf, however, lead one to expect Islamic 

societies to be Collectivist, ranking low on Individualism 12
. 

Finally, although an Islamic society differentiates the roles of the sexes precisely, males and 

females having closely defined duties and obligations, Baydoun and Willett (1994) argued that the 

effect oflslamic belief on Masculinity is unce1tain. However, according to Hofstede's definition, 

a Fe1ninine society is (amongst other things) a society that does not show off, puts relations with 

people before money, and helps others, paiticularly the weak. Since this accords with most 

Muslims' perception of Islamic values at the level of the desirable at least, it is argued here that 

Islamic societies should rank low on Masculinity. The following verses attest to this. 

If the debtor is in a difficulty, grant him time till it is easy for him to repay. But if ye remit it by way of 
charity, that is best for you if ye only know (2:280). 

And those in whose wealth is a recognised right for the needy who asks and him who is prevented for some 
reason from asking (70:24-25) 

110n whether socialism is consistent with Islam, it was reported in Kahf (1991) that it is the individual who is more 
important in Islam than the community, society or nation for the individual is not meant to serve society. Rather, it is 
society which will ultimately serve the individual. No community or nation is responsible before God as a group but each 
individual is responsible before Him individually. The existence of a social system is to ensure an individual's welfare 
and happiness and not of the society. Thus, a true measure of a good social system is the extent to which it helps its 
individual members to develop their personalities and to improve their personal abilities and capabilities. Hence, Islam 
disapproves any type of social organisation and any social welfare scheme that suppresses the individual and ties him very 
strongly to the social regime so that, in the process, the individual loses his independent personality. 

12According to Sulayman (1993), the collective dimension of social behaviour does not mean the suppression of an 
individual's will but it means that the individual's freedom of action in society must be controlled. Individual freedom 
which goes against societal norms make that freedom a means of spreading confusion throughout society (p90). 
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3.2 Relationship between cultural values and accounting practice 

From the above analysis, one may conclude that Islamic societies ought to rank Low on all four 

of Hofstede's dimensions. On the basis that Gray has c01Tectly identified the linkages between 

Hofstede's cultural dimensions and his accounting subcultural values, it is possible to infer the type 

of accounting system Islamic societies should deem appropriate by examining its cultural values. 

As has been explained, Baydoun and Willett (1994) contended that Islamic societies should exhibit 

Low Power Distance and Uncertainty Avoidance but rank high on Individualism. Consistent with 

Gray's (1988) argument, they maintained that Islamic accounting should advocate cmTent value 

accounting (low conservatism) and full disclosure (low secrecy). 

The analysis of Islamic societies m this study, however, raises some doubts as to the 

appropriateness of Gray's framework. While Low Uncertainty Avoidance and Low Power 

Distance are consistent with Gray's model (that is, Islamic societies should advocate an accounting 

system that is low on secrecy and conservatism), low Individualism and low Masculinity run 

counter to it. If Gray's theoretical suppositions are regarded as valid, Collectivist societies and 

those exhibiting low Masculinity should prefer an accounting system that is secretive in tenns of 

its disclosure policies and conservative in its measurement practice13
• Given Islam's emphasis on 

social accountability and the need for full disclosure (discussed later), this may not be the case for 

Islamic societies. Therefore, one could argue that either the two cultural dimensions of 

Individualism and Masculinity are not appropriate in determining a society's accounting system or 

that Gray's model is not valid (Baydoun and Willett, 1995). 

The literature reviewed in Chapter 2 pointed to the ambiguity of Gray's hypothesis, H4• While on 

130ne could also argue that, contrary to what Gray has hypothesised, it is the highly Individualistic society that would 
much prefer a more secretive disclosure policy primarily because of the competitive spirit that is rife in such societies. 
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the one hand, Gray suggested those societies exhibiting low Masculinity would tend towards 

greater secrecy, on the other, he acknowledged that such societies would 'tend to be more open 

especially as regards socially related infonnation' (p11). In Hussein's (1996) study of Dutch 

society, he noted that within the Feminine, egalitarian Dutch society, information was readily 

disserninated and that Dutch culture demands more accountability, especially those pertaining to 

social issues14
• Collectivist societies with their anti-individualistic values tend to favour 

:info1mation of a social nature while highly Individualistic societies tend to disclose user-oriented 

information (Perera, 1989a). This calls into question the validity of Gray's theory. 

The extension of Gray's model by Baydoun and Willett (1995) to include the qualitative 

characteristics of financial statements may be a way of addressing the apparent weaknesses in 

Gray's model. Baydoun and Willett's (1995) extended framework introduced the attributes of 

accountability and decision usefulness into the analysis of the cultural relevance of accounting. 

Thus, a society exhibiting low Masculinity, (such as an Islamic society) it is argued, would 

emphasise on accountability. In contrast, high Masculine societies would prefer inf 01mation that 

are geared towards investment decision making (decision usefulness). 

On uniformity, Gray (1988) suggested that a society exhibiting low Uncertainty Avoidance and 

low Power Distance would favour an accounting system that is low on uniformity. This appears 

to be the case for Islamic societies. The principles of the Shari'a are broad enough to 

accommodate more than a single interpretation to accord with the time and locality in which the 

rnles are to be applied (De1my, 1994). Further support for 'low uniformity' can be discerned from 

14Gray argued that societies that exhibit Masculine tendencies tend to place more emphasis on material achievements 
and success and with that comes a need to publicise those achievements. This, as the reasoning goes, would lead to 
greater disclosure. However, at variance with his hypothesis, Gray concedes that the more caring societies (Low 
Masculinity) tend to be more inclined to disclose socially related information. Such societies, he added, place greater 
emphasis on the quality of life, people and the environment. 
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the rules of precedence in Islamic jurisprudence (the science of the law)15
• Islamic jurisprudence 

does not recognise the case law system of legally binding precedents. A prior ruling may be 

overruled by a new ruling primarily because the principles in the Shari'a are dynamic and may 

change with the passage of time or in accordance with a particular situation. Hence, jurists :in 

each city should rely on local practice when interpreting the Shari'a (Kamali, 1994a). 

One may thus conclude that accounting systems 111 an Islamic society should advocate 

transparency in disclosure, less conservative measurement practices and greater variability in 

repmting practices between companies and across time. These accounting subcultural values and 

the concept of accountability in Islam discussed earlier need to be operationalised to show their 

possible :impact on the physical characte1istics of Islamic Corporate Reports. These are discussed 

next. 

4 The model 

Theoretically, it can be argued that low conservatism may be translated into an Islamic society's 

preference for current values while low secrecy points to the need for full disclosure in Islamic 

financial reports (Baydoun and Willett, 1994). The accounting subcultural value of unifonnity 

is however missing from Baydoun and Willett's discussion. On the basis of their analysis, 

Baydoun and Willett (1994) proposed that an Islamic Corporate Report should consist of a 

multicolumnar balance sheet showing both current values and historical costs, a value added 

statement and a source and application of funds statement. The profit and loss statement, :in 

contrast, is to be shown by way of a Note to the financial statements. Figure 4.3 shows Baydoun 

and Willett's Islamic Corporate Repmting model. Given the fact that the model was developed 

15The authority of the Qur'an is irrevocable and binding on all Muslims. However, the principles laid down in the 
Qur'an are dynamic and to be applied and interpreted in accordance with the a specific situation and time. For Muslims, 
God is the Legislator and jurisprudence is a system designed to facilitate human obedience to and service of God. As 
such, the science of the law is a product of human intelligence and experience (Denny, 1994). 
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on the basis of what Muslims ought to desire, this may not be consistent with what Muslims 

actually desire. Thus, this study examines this aspect by investigating the usefuhless of the current 

value balance sheet and the value added statement to Muslim and non-Muslim users. The 

ernp:ilical work of this study does not focus on where or how the current value balance sheet and 

the VAS are to be disclosed but rather examines if Muslims actually would perceive such 

information useful. The issue of the manner :i11 which current value information and the value 

added statement should be disclosed (if such information is perceived useful) can be the subject 

of future research. The next two sections develop the primary hypotheses of this study. 

4.1 Current value balance sheet 

To recapitulate upon the preceding discussion as it relates to the place of the financial position 

statement in an Islamic corporate report, there are three ma:i11 theoretical arguments for the 

perceived usefulness of the current value balance sheet to Islamic users. Firstly, according to 

Baydoun and Willett (1994), cmTent value infonnation allows the inclusion in financial statements 

of market values that are based on :infonnation obtained from outside the firm's database. 

H:ist01ical cost infonnation, based mainly on a film's own transaction costs and little else, ignores 

the "potential relationship which accounting has with its wider social environment"(p19). As 

such, they contended that the current value balance sheet can be considered as a method of 

extending the accountability of firms into the social domain. However, one could argue that the 

extension of a finns' accountability to a wider social environment would necessitate the reporting 

of externalities (i.e. social responsibility issues) but Baydoun and Willett were silent on this point. 

Secondly, the use of c1ment values relates to the Justice and equity' aspects that Islam emphasises 

with regard to the payment of zakat16
• As expla:i11ed earlier, zakat constitutes one aspect of social 

16In the area of Islamic banking, the need for current values is to ensure that investment account holders are not duly 
disadvantaged should they want to withdraw their deposits from the bank. However, this argument appears dubious since 
the justice that is at issue in this case only relates to one party, that of the depositors. One must also consider if justice 
is being served to the borrower (the entrepreneur) or the bank. Although this makes an interesting study, this is not being 
pursued here. 
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accountability in Islamic societies and the current value balance sheet (to detennine zakat), 

supports the Islamic principle of justice to a greater extent than the historical cost balance sheet. 

Finally, further support for the use of cmTent values follows from practices pursued during the 

Prophet's time (Clarke et al, 1996). According to Clarke et al (1996), 'value in exchange' may 

be derived from the implicit common monetary denominator used in the Prophet's time to establish 

the nisab (the minimum threshold of wealth above which zakat is payable) for various assets 

subject to zakat. Table 4.1 provides an example from which the notion of 'value in exchange' is 

TABLE4.1 

DETERMINING ZAKAT DURING THE PROPHET'S TIME 

Item Nisab Rate % 

1. Cash (dirham) 200 dirham 5 dirham 2.5 
2. Cash (dinar) 20 dinar* 5 dirham 2.5 
3.Camel 5 heads 1 sheep 20.0 
4. Buffalo 10 heads 1 sheep 10.0 
5. Sheep 40 heads 1 sheep 2.5 
6 Cereals, irrigated 5 camel loads 5.0 
?.Cereals, non-irrigated 5 camel loads 10.0 

*20 dinar 1s equivalent to 200 d1rham 

Source: Craig eta/(1996) 17 

discerned. 'Value in exchange' is simultaneously the selling price (exit value) for the vendor and 

the entry price for the purchaser. Additionally, the importance of 'value in exchange' in 

determining zakat payable can also be evidenced in a letter of instruction by Caliph Abu Baler (the 

first Caliph) to Anas, his envoy to Bahrain. It was repmted that Anas was instructed to collect 

20 dirham (the cuITency) in lieu of 2 sheep as zakat (Clarke et al, 1996). Given that the sunnah 

( tradition) of the Prophet constitutes a p1imary source of the Shari 'a, one may regard this as 

17
TI1ere is some dispute over the accuracy of the rate for camels and buffaloes but the important principle of current 

values is undisputed. 
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providing the strongest supp01t for the use of cmrent values in Islam. Some might even argue 

that the use of cmTent values is compulsory in Islam 18
• 

Thus, the current value balance sheet may be regarded as simultaneously satisfying an Islamic 

society's need for full disclosure and social accountability. For the reasons cited above, one 

would expect committed Muslims, at the level of the desirable at least, to perceive the current 

value balance sheet to be more useful than non-Muslims would perceive it to be. Accordingly, 

one would also expect Muslims to favour the cmTent value balance sheet over the historical cost 

balance sheet. The following two hypotheses, stated in the null, were thus investigated 19
: 

Hl 0 : There is no difference in perceived usefulness of the current value balance sheet between Muslims and 
non-Muslims 

H20 : There is no difference in perceived usefulness between the current value balance sheet and the historical 
cost balance sheet for Muslims. 

It is not clear a priori whether non-Muslims would perceive the cmTent value balance sheet to be 

significantly more useful than the historical cost balance sheet. Accordingly, the following 

additional hypothesis (again stated in the null) was tested: 

H30 : There is no difference in perceived usefulness between the current value balance sheet and the historical cost 
balance sheet for non-Muslims. 

4.2 The Value Added Statement (VAS) 

The concept of value added is by no means original20
• It has existed at least since the nineteenth 

century (Mathews and Perera, 1993). The suggestion of the VAS is at least partially due to the 

18However, Islam allows some flexibility. If it is not evident that adequate means are currently available to apply this 
concept in a manner fuat is likely to produce reliable information, an alternative method may be used (SFAC 2, 1993, p57). 

19Stating the hypothesis as a two tailed test may be justified in view of the fact that no previous evidence exists as 
regards the usefulness of the Islamic Corporate Report to Muslims and its usefulness is not obvious a priori. The null 
form stated in this way controls the risk of incorrectly rejecting the hypofuesis that Muslims do not differ from non
Muslims in their perceptions of the usefulness of the current value balance sheet (i.e. Type I error). 

2'The Islamic model does not allow for dogmatism which a priori rejects anything that comes from non-Muslims. The 
proof of a true Islamic science does not lie in its exclusiveness and universality, rather Islamic science embraces and 
welcomes all 'well-founded' truths irrespective of who discovered them (Ragab, 1993). 
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Corporate Report of 1975 (e.g. Belkaoui, 1993; Mathews and Perera, 1993). The Corporate 

Report rec01mnended the preparation of a VAS in order to recognise the changing perceptions of 

businesses, social organisations, economic activities and society about the role of finns. An 

example of a VAS, as adapted to Islamic needs in Baydoun and Willett's (1994) theory, is shown 

:in Figure 4.3. As discussed earlier, growth in an Islamic society should lead to social justice and 

a more equitable distribution of power and wealth. The VAS has a 'social dimension' since the 

distribution of wealth between the different sectors of society, is by definition, a matter of social 

:interest. From an Islamic perspective, it is this distributional characteristic of VAS that supports 

accountability in Islam (Baydoun and Willett, 1994), a theme similar to that advocated in the 

Corporate Report21
• 

As noted earlier in the discussion, the process by which an Islamic society can achieve social and 

economic justice is through mutual support and cooperation. The Islamic concepts of 

brotherhood, equity and justice imply the presence of a conscious policy of redistribution and 

resource transfers amongst vaiious groups of society. Where social accountability is paramount, 

a VAS showing how the benefits of the efforts of the business are being shared amongst 

employees, shareholders, society and the government might be especially useful to those 

embracing the Islamic faith. Hence, it may be infeITed that the greater awareness of the social 

:impact of the finn's activities in a Muslim community should favour a VAS over the conventional 

profit a11d loss account. The axiom of Equilibrium suggests that although the earning of profits 

is encouraged, non-profit oriented objectives are equally important. In the context of financial 

21There are three main themes that run through the Corporate Report: the first is the need to develop a more effective 
means of reporting economic performance; second is the desire to recognize the importance of the human dimension in 
economic analysis and the third is the need to relate the economic man to the social and ecological implications of his work 
(Renshall, 1976). As to the advantages of the VAS, Renshall et al (1979) listed three: ready comprehensibility; a broad 
based nature; and suitability for purposes of comparison. A detailed discussion of these matters is beyond the scope of 
this thesis. On the reliability of the VAS, Renshall et al argued that since the VAS is derived from financial information 
based on commonly used accounting conventions, its fundamental reliability will at least be equal to conventional profit 
and loss accounts. 
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rep01ting, fums should accept the responsibility of competing objectives; striking a balance 

between the interests of employees, customers, investors and the general public. 

A company's freedom to operate should be combined with a self-induced responsibility and there 

should not be a conflict between a firm's private and social interests. It must be emphasised here 

that although Islam considers the profit motive as essential for the successful operation of a 

business, it also places moral restraints on the profit motive. Islam advocates the attainment of 

profit through fostering individual self interest within a social context. The ultimate objective is 

the attainment of social and economic justice and the equitable distribution of income and wealth 

(Chapra, 1992a). Accordingly, one would expect Muslims to perceive the VAS as being more 

useful than non-Muslims. Additionally, one would also expect Muslims to perceive the VAS as 

being more useful than the profit and loss account. The following two hypotheses were therefore 

tested to investigate these issues: 

H40 : There is no difference in perceived usefulness of the VAS between Muslims and non-Muslims 

HS0 : There is no difference in perceived usefulness between the VAS and the profit and loss account for Muslims. 

Paralleling the similar point in the case of the balance sheet, the following hypothesis was also 

investigated: 

H60 : There is no difference in perceived usefulness between the VAS and the profit and loss account for non
Muslims. 

While the empirical component of the research rep01ted in later chapters primarily focused on the 

current value balance sheet and the value added statement, other social accountability issues 

constitute impo1tant components for disclosure in Islamic Corporate Reports. Although Baydoun 

and Willett (1994) emphasised the issue of social accountability, apart from suggesting that an 

Islamic Corporate Report should include the CV balance sheet and the VAS, they did not 

elaborate further. Specifically, unethical business practices that are provided in the Shari'a as 
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having the potential to affect the well being of the community were not dealt with. This matter 

will now be examined. 

4.3 Other social accountability issues 

As indicated elsewhere in the chapter, the disclosure of cmTent value infonnation in the balance 

sheet and the provision of the VAS may be considered as satisfying, in part, the concepts of full 

disclosure and social accountability in Islam. In addition to this, the argument that there is a need 

for greater awareness of the social impact of firms' activities in Islamic societies would necessitate 

detailed descriptions of externalities and trading practices hannful to the public to be disclosed in 

the Notes to the accounts. Given this, one would envisage that uniformity (according to Gray's 

(1988) definition), would be low in Islamic financial reports. It is unlikely that each and every 

finn will be similarly affected by its enviromnent. Activities that may be categmised as having the 

possibility of impairing social and economic justice include hoarding, fraud, price manipulation, 

exploitation and monopoly practices (al-Qaradawi, 1994). It would be expected that a finn 

following strictly the tenets of Islam in its conduct would disclose such activities. Further, if there 

was proper legislation and that enforcement of such mandatory disclosure was possible, this would 

act as a deten-ent for a company to indulge in such activities. Full disclosure in such cases would 

include the steps that would have to be taken to ensure that such activities were not continued, 

how the :income (:if any) from such activities was to be dealt with and why the company undertook 

such activities. The disclosure of monopoly practices was taken as an exemplar of those issues 

in the research reported later. 

Baydoun and Willett (1994) contended that fundamental measurements will not differ greatly 

between different monetary based economies whatever their cultural persuasion might be. 

However, Islamic business enterprises should not engage in any transactions pertaining to interest. 

Interest is strictly forbidden and it could be argued, therefore, that even at the lower levels of 
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direct measurement, religion may influence the type of databases generated by Islamic businesses22
• 

More pe1iinently, perhaps, a company may be required to disclose transactions that are specifically 

forbidden in the Islamic code. Although the provisions for the disclosure of interest payments in 

external financial reports currently in force in many countries were not legislated with Islam in 

mind, they are neve1iheless consistent with what a devout Muslim would advocate23. However, 

while current practice is usually to simply show the amount of interest paid, under an Islamic 

system, companies would have to avoid such payments altogether (for instance by borrowing from 

Islamic banks). Disclosure of interest based transactions were not specifically investigated in the 

research but the general issue as to whether interest should be abolished was examined. 

A discussion on what should or should not be disclosed in Islamic financial rep01is is a topic for 

a thesis in itself. As Baydoun and Willett (1994) suggested, 

detailed notes and further analysis of the main aggregates in the Report should be determined on a case
by-case basis in the light of the findings of a jurist according to the principle of full disclosure (p25). 

This more general matter will not be pursued any fmiher here. Some specific social accountability 

aspects such as whether zakat should be deducted on behalf of Muslim shareholders and the 

related matter of zakat disclosure were examined in the survey. Such matters and the hypotheses 

developed in relation to these issues will be further elaborated in the next chapter. 

5 Summary 

The purpose of this chapter was primaiily to examine the three key theoretical constructs used to 

examine the influence of Islam on accounting: Hofstede's societal values, the measurement and 

disclosure issues of accounting practice and the Islamic Shari'a. It was argued that the influence 

22This point is really marginal. From a measurement theoretic viewpoint, the attribute being measured is 
unchanged in identity and extent. The religious precepts affect the actions and disclosures of interest transactions but 
not their measurement. 

23In Western accounting systems interest payment is disclosed primarily to indicate the ability to service such interest; 
in Islam such a disclosure is an indication of the extent Islamic injunctions have not been followed. 
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of Islam on accounting may be viewed from two perspectives. The direct approach developed 

the Islamic Corporate Reporting model by reference to the Islamic concept of accountability. 

Baydoun and Willett's (1994) model was discussed in detail. Based on the analysis of the Islamic 

worldview, support was found for Baydoun and Willett's main conclusions. The indirect 

approach exan:rined Islam's influence on accounting on the basis of the Hofstede-Gray framework. 

The approach adopted in this study is an amalgam of both approaches. The Islamic Corporate 

Reporting model was theoretically and no1matively detennined at the level of the 'desirable', i.e. 

it was based on the writer's perception of the universal ideology of Islam. 

Six p1imary hypotheses were developed to examine the issues of differences in perceptions 

between Muslims and non-Muslims and the relative usefulness of the VAS and the current value 

balance sheet compared to the profit and loss account and the hist01ical cost balance sheet 

respectively. The following chapter describes the methods used in data collection. 
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Introduction 

Chapter 5 

Research Method 

This chapter explains the research method adopted to test the hypotheses formulated in Chapter 

4. There are six main sections to this chapter. The following section discusses, briefly, the issue 

as to whether :financial statements do possess mfonnational value. Section 2 assesses behaviour

based research and three approaches to conducting such research in the context of the present 

study. Section 3 examines the rationale for the methods employed in data collection and explains 

the reasons for the choice of the research approach used. Section 4 provides a detailed discussion 

on survey method followed by a description of the laboratory experiment in section 5. Section 

6 presents the chapter srnmnary. Due to the need to separate the primary issues of interest from 

those incidental to the study, it was necessary to structure the formulation of the hypotheses in 

two stages. While the primaiy hypotheses were developed in the previous chapter, additional 

hypotheses examining other subsidiaiy matters are developed in this chapter. In addition, specific 

to the laboratory experiment, nine more hypotheses have been formulated in order to investigate 

the main hypotheses of interest in the study. 

1 Information usefulness 

This is a study concerning the usefulness of certain types of financial statement to Muslim users. 

Therefore, the assumption made is that financial information is useful for some purpose. On the 

specific issue of whether or not annual reports are useful to investors, there are two schools of 

thought. The first consists of proponents of the efficient market hypothesis (EMH) while the 

second concentrates on the individual :investor's behaviour. EMH research measures share market 

reaction to the release of accounting information and thus addresses the issue of usefulness in a 

very specific context. According to this theory, the price of a security adjusts quickly to new 
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infonnation regarding the value of a secmity and thus the plice of seculities almost ce1tainly reflect 

the content of that piece of infmmation. Accordingly, an investor will not be able to get a return 

higher than that given by the market after adjusting for any risks. Consequently, the proponents 

of EMH contend that corporate annual reports have limited infmmational value to enable investors 

to earn abno1mal returns on their stocks (Patna, 1970). 

However Hines (1982), writing on the anomaly between EMH and shareholder survey research, 

m·gued that the lack of shmt tenn market reaction to the release of accounting information noted 

in some capital market studies does not necessarily mean that annual reports do not have 

informational value. Annual reports may well be an important input in an investor's long term 

decision making in many ways and abnonnal risk adjusted returns may still be possible for those 

with supelior interpretative or predictive ability. Fmthermore, accounting information is usually 

assumed to be useful in much broader contexts than share market valuations1
• The findings of 

several reseat·chers adopting the behaviour-based approach to examine user perception of atmual 

reports (e.g. Buzby, 1974; Lee and Tweedie, 1975; Anderson, 1981; Courtis, 1982; Wallace, 

1988) did, indeed, support Hine's (1982) contention. These are discussed in the next section. 

2 Behaviour based approach 

The behaviour based approach to accounting theory emphasises the relevance to decision makers 

of the infmmation being communicated and the individual or group behaviour caused by the 

communication of that info1mation. Its basic objective is to explain and predict human behaviour 

in all possible accounting contexts (Belkaoui, 1993). While market based studies concentrate on 

aggregate market reaction to information, the focus of behaviour-based research is on the 

individual investor. Studying individual behaviour at a much lower level of aggregation, than is 

implied by market based studies, allows a deeper insight into the relative importance of different 

1Chambers (1974) advanced a similar viewpoint. 
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infonnation systems (for example the usefulness of current cost info1mation versus historical 

costs). The belief embodied in such research is that this may eventually lead to suggestions for 

the improvement of financial statements (Arnold and Moizer, 1984). Behaviour based research, 

in this context, is concerned mainly with dete1mining the infmmation needs of the various user 

groups. Typically, there are three different approaches to achieve this: the first is the use of 

surveys (Buzby, 1974; Anderson, 1981; Arnold and Moizer, 1984; Lee and Tweedie, 1975; 

Wallace, 1988), the second is experimental research (McIntyre, 1973; Duncan and Moores, 1988) 

and the third, case studies (Gniewosz, 1990). The definition of the last is similar to that adopted 

by Brownell and Trotman (1987). They defined case research studies as participant observation 

studies2
• These different approaches are discussed below to enable them to be assessed for their 

relevance to the present research question. 

2.1 User perception surveys 

Usefulness is a nebulous concept. Ftnther, measming the actual use of infonnation is difficult. 

Consequently, most research examines what users perceive to be useful as opposed to their actual 

use of info1mation in economic decision-making. According to Daliwal (1980), implicit in user 

perception surveys are three basic assumptions. The first is that users possess a high degree of 

insight concerning their usage of infmmation. Second, the relative importance of each 

info1mation item to a user is the same irrespective of what other infonnation is made available. 

Third, the relative impmtance of an infonnation item is assumed to remain stable over time. To 

the foregoing, Courtis (1992) added another three: the constituents of the target user group are 

assumed to be homogeneous with regard to the process by which they identify, understand, screen 

and assess the information disclosed; they have not anchored their evaluation of the importance 

of an infonnation item to a specific investment decision or annual report (that they have evaluated 

2This is in contrast with some user perception studies (e.g. Berry and Waring, 1995; Anderson, 1981; Courtis, 1982). 
Although such studies focused on just one organization (i.e. one case) , data were collected through questionnaire surveys 
and interviews. 
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the importance of that particular infonnation item in a generalised way) and, whilst perception 

e1rnrs m·e to be expected, these e1Tors are assumed to be rm1domly distributed within and between 

per item perception response frequencies (these errors are assumed not to distort the 

representativeness of per item user response in the aggregate). Finally, one would have to assume 

that respondents convey the truth. In the present study, the second assumption is violated in 

order to address Buzby's (1974) concern for the lack of a specific referent in prior user perception 

studies. According to Buzby, the lack of a specific referent may lead to misleading results. 

Accordingly, the value added statement and the profit and loss account were attached to the 

questionnaire. Respondents were specifically asked to refer to the statements when answering 

the questionnaire. 

What is usually involved in user perception studies is the calculation of mean responses to 

questions on a list of items in a questionnaire. The list is nonnally compiled either from a review 

of literature, previously tested instruments, interviews with various user groups, or combinations 

of these. It is then refined through pilot testing. Respondents are randomly selected from various 

annual rep01t preparers or user groups or both. They are then asked to evaluate each infonnation 

item and to rate the impo1tance of the item disclosure according to their perceptions of usefulness. 

The frame of reference on which the evaluation is done has often been that of equity investment 

or the extension of credit (Courtis, 1992). Data gathered have been used to rank the 

infonnationalneeds of private investors (e.g. Baker and Haslem, 1973, Courtis, 1982), to measure 

disclosure adequacy or disclosure quality (e.g. Buzby, 1974; Ahmed, 1993), to measure consensus 

between user groups (e.g. Benjamin and Stanga, 1977; Firth, 1978), to measure consensus 

between user and preparer groups (e.g. Chandra, 1974; Ahmed, 1993), to determine disclosure 

indices for voluntarily disclosed items (e.g. Chow and Wong-Boren, 1987) as well as assessing 

users' accounting measurement needs (Mccaslin and Stanga, 1986). 
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2.2 Experimental research 

Although user perception surveys have been popular with researchers examining users' financial 

information needs, one has to bear in mind the distinction between detennining whether or not 

financial statements are useful and examining what investors believe is useful (McKinnon, 1984). 

Argytis (1977) contended that there is no guarantee that respondents' espoused theories agree 

with their the01ies-in-use. Libby (1975) had a similar reservation and questioned the validity of 

judging the usefulness of accounting alternatives based on opinion research. He suggested that 

fmther expetimentation, comparing the expected and actual performances of the given alternative 

data sets, be conducted before any weight is placed on the findings of such studies. To 

specifically address this concern, some authors have attempted to determine users financial 

infonnation needs by conducting expe1imental research. Typically in such research, the usefuh1ess 

of financial infonnation is measured by a decision outcome (Duncan and Moores, 19 8 8). Duncan 

and Moores argued that this is consistent with the FASB's (1980) definition of relevance. 

According to them the FASB's definition refers to the specific performance of a decision or a 

prediction. Tangible measures include looking at the 'differences' and the 'goodness' of decisions 

and predictions using alternative infonnation sets (e.g. McIntyre, 1973; Duncan and Moores, 

1988). The setting can either be the laboratory or the 'field'. 

2.3 Case study 

Case-based research studies are often referred to as 'participant observation' studies because data 

are gathered from personal involvement of the researcher in the field of interest (Brownell and 

Trotman, 1987). While expetimental research and surveys involve the development of hypotheses 

and subsequent testing of these hypotheses, case research often proceeds in the reverse direction; 

data collection precedes and forms the basis for the generation of the hypotheses (Brownell and 

Trotman, 1987). 
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For a research to rate high on external validity, researchers must be able to demonstrate that 

conclusions reached are valid beyond the confines of the people and institutions considered in the 

study. While one of the strengths of case methodology is that people are investigated in real 

world situations, its weakness lies in its lack of external validity. As a consequence, while the first 

two methods are popular with researchers examining users' info1mation needs, the last has rarely 

been used by researchers. To the author's knowledge, participant observation studies examining 

inf01matio11 usefuhless have rarely been used except by Gniewosz (1990). Gniewosz investigated 

the investment decision process of individuals in a particular organisation by direct observation. 

3 Method choice 

Given the aim of this study (i.e. to examine the usefulness of the value added statement and the 

current value balance sheet), the established practice of determining user perceptions through a 

mean per item score on a set of questionnaire responses was used. In addition, a laboratory 

expe1iment was also conducted in order to support the findings obtained from the survey. The 

details of these two methods will be discussed next. 

The choice of a particular method to be adopted is crucial (Ball and Foster, 1982). Generally, 

choice of method depends on the objective of the study, the current state of knowledge regarding 

a particular phenomenon, the environment in which the study is to be conducted and the 

conditions under which the research project is to be carried out (Campbell, 1986; Yin, 1989). 

Because each research method has its inherent strengths and weaknesses, there has been an 

increasing attention on the value of combining research methods (e.g. Abdel-khalik and Ajinkya, 

1979; Birnberg et al, 1990; Gable, 1994). Despite recognising the value of multiplicity of data 

collection, there have been very few studies examining user perception of financial inf01matio11 

using the triangulation approach as a research design. According to Abdel-khalik and Ajinkya 

(1979), triangulation can either be theoretical or implemental. The fo1mer refers to the 
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application of different frameworks to the same data whilst the latter refers to the use of different 

research methods, different settings or different data. Birnberg, et al (1990), strongly 

recommended that multiple methods be used regardless of which particular phenomena was being 

investigated or which paiticular theory was being tested. 

The methods employed in the study ai-e, to a lai·ge extent, influenced by suggestions made by 

Birnberg et al (1990) and Gable (1994) that multiple approaches to reseai-ch design be used. As 

noted earlier, given the aim of this study, the established practice of measuring perceptions of 

usefulness through a mean-per-item score on a set of questionnaire responses (through a postal 

survey) was adopted as one method of data collection. However, Birnberg et al (1990) suggested 

that although field research offers the advantage of natural settings, theory testing may be 

accomplished :in a more effective and efficient manner under laboratory conditions. Consequently, 

:in order to better assess the validity of the information gleaned from the survey, a laboratory 

experiment was also caITied out. Hence, if results corroborate each other, not only will the 

validity of the underlying theory be strengthened, but the measure of confidence in the findings 

will be enhanced (Abdel-khalik and Ajinkya, 1979). In addition, the use of multiple methods 

allows cross checking of the findings (e.g. Arnold and Moizer, 1984; Berry and Waring, 1995). 

Both reaction to and perception of the different reports were examined. Data examining the 

fonner were gathered from the laboratory experiment whilst the latter were obtained from a postal 

survey. The following section discusses the survey method of data collection. Section 5 contains 

a detailed discussion of the laboratory experiment. 

4 Survey method 

The p1imaiy objective of surveys is to discover relationships that ai-e common across populations 

by us:ing statistical techniques. In this way, it is hoped that generalisable statements ca11 be made 

about the object of the study (e.g. Sekaran, 1992; Abdel-khalik and Ajinkya, 1979). Thus, the 
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survey method emphasises quantitative analysis (Gable, 1994). Besides allowing theories to be 

tested cross sectionally (Birnberg et al, 1990), surveys can also serve as a method for ve1ification 

as opposed to discovery (Gable, 1994). Accordingly, it is sometimes essential that the researcher 

has a very good idea of the answer before the start of the survey (Gable, 1994). There is no 

consensus on this issue however. According to Abdel-khalik and Ajinkya (1979) typical 

applications of surveys are in fact finding and the generation of hypotheses. For the present 

study, it is argued that surveys serve not only as a verification of a the01y but also reinforce the 

findings of the laboratory experiment. 

In survey research, data are collected from a sample of the target population through personal 

interviews, telephone interviews and mail questionnaire. The use of postal questionnaire survey 

as a method of data collection has been very popular with accounting researchers. The relative 

advantages and disadvantages associated with this method have been well documented (e.g. 

Emory and Cooper, 1991; Oppenheim, 1992). It is usually believed that a user perception survey 

enables the collection of a sufficiently large and representative sample for analysis. The postal 

questionnaire survey method, besides being simple, is cost effective and enables respondents to 

preserve their anonymity which possibly makes them feel more comfo1table in answering the 

questions, especially as is the case here, where subjects' values were solicited. As the present 

study is exploratory in nature, the choice of method has to be one that allows a wide cross section 

of user groups to be surveyed. Consequently, a mail survey seems to be the most appropriate 

method. According to Arnold and Moizer (1984), using a combination of methods such as 

conducting interviews and the use of mail questionnaires may provide the 'most useful results'. 

Interviews provide the researcher with a higher quality of information as interviews enable the 

researcher to probe beyond a given answer. Interviews also allow clatification of questions and 

responses to the questions for both the researcher and the respondent. However, interviews 
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compromise the respondents' anonymity which may lead to misleading responses. For this study, 

interviews were conducted dming the preliminary data gathering stage to enable the refinement 

of the questimmaire for the actual data collection exercise. The original plan was also to conduct 

:interviews after the final data were collected. However, because of time and cost constraints, this 

was not carried out. 

4.1 Research instrument 

The research instrnment for the survey was a questionnaire consisting of seven main questions 

with questions 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 having eight subsections. While the main questions related to different 

issues, the subsections were the same for all five questions. As explained below, because of the 

need to relate the usefulness of alternative statements to the user and the purpose for which it was 

being used, subjects were asked to answer the questions in relation to the user groups and their 

objectives. Prior studies examining user perception generally did not include any objective (e.g. 

Chandra, 1974), or at best just one objective, depending on the user group surveyed3 (e.g. 

McCaslin and Stanga, 1983). Thus, this study depaiis from prior studies in that eight objectives 

were identified. Each respondent rated the usefulness of a particular statement for each of the 

eight objectives. The questionnaire will be elaborated in detail in the following section on 

questionnaire design. 

Subjects were provided with a value added statement and a profit and loss account. The former 

was felt to be necessary because value added statements are not statutorily required of Malaysian 

companies and it was envisaged that a majority of respondents would not be sufficiently familiar 

with such a statement. This also addresses Buzby's (1974) concern with prior studies regarding 

the lack of a specific referent. According to him, in the absence of a reference, subjects' responses 

3Ifbank officers were being surveyed, the objective was with respect to a lending decision and if financial analysts were 
being surveyed, the objective was an investment decision (Mccaslin and Stanga, 1983). 

117 



may lead to less than accurate results. Courtis (1992), on the other hand, felt that in user 

perception surveys one assumption that one has to make is that respondents must not have 

'anchored' their answers to a specific investment decision or annual report. To address this 

particular issue, two different sets of financial statements (A Berhad and L Berhad) were attached 

to the questionnaire with each set randomly distributed to the target groups. In this regard, 

should there be a significant difference in responses between the two sets of financial statements, 

one can then attribute this to the 'anchoring' problem. The statements contained fictitious 

amounts of an imaginary company and for this purpose, the format recommended by the 

Corporate Repmt (ASC, 1975) was adopted. This was primarily because the format suggested 

in the Corporate Report emphasised value added in a social context with a focus on the 

distribution of wealth amongst the main groups of beneficiaries such as employees, government, 

shareholders, etc. To check for the presence of an order effect, the order for Questions 2 and 3 

and Questions 4 and 5 were interchanged. Altogether, there were four versions of the 

questionnaire. Appendix H provides a sample of two versions of the questionnaire (A Berhad and 

L Berhad). 

4.2 Questionnaire design 

As a result of a pilot study conducted in December 1994 and January 1995, the number of 

questions in the questionnaire was considerably reduced4. For the final survey, the questionnaire 

consisted of two parts. Part A contained attitude statements focusing on the objectives of the 

study while Part B concerned demographics. Demographic data may help to identify variables 

that influence respondents' perceptions of usefulness. How this relates to the objectives of the 

study will be discussed in the following chapter. Table 5 .1 outlines the questionnaire design. A 

4Accorcling to Neuman (1991), a lengthy questionnaire will lead to a low response rate. Given that prior research using 
mail surveys ( especially in Malaysia) have produced low response rates (see Yap, 1994) and that a number of respondents 
during the pilot test said that the questionnaire was too long, it was considered necessary for the questionnaire to be 
considerably shortened. 
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detailed discussion follows. 

TABLE 5.1: Summary of questions 

Question Theme 

1a-1h Perceived importance of financial statements to the various 
user groups 

2a-2g Perceived usefulness of the current value balance sheet to the 
various user groups 

3a-3g Perceived usefulness of the historical cost balance sheet to 
the various user groups 

4a-4g Perceived usefulness of the value added statement to the 
various user groups 

5a-5g Perceived usefulness of the profit and loss statement to the 
various user groups 

6a-6j Importance of the disclosure of the sources and application of funds 
statement, the historical cost balance sheet, the historical cost profit and 
loss statement, the value added statement, the cashflow statement, 
the current value balance sheet, report on the environment, zakat, 
and the employment report 

A blank space was also included for respondents to indicate any other 
information they wish to have disclosed in the annual reports 

7a-7j The extent respondents agree to issues pertaining to gambling, 
alcohol consumption, accountability of firms to the public, zakat 
deductions on behalf of Muslim shareholders, religion taught in schools, 
earning a living as part of religious duty, superior of the same faith, 
disclosure of monopoly practices, social audit and the banning of interest 

4.2.1 Users and uses 

Carsberg et al (1974) contended that to assess the usefulness of an accounting report, judgement 

should be made only in relation to a specific assumption about the purpose for which it is 

prepared. Consistent with that view, Question 1 examined the perceived importance of financial 

statements to the various user groups and their objectives. More specifically, this question was 

an attempt to investigate if Muslims perceived financial statements to be important for zakat 

determination. As is evident in Table 5.2, eight objectives (and user groups) were examined. 

Subsequent questions gauging perceived usefulness of alternative statements required subjects to 
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rate their importance in accordance with the objectives as specified below. The main hypotheses 

investigated by this question, stated in the null, were: 

H70 : Muslims and non-Muslims do not rate the importance of the objectives of financial statements 
differently (Question 1) 

TABLE 5.2: List of objectives 

a Investors to assist in their investment decisions 
b Financial institutions to assist in their lending decisions 
C Employees for the protection of their interests 
d The general public to enable them to judge whether the company 

is socially responsible 
e The zakat office for the determination of zakat 
f The gm.ernment for economic planning 
g Managers to assist in monitoring the performance of the company 
h Shareholders to judge the effectiveness and efficiency of management 

One issue that might arise here is the order in which the sub-questions (objectives) were placed 

:in each main question. In this respect the questionnaire used a fixed order approach as it was felt 

that its advantages outweighed its disadvantages. The fixed ordering of the objectives (sub

questions) minimised the work load of respondents as they become more familiar with the order 

and they thus developed a quicker pattern of response. This may have had the effect of increasing 

the response rate, given that subjects not only had to answer fifty nine (59) questions in all but also 

had to examine the value added statement and the profit and loss account. In addition, in postal 

surveys, questi01maires should be as concise and easily answered as possible so that response rate 

is not jeopardised (e.g. Emory and Cooper, 1991; Oppenheim, 1992). 

4.2.2 The current value balance sheet, historical cost balance sheet, value added statement and 
the income statement 

The primary research questions were addressed through Questions 2 through 4. Questions 2 and 

3 asked subjects to rate the usefulness of the current value balance sheet and the historical cost 

balance sheet respectively. Together, these two questions addressed hypotheses Hl
0

, H2
0 
and H3

0 
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discussed in the preceding chapter on the theoretical framework. Questions 4 and 5 examined 

subjects' attitudes pertaining to the usefulness of the VAS and the profit and loss statement 

respectively. Together, these two questions investigated hypotheses H4
0

, HS
0 
and H6

0 
discussed 

in Chapter 4. 

4.2.3 Relative importance of financial information 

The primary objective of Question 6 was to examine the relative importance subjects accord the 

various bits of financial info1mation, including the four financial statements investigated in 

questions 2 through 5. While the preceding four questions were more specific (identifying the 

usefuh1ess of financial statements to specific categories of users) question 6 was more general in 

nature. The hypotheses tested were: 

H80 : Muslims and non-Muslims do not rate the importance of various information as set out in 
Question 6, differently 

If the theoretical suppositions of this thesis are supported, one would expect Islamic users to rate 

the clment value balance sheet and the value added statement significantly higher than non-Islamic 

users. Additionally, one would envisage Islamic users ranking the same two statements (the 

cmTent value balance sheet and the value added statement) significantly higher than the historical 

cost balance sheet and the profit and loss account. Fmther and specific to zakat, users were asked 

if they perceived zakat as important to be disclosed in annual reports. One would anticipate a 

significant difference in perceived impo1tance of this item between Muslims and non-Muslims. 

4.2.4 Values5 

The last question in Pait A, Question 7, sought subjects' attitudes on various beliefs. Some were 

specific to Islam such as issues on gainbling, interest and alcohol consumption. Others tended to 

5Values are the attributes of individuals as well as of collectivities. The latter is normally referred to as culture 
(Hofstede, 1980, p19). Hofstede describes a value as a broad tendency to prefer certain states of affairs over others, adding 
that values generally describes a mental program that is less specific. Beliefs, on the other hand, refers to more specific 
mental programs. 
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be more general, such as matters concerning finns accountability to the public and religious 

education in schools. In fact the mail survey was selected over other methods primarily because 

of the halo effects that often occur in response to questions on ethics and religion. It was felt that 

with anonymity subjects would be more inclined to respond and answer truthfully. 

Issues on social accountability discussed in the theoretical framework were addressed in the sub

questions to this question. More specifically respondents were asked if they agreed to zakat being 

deducted on behalf of Muslims shareholders. On riba, they were asked if interest should be 

banned. Finally, they were asked if monopoly practices should be required to be disclosed. As 

may be recalled from the literature reviewed in Chapter 3, and the discussion of the theoretical 

framework, these issues are embedded in the belief system of Muslims and as such, one would 

expect Muslims to perceive these to be significantly more important than non-Muslims. This is 

not to suggest that non-Muslims do not put a priority on these issues, the argument is a matter of 

degree. The null form of the related hypothesis tested was: 

H9 
0

: Muslims and non-Muslims do not respond to the various issues examined in Question 7, 
differently 

4.2.5 Demographics 

Part B of the questionnaire focused on demographic variables. The primary reason that 

demographic questions were placed at the end of the questionnaire was that it is consistent with 

Emory and Cooper's (1991) suggestion that respondents should not be confronted by early 

requests for inf01mation which might be personal or ego threatening. Details of the type of user, 

religious affiliation, age, the country of qualification, and work experience were sought to provide 

insight about variations in perception concerning the usefulness of financial reports. 

4.3 Scale 

Nunnally (1978) asserted that a minimum number of steps in a measurement scale should be at 

least five or six. Elmore and Beggs (1975) noted that there was no apparent improvement in the 
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reliability of the ratings if the five point scale was increased to seven or even nine. Following 

Ehnore and Beggs and Nunnally, in the present study, subjects were asked to rate each question 

on a five point Likert scale with 'l' being 'Least important' ('Least useful' or 'Strongly disagree') 

and '5' being 'Most important' ('Most useful' or 'Strongly agree'). One issue related to scaling, 

which has been a subject of considerable discussion, is the inclusion of a mid-point as representing 

a neutral position (:indifference). According to Houghton (1989), where subjects are l:ikely to have 

a predominant tendency to respond in a neutral manner, then it may be desirable to disregard the 

mid-point as representing a neutral position. This, then, forces subjects to make a choice and not 

to 'sit on the fence'. For this reason, the neutral position was not adopted in this study; the mid

point merely indicated the degree of usefulness as falling between '2' and '4'. 

4.4 Translation 

Because zakat officers n1 Malaysia comprise Malays who may not have been educated in English, 

it was necessary to translate the questionnaire into Bahasa Malaysia, the official language of 

Malaysia. However, translating a questionnaire may subtly alter the meanings of an attitude 

statement. Thus, it is essential to ensure that questionnaire equivalence is achieved (Hofstede, 

1980). One common method to achieve this is through back-translation (Sekaran, 1992). In 

back-translation, the n1strument is first translated into the required language by an expert familiar 

with not only the language but also n1 tenns of culture and usage. Hofstede argued that the 

crucial factor is the quality of the translator and he emphasised the need for the translator to be 

familiar with the contextual aspect. He was of the opinion that a one-shot translation by a gifted 

translator familiar with the matter of the document is of greater benefit than that of a back

translation exercise using two or more inexperienced bilinguals. Hofstede's reasoning was 

adopted here. However, instead of hav:ing just a one-shot translation, the instrument was 

translated by two individuals. The first translation was by a Malay teacher majoring in English 

at Otago University. The second was a final year student at the International Islamic University 
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majoring in business administration. Both translators are proficient in English and Bahasa 

Malaysia. In addition, the second translator is also accounting literate. No back translation was 

done but the two versions were compared and any discrepancies (which in this case consisted of 

only three instances) were left to the researcher to decide. The researcher is bilingual in English 

and Bahasa Malaysia and possesses the requisite accounting knowledge to translate the 

questionnaire. The final version of the translated questionnaire was then pre-tested on a small 

sample of Malay students in Dunedin. Appendix H provides the Bahasa Malaysia version of the 

questionnaire. 

4.5 Subjects 

Previous studies measming user perception of financial information have identified bank lending 

officers (e.g. Benjamin and Stanga, 1977; McCaslin and Stanga, 1983 & 1986; Chow and Wong 

Boren, 1987), individual investors (e.g. Lee and Tweedie, 1975; Chenhall and Juchau, 1975; 

Comtis, 1982; Hanison and Popoff, 1991), investment or financial analysts (e.g. Bradish, 1965; 

Buzby, 1974; Anderson, 1981; Arnold and Moizer, 1984; Stanga and Tiller, 1983) and 

accountants (e.g. Chandra, 1974; McKinnon, 1984). While a large prop01tion of prior studies 

has concentrated on just one user group (e.g. Lee and Tweedie, 1975; Courtis, 1982; Harrison and 

Popoff, 1991), some have focused on more than one user group (e.g. Benjamin and Stanga, 1977; 

Mccaslin and Stanga, 1983 & 1986). Where the perceptions of usefulness of more than one user 

group have been examined, the consensus between those user groups was also addressed. Yet 

another consensus issue that may be of interest is between users and preparers (e.g. Chandra, 

1974; McKinnon, 1984). 

User perception studies have generally been conducted :in developed countdes (e.g. Courtis, 1982; 

Mccaslin and Stanga, 1983 & 1986; Ha1Tison and Popoff, 1991). Studies on developing 

countries have been sporadic (Ahmed, 1993). In the case of Malaysia, Ahmad (1988) surveyed 
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financial analysts. Carlson (1995), on the other hand, examined the relevance of the present 

Malaysian accounting system ( which is patterned after the Anglo- American model) to Malaysian 

users. He asserted that Malaysian 'users' find the present accounting system to be appropriate to 

their needs. This assertion was made even though the survey was conducted on members of the 

accounting profession acting as smrogates for the users. Given McKinnon's (1984) findings (that 

there was no consensus between users' and preparers' needs), Carlson's conclusion may be 

inappropriate. To the researcher's knowledge, to date there have been no studies conducted in 

Malaysia to examine the financial information needs of more than one user group. The findings of 

the study by Carlson, although aimed at 'general' users may therefore not be generalisable. 

Further, there has been no study conducted to examine the consensus issue between users and 

preparers :in Malaysia. This study is an attempt to address both of the issues stated above as well 

as an attempt to inject a cultural element into the analysis. 

As this research aims to gauge the perceived usefulness of Islamic financial reports, the ideal 

approach would appear to be to include all possible user groups. However, partly because the 

respondents were required to have a certain level of accounting knowledge and partly for practical 

reasons, the three user groups chosen for investigation in the study were bank lending officers, 

representing lenders, financial analysts representing investors and zakat officers representing state 

interests. The first two of those categories have been suggested as being of significance by the 

literature (e.g. Benjamin and Stanga, 1977; Arnold and Moizer, 1984; Courtis, 1992). The last 

group is not commonly refetred to in the literature but is taken as an obvious additional category 

of user, given the objectives of the research. In addition, bank lending officers were chosen to 

be surveyed for four main reasons. Firstly, they are a relatively homogeneous group with similar 

backgrounds, working for similar organizations and perfonning similar tasks to meet similar goals. 

Secondly, bank lending officers generally analyse financial statements with greater sophistication 
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than most other user groups. Thirdly, they rely on accounting data for decision making and, last 

but not least, they can be considered as having a major role in influencing economic resource 

allocation (Casey, 1980). In addition to the above three user groups, accountants were also 

surveyed. This should allow an assessment to be made of the consensus that may exist on the 

perceived usefuhless of financial infonnation between users and preparers (e.g. Chandra, 1974; 

McKinnon, 1984). 

4. 6 Pilot study 

A prelirrrinary testing of the first draft of the questio1111aire was cmTied out on nine members of the 

Department of Accountancy at Ota.go University. This was to detennine if there were any 

apparent problems with regards to the clarity and structure of the questionnaire. Discussions were 

subsequently held with each of them. Suggestions made were incorporated in the second draft 

of the questionnaire. The revised draft was then used for the pilot study conducted in Malaysia 

in January, 1995. 

Questionnaires were distributed to academicians, zakat officers and practising accountants. 

Besides answering the questions, respondents were also asked to comment on the clarity of the 

questions. As the time taken to complete the questionnaire is an important consideration in any 

survey, respondents have been specifically asked to indicate the time they took to answer the 

questions. Finally, their additional comments on any other matters pertaining to the questionnaire 

were also solicited. Of the 70 questionnaires distributed, 42 received responses. This, however, 

was no indication of the response rate one might hope to get during the actual data collection. 

The pilot study involved a large number of subjects primarily because the questionnaire has not 

been tested previously. On the average, most respondents took slightly over thirty minutes to 

complete the questio1111aire. A few of the respondents felt that the questionnaire was rather 

lengthy. As a result of this, the number of questions was substantially reduced in the final data 
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collection exercise. It was envisaged that the final version of the questionnaire would only require 

ten to fifteen minutes of the respondents' time. This fact was indicated on the cover letter to 

encourage subjects to respond. 

Unstructured interviews were also conducted during the pilot study. This was necessary to enable 

the researcher to further structure the questions to accord with the objectives of the study. 

Interviewees complised two audit pa1tners, one group treasurer, one group internal auditor, one 

group accountant, an accountant working in the public sector, an officer from the Islamic bank, 

two academicians and two officers from the zakat office. Data gathered and suggestions obtained 

from the pilot study fanned the input for the final version of the questionnaire. More specifically, 

Question 6 ( concerning the various types of infonnation to be included in the annual report) in the 

final version was changed from an open ended question to one that provided respondents with a 

list of infonnation items, compiled from responses obtained from the pilot study. This made the 

respondents' tasks easier. The administrative procedures in the final data collection exercise are 

discussed in the next chapter. Next is a detailed discussion of the quasi-expeliment that was 

conducted dming the second stage of the empirical work. 

5 Laboratory experiment 

The design of a true laboratory type experiment rests on three conditions: the ability of the 

researcher to manipulate the independent valiable, the identification and measurement of changes 

in the dependent valiable and lastly, the ability of the researcher to control the effects of any 

extraneous variables upon the dependent variable (Gill and Johnson, 1991). Emory and Cooper 

(1991) asse1ted that there are four main advantages in conducting laboratory expeliments. The 

first two are those just referred to, nainely the researcher's ability to manipulate independent 

variables and to control for extraneous variables more effectively thar1 with other designs. Third, 

laboratory experiments can be relatively inexpensive and convenient to can-y out. Fourth, it is 
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possible to replicate experiments using different subject groups and conditions which would 

eventually lead to the discovery of an average effect of the independent variable across people, 

situations and times (Emory and Cooper, 1991). 

However, the aitificial setting in which an experiment is canied out is, arguably, one of its primai·y 

disadvantages, for this limits the generalisability of the findings (Abdel-khalik ai1d Ajinkya, 1979). 

Further, the use of possibly unrepresentative subjects (usually students as surrogates) also 

compromises the impact these independent variables may have on subjects in the 'real' environment 

(Kerlinger, 1986). Swieringa and Weick (1982), on the other hand, contended that the inherent 

limitations in laboratory experiments do not mean that laboratory findings are not applicable. 

Rather, they are applicable only under certain conditions. They argued that realism may conceal 

information that a controlled artificiality may disclose. It is this aitificiality that makes it easier 

"to observe clear disconfinnations of theory and clear examples of novel relationships that are 

nonnally concealed by the sheer mass of covaiying variables in realistic settings" (p79). The more 

artificial the setting, the more precisely the one theory in question may be expected to predict 

(Webster and Kervin, 1971). Hence, researchers may need more, and not less, aitificiality in 

order for vmiables that are not relevant to the theories being tested to be eliminated from an 

emp:irical setting (Swieringa and Weick, 1982). Birnberg et al (1990) echoed a similm· sentiment 

when they contended that, because a researcher is able to obtain relatively precise measurements 

and high levels of control over vmiables :ir1 a laboratory experiment, it is possible to detect 

significa11t effects even when there are relatively weak manipulations of the independent variables. 

Finally, Swieringa and Weick (1982) argued that the basic advantage of deliberate artificiality is 

that it may allow for a more direct test of the theory. Consequently, this may improve 

generalisability, for it is the theory that has been supported by the experimental results rather than 

the specific results of a particular experiment. However, the findings have to be confinned 

128 



through fmther (possibly different) emp:itical tests :it1 order for laboratory findings to have external 

validity (Swieringa and Weick, 1982). 

Given the objective of this study which is to test a theory concerning the usefuh1ess of a specific 

type of Islamic financial repo1ting, it was felt that a laboratory experiment would enable a more 

direct test of the theory (Swieringa and Weick, 1982). The concern that laboratory experiments 

might have l:itnited generalisability should not pose a real problem here because the vaiiable of 

interest in this case is religion. Since religious values are generally internalised in a person, 

irrespective of the setting, or the actors (in this study students were used as surrogates), the 

findings may be more generalisable than when other attiibutes are being studied. 

5.1 Design 

Typically, there are two different approaches to conducting expe1imental research, the within

subjects design and the between-subjects design. In the within subjects-design, the user is 

provided with all the different types of reports which form the subject of the study. In the case 

of this project, adopting this approach would mean that each subject was provided with both the 

Islamic financial report and the Western based financial report. On the other hand, the between

subjects design require that the different types of rep01ts be randomly distiibuted among subjects. 

Hence, if such a design was chosen, subjects would only be given either the Islamic financial report 

or the Western-based rep01t. One criticism levelled at the within-subjects design is that it creates 

a 'demand effect' :it1 that it may sensitise subjects to the nature of the study. This, it is argued, 

leads to subjects being induced to give "socially desirable" responses. However, if this design is 

adopted, one is able to utilise subjects more efficiently. In addition, the within-subjects design is 

said to provide a control of subject vaiiables which may result :it1 statistical efficiency brought 

about by removing the within-group valiance (Brownell and Trotman, 1987). As will be 

desciibed next, the expeiimental design of this study incorporated both the between and within-

129 



group experimental designs. 

Prior research using experiments to examine the usefulness of alternative reporting systems have 

often approached the subject using a three group design (McIntyre, 1973; Duncan and Moores, 

1988). In studies compming the usefulness of historical costs versus current cost accounting 

systems (McIntyre, 1973; Duncan and Moores, 1988), one group received a set of historical cost 

accounts; another, a set of current cost accounts while the third and last group received both the 

historical m1d current cost accounts. The design used in the present study was similar to the 

preceding studies in that both the within group and the between group approaches were 

incorporated into the expe1imental design. However, this study departed from the preceding 

studies in two respects; instead of using three groups, there were four treatment groups and 

secondly, while prior studies had only one control group, this study had two. The additional 

group was necessary in order to study the combined effects of the current value balance sheet and 

the value added statement. 

5.2 Treatment groups 

This study adopted a design that has often been used in accounting research called the post-test

only-control-group design (Abdel-khalik and Ajinkya, 1979, p40). If thorough randomisation is 

achieved in such experiments, analysis of the post-test observation for both the experimental and 

control groups would enable the researcher to make inferences concerning the effect of the 

independent vaiiable. Accordingly, subjects were rm1domly assigned to four treatment groups. 

Each treatment group received one of four information sets as shown in Table 5.3. Set 1 

consisted of a historical cost income statement, and a historical cost balance sheet. Set 2 

comprised of Set 1 plus a current value balance sheet. Set 3 comprised of Set 1 plus a value 

added statement while Set 4 was a combination of Sets 1, 2 and 3. The statement of source and 

application of funds was deliberately left out so as not to overwhelm pmiicipants with too much 
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:infonnation. Subjects were also told that although under normal circumstances they would have 

available to them a multitude of information, for the purpose of the expeiiment they were to base 

their decisions on the infonnation provided (Estes and Reimer, 1977). Structurally the design 

and the treatments are as shown in Table 5.4. 'R' represents the random assignment of subjects. 

'Gl', 'G2', 'G3' and 'G4' are the four treatment groups while '01', '02', '03' and '04' are the 

experimental results (i.e. outcome 1, outcome 2, outcome 3 and outcome 4). 

5.3 Measure 

The vaiiable of p1imary interest is usefulness. Usefulness of accounting infonnat:ion is piimarily 

detennined by its relevance a11d its reliability (F ASB 1980, para 33). Relevance is defined as the 

capacity of :infonnation to make a difference in a decision. Reliability, on the other hand, refers 

to whether or not the information is reasonably free from bias; that is, whether it represents what 

it purports to represent. As noted by Mccaslin and Stanga (1983), accountants 

TABLE 5.3: Experimental Groups and Treatments 

KEY: 
HC : Histolical cost balance sheet 
PL : Profit and loss account 
CV : Ctment value balance sheet 
VAS : Value added statement 

Group 1 
HC 
PL 

TABLE 5.4: Structural design of experiment 

KEY: 
R- random assignment of subjects 
G- treatment groups 
0- observed results 

Group 2 
HC 
PL 
CV 

R 
R 
R 
R 

Group 3 Group 4 
HC HC 
PL PL 
VAS CV 

VAS 

G1 01 
G2 02 
G3 03 
G4 04 

believe that relevance ca11 only be enhanced if one is willing to saclifice some reliability. However, 

their study on the related qualities of useful accounting inf mmat:ion revealed that there is no such 
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trade off6. In fact relevance and reliability are positively related. Relatively unreliable 

infonnation may not be able to influence decision making regardless of how much the theoretical 

relevance that piece of infonnation may possess. Baydoun and Willett (1995) argued that 

relevance does not detennine whether an accounting measurement is valid. Rather, what it does 

is to detennine, with some degree of probability "whether it is or ought to be disclosed in a set 

of financial statements" (p85). Consequently, in the case of the present study, the usefuh1ess of 

:in:fonnation is measured according to its relevance. The assumption made here is that info1mation 

must be reliable before it can be considered relevant. 

As was mentioned earlier, although prior studies have examined usefuhiess in terms of user 

perceptions, perceived usefuhiess may not be equivalent to the actual use of such information 

(Argyiis, 1977). In recognition of this, some authors have attempted to examine usefulness using 

more tangible measures such as looking at differences in decisions and predictions, 'goodness' of 

decisions and predictive ability (e.g. Frank, 1969; McIntyre, 1973). Most of these studies 

required a specific task to be pe1fonned. McIntyre's (1973) operational definition of usefulness 

can be considered as one of the better ones (Duncan and Moores, 1988). He defined useful 

:infonnation as information that produced decisions that were 'different' and 'better'. Difference 

was measured by direct comparison of the investment decisions between treatment groups. A 

decision was 'better' if it led to maximised return on investment (Duncan and Moores, 1988). 

Following Duncan and Moores, this study adopted McIntyre's operational definition of usefuhiess. 

However, only the first of the two criteria was utilised because the object in this case was to 

exmnine if perceived usefulness of the current value balance sheet mid the value added statement 

d(ffered between the two groups. The issue of whether one group made 'better' decisions as 

6Whiting (1995) found a similar result in her study on the perceived usefulness of brand valuations in New Zealand 
companies. 
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compared to the other was not investigated. 

Usefuh1ess was measured by five questions. Appendix I provides details of the instrument. The 

first question required subjects to rate on a ten point Likert scale the favourability of investing in 

a fictitious company. The second question required subjects to indicate the amount they would 

invest in the company given the infonnation that they had been provided with. This enabled the 

results obtained from the first question to be checked. The third question asked subjects to rate 

(again on a scale of 'l' to '10'), the adequacy of the information that they had been provided with 

:in order for them to make the investment decision. To increase the probability that respondents 

had thought through the answers, they were also asked to provide the reasons for their choice. 

The fourth question asked subjects to choose one financial report that they deemed important, 

from a list provided (the list depending on which group they were in), in their investment decision 

making. Finally, in the fifth question subjects were asked the maximum amount they would pay 

for the additional report that they had chosen in their answer to question (4). 

5.3.1 Within-group differences 

Although previous studies on the usefulness of alternative accounting reports focused solely on 

the between group differences (that is on the information sets), this study's primary concern was 

on the within-group differences. In other words, the main objective was to investigate the 

differences in the usefulness of accounting information between Muslims and non-Muslims. 

Accordingly the five sub-hypotheses tested to investigate Hl 0 and H4
0
(formulated in Chapter 4) 

were: 

Hl0
0

: Favourability ratings do not vary between Muslims and non- Muslims 
Hl10 : Amounts invested do not vary between Muslims and non-Muslims 
H120 : Adequacy of information does not vary between Muslims and non-Muslims. 
H13

0
: Choice of financial report does not vary between Muslims and non-Muslims 

H140 : Amount spent on an additional report does not vary between Muslims and non-Muslims 

If the Muslims 'desired' financial statements conformed to the 'desirable' fonn argued for in the 

133 



/ 
i 

previous chapter, Muslims would show higher means for both Questions 1 and 3. In addition, the 

amounts invested by Muslims would be expected to be higher than those of non-Muslims when 

the within-group differences for Groups 2, 3 and 4 were examined. Further, if Muslims and non

Muslims did not perceive the usefulness of the financial statements differently, then the additional 

rep01t chosen would not differ between the two groups of users (question 4). Consequently the 

amount they would be willing to spend on the additional financial statement (Question 5) would 

also not be significantly different. 

5.3.2 Between-group differences 

The following sub-hypotheses (stated in the null) comparing responses between groups on 

questions 1, 2, 3 and 4 investigated hypotheses H20 , H30 , H50 ,and H60 (fo1mulated in the previous 

chapter) respectively, i.e. 

Hl50 : Favourability ratings do not vary with the different information sets 
Hl60 : Amounts invested do not vary with the different information sets 
Hl 7 0 : Adequacy of information does not vary with the different information sets. 
Hl80 : Choice of financial statement does not vary with the different information sets. 

5.3.2.1 Usefulness of the CV balance sheet 

Comparison of the mean ratings of Group 1 and Group 2 provided evidence as to the usefulness 

of the current value balance sheet. If the current value balance sheet was perceived to be useful, 

the mean ratings to Questions 1 and 3 for Group 2 would be higher than those of Group 1. 

Similarly, if the average amount invested by subjects in Group 1 was significantly less than those 

of Group2, it would provide fmther direct support for the usefulness of the cmTent value balance 

sheet. In addition, if there was a significantly higher mean evidenced for Group 4 as compared to 

Group 3, this would provide further support for the usefulness of the CV balance sheet. 

5.3.2.2 Usefulness of the VAS 

Significantly higher mean ratings for Group 3 than for Group 1 for both questions 1 and 3 would 

indicate the value added statement was useful to investors, . The same goes for the amount 

invested; the perceived usefulness of the value added statement would be evidenced by a 
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significantly higher average amount invested by subjects in Group 3 as opposed to Group 1. 

S:irnilarly, further support would be obtained if there was a significantly higher mean for Group 4 

as compared to Group 2. 

5.3.2.3 Usefulness of the current value balance sheet and the VAS together 

Compating the mean ratings on Questions 1 and 3 for Group 1 and Group 4 enabled the usefulness 

of the ctment value balance sheet and the value added statement together to be assessed. It may 

well be the case that each statement actually enhances the usefulness of the other in which case 

there would be significant differences emerging here and not in the earlier tests. 

5.4Data set 

As noted elsewhere, Swielinga and Weick (1982) asserted that deliberate artificiality7 allows for 

a more direct test of a theory. Accordingly, the balance sheet and the profit and loss account 

were those of a hypothetical company8
• The format of the reports, although resembling that of 

published accounts in Malaysia, was simplified. Notes to the accounts were very limited. The 

notes merely indicated the significant accounting policies, the manner in which operating profit 

was delived and information on investments. The hypothetical company was descdbed as a parent 

company with a wholly owned domestic subsidiary, thus, eliminating disclosure of minolity 

:interests. The histolical accounts were provided for two years whereas those of the value added 

statement and the current value balance sheet were for the latest peliod. The cmrent value balance 

sheet was prepared based on the reseai·cher's estimates using guidelines proposed by Chambers 

7Swieringa and Weick (1982) made a distinction between 'experimental' realism and 'mundane' realism. The former 
refers to the extent the laboratory events are believed, attended to and taken seriously while the latter refers to the extent 
laboratory events resemble real world events. According to them, it is experimental realism that researchers strive for and 
they added that "the argument that laboratory experiments are artificial (i.e. not realistic) and therefore less useful may 
reflect a confusion between experimental and mundane realism(p80)". They asserted that experimenters may have learned 
less from experiments because they simultaneously tried to increase external validity (by adding mundane realism) and 
internal validity (by adding control) which results in achieving neither. They cautioned that blends of mundane realism 
and artificiality may impede learning suggesting that if mundane realism is to be added to an artificial setting, interactions 
may become concealed and discovery may be incomplete. According to them, "since theories rather than findings are the 
means for generalising from the laboratory to the field, powerful ideas may aid understanding more than a surface 
resemblance between the laboratory and the field" (p86). 

8Most of the items are, however, extracted from the annual report of an anonymous Malaysian public company. 
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on CoCoA (Continuously Contemporary Accounting). In the current value balance sheet, the 

figures for cash and bank balances, short te1m deposits, bank borrowings, creditors, tax, proposed 

dividends, share capital, share premium and retained profits remained unchanged. Only stocks and 

quoted investments were revalued. All revaluations were adjusted through the revaluation 

reserve. 

5.5 Subjects 

Prior research on examining the usefulness of accounting information has identified the need to 

measure relevance in relation to the user group and the purpose for which it is being used (e.g. 

Carsberg et al, 1974; Fisher, 1974; Stanga and Tiller, 1983, Arnold and Moizer, 1984). 

Accordingly, in this experiment, investors constituted the user group examined. One of the 

objectives identified as being of imp01tance to investors is their need for infonnation in deciding 

whether to invest in a particular company. For the laboratory experiment, students were used as 

smrngates for investors. Hence, it is necessary to be aware of the limitations that may arise when 

using students as subjects (Birnberg and Nath, 1968). According to Alpert (1967), students and 

businessmen do in fact react differently in laboratory experiments. Ashton and Kramer (1980), 

on the other hand, found students to be adequate surrogates for auditors when pe1forming similar 

tasks. An issue to be considered here is whether or not the research is one which falls under 

'attitude' studies or whether it is concerned with Judgements and decision making'. The conclusion 

of Ashton and Kramer (1980), after reviewing vaiious studies on using students as surrogates, was 

that studies falling in the former have shown sizeable discrepancies between students and 11011-

students. On the other hand, studies on judgements and decision making have found considerable 

similaiities between students and non-student subjects. Since this study constitutes one of 

judgement and decision making, using students as surrogates for investors should be appropriate. 

Birnberg and Nath (1968) recommended that researchers check the validity of the assumption of 

equivalence in behaviour between students and those for whom they are acting as surrogates by 
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conducting pilot studies using 'real' subjects. This advice was followed and the pilot study was 

conducted on 'sophisticated' shareholders. 

Finally, the choice of students was also an important issue. Students chosen for this study were 

those who had previously been exposed to financial reporting and the interpretation of accounts. 

It was felt that students majoring in accounting and in their final year of study would be the best 

stmogates for shareholders in this case9
• 

5. 6 Pilot study 

The instrnment was discussed with various colleagues at the Department of Accountancy, Otago 

University. This cuhninated in a few revisions. Finally, the instrnment was reviewed by a 

committee comp1ising senior academics of the department at the monthly postgraduates' meeting, 

before undertaking the pilot test. A pilot test was conducted on part time MBA students at an 

institution of higher learning in Malaysia. The students were a mixed group comprising lecturers, 

investment officers, professionals in the banking sector and the civil service. There were no 

further refinements unde1taken after the pre-testing of the instrnment and the actual data were 

collected in March, 1996. Data were collected from final year accounting students from the 

National University of Malaysia (UKM), the Agricultural University of Malaysia (UPM), the 

International Islamic University (IIU) and Malaysian students at Otago University. As noted 

elsewhere in this section, subjects were randomly assigned to one of four treatment groups. 

Ideally, each treatment group was to have equal number of Muslims and non-Muslims. However, 

due to administrative constraints, that was not possible. Subjects were told that the researcher 

was conducting an experiment concerning the use of accounting infonnation in investment 

9 A sophisticated user is one who has had occupational experience and/or educational training in accounting and finance 
(Courtis, 1992). According to Tweedie (1985), non-sophisticated users generally have syntactic and semantic difficulties 
with accounts and sophisticated users normally read financial statements more thoroughly. For this study, accounting 
majors would seem to be a natural choice. The subjects are majors in accounting in their final year where exposure in 
accounting is at its maximum. 
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decisions and that not all subjects would receive the same information. Chapter 6 elaborates 

further on this. 

6Summary 

The three more common methods used by researchers in examining user perceptions of accounting 

:infonnation, namely surveys, experiments and case-based studies were discussed in this chapter. 

The advantages and the disadvantages of each method were elaborated together with a discussion 

on the merits of using multiple methods in data collection. Detailed discussion on the postal 

questionnaire survey and the laboratory experiment was provided including the design of the 

questi01ma:ire, the subjects and various administrative details. Finally, while the survey instrument 

gauged users' perceptions on what they regarded as useful information, the laboratory experiment 

:investigated the actual (simulated) use of financial information. The following chapter discusses 

the results. 
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Introduction 

Chapter 6 

Results 

This chapter reports on the findings of the empirical work undertaken. There are three main 

sections to this chapter. Section 1, consisting of five subsections, discusses the results of the 

survey. Subsection one describes the administrative procedures of the survey. Subsection two 

reports on the demographic profile of the respondents while subsection three discusses the 

response rate, the representativeness of the sample chosen, the test for non-response bias and the 

tests for question order bias as well as 'anchoring' bias. The validity and the reliability of the 

questionnaire are discussed in subsection four followed by the statistical analysis of the survey in 

subsection five. Section 2, complising four subsections, reports on the laboratory experiment. 

Subsection one deals with the administrative procedures in the conduct of the experiment while 

subsection two analyses the response rate. The statistical analysis is discussed in subsection three. 

Subsection four analyses the responses to the qualitative questions. The final section, section 3, 

provides the chapter summary. Data was analysed using the SPSS for Windows: Release 6.0 

(Norusis, 1993). Unless otherwise stated, all tests of significance were conducted at the 5% level 

of significance. 

1 Survey 

1.1 Questionnaire distribution 

Data was collected :in Malaysia :in September, 1995. A strict random sampling design was not 

used. No sampling frame from which one could randomly sample individual investors was readily 

identifiable. Questionnaires were either mailed or distributed personally through contact persons 

in the targeted organisations. A sample of bank officers, investment analysts, zakat officers and 

accountants fanned the main categories of users and preparers for the survey. Details of how the 

139 



sample of respondents was chosen and the population details are given below. Individual investors 

were not targeted. h1 view of the nature of the hypotheses being tested, it was felt best to focus 

on sophisticated users. The implications of the non-random design are discussed below. 

1.1.1 Bank lending officers (BLO) 

Questiom1aires were sent to the heads of Corporate Banking of the commercial banks sampled. 

Accompanying the questimmaires was a letter addressed to the head of the department (Appendix 

J) explaimng about the research and to request that the questionnaires be distributed to the officers 

of that department. The researcher, however, did not specify that the questionnaires be 

distributed to Muslims and non-Muslims equally. This was not done because it was felt that to 

impose fmther conditions on the distribution might lead to a reluctance on the part of the heads 

of depaitments to cooperate in having the questionnaires distributed. As a result, the researcher 

had little control over the distribution of the questionnaires once it reached the heads of 

depaitments concerned. All 39 commercial banks operating in Malaysia were sainpled 1• A total 

of200 questimmaires were distdbuted, out of which 66 responded, giving a response rate of 33% 

(Table 6.1.1). 

TABLE 6.1.1 : Response rate 

Acc.ountants ... · .. 
sarik1eriaing officers · 
i=THanci~Fa~a1§:sfs ······· 

,,,., •• •·•'·"•-''"""'"'''"''''"-''''""•~" .. .','w•"•"•'•'••••"' 

Zakat officers 

Total 

1.1.2 Investment/financial analysts (FA) 

% 

156 100 

Non-Muslims 
No % 
.5.4' 

'31· .. 

99 100 

Total Total Overall 
sent Resp rate 
300 44S'/o" 

"'\eC,:,rn,,,/,:.-. .<, ,;;: ..• ~.-'.;',,,« ""···· '.··· •. : .,. ~.,,.'.. -

200 33% 
250. 
60 

255 810 31% 

A total of 250 questionnaires were sent to investrnent analysts working :in securities firms, 

merchant banks and insurance companies. Like the bru.1k lending officers above, the 

1The list of commercial banks was obtained from the Bankers' Directory, 1994. 
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questionnaires were sent to the heads of investment divisions of the targeted organisations. Out 

of 60 securities films, 20 were randomly selected and a total of 100 questionnaires distributed2
• 

Of the 56 insurance companies in Malaysia, 20 were randomly selected and 100 sets of the 

questiomrnires were sent out3. Since there were only 12 merchant banks, all were surveyed and 

a total of 50 questiom1aires were sent to those finns4. A similar problem on control existed here 

in that the researcher had no way of ensuring that the questiom1aires were distributed to Muslim 

and non-Muslim investment analysts equally. In the case of investment analysts, the letter 

addressed to the respective heads of divisions indicated that the study was on the possible 

influence of culture and religion on financial rep01ting (Appendix J). A combined total of 44 

useable responses were received from the three groups, giving a response rate of 18 per cent, the 

lowest amongst the 4 categories of users and preparers5 (Table 6.1.1 ). 

1.1.3 Zakat officers (ZO) 

All 14 zakat offices in Malaysia were sampled. Questionnaires were sent to the heads of zakat 

offices and an accompanying letter requested that the questionnaires be distributed to the zakat 

officers in the department (Appendix J). Questionnaires sent to zakat officers consisted of both 

the English and Bahasa Malaysia versions. Altogether 60 questionnaires were distributed. A 

total of 21 completed questionnaires were received. The 35% response rate ranked second after 

the preparers (Table 6.1.1 ). Again, the researcher had little control over the distribution of the 

questionnaires; this was left to the discretion of the respective heads. Thus, the teim zakat officer 

is taken in the broad sense; anyone working in the zakat office such as the accountant, the internal 

2The list of securities firms was obtained from the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange Annual Report 1994. 

3The list of insurance companies was obtained from the Malaysian Insurance Institute in May, 1995. 

4The list of merchant banks was obtained from the Association of Merchant Banks in Malaysia in May, 1995. 

5The study by McCaslin and Stanga (1983) also showed a similar low response rate from financial analysts. It may 
well be that financial analysts do not perceive annual reports disclosure as being of particular importance, as they have 
available to them a considerable amount of other information. 
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auditor and the zakat officers themselves were all grouped in this category6. 

1.1.4 Accountants 

Three hundred of the 8000 members of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (MIA) were 

surveyed. For confidentiality reasons, it was not possible to obtain a list of members from which 

a random selection could be drawn. Instead, the questiom1aires were distributed by the MIA. The 

need for the sample to be randomly selected and the questionnaires to be distributed equally to 

Muslims and non-Muslims was stressed however. As the MIA does not have information 

concerning the religious affiliation of its members, the questionnaires were distributed in two 

groups, Malays and the non-Malays (about which info1mation was available). In Malaysia, 

generally all Malays are Muslims. Responses totalling 124 were received, of which 70 were from 

Muslims. The response rate for this group was the highest at 41 % (Table 6.1.1). The terms 

accountants and preparers are used synonymously throughout the thesis. 

1.2 Demographic profile of survey respondents 

Sixty two per cent of survey respondents were below 35 years of age. Most (about 66%) had less 

than 10 years experience in their professions. All respondents had at least a diploma. About 40 

percent of respondents held a Bachelors degree while a large percentage of accountants ( 48 % ) 

possessed a professional qualification. Tables 6.1.2 to 6.1.4 report the demographic profile of 

the respondents to the survey according to the two religious groups. Appendix K provides the 

detailed breakdown of respondents into user and preparer groups. 

1.3 Response rate and representativeness of sample 

The response rate from a single mailing of questionnaires with no follow up mailings is shown in 

Table 6.1.1. The overall response rate was 31 per cent. Epstein and Freedman (1994) suggested 

%is should not bias the results if an organisational culture that permeates through to all employees, including zakat 
officers. Zakat officers, according to an officer from the Shah Alam office, are very few in number. The office in Shah 
Alam only had 3 qualified zakat officers. Others, assisting the zakat officers, are the zakat collectors. As zakat is not 
under a central body (each state in Malaysia has an autonomous zakat collection agency), it was not possible to furnish 

the exact number in each office. 
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that the accuracy with which the sample represents the population does not primarily depend on 

the magnitude of the sample size or the proportion of the entire population sampled . 

TABLE 6.1.2: Experience 

Muslims Non-Muslims Total % 
No % No % 

Total 156 100 99 1 00 255 100 

TABLE 6.1.3 : Age 

Muslims Non-Muslims Total % 
No % No % 
11 7 4 4 15 6 

c·~ ·,,,·,=··· ········(c,~J·='''·c"-=· ••-'"- " °'~'~• 0C;•c ==,·.,C··.-,-;""'" 

Between 25 and 30 years 44 28 31 32 75 30 
~ ft~n ~jpnd 3fryjarf " F "(4G)J6 ..... 
Between 36 and 40 years .. _ }1 ___ 20 _ 18 
Between 41 and 45 years 18 ·· 12 11 · 
Between 46 and 50 years 10 . 6 4 
Abovetcf=--·· . =·w•· 

Total 156 100 99 100 255 100 

TABLE 6.1.4 : Qualifications 

Muslims Non-Muslims Total % 
No % No % 

Total 155 100 99 100 254 100 

Neither does it depend on the response rate to the survey. Accuracy is primarily dependent on 

whether or not the sample is truly a random sample of the entire population representing the 

characteristics of the population of interest. In the present study, random sampling could not be 

strictly followed. Consequently, any generalisation can properly be made only on the assumption 
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that the sample behaves reasonably like a randomly selected one. This will be assumed below for 

the purpose of the discussion but is clearly a limitation of the study. 

The overall response rate obtained is comparable to that of McCaslin and Stanga's (1983) study 

examining the perceived usefulness of accounting information of financial officers, loan officers 

and :financial analysts. Their study, conducted in a developed country (the US), produced a 31.6 

per cent response rate 7. Buzby's (1974) study (also in the US) produced a 26 per cent response 

rate. Prior research in accounting done in Malaysia attracted response rates ranging from 5% 

(Yap, 1994) to 36.3% (Ahmad,1988)8
• Given the fact that the present study was conducted in a 

developing country and that target respondents were randomly selected, a response rate of 31 per 

cent is probably quite reasonable. A test for non-response error was conducted and is described 

next. 

1.3.1 Test for non-response bias 

Oppenheim (1992) suggested that suitable reminders should be sent to reduce non-response bias. 

However, due to cost constraints such a procedure was not adopted. The existence of a non

response bias can be statistically tested by assuming that respondents who sent in their 

questionnaires very late may be considered as having similar responses to non-respondents 

(Oppenheim, 1992). The tests for non-response bias were carried out on this basis using the 

Marni-Whitney U test (MWU). Essentially, this test is used to examine whether two independent 

samples have been drawn from the same population or more realistically, from two different 

populations having the same means. The MWU test may thus be viewed as a substitute for the 

7The response rate from the financial analysts in Mccaslin and Stanga's study was the lowest at 19 .7 percent. 

8Ismail (1983), obtained a response rate of 43% after sending the questionnaire out three times and following through 
with personal calls. He was able to do this primarily because his sample consisted of only 100 subjects who were mostly 
accountants. This study, however, targeted a larger sample and four user groups (including accountants as one user group) 
and such a follow up approach would have been too costly and time-consuming. 
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parametric t-test or the corresponding large-sample normal curve test for the difference between 

two means (Emory and Cooper, 1991). Mean response scores were calculated for each of the 

items of the last received ten questionnaires and from a random sample of ten from returns of the 

first three days.· A Mann Whitney U test (the SPSS Windows version) at the 5 percent level was 

performed on each of 59 item pairs to examine for any significant differences between the means. 

If the null hypothesis that the two samples are drawn from the same population is true, one would 

expect the totals of the ranks ( or equivalently, the mean ranks) of the two samples would be about 

the same. The test statistic U (which depends only on the number of items in the samples and the 

total of the ranks in one of the samples) is calculated thus: 

where n1 = Number of observations in sample one 
n2 = Number of observations in sample two 

R 1 = Sum of ranks in sample one9 

Very large or very small values of U indicate that there is a separation of the ordered observations 

of the two samples (Emory and Cooper, 1991). Since Muslims and non-Muslims were considered 

to be different (with regards to perceived usefulness) a priori, the non-response bias was examined 

separately for Muslims and non-Muslims. At the 5 percent level, one would expect 3 out of the 

59 chi-square tests to be significant simply by chance. For Muslims, two significant differences 

were detected while three were detected in the case of non-Muslims. Hence, overall, it was 

concluded that there was no material non-response bias. The results are reported in Table 6.1.5. 

The tests conducted for question order bias, financial statement bias and reliability considerations 

followed the same line of reasoning; that is, the two groups were tested separately. 

90ne can also use R2, the sum of the ranks in sample two (Emory and Cooper, 1991). 
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1.3.2 Test for question order and 'financial statement' bias 

Four versions of the questionnaire were distributed, two differed on the order of the questions 

asked and the other two differed with regards to the value added statement that was provided as 

an illustration for the respondents. The value added statements (VASs) differed as to the amount 

distiibuted to the owners and the figure for sala1ies and wages (Appendix H). One VAS showed 

a large distlibution to the owners and a low figure for salaiies and wages while the other VAS 

showed the reverse case. Question order bias was also tested using the Mann-Whitney U test. 

As cai1 be observed from Table 6.1.6, for Muslims, there appeared to be no significant difference 

TABLE 6.1. 5: Non-response bias 

TABLE 6.1.6:Question order bias 

TABLE 6.1.7 : Financial statement bias 

Significant* Non-significant Total 

Non-Muslims 3 56 59 

*S ignificantat5% level 

Significant* Non-significant Total 

' Musffms 
No·n~Mus 1ims ' 

0 

3 

'""='<'=•~•• 'V"~"' 

*Significantat5% level 

..... 59lf"-'' . 

59 

Significant* Non-significant Total 

· MusTims 2 
~~,. ~ _;_·_., _ 

Non-Muslims 4 

*Significant at 5% level 

57 
54 

,,, . ... 59 
59 

in the two sets of responses (with respect to question order) while non-Muslims had three 

significant differences in their responses. Overall, this suggests that no question order bias was 

in evidence. Financial statement bias was also tested using the Mann-Whitney U test. Again, one 

may conclude that, on the whole, there appeared to be no significant evidence of 'finai1cial 

statement' (or anchoring) bias (See Table 6.1.7) . 
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1.4 Validity and reliability of instrument 

Generally, there are two criteria with which a measuring :instrument may be evaluated: validity and 

reliability. The former refers to the extent the instrument measures what it purports to measure 

while the latter establishes the accuracy and precision of the measurement procedure. Thus, in 

the context of the present study, validity establishes the efficacy with which the questionnaire 

measures the concept of usefulness and reliability relates to the consistency and precision with 

which the concept is be:ing measured. While validity is more of a theoretically oriented issue, 

reliability focuses on empirical measures (Carmines and Zeller, 1979). A standard physical 

example involving the use of thermometers to measure temperature illustrates the two concepts 

further. A thermometer that indicates the same reading of 82 degrees Celsius each time it is 

immersed in boiling water gives a reliable measurement. A second thermometer might give 

read:ings over a series of measurements that vary from around 100 degrees Celsius. The second 

thermometer would be relatively valid but unreliable while the first would be invalid but perfectly 

reliable (Kirk and Miller, 1986). Hence, reliability does not imply validity (e.g. Grove and 

Savich, 1979; Kirk and Miller, 1986). As indicated :in the previous chapter, the validity of the 

questionnaire was achieved through interviews with experienced academics undertaken at Otago 

University as well as with colleagues :in Malaysia. 

Data may be tested for ':inter-item consistency reliability' by computing Cronbach's alpha 10. The 

:internal consistency reliability measures the degree to which the questions are homogeneous and 

reflect the same underly:ing construct(s). In the present study reliability tests were not undertaken 

primarily because each sub-question measured a particular construct. Although the ma:in 

questions (questions 1 through 5 shown :in Appendix H) examined a respondent's perception of 

usefulness of a particular financial statement, each sub-question shown in Table 6 .1. 8 measured 

1°For a detailed mathematical procedure on Cronbach's alphas, see Carmines and Zeller (1979). 
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a different construct. One would therefore not necessarily expect respondents' ratings to be 

consistent across the eight sub-objectives. Additionally, the questions were 'non-sensitive' in 

nature and thus reliability was not an issue. Each question was straightforward and the possibility 

of misinterpretation was practically non-existent. 

1.5 Statistical analysis 

This subsection is lengthy and contains details of the results of the survey. To determine if data 

collected were normally distributed, a normality test using the Lilliefor's test of normality was 

conducted. Data (as reflected by the p-values relating to the testing of the null hypothesis of a 

normal distribution) were found not to be normally distributed (Appendix L). In view of this, 

analysis of the survey data relied upon the use of non-parametric statistics, namely the Mann 

Whitney U test and the Wilcoxon Signed Ranked test. For comparative purposes, equivalent 

parametric tests, (t-tests and paired t-tests) were also conducted on the data collected from the 

survey11
• Additional evidence is provided if results from non-parametric statistical tests are 

consistent with those of the parametric statistical tests (Grove and Savich, 1979). The results of 

the parametric tests are reported in Appendix N. 

1.5.1 Consensus on perceived usefulness between users and preparers 

The first stage of data analysis was to investigate whether there was a difference in perceived 

usefulness of accounting information between preparers and users. This was primarily to ascertain 

if responses from preparers and users could be combined for subsequent analysis (i.e. when the 

effect of religion on perceived usefulness was investigated). The Mann-Whitney U (MWU) test 

was used to test for any differences between users and preparers (Mccaslin and Stanga, 1983) and 

subsequently between Muslims and non-Muslims . Zakat officers were not included in this 

11fu the use of the t-test and paired t-tests, the assumptions are that (1) the observations are random samples, (2) they 
are taken from normal distributions and (3) the variances are equal. Data gathered from the survey satisfied the third 
condition (Levene's test for homogeneity of variance was conducted and did not allow for the rejection of the null 
hypothesis at 5% level of significance). 

148 



b 

( 

'! 

r 

·\ 

preliminary analysis for two ma.in reasons. Firstly, zakat officers, being a 'special' user category 

(all zakat officers a.re Muslims), might have confounded the results. Secondly, excluding zakat 

officers would enable the results to be compared with the findings of previous studies examining 

the consensus issue. 

TABLE 6.1.8: List of objectives 

a Investors to assist in their investment decisions 
b Firfanc@lnstHutTons to assi~t in tfieir lenoing ffeci~io~s'":·::····=- ·······"· ~- ···:· .. -. ::: .. ./ 
C Employees for the proteciiori·atheir· interests = • '' . --. ·- --==-~-~=----,., ... = 

cl The· general public fue'nablethem fo Judge whether the Company 
~ §QC,l_~JY. re~pons iblEL .. . ""'"'""""·'··--···'-M'·'·-~'""'"·"'"""'"'····""""-· 

e The zakat office for the determination of zakat 
f Thegovernment f~r econom12~·RI~6iiL~9~ -·-w-----= __ ·--_-_-_----_=-,--,,.,:,:,,,. .... =-,=-~ -~==w,-- ·------·s-··=-
g rvtmagers to assist in monitoring the performance of the company 
h Shareholdersto judge the"effectiven'essand eHb ency ofrnanagemenr· --

TABLE 6.1.9 
Perception differences between users (excluding ZOs) and preparers on the usefulness of 
financial statements, the VAS, the PL, the CV and the HC (questions 1 through 5) 

Q1 02 
In meeting the needs of: Objectives VAS 
a. investors p=0.0052 

I··-"-•· ........ _ -·· ,.,.,,. .. ,' , ..... ,.P=0-01?.~-

Q3 
PL 

p;;"o.02'53"* p===o.0017• 

Q4 
CV 

,, ,_, • p~0:0102* - ~- , 

Q5 
HC 

p=0.0094 

As explained earlier, the test statistic of the MWU tests the hypothesis that two independent 

samples come from populations having the same distributions. The results of the item by item 

analysis for questions 1 through 5 ( on the perceived importance and usefulness of financial 

statements) a.re reported in Table 6.1.9. For easy reference, the eight sub-objectives investigated 

a.re repeated in Table 6.1.8. 

As can be observed, out of 40 items, 11 were significantly different at the 5% level. At that level, 
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one would expect not more than two variables (5% of 40) to be significant12
• Thus, the above 

results suggest that preparers and users did, indeed, perceive the usefulness of financial statements 

differently. This appears to be consistent with previous studies (e.g. Chandra, 1974; McKinnon, 

1984). Interestingly, in the case of the VAS and the CV balance sheet, there appeared to be a 

general consensus as to its usefulness between users and preparers ( only one significant difference 

was detected). The PL seemed to show more significant differences emerging in the perceptions 

of usefulness between preparers and users. Out of the eight objectives investigated, five (in 

meeting the needs of investors, creditors, zakat office, managers and shareholders) were 

significant. 

To further investigate any significant differences in the perception of usefulness between users and 

preparers, Questions 6a to 6i (Appendix H) were analysed using the MWU test. Mean response 

scores and standard deviations were computed for each group. Strictly, in the case of the MWU 

tests, one should report the medians rather than the means. However, the results from the 

parametric tests were consistent with those found under the non-parametric tests and one would 

thus expect the medians to be close to the means. The results are reported in Table 6.1.10. A 

higher mean in this case indicates greater importance attached to the relevant variable. Significant 

differences were only evidenced in the case of the source and application of funds statement, the 

report on the environment and the employment report. 

Users perceived the disclosure of source and application of funds statement in annual reports to 

be significantly more important than preparers. Contrary to intuitive expectations, it was the 

preparers who considered the reports on the environment and employment more important. This 

12Each main question had eight sub-questions attached. Therefore, the five questions (Q 1 through QS) consisted of 40 
questions in total. 
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may be due to users in this study being complised of bank officers and financial analysts; two 

groups of users who are generally assumed to be profit motivated. In te1ms of mean rankings, 

both users and preparers ranked the cash flow statement and the current value balance sheet as the 

two most important financial statements they would like to see disclosed in annual reports. 

However, users rated the source and application of funds statement as third and the value added 

statement as fourth while accountants rated it in the reverse order. As far as zakat disclosure in 

ammal reports is concerned, neither users nor preparers rated it very highly (eighth by users and 

last by preparers, although the mean of preparers was higher). Question 7 was not analysed at this 

stage as it was specific to testing the differences between Muslims and non-Muslims. In summary, 

it appeared that responses from users and preparers could not be combined for there seemed to 

be insufficient consensus on the perception of the usefulness of financial statements. This finding 

appear to contradict Carlson's (1995) survey of members of the MIA which concluded that the 

financial reporting system in Malaysia satisfies the needs of users. 

TABLE 6.1.10 

How important is it to you to have the following disclosed in annual reports? 
Perce tion differences between users (excludin ZOs) and re 

Users 

1.5.2 Consensus among user groups 

In order to dete1mine if the three user groups surveyed, namely bank lending officers (BLOs), 

:financial analysts (FAs) and zakat officers (ZOs) came from the same population with respect to 

the att1ibute of interest in this study, a Kmskal-W allis one way analysis of valiance was conducted. 
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The Kruskal-Wallis test is based upon a test statistic calculated from ranks established by pooling 

the observations from c independent simple random samples, where c>2. Thus all cases from the 

three user groups in this study were combined and ranked. In the case of ties, average ranks were 

assigned. For each group, the ranks were added together and the Kruskal-Wallis H statistic 

computed from the totals using the following formula: 

where 

Ti = Sum of ranks in columnj. 
ni = Number of cases in jth sample. 
N = "Zw; = Total number of cases. 
k = Number of samples. 

The H statistic has an approximate chi-square distribution under the hypothesis that the three 

groups have the same distribution (Norusis, 1993). The results of the test showed significant 

differences for 14 out of the 40 items investigated (See Table 6.1.11) 13
• As with preparer and 

user groups, therefore, responses from the three user categories were not combined when 

investigating the hypotheses of differences between Muslims and non-Muslims. Each user group 

was examined individually. 

TABLE 6.1.11 
Perception differences between user uestions 1 throu h 5 

02 03 
VAS PL 

04 
CV 

05 
HC 

13Tests were also conducted on each pair of user group. This allowed for three permutations: BLO and FA, BLO and 
ZO, and FA and ZO. Appendix M provides the results. 
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1.5.3 Between group and within group differences 

The next stage of the analysis concentrated on the core issues; namely, to investigate if there were 

differences in perceived usefulness of the different types of financial statements between Muslims 

and non-Muslims. Within each group, it was also investigated whether there emerged any 

differences in perceptions of usefulness between the CV balance sheet and the HC balance sheet 

and also between the VAS and the PL statement. To reiterate, on the basis of the above findings, 

and given that there appeared not to exist a consensus on perception of usefulness between users 

and preparers as well as amongst users themselves, the primary research questions were analysed 

separately for each user and preparer group. Under this approach, any differences within each 

user and preparer group could be attributed to the effect of religion on the perception of usefulness 

of accounting information. For ease of reference, the hypotheses developed in Chapter 4 are 

repeated here. The six main hypotheses (stated in the null) were: 

Hl
0 

: There is no difference in perceived usefulness of the current value balance sheet between Muslims and 
and non-Muslims 

H2
0 

: There is no difference in perceived usefulness between the current value balance sheet and the historical 
cost balance sheet for Muslims. 

H3
0 

: There is no difference in perceived usefulness between the current value balance sheet and the historical 
cost balance sheet for non-Muslims. 

H4
0

: There is no difference in perceived usefulness of the VAS between Muslims and non-Muslims. 
HS

0 
: There is no difference in perceived usefulness between the VAS and the profit and loss account for Muslims 

H6
0 

: There is no difference in perceived usefulness between the VAS and the profit and loss account for non-
Muslims. 

The analysis proceeded in two stages. The first stage focused on the core issues of the thesis as 

represented by the six hypotheses above. For this purpose the analysis will focus on Questions 

2, 3, 4 and 5. Preparers were analysed first followed by BLOs, FAs and ZOs. The second stage 

of the analysis focused on Question 1 (assessment of the relative importance of financial 

statements in meeting various objectives), Question 6 (list of information perceived to be 

:important for disclosure in annual reports) and Question 7 (statements pertaining to specific issues 

ranging from religion to general business issues) respectively. 
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1.5.3.1 Differences in perceived usefulness between Muslims and non-Muslims 

The current value balance sheet (CV) 

The results failed to reject the null hypothesis. As can be observed from Table 6.1.12, overall, 

Muslims and non-Muslims did not perceive the usefulness of the CV balance sheet differently 

except for meeting the objective of zakat officers in determining zakat. However, FAs seemed 

different from accountants and BLOs in that significant differences were evidenced in opinions as 

to whether financial statements meet the objectives of managers and shareholders. Muslim F As 

appeared to feel that the CV balance sheet was significantly more useful than non-Muslims for 

managers to monitor the performance of the company as well as for shareholders to judge the 

effectiveness of the finn (Table 6. l.14c). 

TABLE 6.1.12 
Summary table showing the perception differences between Muslims and non-Muslims on 
the usefulness of the CV balance sheet 

.----------~~B=L~O~~-=F~A-~-A-C~c=r=s~ 

In meeting the needs of 
a. investors 
b':• credit ors-~·"'-• o • Y• •• ••• 

c. employees 
a: pu6lic 
e.zakat office 

g. managers 
R:-SRareiiofaers'°'''=· .,,w·· 

As to the mean rankings, Muslims and non-Muslims across all occupational groups felt the CV 

balance sheet to be most useful for creditors (Tables 6. l.14a to 6. l.14c). The usefulness of the 

CV balance sheet in zakat detennination was not ranked very highly, even by Muslim respondents. 

While Muslim accountants ranked this as seventh, both Muslim BLOs and Muslim F As ranked this 

as sixth. Thus, Muslims in the survey did not seem to perceive current value info1mation as being 

useful for zakat calculation, contrary to what appears to be implied by Gambling and Karim (1991) 

and Baydoun and Willett (1994). As expected, non-Muslim respondents across all occupational 

groups ranked this as eighth (last) in usefulness. 
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The value added statement (VAS) 

Similar results emerged on the usefulness of the VAS (Table 6.1.13). Muslims and non-Muslims 

did not appear to differ in their perception of the usefulness of the VAS, except for zakat 

detennination. Thus, the null hypothesis of no difference cannot be .rejected. Muslim 

accountants and Muslim BLOs felt the VAS was significantly more useful for zakat officers to 

determine zakat payable than their non-Muslim counterparts (Table 6.1. l 4a and Table 6.1.14b ). 

On the question of meeting shareholders' objectives, the non-Muslim accountants thought the VAS 

to be significantly more useful than Muslim accountants for this particular purpose. No significant 

differences emerged for FAs, suggesting that both Muslim and non-Muslim FAs accorded the 

same usefulness to the VAS in meeting all the eight objectives listed (Table 6.1.14c). 

TABLE 6.1.13 
Summary tableshowing the perception differences between Muslims and non-Muslims on 
the usefulness of the VAS 

BLO FA ACCTS 
In meeting the needs of: 
a. investors 
b~ cred.itors .·. · . ._, . ._··==--,. ~. ·-

g. managers 
h. sharenolders . 

Looking at the mean rankings (Tables 6.1.14a to 6.1.14c), it can be observed that non-Muslim 

respondents across all the user and preparer groups felt the VAS to be most useful for 

shareholders wishing to determine the efficiency and effectiveness of management. Muslim 

respondents felt the VAS to be most useful for managers to monitor the performance of the 

company. Again, Muslim .respondents (across all user and preparer groups) generally did not 

perceive the VAS as being useful for zakat determination, ranking this objective as seventh out 

of a possible eight. Non-Muslim respondents, as expected, ranked this last. 
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TABLE 6.1.14a 
Perception differences between Muslim and non-Muslim preparers on the usefulness of the 
VAS and the CV balance sheet 

Muslims Rank NMuslims Rank Signif. Muslims Rank NMuslims Rank Signif. 
In meeting the needs of VAS VAS test OJ OJ test 

3.63 4 3.85 3 4.11 2 4.11 2 
' '"s:74 3 - 3.91 ~ 

TABLE 6.1.14b 
Perception differences between Muslim and non-Muslim BLOs on the usefulness of the VAS 
and the CV balance sheet 

Muslims Rank NMuslims Rank Signif. Muslims Rank NMuslims Rank Signif. 
In meeting the needs of VAS VAS test OJ OJ test 

a. investors 3.66 4 3.81 4 3.83 4 4.00 2 
b.'crealtors """"'~ a s9 ·, w3~""~W~<;<·s<,=·cw;roo=m<·2«<.W',W« 

c.e~l~y'ees ' '·"' ==:§:49 · 6 fu""'"-3~48 -·g'·'· d~~ITs,:·:::: :: '' ,,,,, -:[~ ,,,,, '' ?. . :::::]~ Z:: ,,-•,•,•m•w,,,w••,,,,.,, •• ,:',''"C''" '''''" C''''''·"''"'' C' C::O:Z"'' """'":Z •wl·,,--···,·=I 

e. zakat office 3.00 7 2.35 8 

f government ,Mfu ,,,, •• ~:~ •• ,,, •• :. s:.,·::.2~ 6 
g. rranagers 4.00 1 3.87 3 
h. shareholders 3.94 2 · 4.29 1 · · 

TABLE 6.1.14c 
Perception differences between Muslim and non-Muslim FAs on the usefulness of the VAS 
and the CV balance sheet 

Muslims Rank NMuslims Rank Signif. Muslims Rank NMuslims Rank Signif. 
In meeting the needs of: VAS VAS test OJ OJ test 

1.5.3.2 Comparing the CV balance sheet with the HC balance sheet and the VAS with PL (within
group differences) 

The null hypothesis predicted that there would be no difference in the perception of usefulness 
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between the CV balance sheet and the HC balance sheet for both Muslims and non-Muslims. 

Similarly, it was expected that these groups would also exhibit no difference in the perceived 

usefulness of the VAS as compared to the PL. To examine these issues, the Wilcoxon Signed 

Rank test for two related samples was used. This test was used primarily because the direction 

and magnitude of any differences between matched pairs was of interest. The perception of 

usefulness of the CV balance sheet and the HC balance sheet by the same respondent constituted 

one matched pair. The same was true for the VAS and the PL. The differences between each 

pair of values were obtained and these were ranked in ascending order without taking into account 

the sign of the difference. The actual signs of each difference were then added to the rank values 

and the test statistic T calculated. Tis the sum of the ranks with the less frequent sign. Two 

types of ties may occur with this test. When two observations are equal, the difference becomes 

zero. For such cases, the observations were excluded. However, when two or more pairs have 

the same difference, the rank positions are averaged (Emory and Cooper, 1991). When n>25, the 

sampling distribution of Tis approximately normal with: 

n(11 + 1) 
Mean = µr = --

4
-

. . /n(n + 1)(2n + 1) 
Standard dev1at10Ii = ar = '/ 

24 

1' - µr 
The formula for the test is z = --

ar 

The summary of the results (item by item analysis) comparing the usefulness of the CV and HC 

balance sheets and the VAS and the PL for Muslims and non-Muslims are presented in Tables 

6.1.15 and 6.1.17 respectively. Detailed results are provided in Tables 6.1.15a to 6.1.15c for the 

former and Table 6.1.17 a to 6.1.17 c for the latter. For zakat officers Table 6.1.16 presents the 

detailed results. 
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TABLE 6.1.15 

Summary table showing the perception differences between the CV and the HC balance 
sheets for Muslims and non-Muslims for each user and preparer group 

In meeting 
the needs of : 

investors 
.. ,- credffor"s 
·e·mp1oyees 

Accountants 
M NM 

*Mean of CV> Mean of HC 

TABLE 6.1.lSa 

Bank officers 
M NM 

Financial analysts 
M NM 

kat officer 
M 

Perception differences between the CV and the HC balance sheets for Muslim and non
Muslim re arers 

Muslims Non-Muslims 
In meeting the needs of: CV HC Signif. test CV HC Signif. test 

CV versus HC 

Preparers: Results of Muslim and non-Muslim preparers were again quite similar. Both groups 

perceived the CV balance sheet to be significantly more useful than the HC balance sheet in 

meeting the objectives of the various user groups (Table 6. l.15a). Thus, the null hypothesis of 

no difference in perceived usefulness of the two statements was rejected. The results for Muslims 

showed that they perceived the CV balance sheet to be significantly more useful than the HC 

balance sheet for seven out of the eight objectives investigated. Non-Muslims, on the other hand, 

perceived the CV balance sheet to be more useful than the HC balance sheet for six out of the 
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eight objectives. While Muslim preparers were indifferent as to the usefulness of the CV balance 

sheet in meeting government's objective, non-Muslims did not reveal any significant differences 

between the CV and the HC balance sheets for the public and the zakat office. The findings here 

are similar to those of Jones and Love (1995). Their study on current value accounting in 

Australia found that most respondents (complising financial controllers, accountants, company 

secretaries, directors, executive officers and accounting policy managers) rated current value 

infonnation as useful or very useful particularly with regards to meeting the needs of institutional 

investors, bankers, managers, shareholders, suppliers, employees and consumers. 

TABLE 6.1.lSb 

Perception differences between the CV and the HC balance sheets for Muslim and non
Muslim BLOs ~------- ~-----------~------------, Muslims Non-Muslims 

In meeting the needs of: CV HC Signif. test CV HC Signif. test 

a. investors 3.83 
b. creditors 
0 . employees 2.94 

d ~~b)Lo ' - ···-~ -- ·· 1····"'' ''~,,,,c=,•""'--=·= ·=·'='~''" "'''"""•'''"·'''··''"''' 
e.za katoffioe 3.06 2.83 2. 17 2.26 
t ,Q,~:l~~ment ----;;_- ;c•;;---•~~·,•=cT·co~ I ·. 2.74 2.45 

g. managers 
h:sharehoTders ·-·· · 

BLOs: While the preparers perceived CV information as being significantly more useful than the 

HC balance sheet in meeting the various objectives, BLOs appeared not to think so (Table 

6.1.15b ). Only three significant differences emerged. Therefore, for BLOs, the null hypothesis 

of no difference cannot be rejected. Muslim BLOs perceived the CV balance sheet to be 

significantly more useful than the HC balance sheet for investment decision making while non

Muslim BLOs exhibited significant differences in perceived usefulness with respect to meeting the 

needs of creditors and employees. The results are consistent with those of Razaee and Lee 

(1995). Their study on bankers' perceptions regarding the desirability of market values found that 

bankers generally preferred historical cost information. It would seem that while internal users 
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(such as accountants, company secretaries and directors) perceived current value infonnation as 

useful for bankers, the bankers themselves did not appear to think so. One possible reason for 

this could be that hist01ical costs are supposed to be more objective. Another reason could be that 

bankers prefer to determine market values themselves as opposed to getting the values from the 

financial statements of the company. 

FAs: As for FAs, significant differences emerged for Muslim FAs but not for non-Muslim FAs 

(Table 6.l.15c). Hence, while the null hypothesis of no difference is rejected for Muslim FAs, 

it is not so in the case of non-Muslim FAs. What is perhaps interesting is the non-significant 

result obtained for Muslim FAs and Muslim BLOs in the case of zakat determination. Neither 

group thought the CV was more useful than the HC balance sheet for the purpose of determining 

zakat. This may be due to the current practice prevailing in Malaysia. Although most jurists 

advocate cmTent values, zakat is still calculated using historical costs. Added to this fact are the 

different methods cmTently adopted by the vaiious zakat offices in the various states in Malaysia 14
• 

Alternatively, this could signal a lack of knowledge (pe1taining to zakat) on the part of Muslim 

FAs and BLOs. This appears likely given the fact that Muslims, though well versed in the five 

pillars of !slain, do not necessarily understand the finer points of zakat determination 15
• 

ZOs : As for zakat officers (Table 6.1.16), three significant differences were evidenced. They 

perceived the CV balance sheet to be significantly more useful than the HC balance sheet in 

meeting the objectives of creditors, managers and zakat officers. Thus, while the current practice 

of zakat determination is based on historical costs, the opinion of zakat officers surveyed in this 

study appears to mirror a desire for current values. 

14See Abdul Wahab (1991) for the different methods used in calculating zakat in Malaysia. 

15 Ariff (1991) argued that most Muslims in South East Asia regard Islam as a religion of rituals. 
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TABLE 6.1.lSc 
Perception differences between the CV and the HC balance sheets for Muslim and non
Muslim FAs 

.-------------,------...,...M.,....u-s.,,.lim-s----~----N-o-n---M-u-sl-im-s---~ 

In meeting the needs of: CV HC Signif. test CV HC Signif. test 

a. investors 4.50 
b. creditors 4.77 
c. employees 2.93 
d. public 
e. za ka t office 3.27 
f. government 
g. managers 
h. shareholders 

TABLE 6.1.16 

3.33 
4.35 
4.43 

3.93 0.0122* 
4.13 0.0021* 
2.50 6.6217* 

3.00 

3.93 
4.03 

0.0468* 
0.0342* 

4.14 3.50 
4.29 4.00 
3.21 2.56 

2.64 2.21 

Perception differences between the CV and the HC balance sheets and between the VAS 
and the PL for ZOs 

In meeting the needs of: VAS 

a. investors 4.05 
b. creditors 
c. employees 
d. public 
e.zakatoffice 3.62 
f. 
g. managers 4.38 
h.shareholders 

TABLE 6.1.17 

PL Sig nif. test CV 

4.24 4.09 
4.38 

4.05 4.29 

4.43 4.57 
4.05 

HC 

3.76 

2.62 

3.38 

4.05 

Sig nif. test 

0.01 

0.011 

Summary table showing the perception differences between the VAS and the PL for 
Muslims and non-Muslims for each user and re arer 

In meeting 
the needs of: 

investors 
creditors 

employees 
public 

zakat office 
government 
managers 

shareholders 

Accountants 
M NM 

p=0.0367* 
p=0.0180** p=0.0002** 

p=0.0122** 

Bank officers 
M NM 

0.0095* CJ.6192* 

*Mean of PL > Mean of VAS **Mean of VAS > Mean of PL 
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Financial analysts 
M NM 

p;;;0,0330* 

kat officer 
M 
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VAS versus PL 

While there were 25 significant differences across all user and preparer groups evidenced when 

the usefulness of the CV and the HC was compared (Table 6.1.15), only 13 significant differences 

emerged when the VAS was compared to the PL (Table 6.1.17). Overall, it appears that the null 

hypothesis with respect to these questions cannot be rejected. Additionally while the former (i.e. 

comparing the CV and the HC balance sheets) showed a greater preference for the CV for all the 

significant differences detected, the latter's results (comparing the VAS and the PL) were rather 

mixed. The results showing a preference for PL over the VAS were, however, predominant. 

Preparers: Muslim preparers perceived the VAS to be significantly more useful than the PL for 

employees (Table 6. l. l 7a). Although this appears to support prior expectations, the usefulness 

of the VAS to bank officers (as perceived by Muslim preparers) runs counter to this. Muslim 

preparers felt that, for bank officers, the profit and loss account was more important than the 

VAS. This seems to be consistent with Renshall et al (1979)'s suggestion that the VAS and the 

PL do not serve the same purpose and both are, therefore, necessary to present a complete picture 

of the enterprise's financial results. While the VAS focuses more on social accounting ( especially 

in the case of this project where the presentation of value added takes the format suggested by The 

Corporate Report), the profit figure in the profit and loss statement still remains important in 

assessing the viability of projects. The VAS emphasises the distributional aspects of a firm's 

earnings (as opposed to the PL's emphasis on 'bottom line' profit) and its relevance to employees 

may be greater. Perhaps because of this, non-Muslim preparers perceived the VAS as being 

significantly more useful than the PL for employees in determining the security of their 

employment as well as meeting the objectives of the general public. 

BLOs: As for the BLOs (Table 6. l. l 7b ), seven significant differences were evidenced, of which 
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six were contrary to some of the expectations described earlier in this thesis. Muslim BLOs 

perceived that the PL was significantly more useful than the VAS where investors, shareholders, 

TABLE 6.1.17a 
Perceived usefulness between the VAS and the PL for Muslim and non-Muslim re arers 

Muslims NMuslims 
In meeting the needs of: VAS PL Signif. test VAS PL Signif. test 

a. investors 3.63 3.90 3.85 3.93 

TABLE 6.1.17b 
Perceived usefulness between the VAS and the PL for Muslim and non-Muslim BLOs 

Muslims NMuslims 
In meeting the needs of: VAS PL Sig nif. test VAS PL Sig nif. test 

a. investors 3.66 4.31 0.0038* 3.81 4.29 

TABLE 6.1.17c 
Perceived usefulness between the VAS and the PL for Muslim and non-Muslim FAs 

Muslims NMuslims 
In meeting the needs of: VAS PL Sig nif. test VAS PL Signif. test 

4.10 4.73 0.0120* 3.64 4.07 

creditors and the zakat office were concerned. Non-Muslim BLOs shared the same opinion with 

respect to the last two of these users. However, in detennining the secmity of employment, non-

163 



( 

( ', 

I·., 

·( 

Muslim BLOs perceived the VAS to be significantly more useful than the PL statement. Thus, 

the suggestion that Muslims would perceive the VAS to be significantly more useful than the PL 

was not supported. 

FAs: For FAs, in two specific cases: that of meeting the objective of zakat officers and investors, 

Muslim FAs perceived the PL as being more useful than the VAS. Non-Muslim FAs were 

indrrferent in their perceptions of usefulness of the PL versus the VAS, as evidenced by the non 

significant results presented in Table 6.1.17 c. 

ZOs : Interestingly, the results of non-Muslim F As mirrored those of zakat officers. Zakat officers 

did not perceive the VAS to be significantly more useful than the PL statement in any of the 

objectives investigated in this study (Table 6.1.16). 

1.5.4 Other subsidiary hypotheses 

The second stage of analysis focused on the following hypotheses: 

H7 0 : Muslims and non-Muslims do not rate the importance of the objectives of financial statements 
differently (Question 1) 

H80 : Muslims and non-Muslims do not rank the importance of the various information (as set out in 
Question 6) differently 

H9 0 : Muslims and non-Muslims do not respond to the various issues examined in Question 7 
differently 

Question 1: Relative importance of objectives of financial statements 

Question 1 asked respondents to assess the relative importance of the list of objectives of financial 

statements. The results reported in Table 6.1.18 provide evidence that generally, Muslims and 

non-Muslims were in agreement as to the importance of financial statements in relation to the 

various objectives investigated. Thus, the null hypothesis cannot be rejected. However, Muslim 

accountants and Muslim BLOs perceived financial statements to be significantly more important 

for the purpose of zakat determination than their non-Muslim counterparts. In the case of FAs, 

the only significant difference observed was with regards to meeting the objective of managers. 
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Muslim FAs appeared to attach a significantly greater importance to financial statements than non

Muslim FAs in assisting managers to monitor the performance of a company. 

Focusing on the mean rankings, both Muslim and non-Muslim preparers rated financial statements 

to be important for creditors, the shareholders and investors, in that order. Although not similar 

in tenns of rankings, Muslim and non-Muslim FAs also perceived financial statements to be 

important in meeting the objectives of the same three categories of users indicated above. For 

BLOs, Muslims perceived financial statements to be important in meeting the objectives of 

creditors, managers and shareholders, in that order. Non-Muslim BLOs regarded the three most 

important user groups which financial statements should serve to be creditors, shareholders and 

investors; a ranking order similar to those of Muslim and non-Muslim preparers. The rankings 

by zakat officers were different. They ranked managers first, zakat officers second and creditors 

TABLE 6.1.18 

Perception differences on the importance of financial statements between Muslims and non
Muslims for each user and re arer rou 

BLO FA ACCOUNTANTS ZO 
In meetin the needs of: Muslims Rank NMuslims Rank Muslims Rank NMuslims Rank Muslims Rank NMuslims Rank Muslims Rank 

• Significant at 5% level. 

third. Contrary to what other users and preparers felt, zakat officers did perceive fmancial 

statements as being important in assessing zakat. None of the other Muslim users and preparers 

ranked fmancial statements for zakat determination in the top three positions. Thus, Gambling 

and Karim's (1991) assertion that one of the most important objectives of financial statements to 
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Muslims is :in determining zakat seemed to have little support except from zakat officers 

themselves. With the exception of zakat officers, Muslim respondents across all user groups 

placed this objective as fifth. 

Overall, respondents generally perceived financial statements to be important :in meet:ing the 

objectives of the traditional users of accounting :information namely, :investors, creditors and 

shareholders. Neither Muslim nor non-Muslim respondents seemed to regard f:inancial statements 

as being important for the general public, ranking this objective as either seventh or eighth. 

Question 6: Perceived importance of information disclosure in annual reports 

Question 6 asked respondents about the types of information they perceived as important to be 

disclosed :in annual reports. Table 6.1.19 reports the results. Again, the expectation that might 

be inferred from the literature that Muslims would rate the CV balance sheet and the VAS as 

significantly more important than non-Muslims was not supported. 

TABLE 6.1.19 
How important is it to you to have the following disclosed in annual reports? 
Perception differences between Muslims and non-Muslims for each user and preparer 

BLO FA ACCOUNT ANTS zo 

~ Significantat5% level 
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Preparers: For preparers, significant differences were only evident in the case of the source and 

application of funds statement (sub-question a), zakat disclosure (sub-question h), and the 

employment report (sub-question i). While Muslims perceived the source and application of funds 

statement and disclosure of zakat as being significantly more important than non-Muslims, the 

opposite was the case for the employment report. In terms of mean rankings, Muslims ranked the 

current value balance sheet, the cash flow statement and the source and application of funds 

statement as the three most important information sources they would like to see disclosed in 

annual reports. Non-Muslims ranked the cash flow statement top of their list with the current 

value balance sheet second. The VAS was ranked fourth by Muslims (mean of 3.8) and third by 

non-Muslims (mean of 4.07). 

Bank lending officers (BLOs): For BLOs, a significant finding was observed in the use of the 

VAS. However, this was again contradictory to prior expectations. Non-Muslims perceived the 

VAS to be significantly more important as a disclosure in annual reports than Muslims. In terms 

of mean rankings, however, both Muslim and non-Muslim BLOs were in agreement as to the three 

financial statements perceived as being most important namely, the cash flow statement, the 

current value balance sheet, and the source and application of funds statement. 

Financial analysts (FAs) : Muslim FAs perceived zakat disclosure in annual reports to be 

significantly more important than non-Muslims; a finding that was not evident in the case of bank 

lending officers. Both Muslim and non-Muslim F As perceived the cash flow statement, the current 

value balance sheet and the source and application of funds statement as the three most important 

financial statements they would like to see disclosed in annual reports (although not necessarily 

in the same order). While Muslims rated the cash flow as most important, non-Muslims rated the 

current value balance sheet most highly. 
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'Zakat officers (ZOs): Only zakat officers appeared to perceive the information on zakat in annual 

reports to be very important, ranking the information as second in importance after the current 

value balance sheet. The cash flow statement was ranked third . 

On the basis of the above findings, one may conclude that there was a general consensus on the 

types of financial statements users and preparers (except for zakat officers and non-Muslim 

accountants) would like to see disclosed in annual reports. The cash flow statement16
, the current 

value balance sheet and the source and application of funds statement seemed to have unanimous 

support. Non-Muslim accountants, however, ranked the source and application of funds 

statement as sixth in order of priority. If the rankings according to the mean scores are 

considered, zakat disclosure appeared to have been ranked very highly only by zakat officers 

(second :in importance after the current value balance sheet). All other Muslim respondents ranked 

this as seventh in order of importance. Social accountability reports such as the employment and 

environmental reports seemed to be less popular amongst the respondents surveyed. Both 

Muslims and non-Muslims ranked these reports last. This does not necessarily imply Malaysians 

are not 'socially responsible'. The responses may have been conditioned by the sort of information 

respondents are most familiar with. Some survey respondents indicated that they would like to 

see more forecasts and future oriented information to be disclosed in annual reports. Informal 

talks held with a few individual investors revealed that they would also like an increased reporting 

of post balance sheet events 17
• 

16This is consistent with Epstein and Pava's study discussed later in section 2.3.2 when the results of the experiment 
(between group differences) are elaborated. 

17Malaysia does not have a separate standard on post balance sheet events, instead .relying on IAS 10. 
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Question 7: Are Muslims different from non-Muslims? 

Question 7 was included as a check upon whether Muslims and non-Muslims differ in ways 

expected, outside the domain of accounting. This was intended to confirm the validity of the 

assumption of significant differences between Muslims and non-Muslims regarding underlying 

values. Hofstede (1980) defined values as a broad tendency to prefer certain states of affairs over 

others. The results from testing the differences in values between Muslims and non-Muslims are 

rep01ted in Table 6.1.20. As can be observed, sub-questions (a), (b), (d), (f), and (j) were specific 

to the religious beliefs of Muslims while others were more general in nature. 

TABLE 6.1.20 

To what extent do you agree with the following statements? 
Perception differences between Muslims and non-Muslims for each user and preparer 
grou. 

'Significant at 5% level. 
ns =not significant 

BLO 
Muslims NMuslims 

FA 
Muslims NMuslims 

ACCOUNTANTS 
Muslims NMuslims 

zo 
Muslims 

It appears that Muslims and non-Muslims are indeed different with respect to some values. Out 

of the ten issues investigated, seven showed significant differences. On particular issues 

pertaining to Islam such as gambling, interest, alcohol consumption, zakat deduction on behalf of 

Muslim shareholders by companies and whether or not earning a living is to be regarded as part 
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of religious duty, significant differences were observed. Muslims and non-Muslims did not differ 

on three issues: on the finns's accountability to the public, the institution of a social audit, and the 

disclosure of monopoly practices. Similar results emerged across all user and preparer groups. 

This appears to suggest that while Islamic beliefs figure prominently in the attitudes of Muslims, 

its influence does not necessarily extend to the realm of business. Consequently one may 

conclude that the Muslims surveyed in this study did in fact regard religious activities and those 

matters pertaining to business as falling into two separate compartments. The results reported 

here are consistent with Hassan's (1986) observation of Malaysian Muslims. According to him, 

Islam does not influence all aspects of the behaviour of Muslims. 

Zakat disclosure and zakat deduction 

Specifically regarding zakat (See Table 6.1.22), almost 82% (125) of Muslim respondents strongly 

TABLE 6.1.21 
Disclosure of zakat paid in annual reports (Question 6h) : Responses of Muslims 

BLO FA ACCT zo Total % 
No % No % No % No % 

Least 

2 6 

Total 35 100 29 100 70 100 21 100 156 100 

Disclosure of zakat paid in annual reports (Question 6h) : Responses of non-Muslims 

BLO FA ACCT Total o/o 
No % No % No % 

Total 31 100 14 100 53 100 98 100 
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felt (giving a rating of '4' or '5') that zakat should be deducted on behalf of Muslim shareholders 

(Question 6h). Thirty one (31) out of the ninety nine (99) non-Muslim respondents (Table 6.1.22) 

also perceived zakat deduction as very important (rating of '4' or '5'). As far as zakat disclosure 

was concerned only 55% (85) of Muslim respondents felt it was important to be disclosed in the 

annual report (Table 6.1.21). This might be explained, in part, by the Shari'a's provision that 

charity should not be publicised, as explicated in Verse 2:271 below18
• 

Ifye disclose acts of charity, even so it is well, but if ye conceal them and make them reach those 
really in need that is best for you (2:271) 

TABLE 6.1.22 
Zakat should be deducted on behalf of Muslim shareholders (Question 7d) : Responses of 
Muslims 

BLO FA ACCT zo Total % 
No % No % No % No % 

30 

Zakat should be deducted on behalf of Muslim shareholders (Question 7d) : Responses of 
non-Muslims 

Strongly disagree No 

31 

BLO 
% 

100 

FA ACCT Total % 
No % No % 

14 100 54 100 99 100 

1
8yusuf Ali (1992) ha~ a different viewpoint. According to him, although it is better to seek no publicity in charity, there 

is also no harm in disclosing an act of charity if such disclosure would encourage others to act likewise. He argued that seeking 
publicity for charitable activities undertaken is frowned upon in Islam only if the motive is purely ostentatious. 
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2 Laboratory experiment 

2.1 Administrative procedure 

The research instrument for the laboratory experiment described in Chapter 5 was administered 

in March, 1996 to 154 final year accounting students of four universities, three in Malaysia and 

one in New Zealand. The universities in Malaysia were the International Islamic University 

(UIA), the Agricultural University of Malaysia (UPM) and the National University of Malaysia 

(UKM)19
• In New Zealand, Otago University students participated. Subjects from Otago 

University comprised only Malaysian students doing their final year Bachelor of Commerce 

degree. The inclusion of Malaysian students from Otago University was necessary in order to 

increase the number of non-Muslim subjects. Additionally, having subjects from Otago University 

would also increase the generalisability of the results. 

In Malaysia, the experiment was administered by the heads of the Department of Accounting at 

the three universities while in Otago, the experiment was administered by the researcher. The 

administrators were given detailed instructions on how the experiment was to be conducted and 

the potential subjects. Subjects were told that the experiment was part of a large study on the 

usefulness of fmancial statements and that participation was voluntary. The benefit of the 

contribution arising from their participation was emphasised by indicating that the results of the 

study could help shed some light on Malaysian users' information needs for investment decision 

making which, in turn, could help shape future financial reporting regulations in Malaysia. 

Following a brief introduction, experimental packages were distributed in a random manner. Each 

package contained the experimental instructions, a questionnaire and a set of financial statements. 

As explained in Chapter 5, the last constituted the treatment variable. Subjects were told that 20 

19
Initially, it was the researcher's intention to include all four universities located in Selangor and the Federal Territory in 

Malaysia, Howeve, r students from the Malayan University were on study leave prior to their final year examinations at the time the 
experiment was conducted, 
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minutes should be sufficient to answer the five questions but that if they needed more time, they 

would be allowed to take the questiomrnire home and to return it the next day. This was not done 

by any of the students, however. 

2.2 Analysis of responses 

Out of the 154 sets of questionnaire distributed, useable responses numbered 13520 (see Table 

6. 2.1). Out of these, 115 were valid for all questions. The remaining 20 responses were valid 

except for question 5. As may be recalled, question 5 asked respondents to put the maximum 

price they would be willing to pay for the financial statement they had requested earlier (in 

question 4). Putting a price on a financial statement is generally very subjective and some 

students were reluctant to indicate the amount they were willing to pay for the statement they had 

chosen earlier. Responses from such subjects (on Questions 1 through 4) were, neve1theless, 

considered valid and included in subsequent analyses. Table 6.2.1 reports the responses from the 

four universities visited while Table 6.2.2 rep01ts the number of Muslim and non-Muslim subjects 

in each of the four groups, G 1, G2, G3 and G4. 

TABLE 6.2.1: Responses according to University 

UPM UIA UKM Otago Tota l 

TABLE 6.2.2 : Responses according to groups and between Muslims and non-Muslims 

G1 G2 G3 G4 

Muslims . = 1.9 ' ········20 ··· 21 . ,19 
= -,-,.,,;;::-£:«-><'~--"""·===\·»<-~:-:,:-:,-.-~w.x-,.-.·~---=h- , 

Non-Mus li ms 11 15 15 15 

Total 30 35 36 34 

2°Ille responses that were excluded in the analysis were those that did not provide reasons for their choice on all of the 
first 3 questions. This was necessary in order to observe the 'experimental realism' discussed in Swieringa and Weick 
(1982). Experimental realism is present when laboratory events are believed, attended to, and taken seriously. Not 
providing reasons for choices made could mean that the experiment was not taken seriously and such responses were 
excluded from analysis. 
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3.3 Statistical analysis 

As discussed :in Chapter 5, subjects :in each group were given different sets of financial statements 

as shown :in Table 6.2.3. No analysis was pe1formed on the four groups together. The data was 

analysed :in two stages. Firstly, to examine for differences in perceptions of usefulness of the CV 

and the VAS between Muslims and non-Muslims, a within-group analysis was undertaken. 

Secondly, a between group analysis was conducted to :investigate the usefulness of the CV balance 

sheet and the VAS as compared to the HC balance sheet and the PL statement respectively. P1ior 

to proceeding with the statistical analysis, data was tested to investigate if :it was normally 

distributed. The Lilliefors' test (SPSS Windows) indicated that the null hypothesis of a normal 

distribution should be rejected at the one percent level of significance (Appendix L). 

Consequently, all subsequent analyses used non-parametric statistics, namely the Mann-Whitney 

U test (MWU). This test statistic was explained earlier in this chapter when the test for non

response bias was discussed (subsection 1.3.1). 

TABLE 6.2.3: Financial statements given to each group 

Group 1 Group 2 Group 3 Group 4 
HC HC HC HC 

HC : Historical cost balance sheet 
PL : Historical cost profit and loss statement 
CV : Current value balance sheet 
VAS : Value added statement 

2.3.1 Within-group differences 

The following sub-hypotheses (stated in the null) fonnulated in Chapter 5 to investigate 

hypotheses Hl0 and H40 (formulated in Chapter 4) were tested: 

Hl00 : Favourability ratings do not vary between Muslims and non-Muslims 
Hl10 : Amounts invested do not vary between Muslims and non-Muslims 
H120 : Adequacy of information do not vary between Muslims and non-Muslims. 
Hl30 : Choice of financial report does not vary between Muslims and non-Muslims 
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H140 : Amount spent on the additional report does not vary between Muslims and non-Muslims 

Question 1: Favourability of investing inABA Berhad 

Table 6.2.4 reports the results of the MWU tests conducted on different perceptions of the 

favourability of investing in ABA Berhad as between Muslims and non-Muslims at 10% level of 

significance. The results failed to reject the null hypothesis Hl00 • The only significant difference 

observed was in G3 (Group 3). Muslim subjects (mean 5.1) did, indeed, perceive the VAS as 

being significantly more useful than non-Muslims (mean 3.9). However, as will be discussed later, 

the results for questions 2 ( on the amount invested) and 3 ( on the adequacy of information) did 

not seem to support the belief of any real significant difference. 

TABLE 6.2.4 
Pereception differences between Muslims and non-Muslims on the favourability of investing 
in ABA Berhad, amount invested and ade nae of information 

G1 G2 G3 G4 

ns : not significant 

Question 2: Amount invested 

Question 2 asked subjects to indicate the amount they wished to invest in ABA Berhad. Again, 

the null hypothesis cannot be rejected. No significant differences were found for the amount 

invested between Muslims and non-Muslims for the four groups (Table 6.2.4). Hence, there 

seems to be little to support the belief convincingly that Muslims perceived the usefulness of the 

TABLE 6.2.5 
Mean and standard deviation of amount invested for Muslims and non-Muslims 

Muslims Non-Muslims 
Mean Std. devn Rank Mean Std. devn Rank 

VAS as being significantly greater than non-Muslims. On the basis of absolute amount invested, 
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Muslims in 03 (subjects in this group were given the HC, PL and VAS) were associated with the 

highest amounts and Muslims in 02 (subjects given the HC, PL and the CV) were associated with 

the lowest amounts (Table 6.2.5). In 02, despite the subjects being given the current value 

balance sheet, the amount invested was less than those in O 1 (subjects given just the HC and the 

PL). For non-Muslims, the highest amount invested was in 01 and the lowest in 02. 

Question 3: Adequacy of information 

Question 3 asked subjects :if they considered the information package given to them adequate for 

the purpose of investing in ABA Berhad. Subjects were told to rate their opinion between '1' 

(Least adequate) and '10' (Most adequate). As with the two previous questions, no significant 

differences were detected between Muslims and non-Muslims for all the four groups (Table 6.2.4). 

Thus, again, the null hypothesis cannot be rejected. More specifically, in the case of 03, there 

was no significant difference evidenced between Muslim and non-Muslim subjects, suggesting that 

the result from Question 1 was probably not due to any systematic tendency. 

Question 4: Choice of financial statement 

Subjects were asked to choose (from a given list) an additional financial statement they would like 

to have in order for them to make the investment decision. The list provided was different for 

each group. However, all groups included a cash flow statement. This was included primarily 

because the results from the survey, reported earlier, showed a large number of respondents 

perceiving the cash flow statement as being an important item of disclosure in annual reports. In 

three out of the four groups, the cash flow statement was given the highest rating by both Muslims 

and non-Muslims (Table 6.2.6a and Table 6.2.6b). Only in the case of non-Muslim subjects in 

01 did one notice a greater preference for the CV balance sheet. Muslims in O 1, however, still 

preferred the cash flow statement. 
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TABLE 6.2.6a: Financial statement choice of Muslims 

G1 G2 G3 G4 
No O/o No % No % No % 

Cashflow 13 68 1@ 50 11 53 11 58 v;;:s =···~.~ ·"" "" ''"'"" "'··'"'"i,,i%»:i";««v.lc.- ;:iM<"-'"'=· ··'-"*'' 

3 * cv----

Qtfjfil",S~-,~-

Total 19 mo 20 100 21 100 19 100 

* Not included in the list 

TABLE 6.2.6b: Financial statement choice of non-Muslims 

G1 G2 G3 G4 
No % No % No % No % 
4 36 10 67 7 46 7 47 

£-~-.--A;;>;@M~ . •="'"'"'" --
* * * * 

Total 11 100 15 100 15 100 . f5 100 

* Not includ ed in the list 

Question 5: Cost of financial statement 

Question 5 required subjects to indicate the amount they would consider paying for the additional 

statement requested. As explained earlier, this posed a problem. While some felt they should 

not be asked to pay for any additional statement, others indicated their willingness to part with 

the RM50,000 for the additional information. The fact that they only had RM50,000 to invest 

in the first place, putting all to purchasing that additional statement may, on reflection, have been 

unrealistic. Ftuther, about 20 subjects did not answer this question. Due to these factors, further 

analysis of this question was not undertaken. Hypothesis H140 in relation to Question 5 was 

discarded. 

3.3.2 Between group differences 

Questions 1 through 3 were analysed to examine if there were differences between the 
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experimental groups. The two control groups were G 1 and G4. For reasons cited earlier, 

comparisons were performed between pairs of groups. Altogether five different combinations 

were investigated. Referring to Table 6.2.3, the following describes the objective of comparing 

each pair of groups: 

(i) G 1 and G2 : To examine the usefulness of the CV balance sheet 
(ii) G 1 and G3 : To examine the usefulness of VAS 
(iii) G 1 and G4 : To examine the usefulness of CV and VAS simultaneously 
(iv) G2 and G4 : To examine the usefulness of VAS 
(v) G3 and G4 : To examine the usefulness of the CV balance sheet 

The last two, in effect, provided further evidence as to the usefulness of the VAS and the CV 

balance sheet respectively. For example, should there be significant differences in (i) in the 

direction expected, with the further support of a significant finding in (v), one would be more 

confident in concluding that the CV balance sheet was indeed useful for investment decision

mak:ing. Similarly, significant findings in (ii) and (iv) would place higher confidence on the fact 

that the VAS was perceived to be useful by subjects. The following sub-hypotheses (stated in the 

null) formulated in Chapter 5 to investigate hypotheses H20 , H30 , HS0 , and H60 , (formulated in 

Chapter 4) were also tested: 

H150 : Favourability ratings do not vary with the different information sets 
Hl60 : Amounts invested do not vary with the different information sets 
Hl 7 

0 
: Adequacy of information does not vary with the different information sets. 

Hl80 : Choice of financial statement does not vary with the different information sets. 

Question 1: F avourability of investing 

There was no significant difference in responses evidenced at the 5% level of significance for 

Muslims and non-Muslims for all pairs of groupings (Table 6.2.7). However, at the 10% level, 

there was a significant difference (p 0.09) detected between G3 (mean 3.87) and G4 (mean 4.67) 

for non-Muslims. On the basis that there was no significant difference detected between G 1 and 

G2, it was concluded that this result was due to a chance occurrence. Thus, the results failed to 

reject the null hypothesis. 
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TABLE 6.2.7: Between group differences on the favourability of investing in ABA Berhad 

Combffied 
Muslims 

·Non-Musilms 

Question 2: Amount invested 

G1/G2 

ns 
-.,,. ='""""""'~'C"m"~ 

ns 

G1/G3 G1/G4 

ns ns 

TABLE 6.2.8 : Between group differences on the amount invested 

Comoiried 
Muslims 

Non~Musffms - -

G1/G2 G1/G3 

ns ns 
"~ 769** ~ ~ 

G1/G4 

G2/G4 G3/G4 

ns 
ns ns 

-ns p::0:0900** 

G2/G4 

ns 
ns 

G3/G4 

ns 
, . __ ,-.--,_~~,,..,.. 

ns 

At 5% level of significance, the responses to this question did not allow for the rejection of the null 

hypothesis. However, at the 10% level, the MWU test conducted to examine the differences in 

amount invested between groups revealed a significant difference only between O 1 and 02 for 

non-Muslims (Table 6.2.8). The means and standard deviations on the amount invested (for 

Muslims and non-Muslims separately), were provided in Table 6.2.5 earlier. As discussed earlier, 

on the basis of absolute amounts, Muslims in 03 had the highest average amount invested at 

$18,809 with those in 04 second at an average amount of $17,736 (Table 6.2.5). In the case of 

non-Muslims, the highest investment was recorded in O 1 and the lowest in 02. Even though 

non-Muslims in 02 were given an additional financial statement (CV balance sheet) they had 

invested significantly lower amounts than those in O 1. This may be due to the fact that four 

subjects in the group indicated that they did not wish to invest in ABA Berhad at all. This appears 

to be contrary to findings from the survey results discussed earlier. More survey respondents 

(Muslim and non-Muslim accountants and Muslim fmancial analysts) indicated a preference for 

current value inf01mation as opposed to the hist01ical cost balance sheet (Table 6.1.15). This 

discrepancy could be due to two main reasons. Firstly, subjects in this case were students and 
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secondly, while the survey was based on perceptions, the experiment focused on a simulated 

decision-making situation. Hence, it may well be that while users perceive current value 

information as useful, they might not use such information :in their actual investment decision

making, preferring to focus more on the bottom line and what seems most familiar. Respondents' 

espoused theories may not align with their the01ies-in-use (Argy1is, 1977) . 

On the basis of the above, it may be concluded that subjects in the laboratory experiment did not 

perceive that the two additional statements, the VAS and the CV balance sheet, provided 

significantly more useful information for decision making than that provided by conventional 

reports. For some reason, non-Muslim subjects felt that historical cost accounts were sufficient 

for the purpose of investment decision making as reflected in the high dollar value of investment 

in G 1. This is contrary to the findings from some prior studies that indicated a preference for 

current cost or current value accounting (e.g. Estes, 1968; McIntyre, 1973; McKinnon, 1984; 

Duncan and Moores, 1988) and the VAS (e.g. Renshall et al, 1979). 

Question 3: Adequacy of information 

The MWU tests of between group differences on the adequacy of infonnation are reported in 

Table 6.2.9. No significant differences were found for any pairs of groups of Muslims and non

Muslims (analysed separately) suggesting that subjects remained indifferent as to the type of 

information provided to assist them in their investment decision making. Again, the results failed 

to reject the null hypothesis. 

TABLE 6.2.9: Between group differences on the adequacy of information 

ns : not significant 
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Question 4 : Choice of financial statement 

Question 4 asked subjects to indicate the financial statement they would like to have, in order to 

aid them in their decision making. Each group (as explained in Chapter 5) was given a different 

list to choose from (depending on which experimental package they received). Table 6.2.10 

presents the results21
• The cash flow statement was the most popular choice with 57 percent of 

TABLE 6.2.10 : Financial statement choice of each group 

Group 1 Group 2 Group 3 Group 4 
Number % Number % Number % Number % 

* Not included in the list 

subjects in both G 1 and G2 indicating that they would like to have such a statement, 50 percent 

in G3 and 53 percent in G4. This appears to be consistent with Epstein and Pava (1993) as well 

as the results from the survey conducted earlier. Survey respondents indicated the cash flow 

statement as being the most important financial statement they would like to have included in 

ammal reports. S:irnilarly, Epstein and Pava found that users placed increased importance on the 

cash flow statement in 1991 compared to 1973. Additionally, their study revealed that there had 

been a decrease in readership and the perceived usefulness of the income statement during the 

same period. This finding is not supported by this study. Survey respondents, in particular, still 

perceived the PL to be important. 

Where a CV balance sheet was offered (G 1 and G3), 23 percent in G 1 and 22 percent in G3 

21
While Table 6.2.6 presents the choices of Muslims and non-Muslims separately, Table 6.2.10 provides the choices of 

the combined group. 
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wanted to purchase such a statement. In the case of VAS, 20 percent in Gland 14 percent in G2 

would have liked to have purchased such information. Twenty three percent and 19 percent of 

subjects in G2 and G4 wanted to purchase the source and application of funds statement, 

respectively. 

2.4 Qualitative findings 

The statistical analysis presented above should be interpreted with care. Comments included in 

the experimental results revealed certain further matters. Of those who felt that ABA Berhad was 

not a favourable investment, most cited declining profits as the reason. Related to that, some 

cited low earnings per share. Others felt that the company was too highly geared. A few 

calculated ratios such as debt ratios and current asset ratios and concluded that the company's 

liquidity position was weak. The reasons cited appear not to be specific to one particular religious 

group. Only one subject, a Muslim, stated that he would want to know if the company was 

engaged in a non-halal (forbidden) activity before deciding to invest22
• The participants may have 

regarded the laboratory study as a test of their decision making competence rather than a study 

of broader issues of usefulness. Comments to question 2 were similar to question 1. On the 

adequacy of information issue (Question 3), most wanted to know the kind of industry the 

company was in, with a view to assessing ABA Berhad's economic viability. Some would have 

liked to see more future oriented information such as forecast results and company's future plans. 

A few wanted to have information pertaining to the political patronage enjoyed by the company 

on the basis that this would indicate the risk of investment. 

3 Summary 

Overall, the results from the survey and the experiment provided little evidence to suggest that 

2
2However, it may be that it is simply 'understood' that a Muslim will never invest in a company that engages in 'non-halal' 

activities (forbidden activities). Although only one student indicated very clearly this was an important issue, it does not necessarily 
mean that other Muslim students were not concerned with it. It may be that they were not stating what appeared to be 'obvious'. 
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Baydoun and Willett's theory that Muslims perceived the current value balance sheet and the value 

added statement to be more useful than non-Muslims is accurate at the level of desired practice. 

Neither was there much evidence to indicate that Muslims would prefer the value added statement 

to the profit and loss statement. The results from the survey seemed to provide a positive 

indication that Muslim accountants and Muslim financial analysts would prefer the current value 

balance sheet to the historical cost balance sheet. However, a similar result was also evidenced 

for non-Muslim accountants. This suggests that the perception of what is believed to be 'usefully' 

disclosed in financial statements among Muslim and non-Muslim accountants are essentially 

similar. Muslim and non-Muslim bank lending officers, non-Muslim financial analysts and zakat 

officers, on the other hand, appeared indifferent to the usefulness of the current value balance 

sheet as compared to the historical cost balance sheet. This result is consistent with the findings 

obtained from the experiment. On the whole, both Muslims and non-Muslim subjects in the 

experiment did not accord a significantly greater importance to the current value balance sheet or 

the value added statement as compared to the historical cost balance sheet and the profit and loss 

statement respectively. The next chapter discusses possible explanations for these findings and 

their import in the context of what is 'desirable' financial accounting practice in an Islamic society. 

In particular, the potential environmental influences discussed in Chapter 2 (i.e. the external 

influences of trading relations and colonisation) will be explored. 
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Chapter7 

Discussion 

Introduction 

This chapter explicates the possible reasons for the main findings reported in the preceding 

chapter. To rephrase the summary of the empirical findings more formally, the results from the 

survey and the experiment do not allow the rejection of the null hypotheses formulated in Chapter 

4. Specifically, there was little evidence to support the argument that Muslims perceived the 

current value balance sheet and the value added statement to be more useful than the historical 

cost balance sheet and the profit and loss statement respectively (hypotheses H20 and H50 ). 

Similar results were obtained for non-Muslims (hypotheses H30 and H60 ). This appears to 

challenge the notion, either explicitly or implicitly stated in the literature, that cultural and religious 

values should or do have a significant input on accounting practice (e.g. Gray, 1988; Perera, 

1989a; Baydoun and Willett, 1995). Baydoun and Willett's theory oflslamic Corporate Reporting 

as a description of the perceived usefulness of accounting information to Islamic users, thus, does 

not appear to be supported by this research. No noticeable overall differences in the perceptions 

of the usefulness of accounting information between Muslims and non-Muslims were revealed in 

the sample studied. In particular, the theory that Muslims would perceive the current value 

balance sheet and the value added statement to be more useful than non-Muslims (hypotheses Hl
0 

and H40 ) was not supported. Superficially, therefore, it seems that there is little cause for 

Muslims to be provided with special forms of financial statement. Muslims and non-Muslims 

appear to perceive and process accounting information in a more-or-less similar manner . 

This chapter discusses the significance of the empirical findings for the remaining interpretation 
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of the Baydoun and Willett (1994) theory, i.e. that Muslim users ought to be provided with 

financial information of a different character from what is disclosed in W estem based financial 

statements or more specifically, that Islamic Corporate Reports should contain the distinctive 

characteristics attributed to them as described in Chapter 4. An explanation of the apparent gap 

between what 'should' be and what 'is' desired will be developed in the context of the import of 

colonisation and the world trade on Islamic communities. There are two basic steps to the 

discussion. 

Firstly, Baydoun and Willett's (1994) theory, as explained earlier, is most appropriately interpreted 

as a normative rather than a descriptive theory. Its implications are consequently about what it 

is 'desirable' to disclose in financial statements rather than what users actually 'desire' to be 

disclosed or what is actually disclosed to users. This research has provided some initial support 

for the contention that, if Baydoun and Willett's theory is a good normative theory, then there is 

a gap in Malaysia between what ought to be done and what Muslims desire and practise. The 

argument that Islamic Corporate Reports should contain a value added statement and a current 

value balance sheet ought, therefore, to be better understood as one in favour of fmancial 

statements in Islamic societies designed to be more consistent with the spirit of Islam than are 

traditional Western based accounting systems. As an argument that Muslims will actually favour 

such reports in practice, it does not (at least as yet) appear to have a great deal of support. Thus, 

Baydoun and Willett's theory is currently better understood in an ethical rather than a positive 

context. This observation has important consequences, both for academic and policy issues, in 

terms of the conclusions which may reasonably be drawn from this research and is discussed in 

more detail in section 1. 

Secondly, one is drawn to consider why, if Baydoun and Willett's theory of Islamic Corporate 
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Reporting really is consistent with Islamic principles, practice and theory do not coincide. Perhaps 

the most obvious reason is the potential of Western materialist values to corrupt the value system 

of Islam. However, this statement begs a number of further questions: What, for this purpose, 

is Western materialist philosophy? How does such a materialist philosophy differ from the belief 

strncture of Islam? To the extent that the philosophies differ, why should 'Western' values have 

displaced Islamic values in relation to the production and dissemination of financial information? 

Finally, if Islamic values have been corrupted by Western accounting technologies, what is to be 

done about it? These questions are addressed in the remaining sections of this chapter. Section 

2 considers the nature and origins of Western materialist philosophy and section 3 compares and 

contrasts the belief strncture of Islam with that of the West, in so far as these matters are relevant 

to the issue at hand. Section 4 examines the historical context in which Western values became 

adopted in Malaysia as well as in other Muslim countries and the final section discusses the policy 

issues which confront Islamic standard setters. 

1 Baydoun and Willett's theory as a prescription of what 'should be' 

Given Islam's professed emphasis on socio-economic justice, the findings of this study appear to 

suggest that although religious teachings may impinge on how people should ideally behave, they 

do not, at least in certain spheres of everyday life in Malaysia, affect either the way people actually 

behave or even how they believe they should actually behave. This brings us back to the three 

layers of analysis, discussed earlier in Chapter I in the context of Hofstede's theory, of the 

Desirable, the Desired and the Actual. As explained in Chapter 4, the hypotheses formulated from 

Baydoun and Willett's (1994) theory of Islamic Corporate Reporting and the implications of the 

theory at the level of the Desirable are a question of reasoning from the foundations of Islamic 

principles. Given the findings of this study, it seems that there are gaps (perhaps even tensions) 

:in both the way accounting is practised by Muslims in Malaysia and what is seen by them as good 
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and proper practice1 and with the kinds of accounting practice which are Desirable in the sense of 

their being consistent with the tenets of Islam2
• 

By accounting practice, is meant, broadly speaking and given the terms of reference of Baydoun 

and Willett's theory, accounting disclosure. Baydoun and Willett's (1995) analysis of the cultural 

relevance of accounting systems suggested that, if indeed culture influences accounting, the 

:influence would be felt in aspects of disclosure. Thus, the issues addressed in this thesis have not 

been concerned with measurement, strictly defined3
• Rather, they have focused on what kind of 

financial information should be communicated in an Islamic society and in what way it should be 

communicated such that it is in hannony with the spirit of Islam. The thrust of Baydoun and 

Willett's (1994) theory is that Western accounting systems and the capitalist ethic upon which it 

is based are inconsistent with the teachings of Islam. Capital accumulation in the capitalistic 

system gives pre-eminence to the profit and loss statement. On the other hand, the consistent and 

central focus of an Islamic economy is that growth should lead to social justice and a more 

equitable distribution of power and wealth (e.g. Mannan, 1986; Chapra, 1992a; Baydoun and 

Willett, 1994). More specifically, the concepts of ownership and private property in Islam have 

different connotations from those prevalent in the West. For Muslims, ownership of wealth is not 

absolute; individuals are only trustees. Ultimate ownership belongs to God. As such, the 

framework within which Islamic accounting systems should exist is that which is based on personal 

accountability to God. Such a :framework naturally tends to be broader and more subjective than 

is the case in the West, with accountability in Islam taking a more social character. Its focus is 

1Gap between the "Actual" and the "Desired". 

2Gap between the "Desired" and the "Desirable". 

3That is, in accordance with the definition of what is a measurement theoretic issue (Willett, 1987). 
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thus wider compared to the Western accountability focus on shareholders4
• 

According to the arguments advanced earlier in this thesis, two essential principles that underlie 

the concept of accountability in Islam are full disclosure and social accountability. Consequently, 

a financial statement that measures all activities by just a single dimension, that of the bottom-line 

profit, may not be appropriate in Islamic societies, at least not from an ideological perspective. The 

argument for the :inclusion of a value added statement and a current value balance sheet in Islamic 

Corporate Reporting is primarily derived from the need to discharge accountability. The value 

added statement, in disclosing the share of the value added between different sections of society, 

namely, employees, government, owners and creditors concentrates on the distribution of wealth 

created by the firm. The notion of increment in the value added statement appears to be 

secondary (Renshall et al, 1979). In this regard, the value added statement may be considered 

as being more in line with the concepts of justice and mutual cooperation that Islam propagates 

than is the profit and loss statement. 

In Islam, the emphasis is on the use of one's possessions and merit lies in extending these 

:intelligently and distributing them with generosity. In contrast, the emphasis on the profit and loss 

statement stresses the owners' private interests above anything else. This derives from the appeal 

to the self-interested capitalist, the materialist philosophy on which that mind-set is based and the 

economic theories spawned in its wake such as 'agency theory' from which the politics of greed 

and selfishness seek justification. Baydoun and Willett's (1994) original theory of Islamic 

Corporate Reports argued that the need for greater awareness of the social impact of firm 

activities in Islam supported the value added statement and also favoured a current value balance 

sheet. The latter, it was suggested, could be regarded as extending the accountability focus of 

4Although this may change in the future in the view of some writers (Gray et al, 1987). 
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the furn further, primarily because the reporting of such information requires firms to consider the 

'economy wide' database as the objective source from which current value information may be 

gathered5
• 

Given that one of the objectives of financial statements is the determination of zakat and since 

zakat is based on wealth, Gambling and Karim (1991) argued that current values would satisfy 

Islam's concept of justice more adequately than would historical costs. They reasoned that 

adhering to the concept of conservatism would lead to an understatement of the wealth that could 

be subjected to zakat6
• Further, they contended that using one valuation method for zakat and 

another for reporting purposes would somehow imply a division between religious and business 

matters. Like the Financial Accounting Organization for Islamic Banks and Financial Institutions 

(FAOIBF), (discussed later), they also suggested the current cash equivalent method of 

determining cmrent values 7. Clarke et al (1996) argued that support for the use of current values 

in Islam may be discerned from the common monetary denominator used in the Prophet's time to 

establish the nisab for various assets that are subject to zakat. The notion of 'value in exchange' 

(selling price) is said to be implicit in the determination of zakat at that time8
• However the 

reason for such a practice was not clearly indicated in their paper. 

The basic thrust of the above arguments seems to point to the need to attain socio-economic 

5 As explained in Chapter 4, the extension to include the wider economic environment may, in actual fact, suggest a 
greater emphasis on the reporting of social responsibility accounting issues. 

6The Qur'an specifically warns against miserliness as in the following verse, 

And ye love wealth, with inordinate love! (89:20) 

7Generally, this involves determining the monetary value that would be expected to be realised if an asset were to be 
sold for cash in the normal course of business. Although Islamic jurists have not reached a consensns on this issue, most 
authorities, as discussed in the literature review, have suggested net realizable values as the appropriate measurement 
basis. Gambling and Karim (1991) and Hamid et al (l 993) advocated a method similar to Chambers' CoCoA. 

8This issue was discussed in detail in Chapter 4. 
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justice. Given the fact that zakat is an obligatory payment calculated on the basis of some share 

of the assets of the wealthier members of an Islamic society, current values are advocated 

presumably to ensure that a just distribution of resources prevails, especially in times of rising 

prices. h1 the context oflslamic banking, as indicated earlier, the F AOIBF was also very specific 

on the method of current valuation to be used, advocating the current cash equivalent basis (SF AC 

No. 2). The rationale for this position is that present and potential investment account holders 

need information to evaluate the bank's ability to achieve its investment objectives in order for 

investors to make their 'hold', 'buy' or 'sell' decisions9
• In this regard, the value the investment 

account holder expects to realise from his investments would be substantially dependent on the 

cash equivalent value expected to be obtained if the investments were sold at that date. Thus, if 

investments were measured at their acquisition (historical) costs, inequities would occur in the 

distribution of investment results between the holders of investment accounts who provided or 

withdrew at different points of time during the lives of those investments 10. This is so, primarily, 

because the profits earned over the life of the investments can only be realised at the point of 

liquidation. Hence a common theme emerges: the need for socio-economic justice ensures that 

the needs of various users (not just the owners of the bank) must be taken into account. 

On the basis of the foregoing, current values appear to be more consistent with the principles of 

9There are two types of investment accounts in Islamic banks; restricted and unrestricted. Restricted investment 
account holders impose certain restrictions as to where, how and for what purposes their funds are to be invested. The 
bank cannot mix such funds with its own funds. Funds from the unrestricted investment accounts, on the other hand, can 
be used by the bank in a manner the bank deems fit. For both, the relationship of the bank can either be based on 
mudaraba (in which case the bank shares the profit of the venture in pre-specified proportions; in case of loss, no payment 
is due to the bank) or the bank may act as an agent (in which case, the bank will receive a fixed fee irrespective of whether 
the venture results in a profit or a loss). 

1°In the sense that one party might be able to take advantage of the other, depending upon price movements. However, 
this argument may not hold if subjected to a closer scrutiny. In the event that the investment holder wishes to withdraw 
funds at a particular point of time and that action would result in a forced liquidation of the business, does this not 
constitute an injustice? From the perspective of the investment holder this may not be so but from the point of view of 
the entrepreneur and other investment account holders, a gross injustice may have occurred. 
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Islam. However, due to practical difficulties envisaged with its implementation, the FAOIBF has 

put its recommendation on this issue on hold. Recognising implementation difficulties associated 

with current values, the F AOIBF stated that, 

notwithstanding the relevance of revaluing assets, liabilities and restricted investments whenever 
investments are financed by holders of investment accounts, this concept will not be adopted at the 
present time. It is not evident that adequate means are currently available to apply this concept in a 
manner that is likely to produce reliable information (SFAC 2, p57). 

It was suggested, however, that supplemental information pertaining to current values be provided 

although it was at the same time made clear that an Islamic bank is not obliged to distribute such 

unrealised investment results. This ruling may appear to support the concept of capital 

maintenance. However, the Shari'a principle involved here is primarily centred on the issue of 

debt settlement; unrealised holding gains cannot meet the claims of creditors (Gambling and 

Karim, 1991). 

Barring implementation difficulties, one then needs to ask if the inclusion of the value added 

statement and the current value balance sheet :in Islamic Corporate Reports satisfies Islam's 

concept of justice. Rodinson (1974) defined justice as a 'state directed in accordance with the 

principles revealed by God, treating all believers as equal before the Divine Law, practising within 

the Muslim community an advanced form of mutual aid' (p26). It may be that the value added 

statement and the current value balance sheet should indeed be desirable to Muslims on the 

grounds explicated above. However, on the basis of the broad accountability focus in Islam, the 

Baydoun and Willett model of desirable reports may be regarded as fulfilling a bare minimum. If 

social accountability is really the basic objective of Islamic reporting, why stop at the current 

values of private costs? Why not encompass social costs? Perhaps a model similar to the 

corporate social responsibility framework of Gray et al (1987) would be better designed to deal 

with accountability issues in Islam. Gray et al (1987) proposed a two stage process in discharging 

the accountability of a firm. Each society must first determine a way to (uniquely) identify the 
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responsibilities that organisations must meet. Having done that, reports would then have to be 

prepared indicating the extent to which those responsibilities have been met. Only by focusing 

on responsibility and accountability can one establish a generally acceptable basis for social 

reporting11
• 

The framework adopted by the F AOIBF suggested that a complete list of financial statements of 

Islamic banks would include the statement of financial position, a statement of income, a statement 

of cash flows, a statement of retained earnings, a statement of changes in restricted investments, 

a statement of sources and uses of zakat funds 12, and finally, a statement of sources and uses of 

Qard13 funds. The last two are necessary in order to reflect the bank's role in the realm of social 

services. The foregoing statements are perceived to be adequate in discharging an Islamic bank's 

accountability. The list however does not include a value added statement14. Indeed, the possible 

use:fuhless of the value added statement has never been discussed in the literature in this context. 

This may be due to an innate conservatism on the part of the F AOIBF or perhaps due to other 

agendas not explicitly recognised, for example, the needs of the global market. Whatever may 

be the reason for the shape and form of Islamic Corporate Reports currently being considered by 

the FAOIBF, tl1eir conventional, Western style format does not appear to be consistent with 

Islamic principles, for the reasons cited above. Arguably, an Islamic Corporate Report should, 

at the rninimum, incorporate Baydoun and Willett's suggestion and a more complete Islamic 

11Accounting is, after all, the discharging of accountability (Gray et al, 1987). 

12This was only for banks which assume the responsibility for the collection and distribution of zakat. 

13These are loans extended without the element of profit imputed. Such a fund is meant to be a means of achieving 
social justice. 

14This is not surprising considering that this practice has been on the decline in the UK in recent years despite the 
obvious merits of the value added statement. The diminished popularity was due to political factors that prevailed in the 
UK in the late 70's as well as the inflation issue that needed to be addressed at that time. A full discussion on this is found 
in Burchell et al (1985). 
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Corporate Report should include information that indicates the extent to which social 

responsibilities of each firm have been met15
• 

Full disclosure requires at least a report on human resource development and other social 

responsibility issues. In the case of a firm having Muslim shareholders, a report on the collection 

and disbursement of zakat would be expected. Additionally, firms should be required to disclose 

information on activities that are specifically forbidden in Islam, such as involvement in usurious 

transactions, engaging in the importation of liquor16 and various unethical business practices as 

discussed in Chapter 3. It is unlikely that such disclosures would happen voluntarily but that fact 

is not an argument against disclosure per se. Full disclosure should not, in any case, cause 

embarrassment to any party if transactions are undertaken to accord strictly with Islamic 

principles. An Islamic Corporate Report should not be concerned with social and political ideals 

of secular financial reporting nor with the political processes that have become part of the game 

that multinational organisations play. Most important of all, an Islamic Corporate Report should 

be about how the individual (and more specifically the accountant) discharges the task of social 

accountability before God. 

Disclosure should be guided by the ethical and moral principles that are represented in the Islamic 

Shari'a. From Islam's perspective, capital accumulation cannot be an end in itself. Of greater 

importance is the ethical and moral dimensions that accompany wealth creation. Proper, full 

disclosure of the social implications of the wealth creating process may thus be better served by 

15Theframeworkproposed by the FAOIBF can be said to be satisfying the latter aspect to some extent, especially with 
regard to the statement of sources and uses of zakat and Qard funds. 

16Special mention of this is made here because large import export holding companies generally do not disclose this 
fact if it is the subsidiary that engages in such an activity. Such information is pertinent for a devout Muslim investor who 
may not want to continue investing in such a company. 
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the statements just described, financial or otherwise, included in an Islamic Corporate Report. 

Baydoun and Willett's theory of Islamic Corporate Report must therefore be understood as a 

normative theory at the level of the Desirable if it is to have any validity. Although this study is 

based specifically upon Malaysia, one suspects the findings not to be very different from the 

responses one would find from an examination of the perceptions and practices of Muslims and 

non-Muslims with respect to financial reporting and disclosure elsewhere17
• Muslim users seem 

to have acquiesced in the division of the religious and the secular spheres of life in their 

perceptions of what is useful and what is acceptable to report. This is definitely not in accord 

with Islamic principles, but is it inevitable? In Islam, the criteria for financial reporting must be 

based on what ought to be disclosed as opposed to a positivist approach which states that what 

is in actual practice is all that matters. Anything goes. Why then, do we fmd the responses 

reported in the previous chapter? 

Possibly, the same reasons that caused the decline of the influence of Christian ethics in Europe 

(Tawney, 1927) are also likely to be the cause of the failure to impose the Shari 'a on business and 

economic affairs in Muslim societies (Gambling and Karim, 1991). Wealth makes possible a 

degree of luxury that prompts a lax attitude towards morality and religion (e.g. Tawney, 1927; 

Rodinson, 1974; Weber, 1985). The rational outlook that accompanies the development of 

scientific knowledge, perhaps, encourages a materialist outlook and a separation of those spheres 

of life which may yield to al.ethic logic (such as economics) from those which do not (such as 

equity and matters of ethics). It is thus of some interest to examine how such developments have 

occurred, how they impinge on Muslim beliefs and in what ways these have affected Muslim 

17An alternative viewpoint exists, however. The two concepts of 'universal' versus 'particular' Islam discussed in 
Chapter 1 points to a possibility that the results of this study may not be representative of other Muslim countries primarily 
because of the unique environment of each society. The testing of this model in other Muslim/Islamic countries would 
provide an insight on this matter. 
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societies. The remainder of this chapter examines these issues. 

2 Economic rationalism 

In Europe, at the end of the middle ages, it was the growth of large scale capitalism that brought 

about the Church's eventual failure to enforce religious discipline in trade and commerce and 

finally to relinquishing business to the secular economising spirit (e.g. Tawney, 1927; Weber, 

1985) Weber (1985) attributed the spirit of capitalism to Calvin's extreme interpretation of 

Luther's concept of 'a Christian calling'. Calvinism is intensely practical and regards the 

glorification of God as being carried out not through prayer alone but more through actions. In 

the form that this belief is manifested itself in everyday life, the Calvinist believes that thrift, 

industry and hard work are forms of moral virtue. The humblest type of work undertaken in such 

a spirit was, in the extreme case, more acceptable than a lifetime of spiritual activities. This 

formula, the basis for 'enlightened self-interest', helped create a climate favourable to commerce 

and it was on this practical basis of urban industry and commerce that Calvinistic social ethics were 

erected. Although in the first instance possibly commendable, even by Islamic standards, it seems 

to have led almost inevitably with hindsight, to a cynical, materialistic outlook with followers 

extolling the pursuit of profits to the exclusion of everything else (e.g.Tawney, 1927; Gambling 

and Karim, 1991). Such a single minded materialistic objective has become regarded as rational 

with 'self interest' and 'God's interest' seen to be interdependent (Weber, 1985). As the power and 

influence of the clergy diminished, so emerged the dichotomy between the secular and the 

religious. Weber (1985) contended that this secularising trend was the product of capitalist 

reasoning that industry and frugality led to an increase in wealth and eventually to a pride in and 

love for worldly things. Thus, although the form of the Christian religion may remain, its spirit 

has vanished (Weber 1985). The parallel with modem Islamic society does not seem too far

fetched. 
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The term 'capitalism' is not entirely straightforward (Rodinson, 1974). It may be regarded as a 

'mode of production', which is carried out by an 'enterprise'. Workers are paid wages to produce 

commodities which the owner sells for profit. It is possible to talk of a 'capitalist sector' to 

indicate all the enterprises in which the capitalist mode of production is operative. Finally, there 

is what Rodinson termed the 'socio-economic fonnation'. This refers to a particular economic 

system in which the capitalist sector occupies a predominant position accompanied by an 

ideological and institutional superstructure that correspond to this (Rodinson, 1974). The last 

is the most convenient characterisation of capitalism for our purpose. To put it simply, capitalism 

can be considered as the production for sale in a market in which the main objective is to maximise 

profit (Wallerstein, 1979). One distinctive feature of modern capitalism is the economic 

rationalisation of social actions (Weber, 1985). Implicit in this concept are the various underlying 

assumptions embedded in the theories of neoclassical economics. The first is that humans are 

motivated by self-interest. This is expressed primarily through the quest for financial gain. 

Secondly, the action that yields the greatest :financial return to an individual is also one that is most 

beneficial to society. Competitive behaviour is thus seen to be more rational for the individual than 

cooperative behaviour, signalling that societies should be built around the competitive motive. 

Finally, human progress is best measured by increases in the value of what the members of society 

consume. Consequently, higher levels of material output advance the well-being of society . 

Plainly put and in tenns that would appeal to a person of Islamic and classical ( orthodox) Christian 

persuasion, this ideological doctrine assumes that people are generally motivated by greed with 

the sole objective of maximising profit. Capitalism (propagating self-interest) and private prope1ty 

give rise to materialistic tendencies resulting in an 'acquisitive' orientation. 

Rationality, thus, is manifested in the growing calculability over all aspects of human life. Weber 

likened a modern capitalist society to that of a machine, 
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rational calculation is manifest at every stage .... the performance of each individual worker is 
mathematically measured, each man becomes a little cog in the machine and, aware of this, his one 

preoccupation is whether he can become a bigger cog (Turner, 1974, p151-152). 

In addition, rationality seemed to offer modern man the possibility of effective control over nature 

and society, thus, liberating him from the anxieties of an unpredictable world and releasing him 

from the domination of magical forces (Turner, 1974). The capitalist spirit spread like a plague 

dominating the lifetime objectives of many. Rodinson (1974) observed that, 

among the merchants of Genoa or Venice in the middle ages, the shipowners and bankers of 
Amsterdam during the Renaissance, the pioneer industrialist of the Industrial Revolution in eighteenth 
century Britain, the financial magnates of the imperialist era, and the American businessmen of today, 
we find the same feverish chase after profit, the same quasi-ascetic dedication of their lives to this 
pursuit (p217). 

The profit motive is, of course, indispensable. However, it was the social, political and economic 

conditions that enabled the capitalistic ideology to develop and at a certain period, to dominate 

the philosophy of society in Europe and North America (Rodinson, 1974). In such a capitalist 

system, one does not talk about an economy that is Muslim, Christian, Catholic or Protestant, for 

all those 'can at most amount to superficial colouring given to fundamental economic choices' 

(Turner, 1974, p216). The common cement that links these different belief structures together 

giving this appearance of similarity is money and its counterpart, the disclosure of systematic 

accounting data for making rational decisions. 

2.1 The use of money and the structural conditions of accounting 

Economic rationalism is enhanced by adopting money as a medium by which exchanges can take 

place. The use of money allows activities to be more 'calculable', the result of which is the 

provision of needs being expressed in some 'number'. Money is common to modern economies 

and accounting technology in the form it presently takes in Western society is a necessary 

component in the tool-kit of the economic rationalist. Consequently, it plays a key role in helping 

to sustain the basic features of a capitalist society (Colignon and Covaleski, 1991). Money and 

the need to account for it seem to symbolise the very spirit of acquisitiveness, and some would 

argue, a fussy attention to detail (Gambling and Karim, 1991). 
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The Western form of accounting disclosure emphasises certain basic institutional characteristics. 

Firstly, it emphasises the notion of private property. The balance sheet contains a listing of those 

assets, land, buildings, machinery and other physical means of production which are appropriated 

into privately held goods with no restrictions on the acquisition, disposal and use of such goods. 

Secondly, it emphasises the free market; the willingness and ability to trade virtually any 

commodity or service for a price. Thirdly, it emphasises rational technology (as in 

mechanisation); technology that reduces calculation to the largest possible degree. Fourthly, it 

emphasises a calculable law; laws that are applicable to all persons to be administered predictably 

and a law that is enforceable. Lastly, Western accounting practice focuses on the 

commercialisation of economic life; the provision of needs based exclusively on market 

opportunities or supply and demand. The latter needs some qualification. In a rational economy, 

demand refers to effective demand. Providing better educational and health facilities may not 

appear rational if these are not backed by a demand from individuals who can pay for such 

services. On the other hand, because there is an effective demand for drugs, it seems rational to 

supply such a product, even if this rational action triggers further social costs. In fact the social 

costs associated with such activities may be regarded as further stimulating economic activities 

through the building of rehabilitation facilities and the need to employ more social workers and 

health professionals and the like. In line with this economic rationalist viewpoint, the focus of 

Western based financial statements is on the calculation of net income, devoid of any moral or 

emotive intent (Colignon and Covaleski, 1991). This, needless to say, is contrary to Islamic 

ideology and has definite implications for the impact of Western financial systems on the Islamic 

belief structure. 

2.2 Formal versus substantive rationalism and measurement versus disclosure 

Weber contended that there are two major manifestations of rationalism: formal rationalism and 

substantive rationalism. Formal rationalism is an action that is considered to be value-neutral, 
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more technical in nature and refers to matters of fact, leading to some form of 'correct calculation'. 

Accounting and engineering, according to Colignon and Covaleski (1991), best describe formal 

rationalism. Substantive rationalism, on the other hand, denotes the degree to which an economic 

activity provides for the needs of a specific social group. Hence, for an economic activity to be 

substantively rational, that particular action must be consistent with the values or ends of a specific 

social group. Thus, judgements about substantive rationality are evaluative in nature and are 

based on the relationship between the action taken and the values of a particular social group. 

This suggests a distinction between rules and technical execution as against the normative 

application of values to direct the execution ( Colignon and Covaleski, 1991). 

This distinction finds parallel in Baydoun and Willett's (1994 & 1995) theory in which it was 

argued that issues of culture and religion have more to do with disclosure than with the 

measurement aspects of accounting practice. Thus, according to Baydoun and Willett (1995), 

the basic recording and matching of invoices are relatively objective procedures in the sense that 

different accountants would assign the same values to a transaction and both developed and 

developing countries therefore tend to have similar basic accounting measurement procedures, 

although the level of complexity and the range of transactions may differ considerably. Such 

measurement procedures, being value neutral, require no moral approval (e.g. Colignon and 

Covaleski, 1991; Baydoun and Willett, 1995). 

Disclosure, on the other hand, pertains to issues that involve moral and ethical considerations 

(Baydoun and Willett, 1995). The issue here is not on representational faithfulness but relevance 

and the latter is culturally and ethically specific. Relevance has to do with the wider issue than 

representational faithfulness, such as consequences. Thus, while accounting may be regarded as 

neutral in its execution, it is not neutral in its consequences (Colignon and Covaleski, 1991). 
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Hence, there may be an infinite number of possible disclosure practices each of which may be 

dependent on the value standards of the group. 

2.3 Relationship between accounting and society 

The analytic separation between formal and substantive rationality and between measurement and 

disclosure is fundamental to the analysis of the relationship between accounting practices and 

societal values. On the one hand, accounting is seen to be objective and factual, not subjected 

to emotional or moral intent. Yet on the other, accounting information is only useful if it is 

consistent with the values of specific social groups. Calculations derived as transformations of 

fundamental measurements ('derived' measurements) may be wrongly construed to be set in stone 

when, in fact, they are functional forms that should be designed according to the purpose they 

serve. Hence, if the profit figure or the associated net asset values of Western financial systems 

are incorrectly believed in Islamic societies to possess a fundamental quality which they do not 

possess, the ideational concepts of formal and substantive rationalism may give rise to an 

underlying tension between different groups representing different interpretations, interests or 

substantive rationalities within a society (Colignon and Covaleski, 1991). Given the multi-cultural 

nature of Malaysian society and the global context in which the Malaysian economy operates, this 

may in part begin to explain the results of the survey reported earlier. Certain calculations such 

as bottom-line profit may be taken at face value as a convenient numeral upon which to determine 

social choice. However, this leaves unanswered the question of a possible tension between 

Western, rationalist tendencies and Islamic beliefs; that is whether such a tension really exists and 

if so in what sense should it be eradicated, for instance by the provision of appropriately designed 

Islamic Corporate Reports of the style described earlier. 

3 Islam and economic rationalism 

Baydoun and Willett (1994) suggested that the economic rationalist worldview is contrary to the 

Islamic worldview. Gambling and Karim (1991) argued that the economic rationalist viewpoint 
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has taken its fundamental assumptions primarily from the most civilised and 'hence' the most 

neurotic elements in the human condition: the desire to stand apart from others, to compete, to 

manipulate and to amass surpluses. This is inevitable considering the fact that any rational theory 

generally recognises the conscious elements in human intelligence. Islam's viewpoint (as is the 

case with other religions, perhaps) is somewhat different. As discussed in Chapter 3, from an 

Islamic perspective, a person establishes three simultaneous relationships in this world: with God, 

with his own self, and with society. These relationships may be represented by the four ethical 

axioms of Unity, Equilibrium, Free Will and Responsibility described in the literature review. The 

fundamental difference between Islam and modem capitalism arises from their respective ethical 

perceptions. The similarities that appear to exist between Islam and capitalism with regard to 

their promotion of the role of private initiative, individual freedom and private property rights are 

only apparent primarily because Islam's position as regards private interest, freedom and private 

property has to be understood in the context of the three relationships indicated above (Naqvi, 

1994). 

While capitalism propagates the moral invulnerability of (exclusive) self interest, Islam regards 

self-interest on the same plane as collective interest. Thus self-interest in an Islamic framework 

denotes a freedom which is coupled with responsibility, and ownership in Islam flows from an 

awareness that ultimately everything belongs to God. Hence the concept of private ownership 

in Islam differs from that of modem capitalism. Ownership in Islam is not absolute. While Islam 

advocates the pursuit of wealth, it explicitly recognises that part of the wealth thus accumulated 

should be set aside for the benefit of the deprived and the needy. Charitable deeds are 

consequently a requirement of a good Muslim, not something that is left to the discretion of the 

individuals as in the capitalistic ideology. Individual freedom (Free Will) does not translate into 

unlimited freedom in the use of one's private property. Individuals, while preserving their own 
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freedom, should not transgress on others s:ince great emphasis is placed on responsibility. An 

individual must be sensitive to the consequences of the exercise of his own rights (Naqvi, 1994) 

so that when individual freedom is coupled with responsibility, self :interest is kept in check. 

Followers of Islam do not consider such a moral code to involve the suppression of the individual's 

will. However, the :individual's freedom of action is controlled by self imposed Islamic values. 

Unlike modern capitalism, where religion and business affairs tend to be regarded as be:ing in 

separate compartments, in Islam every material achievement is an outward expression designed 

to achieve a spiritual objective that eventually gives meaning to existence (Sulayman, 1993). 

Rodinson (1974) described this attitude as follows, 

(the) Koranic faith is also something more than intellectual conviction and assent to the truths revealed 
by the Prophet This conviction gives rise to an attitude that commits the whole man. Faith brings peace 
to the soul, releases one from fear ..... , gives patience, endurance, resignation to the insults and ill
treatment suffered in God's cause, humility and the will to risk all for God and carry out good works 
(p83). 

Islam and capitalism do, however, possess one basic similarity; both view the pursuit of profits as 

important, in line with the natural human tendency to acquire wealth (Maududi, 1986). However, 

in Islam profit is not regarded as something which is of benefit to society only :indirectly through 

the benefit it brings to individuals in the form of greater material satisfaction but rather as a 

potential, direct means to the objective of socio-economic justice. On this basis, one would 

expect that the typical (current) form of accounting disclosure practice might be considered 

'substantively' rational from the Western perspective but may not necessarily be so from the 

Muslim users' po:int of view, at least not at the level of the 'Desirable'. Islam's emphasis is on 

achiev:ing a balance between the pursuit of profits and social responsibility (Equilibrium)18
• 

18In the context of Islamic administration, Al-Burney (1990) is of the opinion that efficiency and effectiveness should 
be sacrificed if these conflict with humanism. In other words if a firm has to choose between increased profits and 
redundancy, it is the former that should be sacrificed. This may appear not to be rational but one has just to look at the 
social effects ofunemployment (such as loss of dignity, increase in the crime rate, etc.) to see where economic rationalism 
has got us today. 
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Ro dins on (197 4) argued that Islam is not against capitalism per se, for Islam is not against the 

positive aspects of capitalism of enterprise and initiative. In fact he argued that Islam is more 

favourable than Christianity to economic expansion primarily because Islam emphasises the good 

use of one's possession, the merits of expending them intelligently and distributing them 

generously. What is anathema to Islam is the single-minded pursuit of profit and the accumulation 

of wealth as an end in themselves. Islam requires the faithful to expand capital with a view to 

seeking the pleasure of Allah. Thus, Islam injects a spiritual dimension into every activity. 

Interestingly, a similar focus on social responsibility has occasionally been advocated in the 

predominantly Christian West. As distinguished laureate, Paul Samuelson (1971) once said, 

a large corporation these days not only may engage in social responsibility, it had damn well 
better try to do so (p24). 

Such sentiments recur in the accounting and economics literature from time to time and possibly 

represent nascent Christian values buried beneath the layers of capitalist indoctrination which 

Wes tern European society has erected in the minds of its people over the last several hundred 

years. Given the greater differences between modern capitalism and Islam, one might have 

expected the results obtained from the survey on disclosure practices reported in the previous 

chapter to reflect this. The fact that the evidence showed otherwise could be interpreted in at 

least two ways. It could mean that Muslims have adopted the capitalist values of the West. 

Alternatively, it could also mean that the responses recorded did not capture the substantive values 

of Muslims. The latter explanation is one that pertains to research methodology and can be left 

to other studies to decide. The former seems more likely and poses the question of why and to 

what extent such contamination of capitalist values has taken place and also what part current 

accounting disclosure practices have played in the process of indoctrination. 
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The divergence between an apparently desirable form that financial statements should take under 

Islamic principles and the perceptions of the appropriateness of practices which are seemingly 

diametrically opposed to these are probably best understood in the historical context of the 

expansion of the capitalist world system (Yv allerstein, 1979), and the effects of colonialism which 

the 'core' engendered in economically undeveloped Muslim societies in the 'periphery'19
• The 

forces that worked then are still at work now. Developing economies, be they Islamic or 

otherwise, have imported the accounting practices of the West irrespective of whether they have 

been subjugated to explicit political colonialism. In developing countries in general and Muslim 

countries in particular, one observes an emerging culture patterned after European bourgeois 

civilisation, manifested in a spirit of individualism, rationalism and materialism. This new attitude 

to life is neither typically Christian nor typically Muslim and the modern Muslim projects this 

attitude to life on to his faith as nineteenth century bourgeois Christians grafted it on theirs 

(Wertheim, 1985). The processes of world capitalism and globalisation appear to have given rise 

to pressures for the formation of a homogeneous culture where spiritual and emotive content of 

activities become secondary (Von Laue, 1987)20
• 

4 Influence of Western rationalistic thinking 

As far as human nature is concerned, one school of thought asserts that morality stems from an 

inner sense of freedom which is contained within personality (Dewey, 1957). People must 

therefore purify their hearts before change of institutions can be effected. Herein lies the role of 

religion. Another school of thought maintains that people are to a great extent the product of 

external forces and hence human nature is shaped by exogenous factors. Therefore, until 

19Figure 2.1 in Chapter 2 provides a diagrammatic representation of the forces that may influence the 'desired' values 
of Muslims. 

2°Culture is defined by Von Laue (1987) simply as the tool of collective human behaviour. 
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institutions are changed, nothing changes. Parallel to these orientations, the origins of economic 

rationalist thinking in man in general and amongst Muslims in particular, can be analysed from two 

perspectives: sociological theory and dependency theory. The former, examined through the lens 

of a Muslim sociologist, Shari'ati (1979), is discussed in the following subsection while subsection 

4.2 elaborates on the development of the capitalist world economy, more associated with 

Wallerstein (1979). 

4.1 Sociological theory 

From a sociological and very idealistic perspective, Shari'ati (1979) traced the concept of 

economic rationalism to the story of Cain and Abel. According to him, the story of Cain and Abel 

is not about a dispute between two brothers, but rather, it is about a conflict between two types 

of societies, two modes of production and one that is still continuing. Abel, according to this 

theory, represents the age of the pasture based economy while Cain represents a system of 

agriculture and individual or monopoly ownership. Economic rationalism was said to have 

emerged when the latter replaced the former. In the pasture based economy, nature was the 

source of production and resources were at the disposal of the whole tribe. The norms of society 

then tended towards paternal respect, steadfastness, collectivity, innate purity and sincerity of the 

religious conscience. Thus, the characteristics of the society of Abel are more consistent with the 

Islamic concepts of brotherhood, equity and justice. 

When agriculture and private ownership materialised, society underwent a profound revolution, 

marking the beginning of civilisation and discrimination. This new system restricted the resources 

present in nature and since cultivable land was not available to all, it was necessary to set aside a 

part of these for private ownership. Land became exclusive to individuals and various forms of 

power more obviously became determinants of its allocation. The reciprocal nature of the 

relationship between power and property ownership gave to each a permanence which had the 
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propensity to divide society into antagonistic groups. This tendency promoted an acquisitive 

01ientation and ultimately a selfish materialistic ethic. Religion sometimes becomes a means of 

deception in the acquisition of further material benefits. Hatred, rivalry, the worship of wealth, 

acquisitiveness, desire for monopoly profits, deception, coercion, oppression, self-worship, the 

desire to dominate, the creation of privilege and even the deceiving of God are some of the 

characteristics of the society of Cain, according to Shari'ati. 

Shaii'ati went on to suggest the analogy that since Abel died without leaving an issue, the values 

of Cain have become universal, arguing that the disequilibrium and instability of thought and 

morality that prevail in every society and every age is derived from this fact. To some extent, the 

foregoing argument implies that, perhaps, the spirit of economic rationalism is inherent in humans 

after all. This is the viewpoint of Nomani and Rahnema (1995). According to them, man is 

generally selfish, greedy, accumulative, competitive a11d often preoccupied with worldly pleasures . 

These characteristics undennine the individual's spiritual pursuits; driving him towards the 

satisfaction of immediate and temporal desires. Islain, however, rejects the view that human 

nature has a fixed pattern and a rigidly determined behaviour. Such a view deprives the individual 

of the real freedom of choice. In Islain, achieving the ideal is possible in our earthly existence and 

the most significant influence that would bring about this change is religion. Therefore, a faithful 

follower of Islain (and presumably of religions with similar value systems such as Christianity, 

Judaism, etc) should be able to avoid the purely selfish materialism associated with the society of 

Cain. Thus, the reasoning goes, the revolution of the future which was portrayed in the story of 

the conflict between Cain and Abel will continue to exist in all human societies. It is the 

responsibility of every individual in every age to determine an appropriate moral position in the 

constant struggle between the two given the fact that the individual has the freedom of choice 

(Shari'ati, 1979) . 
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4.2 Dependency theory 

Dependency theorists attribute the impact of materialist values on Islamic societies to the actions 

of :imperialists, colonialists, financiers and multinational corporations. Historically, these theorists 

see a causal relationship between the rise of Western imperialism and the decline of Islamic values 

(Mehmet, 1990). It is worth, at this point, to examine this issue more closely in the context of 

the capitalist world economy. 

4.2.1 The world economy 

Seen :in a global context, the responses of Muslims to the questionnaire survey are consistent with 

the viewpoint that capitalism has given rise to one common world economy (Wallerstein, 1979) 

and by :implication, to a materialist, secular philosophy of the type described above. Overt action 

and decision making in the commercial world are dominated by a self interested rationality quite 

different from that advocated in Islam. The capitalist world economy originating in North Western 

Europe in the sixteenth century expanded to include the whole world geographically in the 

nineteenth century, bringing people together regardless of their prior cultural dispositions, 

into a common harness, against their will, by a small minority called "The West" ---the peoples 
of Western Europe and their descendants in North America (Von Laue, 1987; p3). 

The central dynamic economic force in the capitalist world system is the process of capital 

accumulation in the developed countries. The accumulation process comprised two stages: firstly, 

the creation of a wage labour force and secondly, the amassing of debt obligations from the 

developing world. Wage labour was primarily available through exploitation of the peasantry and 

capital accumulation by the capitalists was possible through access to knowledge and control of 

(or at least influence over) the political processes and emerging legal structures and contractual 

arrangements (of which the peasantry had, at best, only a na'ive understanding). The production 

of surplus value by capitalist owners and the conversion of a large part of that surplus value into 

additional capital was a cumulative process, always requiring new fields for investment, more 

labour and raw materials and larger markets for finished products. This was achieved initially 
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through a comb:ination of political and economic imperialism and later through exploitation of the 

political, legal and even philosophical basis established in the early stages of colonisation. 

Wallerste:in (1979) dist:inguished the structure of the world economy as a single system which can 

be analysed in terms of the core, the semiperiphery and the periphery. In the nineteenth century, 

the core areas represented countries that have a complex variety of economic activities as in mass 

market :industries, :international and local commerce in the hands of the bourgeoisie and, relatively 

advanced forms of agriculture (high productivity forms of tillage). Splendour, wealth and high 

living standards were (and still are) found at the core of the world economy (Brandel, 1977; 

Wallerste:in, 1979). The standard of living was lower in the semiperipheral countries. Countries 

that represented the serniperiphery were those in the process of deindustrializing: the neighbours, 

rivals and competitors of the core. Here, one found a limited range of relatively traditional 

industrial and financial organisations and those that did exist were often directed from outside. 

The peripheral areas constituted those countries that were monocultural (economies) with cash 

crops be:ing produced by coerced labour and where slavery still existed. These three groups made 

up the world economy in the nineteenth century (W allerstein, 1979) and parallels to them exist 

today. 

Sweezy (1972) argued that the world economy consisted of two rather than three sharply 

contrasting parts: the developed and the underdeveloped countries. The fonner consisted of a 

handful of dom:inant exploiting countries with the latter representing the much larger, dominated 

and exploited countries. However, 

the two are indissolubly linked together, and nothing that happens in either part can be 
understood if it is considered in abstraction from the system as a whole (Sweezy, 1972, p5). 

Thus, leaving aside the semiperiphery to concentrate on what will be referred to below as the 

'periphery' (i.e. countries where policies are or have been formulated to a large extent by foreign, 
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Western influences) the distinction between the core and the periphery in no way indicates that 

there exists two separate economies; rather, it signifies different sectors perlorming different 

economic functions, resulting in a world economy that is integrated and interdependent. 

This distinction is important to understanding the attitudes of people like the Muslims in Malaysia 

to technologies imported from the West, of which one of the most important is accounting. 

Although a full discussion of the development of the capitalist world economy is beyond the scope 

of this thesis, the brief description of its emergence just provided earlier emphasises the 

interdependence that resulted from this phenomenon. The point being made now is that such 

interdependence has inculcated the secular materialist philosophy of the West into the minds of 

those in the periphery and, in particular, oflslamic societies such as Malaysia. Given the fact that 

core and periphery relationships are based on an unequal exchange, development of the latter is 

largely determined by decisions made in the former. Therefore, it follows that the 

interdependence between the core and the periphery ( or between the developed and developing 

nations) is generally built on universalised Western terms (Von Laue, 1987). Von Laue (1987) 

aptly described this as the world revolution of Westernisation. 

The rationalist capitalistic ideology which emerged in sixteenth century Europe (that culminated 

in the separation between the state and religion) slowly but gradually made its mark in the Muslim 

world in the nineteenth century. By the beginning of the twentieth century, the entire world was 

dominated by political philosophies, technologies and the way of life of Wes tern Europe and North 

America. About eighty five percent of the world's land surlace had by that time been absorbed 

into Western colonial empires and the remaining parts were also subject to Western influences 

(Von Laue, 1987). Wherever the West intruded, it challenged and undermined traditional values 
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(Haq, 1986). The process by which Western values were embedded in Muslim societies was 

acculturation. 

4.2.2 Acculturation 

In Malaysia, as in other former colonies at that time, a significant factor that helped shape the 

mental attitudes of Muslims in the alignment with Western imperialist values is the acculturation 

instigated by the British. Islam intrigued colonial administrators (Ibrahim et al, 1985) and they 

did not underestimate Islam's potential disruptive force. Recognising Islam as a significant force 

that shapes the cultural and belief systems of its followers, the teaching of Islam was deliberately 

omitted in the mainstream school curriculum. This produced a core of modern educated elites 

ignorant of a deeper understanding of Islam and its values and a religious class untrained in the 

modern sciences who were thereby unable to play an effective role in society. As a result, religion 

and other aspects of life were made to appear as falling in distinct compartments. This marked the 

beginning in Malay-Muslim society of the existence of the dichotomy between the religious and 

the secular. 

During the post independence period, it was the secular Malay elite trained by the British that 

exercised the greatest influence over the governance of the country. The indoctrination of 

Malaysians and Muslims in Western values by the British on matters pertaining to law, politics and 

economics as well as accounting is still finnly entrenched, forty years after independence21
• In the 

case of the accounting profession, the British influence remains strong. This is reinforced by the 

fact that a large number of accountants were educated in Britain. Having been educated in the 

secular West, exposed to Western political and economic ideology for varying periods of time, the 

educated professionals tended to bring back with them an imported culture and belief system 

which, once adopted, seemed to become finnly entrenched. This is further evidenced by the direct 

21Appendix A on the accounting environment in Malaysia elaborates on this. 
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following of the British legal, political, economic and accounting models. Although Islamic 

revivalism is in evidence in Malaysia at the present time, it is still very much overshadowed by the 

one hundred years or so of colonial indoctrination that preceded it. 

A similar phenomenon occurred in Indonesia. It was reported that the ways of thoughts and 

feelings of the upper stratum of Indonesian society were strongly influenced by the European traits 

of individualism, rationalism and the bourgeois morality, especially among the younger members 

of the elite. This acculturation took place largely outside the boundaries of Islam (Wertheim, 

1985). When Indonesia gained its independence, it was the elite that were empowered to rule the 

country. In fact, it was a deliberate move by the Dutch to help those who were more inclined to 

reject Islam in its stricter form, to reach positions of political influence. Thus, it was to be 

expected that the secular systems put in place (be it political, economic or administrative) during 

colonisation were reinforced after independence. 

The effects of the colonial infiltration of the Western mind-set into the belief systems of Muslims 

in South East Asia is clearly in evidence today. Although Islam can be regarded as a powerful 

political force in South East Asia (Choudhury, 1993), most Muslims in this region have ceased to 

regard Islam as a way of life, regarding Islam more as a religion of rituals than of spiritual or moral 

substance (Ariff, 1991)22
• Satha-Anand (1991) and Ariff (1991) have similarly attributed this 

phenomenon to years of de-Islamisation resulting from Western influence and secularism, 

observing that some Muslims in this region have exhibited complete disregard for Islamic 

injunctions. They are Muslims in name only, conscious of their faith but not their responsibilities 

22 South East Asia has a large concentration of Muslims. For example, Malaysia, Brunei and Indonesia consist of 
predominantly Muslims while the Philippines, Thailand and Singapore have minority Muslim populations. 
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as Muslims23
• Others, on the other hand, seemed to be obsessed with the rituals as promulgated 

in the five pillars of Islam without fully understanding the underlying Islamic values. Still others 

have tended to rationalise their actions as dharurat (which allows exceptions to matters that are 

normally disallowed). The last seemed to be a popular 'escape' route, especially in the case of 

South East Asian Muslims, primarily because they were (and still are) not operating in an Islamic 

economy. 

One school of thought, subscribing to the Shari'a maxim that 'necessity makes the unlawful 

permissible' (Kamali, 1994b), supports the prevalent conduct of Muslims in South East Asia, 

especially those living in countries where Muslims constitute a minority. In this regard, it was 

reported :in Kamali (1994b) that Al-Zarqa contended that interest is permissible in such a situation 

and it is to be regarded as a temporary and exceptional circumstance until such time when the 

world economy is no longer under the hold of modem capitalism 24. A contrary viewpoint argues 

that Islam allows no such rationalising except under extremely extenuating circumstances (such 

as the possible loss of life, perhaps)25
• Ariff (1991) attributes such 'excuses' to ignorance, 

weakness in faith and expediency or pragmatism on the part of Muslims. Satha-Anand's (1991) 

study of Thai Muslims in the tourism industry provides evidence of the above. Restaurants 

belonging to Muslims did not really reflect their Muslim identity, save for their owners being 

Muslims and a Quranic verse hanging on the wall. Liquor was served liberally in such 

restaurants. In Malaysia, the study by Idris and Shahadan (1991) on Kelantan's (a state on the east 

coast of Malaysia) female Muslim entrepreneurs provides further evidence on the contamination 

23This category of Muslims were termed 'nominal' . 

24Al-Zarqa's work was not referred to primarily because the literature is in Arabic. 

25 Again, 'extremely extenuating circumstances' is subject to individual interpretation. A good example is in the case 
of eating non-halal (forbidden) meat. To some, this is allowed if one happens to reside in a place where halal meat is 
not available. To others, as long as there are other alternatives, one must not resort to dharurat. 
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of Islam by Western capitalist values. The authors found that bank financing was largely absent 

amongst these traders not because oflslam's admonition of interest. Rather, it was primarily due 

to a lack of collateral and the cumbersome procedure of getting a bank loan. Additionally, despite 

Islam forbidding the charging of exorbitant prices, 14 percent of the respondents had no qualms 

about charging higher prices to unsuspecting tourists. The low profit margin (most were only 

charging a 10 percent mark-up) of these traders was not to comply with Islamic teachings but 

merely because of the stiff competition. On a promising note, however, they found that almost 

all respondents felt it was their duty to inform customers beforehand, if the merchandise was found 

to be defective26
• This brings into question Hassan's (1994) assertion that both the 'scope' and 

'force' of Islam (discussed in Chapter 1) in Malaysia have expanded. The discussion on the 

development of Islam in Malaysia in Appendix E certainly points to an increase in the 'scope' of 

Islamic practices. Whether or not these outward manifestations signal an increase in piety, 

religious mindedness or simply an increase in political action is difficult to determine. 

The results of the questionnaire survey reported in Chapter 6 may be interpreted as showing that 

the spirit of capitalism thrives, no matter what religious affiliation one belongs to. Materialist 

philosophy is, perhaps, so firmly embedded in the Muslim mind that although Islam may have an 

effect on how an individual behaves, the economic and social pressures exercise a much greater 

influence over attitudes prevailing in commercial life (Rodinson 1974). In this regard, Geertz's 

(1968) distinction between religiousness and religious-mindedness may provide further 

26This is in line with the hadith which states that, 

It is not permissable for a Muslim to sell a commodity to another in which there is some defect, and not 
to state that defect. 

The above does not discount that such a practice is advocated in all religions or for that matter in all ethical persons. 
However, because it is specifically stated in the hadith, one would expect obedient Muslim businessman to adhere strictly 
to this. 
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illumination. According to Gee1tz, religiousness is not merely knowing the trnth, but embodying 

and living it. Religious-mindedness, on the other hand, offers reasons for one's beliefs. While 

both are believers, it is the religious that live their beliefs. Hence, if one were to relate these two 

concepts to the results that have emerged from this study of accounts users' perceptions, one might 

conclude that the Muslim respondents surveyed illustrated a religious-minded disposition as 

opposed to a religious disposition. The results of Idris and Shahadan's (1991) study on Kelantan 

Muslim traders and the facts about Islamic values in South East Asia discussed above seemed to 

support Rodinson's contention. 

Further evidence of the same phenomenon exists. In the Middle East, industrial capitalism 

appeared as an imitation of Western capitalism. The development of a modem banking system 

based on a European model required devout Muslims to conduct themselves in accordance with 

Western values (Rodinson, 1974). In Turkey, the secularisation of the Ottoman empire was 

basically an attempt to legitimate and justify the consequences of imported capitalism (Turner, 

197 4). The economic collapse of the Ottoman empire was largely due to the success of ruling 

elites in granting extra-territorial trade privileges to European merchants. Fiscal mismanagement 

evidenced in the last stages of the Ottoman empire (where foreign loans were contracted and 

banks and tax revenues were placed in the hands of foreign interests) resulted in direct European 

financial control of the Turkish economy (Blaisdell, 1966). This marked the beginning of an era 

of European supremacy in the Muslim world. 

Given the historical setting described above, it is perhaps not surprising that Muslims often seem 

to behave (in business matters) in the manner regarded as normal in the European capitalist world. 

What is happening in the Muslim world today is consistent with the theory of social change and 

development implicit in Wallerstein's theory of world capitalism. It is also consistent with the 
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'liberal' theory of social change and development i.e. that all societies under the influence of 

modern science and technology will eventually become urban in their demographic distribution, 

:industrial :in the:ir economies, democratic in their political structures and secular in their thoughts, 

values and culture (Mehmet, 1990)27
• 

4.2.3 Multinationals 

The latter day manifestation of colonial influence lies in the existence of multinational 

organisations, themselves instruments of the capitalist world economy. Through these 

multinationals, the West ensures that markets for manufactured goods is maintained as well as 

paving the way for the further exploitation of human and natural resources of the periphery. In 

the quest for enhanced gains, the typical production unit28 in modern developed capitalism is both 

a conglomerate29 and a multinational30 (Sweezy, 1972) . 

How does Islam regard such a process of expansion? To the extent that the emergence of 

multinationals has given rise to a business environment that is conducive to cooperation and 

mutual aid, this form of organisation is not necessarily against Islamic principles. However, where 

small players in the market are prevented (in the name of efficiency) from operating, the 

development of monopolies (if such a practice injures the well-being of the masses) is not 

consistent with Islamic beliefs for the primary reason that such practices are exploitative in nature. 

27 Secularism refers to the eradication of religion as an institution in human society and erosion of man's faith in the 
divine and the transcendental (Haq, 1986). 

28The development of machinery and other advanced technologies led to the need for larger amounts of capital. This 
in tum paved the way for the corporate form of organisation. The quest for further material gains necessitated that firms 
expand possibly eliminating competition and increasing monopoly profits. Thus, while competition was the hallmark of 
capitalism's initial development, monopoly practices are argued by some to be characteristic of its later stages of 
development. 

29 A company operating in many industries. 

30A company that operates in many countries. 
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Exploitative or otherwise, :in the quest for greater material gains, and in order to compete globally, 

governments appear to feel it is necessary to 'reculture' their domestic arrangements. Hence the 

world capitalist system often relegates a nation's domestic policies as being secondary to external 

(foreign) matters. A similar phenomenon occurred during the early stages of the capitalist world 

system; the main difference being that while the social order then was to some extent forcibly 

transformed to accord with the value systems of the coloniser, today the aligning of the social 

structure of the periphery to the core arises out of the pure necessity for economic survival, thus 

perpetuating the capitalist world economy. Given this fact, the central task of the capitalist state 

lies :in creating conditions that are favourable to such a development (Sweezy, 1972). In the 

process, all Western accomplishments (science and technology, education, industrialism and large 

scale organisations) have been transformed into universal requirements . 

This process is further enhanced by powerful agencies of the United Nations such as the 

International Monetary Fund and the World Bank. Through their guidelines, these organisations 

help maintain the universals of world capitalism among developing countries. Global 

standardisation of weights and measures, the interchangeability of money, communication, health 

and safety right up to the use of English as the preferred international language, all point to a 

reinforcement of these universals (Von Laue, 1987). More importantly, given the fact that most 

multinationals originate from countries which were once colonisers, the organisational culture and 

values that pe1meate such organisations generally mirror those of the West, values which are to 

a great extent more secular and individualistic. Given such an environment, locals working in 

multinational companies tend to assimilate these imported values unconsciously31
• With the 

31The differences in behaviour (though slight) between Malay-Muslim employees of two companies operating in 
Malaysia, called 'A' and 'B' respectively (due to confidentiality reasons, the names of the companies are not disclosed) 
provide some evidence of the impact of corporate culture on employees behaviour. While Company A is an American 
multinational, Company B is Malaysian in origin. A visit by the researcher to the club shared by both companies' 
employees revealed vast differences in ounvard behaviour between the groups. Company A employees (Malays) tended 
to act in accordance more with Western values than Company B's employees. They tended to converse in the English 
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ground rules of global interaction established by multinational firms, big trading companies and 

banks impose their own universal practices, whether of management, industrial production or 

accounting. In addition, commodities of a universal appeal such as automobiles, radios, 

computers, soft drinks directly or indirectly enforce new uniformities. All these have contributed 

effectively to building a true global community (Von Laue, 1987), a world that will be 

homogenised and made :into a kind of McDonald's of consumer sensibilities (Falk, 1996, p7). In 

this regard, the fact that the bottom-line profit has been universally accepted as a measure by 

which the success of a business should be gauged, again reflects this uniformity. 

However, the question that needs to be raised is: 'Is the need for material success necessarily 

contrary to Islam?' The answer is definitely negative; Islam acknowledges that human virtue 

cannot exist when there is poverty and suffering. What Islam forbids is the kind of materialism 

that encourages an individual to regard wealth as an end in itself, the pursuit of which becomes 

the primary motivation of one's life, to the exclusion of everything else. Like the expansion of the 

world economy, international trade and the search for markets were integral parts of the expansion 

of the Islamic empire during the eighth to the fourteenth centuries. Nevertheless, although Islam 

is not against capitalism per se (Rodinson, 1974), the Shari'a specifically provides for the types 

of trade that a Muslim can engage in and how they should be pursued. Above all, an individual's 

action should never violate social and economic justice. Capitalist values (concepts) can violate 

these principles. Western :imperialist values are now so firmly entrenched in the minds of Muslims 

:in commercial endeavours that Islamic values tend to be overlooked or (conveniently) forgotten. 

The borrowing of some Western accounting models, in itself, may not be contrary to Islam as the 

language to a greater extent than their B counterparts, dressed more in keeping with modern Wes tern standards and at 
times, were rather 'loud' in their conversations (speech). The contrary was observed for Company B's employees. Muslim 
employees in A may be just as religious as their B counterparts but the external manifestations of the organisational 
influence in A seemed to align more with their Western founders than local custom. 
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borrowing of ideas could be regarded as a mark of self-confidence. However, to take on board 

all that is attached to such models, particularly the purely secular materialist value systems may 

not be conducive to the long term survival of an Islamic community. 

4.2.4 Are there advantages to the world economy? 

Submission and cultural imitation are, however, not without some advantages. The integration 

of the world economy probably has improved the material conditions of the poorer countries. 

Sustain111g a seemingly ever growing and more demanding human population has led to a greater 

dependence between the core and the periphery than before, calling for a further copying of 

essential aspects of Western culture (Von Laue, 1987). Hence, 

for the first time in all human experience the whole world was united under the auspices of a single 
culture which, though unfinished, imperfect, and politically divided, constituted a reasonably coherent 
single entity (Von Laue, 1987, p26). 

It may seem that the future belongs to those who are willing to give up their loyalties to the 

community and nation and to seek personal financial success 111 the borderless global economy. 

Opponents of globalisation, on the other hand, point to the devastating human and environmental 

consequences of the world economy, the widening gap between the rich and the poor and the 

social dis111tegratio11 of societies (Von Laue, 1987; Korten, 1995). According to this viewpoint, 

it is erroneous to equate the freedom and the rights of a person with market freedom and property 

rights. Only the 'monied' possess market freedom and rights. The world economy is sometimes 

argued to be increasingly managed by the world's largest corporations 111 order to maximise 

financial returns to top managers and the wealthiest shareholders at the expense of the rest of the 

society (Korten, 1995). This reinforces the existence of a gap between the rich and the poor. 

Globalisation may result in individual societies losing their freedom to detennine their own paths 

(Falk, 1996). This seems likely. Most trade agreements such as the General Agreement on 

Taiiffs and Trade (GATT) and the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) are put in 
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place to secure the rights of multinational companies to operate freely wherever they choose. 

Such agreements advance the process of breaking the links between global corporations and 

accountability to all interests except to a global financial system that relentlessly demands ever 

increasing financial returns (Korten, 1995). 

5 Policy issues 

This b1ings us to one final question. If the results of this study really are representative of what 

Muslims perceive as useful accounting information, should Malaysia continue to simply adopt 

Western accounting models and abdicate any responsibility for considering the question of the 

consistency of such practices with Islamic values? Or should it more proactively and radically 

implement changes in accounting disclosure practices which are more likely to promote Islamic 

values? This question is evidently one with policy implications of the most profound kind for 

Malaysian society. The findings of this research could be interpreted as evidence not so much that 

there is no difference between Islamic and non-Islamic requirements for financial infonnation but 

that Islamic principles have become corrupted by the adoption of the secular ideals embodied in 

the typical profit and loss account, a tool or technology which might itself be said to represent 

the essential spirit of the capitalist. If the latter is the case, it suggests that Islam may have become 

a less powerful influence on econ01nic behaviour among its followers because of the indoctrination 

and importation of a powerful though seemingly innocuous technical procedure for disclosing 

financial information. Consequently, Muslims appear to behave in a manner similar to that which 

is regarded as normal in the European capitalist world (Rodinson, 1974, pl63). The policy issue 

is: "Is it right that this should be so, does Islamic society want to do anything about it, and if so, 

what needs to be done?" 

If Malaysian Muslims wish to conduct their business affairs to be more in line with the precepts 

of Islam, the argument advanced here implies that some kind of change in financial reporting 
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practices must be made. Although a theory (especially one which concerns disclosure of 

information) can and may lead to its eventual practice, this change is unlikely unless the theory 

has political support (Gray et al, 1987, p204 ). As far as the political climate in Malaysia is 

concerned, the future of an Islamic Corporate Reporting system advocated in this thesis seems 

promising. As Malaysia moves towards the goal of an industrialised nation by the year 2020, the 

Prime Minister envisions a fully moral and ethical Malaysian society whose citizens are imbued 

with strong religious and moral values. Aware of the negative aspects of globalisation, Malaysia, 

he suggests, will develop in her own mould32
• In fact, Falk (1996) suggested that Islamic 

resurgence is perhaps one way of not getting drawn too far into the negative aspects of 

globalisation. Development, according to the Malaysian Prime Minister, will be not be achieved 

at the expense of religious and cultural values, and he has urged Malaysians not to measure 

success merely in material terms. The Islamic Corporate Report advocated by Baydoun and 

Willett (1994) may be one way of achieving a separate, but acceptable path towards this goal. 

5.1 Voluntary versus legislated disclosure 

With Islamic economics still at a theoretical stage in its development the process of change in 

accounting practice, if it is to be pursued, should be approached with caution. Writing in the 

specific context of Islamic economics, Naqvi (1994) argued that essentially, the problem of 

transition should be one of compromise, searching for options that do not contradict the central 

purpose of Islamic ideals. One should not, however, regard compromises as un-Islamic if they 

do not exactly conform to ideal (textbook) situations. Thus, changes in financial reporting should 

be achieved through evolution33
• 

32Imperatives of a Fully Moral and Ethical Society. Speech by the Right Honourable Dato' Seri Dr. Mahathir bin 
Mohamed at the Harvard Club Dinner, Shangri-La Hotel, Kuala Lumpur, 28th July, 1993. 

33 As reported in Naqvi (1994) Islam advocates evolutionary changes as opposed to one that is revolution. He cited the 
case of Prophet Mohamed and the abolition of slavery. The Prophet did not abolish slavery outright but instead taught 
the followers that the freeing a slave is a form of piety. Slavery was abolished in stages. The Prophet himself set the 
example. While providing a slave for his daughter Fatima, the Prophet persuaded her that the housework should be done 
on alternate days by Fatima herself. Gray et al (1987) writing on social responsibility accounting also advocated an 
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There are two ways to achieve this end with regard to the recommendations of the theories 

described here. On the one hand, the inclusion of value added statement and a current value 

balance sheet need not necessarily be part of mandatory disclosure requirements. Rather, 

companies could be encouraged to include these statements voluntarily as part of their reporting 

exercise. On the other hand, relying on religious norms of righteousness and truthfulness may be 

simply inadequate to deal with the complexities of modern and economic rationalities (Mehmet, 

1990). In that case legislation might be a better alternative. The merits of the value added 

statement and the current value balance sheet are acknowledged in Western based financial 

systems (although their implementation have not met with great success)34 and since some 

Malaysian companies are currently revaluing their assets periodically ( over a three or a five year 

period) the eventual implementation of such a reporting system may not necessarily be fraught 

with such problems as are sometimes supposed35
• 

5.2 Resistance to change 

In Malaysia, it is envisaged that resistance for the type of change suggested here may come from 

the members of the MIA itself. Comfortable with the status quo and coupled with the fact that, 

presently, developed countries themselves have not seen fit to include current value infonnation 

and the value added statement as part of their disclosure requirements, members of the MIA may 

perceive adopting a distinct Islamic financial reporting system as being too radical a move on their 

paii36
• Management resistance to voluntarily disclosing events that may result in increased social 

evolutionary approach to changes. 

34In the case of the current value balance sheet this was due primarily to measurement difficulties. In the case of the 
value added statement the lack of popularity may have been due to political factors that prevailed in the UK in the late 70's 
as well as the inflation issue that needed to be addressed at that time. A full discussion of this is in Burchell et al (1985). 

35This information was personally obtained from the financial controllers of two companies in Malaysia. 

360nce a reporting system has been established, it becomes very difficult to modify, primarily, because those who 
operate it have a vested interest in its perpetuation (Briston, 1978). Briston provided an interesting insight into the likely 
reasons for this. He argued that this was due, in part, to the high rewards which the system provided and partly because 
they were not prepared to admit that what they have studied and practised previously may now possibly be irrelevant. 
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costs (as in the reporting of environmental pollution, plant explosions, oil spills and others) may 

turn out to be high. N~vertheless, resistance to change can be overcome through education. 

Students should be informed that what is currently being practised represents practices which are 

currently acceptable by the profession. In addition, research results should be refocused to reflect 

on the 'desired' and 'desirable' states of accounting practices as well as the actual. This may have 

the effect of gradually ensuring that the user, the accountant, the directors and the shareholders 

each understand their respective responsibilities and can ultimately reach a consensus on what 

ought to be disclosed and how it should be disclosed in financial statements. 

5.3 The process of change 

The above suggestions for change may be regarded as initial steps to be undertaken by the 

profession in Malaysia. Although these may not decrease by very much the gap between a typical 

Muslim society and that of the ideal Islamic society, such a society would at least be recognisable 

as a distinct social entity inspired by Islamic ideals (Naqvi, 1994). However, of more importance 

is the reformation of the mental processes, endowing the individual with the right moral attitudes 

and ethical values (e.g. Gerboth, 1987; AlHabshi, 1991; Sulayman, 1993). As was discussed in 

the literature review, Islam attempts to achieve this through the five pillars of Islam: the shahada, 

prayers, fasting, alms-giving and the pilgrimage. These rituals reinforce the faith of a Muslim. 

Furthennore they hold the promise of reward in the Hereafter. 'Rational' behaviour in Islam is 

that which leads to an expectation of such a reward and is consequently entirely different to what 

constitutes the rational behaviour of a capitalist. To make judgements on the basis of the value 

added statement is no less rational than to make judgements on the basis of the income statement. 

It is simply that the perspective of what should be done is different. 

Saeed (1994), critical of the manner in which Islam has been interpreted in the past, argued that 

the capitalistic ideology which pervades the Muslim world presently, mirrors an underlying 
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problem: a lack of understanding of Islam. He suggested that the rituals (as in the five pillars of 

Islam) should be supplemented with the proper understanding of the Qur'an (Saeed, 1994). 

Islamic religious thought embodied in the Qur'an is an exceedingly powerful productive force 

which is yet to be realised by Muslims. Additionally, a reformation should also include the 

teaching of Islam and its worldview as part of the curriculum of the various institutions of higher 

learning in Malaysia. In this regard, the International Islamic University is a pioneer37
• Such 

reforms would lessen the gap between the perceptions of the desirable and the desired as regards 

the accounting information needs of Malaysian Muslims. Finally, one last point pertaining to 

change. Change is actively encouraged in Islam with such a process rooted in each individual as 

described in the following verse, 

Verily never will Allah change the condition of a people until they change it themselves (with 
their own souls) (13:11) 

6Summary 

This penultimate chapter has discussed the import of the findings discussed in the previous 

chapter. The differences between capitalism and the Islamic belief system have been discussed. 

The development of the capitalist world economy was suggested as one reason why, despite 

obvious differences in the two systems, the results (from both the survey and the experiment) 

revealed few differences between Islamic and non-Islamic preferences for financial information. 

The other reason examines the phenomenon from an Islamic sociological perspective. With 

respect to the former (i.e. the perspective of the world economy), the impact of colonial 

indoctrination of Western values and the role of multinationals were discussed in the context of 

the periphery and the core. Finally, various policy issues relating to the implementation of a 

reporting system which might be seen to be more in line with Islam were discussed. 

37Appendix E discusses this in greater detail. 
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Chapter 8 

Conclusion 

Accounting is a socio-technical activity. Consequently, social forces can impinge upon and 

change accounting. Recent research has identified culture as one of the more significant factors 

that may :influence the manner in which accounting is practised. Given the fact that religion stands 

at the core of some cultures, and that Islam is a significant force influencing the manner in which 

Muslims conduct their private and public lives, the impact of Islam on accounting may be 

significant. In this regard, since Western accounting models were developed in the social and 

economic context of a very different type of culture, the system may not necessarily accord with 

Islamic beliefs. More specifically, it has been argued here that the objectives of financial reporting 

from a Western perspective may be too restrictive since they seek primarily to serve the needs of 

traditional users of accounting information such as non-Muslim creditors, investors and 

shareholders. Thus, the traditional Western accounting reports consisting of the historical cost 

balance sheet, the income statement and the source and application of funds statement ( or the cash 

flow statement) may not, therefore, satisfy the Islamic concept of accountability satisfactorily. 

The theory 

The effect of Islam on accounting in this study was assessed in the context of a specific theoretical 

framework based upon Baydoun and Willett's (1994) theory of Islamic Corporate Reporting. 

They argued that two essential principles underlie the concept of accountability in Islam: the 

precept of full disclosure and social accountability. Accordingly, they suggested that the current 

value balance sheet and the value added statement would meet Islam's objectives of socio

economic justice and accountability, thus satisfying the needs of Muslim users to a greater extent 

than would the traditional historical cost balance sheet and the profit and loss statement. 
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Baydoun and Willett's Islamic Corporate Reporting model can be interpreted as a theory of what 

Muslims should actually desire or what they ought to desire. Whether Muslims actually desire 

such information is a subject for empirical testing. However, what ought to be desired has to be 

examined through a process of logical inquiry. Two methods were employed for this. Firstly, 

the relevance of the model to Muslims was analysed by reference to the Islamic worldview. 

Specifically, the concept of accountability in Islam was explicated through the four ethical axioms 

of Unity, Equilibrium, Free Will and Responsibility. Secondly, the usefulness of the model was 

assessed using the Hofstede-Gray paradigm. On the basis of these analyses, it was argued that 

Islamic societies should favour a more transparent disclosure policy, greater variability in reporting 

practices between companies and across time, and less conservative measurement practices. In 

addition, given Islam's emphasis on personal responsibility, Islamic accounting and reporting 

should primarily focus on discharging the accountability arising from that responsibility. Evidently 

these inferences support Baydoun and Willett's main conclusions. However, the proviso was made 

that Baydoun and Willett's model may not entirely satisfy the precepts of full disclosure and social 

accountability in Islam. Additionally, what is needed is a reporting system that stresses social 

responsibility issues. h1 particular, unethical business practices specifically categorised in the 

Shari 'a as having the potential to impair the well-being of the community should be the subject 

of disclosure. Chapter 3 elaborated on this aspect. 

Since the theory is quite clear in its claims for increased relevance, the test:iJ.1g of this theory on 

users and preparers of accounting information provided insight into the question of whether what, 

it is anticipated, ought to be desired by Muslims in terms of the content of fmancial reports is 

actually so desired by them. 

The empirical work 

This research may be regarded as exploratory since the framework adopted has not been 
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previously tested. A significant portion of the study was essentially empirical but the research 

question was based upon a testable theory. In a sense it brought together two areas of the 

accounting literature not usually related, one on cultural relevance and the other on the usefulness 

of accounting information. It also extended both by adapting their distinct methodologies towards 

answering a single question. Data were collected through a postal questionnaire survey and a 

laboratory experiment. The results obtained from both methods triangulated with each other, thus 

improving their validity and reliability. 

The survey was done in Malaysia while the laboratory experiment used subjects from four 

universities: the International Islamic University, the Agricultural University of Malaysia, the 

National University of Malaysia and Malaysian students at Otago university. Survey respondents 

comprised Muslims and non-Muslims from four professional groups: bank lending officers, 

investment analysts, zakat officers and accountants. Statistical analysis of the data used non

parametric statistics (namely the Mann-Whitney U test and the Wilcoxon Signed Rank test) 

primarily because data gathered was not found to be normally distributed. In addition, equivalent 

parametric statistics, namely the t-test and the paired t-test were also used to corroborate the 

findings. The results from using both techniques appeared to support one another. 

Summary of the results 

Overall, the hypothesis that Muslims and non-Muslims would differ in their perceptions of the 

usefu1ness of the current value balance sheet and the value added statement was not supported by 

the results of this study. With the exception of the usefulness of the current value balance sheet 

to determine zakat, survey results provided little evidence to suggest that Muslims perceived the 

current value balance sheet to be significantly more useful than non-Muslims. Results from the 

laboratory experiment seemed to be consistent with the survey. Muslim and non-Muslim subjects 

did not seem to be different in their use of accounting information for investment decision-making. 

226 



, \ 

( 

-\ 

/ 

Similarly, the suggestion that there should exist a difference in the perceptions of usefulness of the 

value added statement between Muslims and non-Muslims was also not supported by the results 

of the survey and the quasi-experiment. 

The second stage of analysis compared the usefulness of the current value balance sheet to the 

historical cost balance sheet and the value added statement to the profit and loss statement. For 

this, Muslims and non-Muslims were analysed separately. With the exception of preparers, on 

the whole, both Muslims and non-Muslims appeared not to perceive the current value balance 

sheet to be significantly more useful than the historical cost balance sheet to meet the various 

objectives investigated in the study. On the perceived usefulness between the profit and loss 

statement and the value added statement, again there was little evidence to support the hypothesis 

that Muslims would favour the latter over the former. Similar results were obtained from the 

experiment. 

Given the relatively few significant differences emerging, one can therefore conclude that Muslims 

and non-Muslims (in the sample studied) did not differ in their perceptions of what useful 

accounting information is, at the level of the desired. However, the results have to be interpreted 

in the light of certain limitations of the study. 

Limitations 

With regards to the survey, five factors may limit its generalisability. Firstly, the study did not 

extend to all classes of users. Accordingly, the results are not generalisable across all user 

categories. A single empirical study such as this could not, in any case, be viewed as conclusive 

since the responses may have been conditioned by the sort of information that the respondents 

have been accustomed to. Consequently, the findings of this study should be treated as part of 

a larger body of research needed to enhance our understanding of religion and accounting. 
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Secondly, the measure of usefulness in the survey is based on the concept of perceived usefulness. 

Thus, the responses represent what the subjects consider to be facts rather than what the facts 

actually are. Thirdly, ideally, the perceived usefulness of alternative financial statements should 

be measured only after they have been in use for a number of years. This was not possible 

however, and the best that could be done in this study was to provide an illustration of the value 

added statement. Fourthly, the 'smallness' of the sample s:ize ( especially the number of non-Muslim 

financial analysts surveyed) and the impracticality of obtaining a truly random sample posed 

another limitation. The final limitation is the low response rate (31 % overall). The results 

inevitably may contain a non-response bias. 

As for the laboratory expeliment, the use of students as surrogates for investors is a widely 

acknowledged limitation. Students were used in the experiment for practical reasons. While it 

is acknowledged that there are limitations in using students as surrogates for investors, in the case 

of this project, this limitation should be less severe for the main reason that the focus here is 

religion. Since religion is pretty much internalised in an individual, the results would not be 

expected to be any different from what one would obtain from using 'real' investors. The 

reasonableness of the current value balance sheet in the experiment is also a limitation although 

this may be mitigated by the fact that this is not a study on inflation accounting per se. Further, 

in an actual investment decision, investors may have an abundance of multiperiod qualitative and 

quantitative information available to them. In the case of the present study, the objective was 

merely to test the usefulness of the valious financial statements. As a result, subjects were limited 

to the information they were provided with, an approach consistent with that of Estes and Reimer 

(1977). Finally, the fact that this study is a cross sectional study with data gathered at just one 

particular point of time and in one particular Muslim country, Malaysia, is a further limitation. 
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Contributions to financial reporting in Malaysia 

Despite the limitations discussed above, the results of this research should help shape specific 

policy decisions pertaining to important disclosure issues in financial reporting in Malaysia. The 

question investigating the importance of the types of financial information users and preparers 

would like to see disclosed in annual reports, provides some specific insights. For example, users 

from the survey perceived the cash flow statement to be the most important financial statement 

they would like to see disclosed in annual reports with the current value balance sheet ranking 

second in :importance. Results from the experiment showed a similar perception. In light of this, 

the decision by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants to have companies include the cash flow 

statement as part of their financial reporting requirements since December, 1996 is timely. 

Some light has also been shed on the increasingly important issue in Malaysia at the present time, 

i.e. zakat deductions by companies. Out of the 135 Muslims surveyed (excluding zakat officers), 

82 percent felt, strongly, that zakat should be deducted by companies which have Muslim 

shareholders. Currently, companies are encouraged to pay zakat on behalf of their Muslim 

shareholders. This, however, has met with little success. Interestingly, about 30 percent of non

Muslims surveyed also supported zakat deduction on behalf of Muslim shareholders. The evidence 

gathered here may be of interest to zakat collection agencies. Such a finding should help them 

in fonnulating future policies on zakat administration . 

As to the importance of financial statements in meeting the objectives of the various users (based 

on the mean rankings), with the exception of zakat officers, all other users and preparers (both 

Muslims and non-Muslims) were unanimous in perceiving accounting information to be most 

useful for creditors, managers, shareholders and investors (not necessarily in that order). 

Additionally, Muslims and non-Muslims did not rate financial statements in meeting the needs of 
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zakat officers as a very important objective. While the findings of non-Muslims was as expected, 

those of Muslims seemed contrary to Gambling and Karim's (1991) assertion1
• Only zakat 

officers perceived financial information to determine zakat as important, ranking that particular 

objective as second, after meeting managers' objectives. The results obtained here give credence 

to the belief that generally users perceive financial reports to be primarily useful in meeting the 

objectives of traditional users of accounting information (such as creditors, managers, shareholders 

and investors). However, the perceptions of zakat officers reported in this study provide evidence 

supporting the case for the accounting profession in Malaysia to re-examine the objectives of 

financial reporting to include the needs of this special group of users and by implication, 

recognising the importance of the current value balance sheet2. 

An analysis on the attitudes of Muslims and non-Muslims towards gambling, alcohol consumption, 

zakat deduction, teaching of religion in schools, having an immediate superior of the same faith, 

banning of interest and regarding earning a living as part of religious duty, revealed that Muslims 

and non-Muslims do, indeed, differ in their outlook. However, on more general issues pertaining 

to social audit, disclosure of monopoly practices and firm's accountability to the public, there were 

no significant differences between Muslims and non-Muslims. One would have expected 

significant differences to have emerged on these three issues if Muslims in Malaysia were to strictly 

follow Islamic teachings in the conduct of businesses3
• The responses to this question were 

consistent with the secularist tendencies noted above. While religious faith is strong amongst 

some Muslims, it has not been fully extended to matters concerning business. Although religious 

1Gambling and Karim (1991) contended that one of the more important objectives of financial statements to Muslims 
is in determining zakat. 

2Such a step, if undertaken by the accounting profession in Malaysia, would align with the suggestion of Al
Faisal and A1Hashim (1993), i.e. accounting reports should be designed to be in accordance with definitive user needs. 

3This is not to suggest that non-Muslims are not sensitive to such issues but rather it was expected that Muslims would 
consider these three issues to be more important than non-Muslims. 
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considerations are operative over an increasingly larger sphere of activities in Malaysia presently, 

the bulk of ordinary life fits easily into the rationalist framework4
• 

Finally, it may be noted as an aside, although the findings in this study do not support the 

suggestion that a Muslim's perception of useful financial information is presently any different from 

a non-Muslim, the results support Chandra's (1974) and McKinnon's (1984) contention that users 

and preparers are different with regard to their perceptions of the usefulness of accounting 

information. 

Directions for further research 

The analysis in this study gives rise to further issues that need to be examined empirically in future 

research, some of which follow from the limitations just discussed. One matter that needs 

addressing is the aspect of religiosity or religiousness. Although religiosity is not easily measured, 

future research on perceptions of usefulness of accounting information between Muslims and non

Muslims should incorporate this matter. Further testing of the model in other Muslim countries 

would enhance its validity. Of interest is a comparison between Muslims in an Islamic country like 

Iran or Saudi Arabia and the responses of Muslims in non-Islamic countries such as Singapore or 

Thailand. Future research should focus on a more complete listing of the specific items of 

information that are stipulated in the Shari'a as having the potential to affect the well-being of 

society and thus by implication, be relevant for disclosure. This will be a difficult and possibly 

ambitious endeavour given that the Qur'an and the sunnah only provide general guidelines. One 

way to overcome this problem is to have religious scholars and accounting academics (or 

accounting professionals) undertaking joint research efforts. 

4However, given the Malaysian government's enhanced Islamicisation efforts and Islamic revivalism in the Muslim 
world today, this may be a temporary phenomenon. As more Muslims understand their duties and responsibilities toward 
society better, the demand for accounting and economics to accord with Islamic principles will be greater. 
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Concluding remarks 

This thesis began as an examination of the idea that culture and religion may have a significant 

influence on accounting. The investigation and discussion which followed suggest the possibility 

of a significant converse relationship. MacGregor et al's (1997) contention that culture may not 

have a significant influence on accounting appears plausible. The technological basis of accounting 

is, perhaps, so strong that it transcends culture and religion. Accounting is inextricably linked 

with commerce to such an extent that it is the largely global, economic and commercial realities 

which govern its development rather than particular cultural values. However, the problem for 

Islamic communities is that the value system implicit in the development of the global economy 

and the financial reporting systems which support it may be contrary to Islamic principles. 

In the specific case of the Asia Pacific region, colonial history, technology transfer and the 

globalisation of the world economy seemed to have a far reaching influence in shaping accounting 

values and practices. Although religion may influence behaviour, where economic matters are 

concerned, the forces of capitalism are considerable. Accounting is a basic instrument of the 

economic rationalist and where or by whom it is practised may be of only secondary importance. 

The primary focus appears to emphasise on the maximisation of profits and the propagation of self 

interest. Concerned only with material gain, the individual is alienated from religion. 

The manner in which fundamental financial measurement takes place appears to be universal across 

cultures (Willett et al, 1997b). The basic facts of production and exchange are cross cultural. 

The standardisation of calculation and disclosure evidenced everywhere are of a different nature, 

however, and whether these are due to the arbitrary imposition of powerful interests or to 

something more systematic and fundamental is a moot point. In the case of Malaysia, the 

'imported' accounting system is a result of colonisation and a response to the pressure from 
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international trade. The influence and power of multinational companies have required the 

adoption of accounting standards worldwide. In this regard, a developing economy like Malaysia 

probably has little choice but to follow in the wake of developments. With respect to accounting 

practices, the technology adopted by the developed countries is also deemed appropriate to 

developing countries. The effect of this transmission of technology affects more than just the 

superficial elements of the educational training syllabus; it affects the way people think about their 

relationships with each other. The results of this study may be considered as providing some 

evidence of this process of indoctrination. The contention made that globalisation leads to one 

world economy with one culture may have some basis5
• The challenge of Islam is how to respond 

to these developments. The system may be as it is, and the financial reporting system may reflect 

things as they are, but is it right that this is so? The financial reporting system is ultimately a 

humanly constructed system of measurement and reporting. It could be redesigned to better serve 

Islamic needs if it was thought appropriate. Related to this is the issue raised in the introductory 

chapter of this thesis, i.e. whether or not a study involving religious beliefs can be undertaken 

using a positivist approach. 

Positivists would argue that a theory must explain the facts as they are and that the strength of a 

theory lies in its ability to illuminate reality. However, certain issues, especially those connected 

with religion, one supposes, are not necessarily best dealt with by a purely positivist mode of 

inquiry. Given the external influences of international trade and colonisation discussed in the 

previous chapter, it is highly unlikely that what is currently being practised or what Muslims desire 

would accord with what they should desire. In the ethical context in which religious questions 

are usually discussed, this is a significant point. The question arises as to whether Muslims should 

be content with the status quo (and thus to continue with current accounting practices) or 

5Culture here takes Von Laue's (1987) definition as a tool of collective human survival. 
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alternatively to implement a reporting system that would be more in alignment with the Islamic 

value system. The implementation of a specifically Islamic reporting system can neither be based 

on expediency nor on the evidence gathered through positivistic research. The question to ask 

is, "Is it morally right to continue with the status quo?" Bearing in mind that the current value 

balance sheet and the value added statement are not against the teachings of any religion and given 

that the Asian cultural tradition, as a whole, places emphasis on the well-being of the community 

as opposed to the self, the implementation of such a reporting system may better serve the interests 

of Muslims and non-Muslims alike. Such a reporting system, in the writer's view, should be 

implemented in Malaysia, though possibly in the pragmatic, gradual manner described earlier. 

For the reporting system to be 'non-radical' and thus to have more chance of gaining acceptance, 

Baydoun and Willett's model needs to be revised and to some extent reformulated. Baydoun and 

Willett's (1994) original model consisted of a multicolumnar balance sheet showing both current 

values and historical costs, a value added statement and a source and application of funds 

statement. The profit and loss statement was to be shown by way of a Note to the financial 

statement. Given that current value information is important to a Muslim, Baydoun and Willett's 

suggestion to include current value information in the main body of the accounts is supported. 

Disclosing that infonnation in multicolumnar format is, however, probably inappropriate for the 

reason that this may result in an information overload leading to an impairment of 

understandability. In addition, such a practice would be too far removed from current styles of 

presentation. In Islam, the principle of gradation is advocated; reform should be carried out 

gradually, and this is best achieved by including the current value balance sheet as an additional 

statement. Islam supports an 'evolutionary' approach to accounting change6
• 

6For changes to be acceptable, it must be seen as 'evolutionary' and not 'revolutionary' (Belkaoui, 1993). Naqvi (1981 ), 
writing on Islamic economics, suggested that the implementation of any Islamic economic model be done in 'carefully 
graduated steps' (pl45). 
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Another issue concerns the value added statement. Baydoun and Willett (1994) suggested that 

the value added statement be provided as part of the main accounts while the profit and loss 

statement is to be disclosed as footnote disclosure. However, relegating the profit and loss 

account to the Notes would indicate that such information is not significant (Hendriksen and Van 

Breda, 1992). As has been explained, Islam allows profits (but not profiteering) and advocates 

the taking of a middle path, balancing its profit motive with the social objectives of the firm. Thus, 

:in Islam, profit remains an essential element of financial reporting since it reflects on the efficiency 

and effectiveness of an organisation. It is therefore argued here that the value added statement 

should be prepared in addition to the profit and loss account, showing the profit and loss 

statement to be just as important as the value added statement. Thus, what is proposed here is 

an Islamic Corporate Report consisting of a historical cost balance sheet, a profit and loss account, 

a statement of source and application of funds (or the cash flow statement) and two additional 

statements: the current value balance sheet and the value added statement. The approach 

suggested here may be regarded as the initial stage toward a more Islamically oriented corporate 

reporting. Eventually matters that have been discussed in Chapter 3 as having the potential to 

affect the interests of the community should also form part of the disclosure practices of business 

firms. 

Finally, and most importantly, one must bear in mind that the key to sound corporate reporting 

does not primarily rest on the the books of accounting or the principles of accounts but with the 

ethical values of the accountant. Significance is attached for this purpose to reforming the inner 

person through faith, prayers, education and moral training; changing the individual's preferences 

and ways of thinking and inculcating a strong moral sense that keeps the individual just. In the 

final analysis, the 'social good' guides the accountant in the decision to disclose or not to disclose, 

thus reducing the risk of actions which will harm others. 
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APPENDIX A : The accounting environment in Malaysia 

Introduction 

This appendix, consisting of six sections, provides an overview of the regulatory framework of 

financial reporting in Malaysia. The following section gives a brief introduction on the 

geographical location as well as the political situation of Malaysia. The accounting profession is 

discussed in section 2 while section 3 examines the :financial reporting framework. Generally 

accepted accounting practices (GAAP) are discussed in section 4 followed by specific 

requirements of published financial statements in section 5. Islam's influence on accounting 

practices is also examined very briefly in this section. The summary is provided in section 6. 

1 Geographical location and political situation 

The Federation of Malaysia was established in 1963 and now consists of 13 states1
; 11 in West 

Malaysia (Peninsular) and 2 on the northern coast of the island of Kalimantan (Borneo). The 

former consists of Perlis, Kedah, Perak, Trengganu, Kelantan, Pahang, Johor, Negri Sembila:n, 

Sela:ngor, Pena:ng and Malacca while Sa:ba:h and Sarawak constitute the latter. With an area of 

330,000 sq km, Malaysia has a population of about 19 million people. The population is 

multiracial, comprising 58% Malays, 31 % Chinese and the balance, Indians and other races (The 

Economist Intelligence Unit, 1995). Malaysia: is a non-aligned country and gained independence 

from colonial rule in 1957. A member of the Association of South East Asian N a:tions (ASEAN), 

Malaysia actively promotes ties with countries in the Far East and with other Islamic countries. 

Although once a British colony, Malaysia's relations with Britain were lukewarm in the early 

eighties, preferring to 'look East' to countries like Japan and the Far East for their exemplary work 

ethic (The Economist Intelligence Unit, 1995). In the case of accounting, however, the colonial 

influence remains strong (Tay, 1994). This will be dealt in greater detail in a later section. 

1 Initially, Singapore was part of the Federation of Malaysia but withdrew in 1965. 
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1.1 The Constitution 

Malaysia is a constitutional monarchy with the Yang di-Pertuan Agong (the king) acting as the 

Head of State. The King is elected for a five year period by the Conference of Rulers. The 

constitution sets out both the individual rights of citizens and the basis on which the federation is 

formed. The separation of the state and religion is provided in the Constitution of Malaya 

(Rosenthal, 1965). This lays down that Islam is to be the state religion and declares the Head of 

State as the Head of the Muslim religion. More importantly, the Malaysian constitution defines 

a Malay as a person who professes Islam, habitually speaks the Malay language and conforms to 

the Malay custom (e.g. Nagata, 1984; Osman, 1985; Hassan, 1994). Thus, to be a Malay is to be 

a Muslim although the reverse may not hold true. Each of the 13 states has its own constitution 

and assembly to address matters not dealt with by the federal government. The Malaysian 

Parliament comprises of a House of Representatives (Dewan Rakyat) and a Senate (Dewan 

Negara), similar to what is prevailing in the UK. While the Dewan Rakyat consists of 180 

members elected during general elections, the Senate is composed of 68 members, two elected 

from each state and 42 members appointed by the King. The National Front (Barisan Nasional), 

a multiracial coalition comprising the United Malays National Organisation (UMNO), the 

Malaysian Chinese Association (MCA), the Malaysian Indian Congress (MIC), the Gerakan and 

the Parti Besaka Bumiputera Bersatu (PBBB), has governed the country since 1957. 

1.2 Economy 

The modern economic development of Malaysia effectively began with the establishment of British 

rule (The Economist Intelligence Unit, 1995), where large scale mining of tin ore and the planting 

of rubber started. This also marked the beginning of the multi-ethnic population of Malaysia, 

when labour was imported to service the mining and plantation sectors, from China and India 

respectively. While the cultural diversity thus arising can be considered a strength in itself, it has 

also, on occasion, provoked conflict among the main racial groups culminating in a serious rioting 
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between the Malays and the Chinese in 1969. Although rubber planting and tin mining have 

traditionally been the two most important sectors of the economy, this is now changing. More 

emphasis is being focused on the manufacturing sector . 

Economically, Malaysia has achieved relatively high annual growth rates in GDP compared to 

regional and global averages. The rapid growth in the manufacturing sector coupled with 

abundant natural resources produced average annual growth rates in GDP of 6.8% during the 

period from 1971 to 1990. With a GDP per head of US$3,501, the World Bank has classified 

Malaysia as an upper-middle-income country in 1994 (The Economist Intelligence Unit, 1995). 

The structure of the Malaysian economy has become increasingly diverse. While the share of the 

manufacturing sector in GDP has more than tripled from 9% in 1960 to 30.1 % in 1993, that due 

to agriculture has declined from 38% in 1960 to 15.9% in 1993. The last two decades has seen 

the Malaysian manufacturing sector developed an export-oriented focus. The manufacturing 

sector is now accorded top priority and is expected to lead the country's growth in the next 

century. As for foreign trade, Malaysia exported more than RM 121 billion in 1993. Out of this, 

7 4% comprise manufactured goods, mainly electrical and electronic appliances and textiles (The 

Economist hltelligence Unit, 1995). 

2 The accountancy profession 

The accountancy profession in Malaysia may be considered 'young' if compared with other 

countries in the region (MIA, 1991). Presently, there are two professional accounting bodies, the 

Malaysian hlstitute of Accountants (MIA) and the Malaysian Association of Certified Public 

Accountants (MACPA). While the former is sanctioned by the Ministry of Finance through the 

Accountants Act, 1967, the latter is a self-regulatory accountancy body incorporated in 1958 

under Section 15(1) of the Companies Ordinances 1940-1946. Although the MACPA was 

established in 1958, the legislation was not enacted until 1967. The government, recognising the 
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need to regulate the profession, drafted the Accountants Act which was subsequently passed by 

Parliament in September, 1967. 

2.1. The Malaysian Institute of Accountants (MIA) 

The Accountants Act established the MIA as the country's national accountancy body, having the 

power to regulate the accountancy profession in Malaysia. Under the Accountants Act, 1967 no 

one can hold themselves out or practise as an accountant unless they are registered with the MIA. 

The MIA's statutory functions are2
: 

a. To determine the qualifications of persons for admission as members; 
b. To provide for the training, education and examination by the Institute or any other body, of 

persons practising or intending to practise the profession of accountancy; 
c. To regulate the practice of the profession of accountancy in Malaysia; and 
d. To promote, in any manner it thinks fit, the interests of the profession of accountancy in 

Malaysia. 

Although the MIA was established in 1967, it was largely dormant for twenty years. In 1987, it 

was activated and its first meeting held in early 1988. During the first twenty years of its 

existence it merely acted as a licensing and registration organ of the accountancy profession in 

Malaysia. To be accepted as a member of the institute, one rnust be a full or associate member 

of the following organisations: 

The Malaysian Association of Certified Public Accountants 
The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland 
The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales 
The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland 
The Chartered Association of Certified Accountants (UK) 
The Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants 
The New Zealand Society of Accountants 
The Canadian Institute of Accountants 
The Indian Institute of Chartered Accountants 
The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants (UK) 

In addition, holders of the following qualifications from local higher institutions of learning are 

also accepted for membership after obtaining three years of relevant post qualification experience. 

The qualifications and the institutions are: 

Postgraduate Diploma in Accounting, University of Malaya 
Bachelor of Accounting, University of Malaya 
Bachelor of Accounting (Honours), National University of Malaysia 

2 As provided in the MIA handbook 'Who is an Accountant'. 
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Advanced Diploma in Accountancy, Mara Institute of Technology 
Bachelor of Accounting (Honours), Northern University of Malaysia 
Bachelor of Accounting (Honours), Agricultural University of Malaysia 
Bachelor of Accounting (Honours), International Islamic University 

As at 30th March, 1996, there were 9036 accountants registered with the hlstitute comprising 

Registered Accountants, Public Accountants and Licensed Accountants3
• Although Malays are 

predominant in Malaysia, in the accounting profession Malays constitute only 13 % (1,183 

members) of the MIA membership. The Chinese dominates the membership at 80% (7,217). Over 

25 % of MIA's members work in public accounting firms, the bulk working in commerce and 

industry, the public sector and financial institutions (MIA, 1991). 

As part of its Continuing Professional Development programme (CPD), the institute conducts 

training courses for its members. Members must fulfill 100 CPD credits annually of which forty 

percent must be for structured courses. Currently, if a course is conducted by the MIA, every 

hour is given two CPD points. However, if the course is conducted by other organisations, only 

one CPD point is given. Prior to 1995, MIA did not conduct examinations. However, in June 

1996, the MIA in collaboration with the Chartered Association of Certified Accountants (UK), 

launched its first examinations (MIA Annual Report, 1995). 

Being a national accountancy body, MIA sets the professional accounting, auditing and ethical 

standards which all accountants practising in Malaysia must abide. Members are liable to face 

disciplinary proceedings if found to be in breach of the hlstitute's By Laws on Professional 

Conduct and Ethics (MIA Annual Report, 1995). However, according to Ahmad (1988), there 

have not yet been any cases of the hlstitute taking disciplinary action against any member for 

3Public Accountants are those who are self employed, or partners in any accounting firm offering various types of 
services to the public, Registered Accountants are employed in commerce, industry or the public sector and are accountable 
to their employers only, and Licensed Accountants refer to those accountants who have been in public practice before the 
Accountants Act was enacted. This latter group may not have the necessary paper qualifications but are nevertheless 
allowed to practice because of their experience. 
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professional misconduct4• The MIA also monitors local and international accounting 

developments. Regular consultations on matters involving the profession are held with 

government and statutory bodies such as the Registrar of Companies and the Inland Revenue 

Department. 

2.2 The Malaysian Association of Certified Accountants (MACPA) 

The MACP A's functions are primarily to advance the theory and practice of accounting in all 

aspects and to maintain high standards of practice and professional conduct by all its members5
• 

Accordingly, the MACPA has provided the leadership in accounting regulation in Malaysia by 

issuing accounting standards intended for mandatory adoption by its members (e.g. Phenix, 1986; 

Iddamalgoda, 1994) and works closely with government and statutory agencies on the 

implementation of amendments to the Companies Act and revision of its schedules, revision of the 

KLSE Listing Manual and Guidelines issued by the Central Bank of Malaysia (BNM) and the 

Securities Commission (Tay, 1994). The MACPA appears to be closer to the model of an 

independent professional body seen in many developed countries than is the MIA (MacGregor et 

al, 1997). 

To be a member of the MACPA, one must have a three year degree or equivalent, passed the 

relevant papers (deemed appropriate by the body) and relevant practical experience. Presently, 

its membership is around 2000. More than half of its members are either partners of accounting 

firms or employees of such firms. The balance work in the public sector, financial institutions and 

other industrial organisations (MacGregor et al, 1997). 

4More recently, however, there have been cases of members being put before the Disciplinary Board. According to 
the 1995 Annual Report of the MIA, the Investigation Committee of the Institute investigated 11 cases during 1995. Nine 
were 'closed due to insufficient evidence' and 2 were referred to the Disciplinary Committee. The outcome of the latter 
was not disclosed in the Annual Report. 

5S3 of the MACPA's Memorandum and Articles of Association and Bye Laws (MACPA, 1990). 
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2.3 Current structure of the accounting profession in Malaysia 

The relationship between the MIA and the MACPA appears to be rather complex (MacGregor et 

al, 1997). In 1984, a proposal was submitted to the government that the two professional bodies 

be merged. This, however, was rejected by Cabinet. The reason for this has never been very 

clear except that the terms were not acceptable to both parties. The current structure of the 

accountancy profession in Malaysia is depicted in Figure 6.1. The hierarchical relationship 

between the two bodies means that members of the MACP A must register with MIA and then 

apply for a licence from the Ministry of Finance in order to practice in Malaysia. Recently (in 

1994), there was another proposal to merge the two bodies following the suggestion made by 

Malaysia's Finance Minister. A memorandum of understanding was signed in late 1994. It 

appears that this merger may also not take place now that the MIA has collaborated with ACCA 

(UK) to launch its examinations (Accountancy, May, 1996). 

3 Development of financial reporting framework in Malaysia 

Currently, financial reporting in Malaysia is determined by legal and institutional requirements. 

The fonner are embodied in the Companies Act, 1965 while the latter comprised of requirements 

set by the professional accounting bodies, the Securities Commission6(SC), the Kuala Lumpur 

Stock Exchange (KLSE) and the Central Bank of Malaysia (BNM) 7• However, the Companies 

Act, 1965 and the pronouncements of the two professional bodies (the MACPA and the MIA) 

remain the two most important influences of financial reporting in Malaysia. 

6Formerly known as the Capital Issues Committee (CIC). 

7BNM stands for Bank Negara Malaysia, the Bahasa Malaysia term for Central Bank of Malaysia. 
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FIGURE6.1 

Current structure of the Malaysian Accountancy System 
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Malaysia's colonial past is, in many ways, reflected in its financial reporting practices (Tay, 1994). 

Before 1975, financial reporting in Malaysia was based primarily on practices adopted or used in 

the UK. According to Gray et al (1984), fmancial reporting in Malaysia is influenced very 

strongly by the accounting practices of the UK, strongly by Australia and moderately by the US. 

Before 1978, there were no Malaysian professional accounting standards. Disclosure practices 

then, were largely regulated by the Ninth Schedule of the Companies Act, 1965 and by statements 

issued by the MACP A. The latter were mainly influenced by recommendations of the Institute 

of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales (ICAEW) and the Chartered Association of 

Ce1tified Accountants (ACCA) to which most accountants in Malaysia belong. 
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Since then, however, recognising the need for specific standards to meet local conditions, the 

MACP A has taken upon itself the review and provision of guidelines on the application of IASs 

in Malaysia. Between 1989 and 1992, through a Working Technical Committee, the MACPA 

worked jointly with the MIA in the development of accounting standards. With this coalition, all 

technical standards were developed and issued as joint statements to members of the profession. 

Prior to this, the MIA had always reviewed and adopted the IASs and other technical 

pronouncements issued by the MACP A. This committee has since been dissolved. 

3.1 Companies Act, 1965 

The Companies Act, 1965 provided for a more comprehensive legal framework than was there in 

operation to give greater disclosure to protect the investing public and promote the growth of a 

well-informed and discriminating body of investors. The statutory reporting requirements dealing 

specifically with accounts, audit and the directors' report are provided in Part 6 of the Malaysian 

Companies Act. Phenix (1986) asserted that the most far reaching regulation affecting companies 

in Malaysia is a set of disclosure requirements in the Ninth Schedule of the Act where details 

pertaining to disclosure requirements in the balance sheet, the profit and loss account, the source 

and application of funds statement and the accompanying notes are laid out. The Malaysian 

Companies Act of 1965, according to Tay (1994), draws significantly from the Victoria 

Companies Act, 19618
; especially those pertaining to disclosure requirements in the balance sheet 

and the profit and loss account. With respect to consolidated accounts, the UK Companies Act 

of 1948 has significantly influenced Malaysian practice (Tay, 1994). 

The sections which focus specifically on accounts are provided in Sections 167 to 171 of the 

Malaysian Act. Sections 172 to 17 5 deals with the audit of the accounts. These stipulate that 

8The Victorian Companies Act, 1961 was adapted from the UK Companies Acts of 1907, 1929 and 1948 (Walton, 
1986). 
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every company must file a balance sheet, a profit and loss account, a funds statement and 

explanatory notes to accompany the accounts, within one month of the annual general meeting in 

which the accounts have been approved. In addition, accounts must be presented at the annual 

general meeting not more than six months after the accounting year end. Further, Section 169 

subsection 17 provides that the accounts must be accompanied by a statutory declaration by a 

director ( or where that director is not primarily responsible for the financial management of the 

company, by a responsible officer of the company) attesting to 'the true and fair view' principle as 

well as to the correctness of the accounts. The Registrar of Companies (ROC) administers the 

Companies Act. Vested in the ROC are the powers to call for information as stipulated under the 

Companies Act. Additionally, the ROC has access to any place or building for the purpose of 

inspecting the books of the company as required by the Act. The ROC is also empowered to 

conduct investigations on any person who has committed an offence against the Act. 

4 Generally Accepted Accounting Practices ( GAAP) 

GAAP in Malaysia are derived from three sources: approved accounting standards and technical 

bulletins of the MACP A, standards approved by the MIA and the Ninth Schedule of the 

Companies Act, 1965. For issues that are not specifically addressed by the foregoing, GAAP will 

depend on those practices that have achieved a 'high degree of acceptance' by the accounting 

profession (Ernst and Young, 1994). The development of such practices is generally influenced 

by similar standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC), 

practices that are used :in other countries, practical considerations (such as simplicity and 

convenience) and authoritative support in the accounting literature. However, the one overriding 

consideration is that these accounting practices must accord with the spirit of the Companies Act 

(Ernst and Young, 1994). GAAP in Malaysia does not have any statutory or regulatory force, 

unlike those of the United States and Canada (Ernst and Young Handbook, 1994). Besides the 

mandatory provisions of the Companies Act, there are four types of statements that constitute 
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GAAP in Malaysia: International Accounting Standards (IASs) issued by the IASC which have 

been approved by the MIA and the MACPA; Malaysian Accounting Standards (MASs) issued; 

technical bulletins (TB); and MACPA statements (MS) which were issued prior to MACPA's 

membership of IASC (Tay, 1994). 

4.1 Accounting Standards 

As was stated earlier, between 1989 and 1992, a common Working Technical Committee 

comprising members of the MIA and the MACPA was responsible for the formulation and 

development of accounting standards in Malaysia9
• Accounting standards comprise the IASs that 

have been adopted by both professional bodies and the Malaysian Accounting Standards (MASs) 

that have been issued by the same two organisations. For IASs adopted, a 'foreword' is generally 

attached, explaining any exceptions made or modifications required in the application of that 

specific IAS10 in Malaysia. MASs are issued either because the specific issues are not addressed 

by the IAS or where circumstances in the local environment warrant a domestic standard tailored 

to Malaysia's need. Typically, MASs focus on specialised industries (except for MAS 1 and 2). 

To date the MIA and the MACP A have approved 23 IASs and 7 MASs. Appendix B provides 

a list of the IASs and the MASs that have been adopted in Malaysia as at 31st December, 1995. 

Accounting standards apply to the published financial statements of any commercial, industrial or 

business enterprise which are intended to show a true and fair view. Further, published financial 

statements issued to external parties such as shareholders, bankers, trade and other creditors, 

9In 1995, the government announced that it would set up the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board. This would be 
an independent body. The establishment of such a body may perhaps strengthen the accounting standards setting process 
in Malaysia Since standards issued by the MIA currently possess statutory backing, the MIA was opposed to the setting 
up of the Board. The MA CPA, on the other hand, appears to be giving full support to such an endeavour (Accountancy, 
May, 1996). 

10Ahmad (1988) attributed the adoption of IASs in Malaysia to the following: 
(i) that the standards do not contradict the provisions of the Companies Act; 
(ii) the Malaysian government and regulatory agencies have given an indirect support for the use of such standards; 
(iii) the presence of a large number of multinational companies (mostly of Anglo American origin); and 
(iv) the influence of international accounting firms. 
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employees, prospective :investors and the public must include a statement indicating that approved 

accounting standards have been complied with. 

4.2 Technical Bulletins 

Technical bullet:ins are regarded as opinions on best current practice. These are issued by the MIA 

and the MACP A where no standards or guidelines have addressed certain specific matters or 

where an exist:ing statement requires further explanation (Tay, 1994). The bulletins, though not 

mandatory, are of "great persuasive value"(Ernst and Young, 1994). 

4.3 MACPA statements (MS) 

These statements were issued :in the seventies prior to MACP A's membership of IASC. MSs deal 

with various forms of reports and disclosure issues. With the advent of the IASs and the MASs, 

these MACPA statements have been withdrawn (Tay, 1994). 

4.4 Enforcement of accounting standards 

As was mentioned earlier, the term GAAP in Malaysia does not have any statutory or regulatory 

mean:ing. As such, there is no formal mechanism by which compliance may be monitored. This 

is similar to the situation :in the UK where non-compliance is not formally monitored and reliance 

is placed on statutory auditors (Tay, 1994). Both the MIA and the MACP A belong to the IASC. 

Hence, members of the two bodies are expected to ensure that the IASs and the MASs are duly 

complied with. Non-compliance would require some kind of disclosure in the auditor's report. 

However, should any provision :in the standard runs contrary to that stipulated in the Act, the latter 

prevails. Aga:in, in such cases, non-compliance should be disclosed (Tay, 1994). As mentioned 

above, TBs are not mandatory but as these relate to opinions on best current practice, members 

are obliged to comply with such recommendations. Tay (1994) observed that while those 

practices which are specifically regulated by the Companies Act and the accounting standards have 

a high degree of compliance, others have not been adequately complied with. 
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In Malaysia, aside from the annual statutory audits, neither the legal nor the professional 

framework provides for a formal system of regular investigations of companies. As such, to 

further raise the level of :financial reporting practices, both the MIA and the MACP A have set up 

Financial Statements Review Committees. The Committees ensure that financial statements are 

:in confonnity with legal and professional requirements. While the MIA concentrates on unlisted 

companies, the MACPA's focus is on listed companies. Non-compliance is usually brought to the 

attention of the auditors and management. As was indicated earlier in the chapter, to date there 

have been no reported cases of disciplinary action being taken against members suggesting that 

either there has not been any errant members or that the procedure is relatively ineffective (Tay, 

1994). 

A fmther measure taken to encourage good disclosure practices is the National Annual Corporate 

Report Award jointly organised by the MIA, MACPA and the KLSE. It is hoped that through 

such competitions companies will readily disclose information over and above what is statutorily 

required such as social responsibility reports, value added statements and employment reports 

which are necessary to meet the changing demands of accounting info1mation. To wait for 

amendments to the Companies Act or the issuance of an IAS would mean that the profession is 

not proactive. However, given the fact that Malaysia is a developing country, Malaysia tends to 

be a follower rather than a leader with regard to corporate reporting. 

4.5 Other agencies 

The financial reporting framework in Malaysia is also influenced by several government agencies 

like the KLSE, the SC and BNM, a fact which was stated earlier. The next section very briefly 

discusses these three regulatory agencies. 

4.5.1 Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange (KLSE) 

The KLSE, a self regulatory organisation, is responsible for ensuring the high standards and 
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integrity of the secmities :industry in Malaysia. It assists government agencies in the enforcement 

of the Secmities Industry Act, 1983 and the Companies Act, 1965. Paragraph 2 (Section 65) of 

its Listing Manual specifically states that the annual audited accounts shall be prepared in 

accordance with the accounting standards and pronouncements of the Malaysian Institute of 

Accountants, the Malaysian Association of Certified Public Accountants and the Ninth Schedule 

of the Companies Act; suggesting that the KLSE has an indirect influence on financial reporting. 

4.5.2 Securities Commission (SC) 

The Securities Commission, an agency of the Ministry of Finance, was established in 1993. It took 

over the functions previously performed by the Capital Issues Committee (CIC) and the Panel on 

Take-Overs and Mergers. The guidelines of the former and the code of the latter were adopted 

for the operation of the Commission. The SC supervises the securities industry and administer 

the KLSE. Whereas only listed companies or those companies about to be listed come under the 

purview of the KLSE, the SC has under its domain all limited companies. Although the Securities 

Commission has been described as the Malaysian SEC (Phenix, 1986), it does not have the power 

to delist companies (Tay, 1994). At present the SC does not impose additional reporting 

requirements on listed companies. However, in the near future, it may well play a more active 

role in :financial reporting through the Malaysian Accounting Standards Setting and Review Board 

(MASRB). 

4.5.3 Central Bank of Malaysia (BNM) 

The BNM, the central bank of Malaysia, provides implicit recognition of the IAS in its review and 

approval of :financial statements of banks and finance companies (Phenix, 1986). Section 169(19) 

of the Companies Act, 1965 gives specific powers to the BNM to modify the provisions of the Act 

with regards to the form and content of financial statements. The IAS also provides that 

the law can oven-ule an accounting standard. Thus, the BNM may oven-ule both the provisions 

of the Companies Act as well as the IAS currently adopted (Phenix, 1986). 
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5 Published financial statements 

Corporate ammal reporting in Malaysia is generally made up of seven parts: the Directors' report11
, 

the profit and loss account, the balance sheet, the statement of changes in financial position, 

(account) footnote disclosures 12, a Director's statement13 and an auditor's report14. Of particular 

:interest in this thesis is the set of financial statements mandatorily required to be published by 

companies as set out in the Ninth schedule of the Act. Under the Act, companies must present 

a profit and loss account, the balance sheet and the statement of changes in financial position. 

Typically, a profit and loss account must include, among others, the operating revenue, the profit 

before and after taxation, the tax expense, amounts charged for depreciation, interest expense and 

income from :interest beating secmities, rent of buildings and various other expenses and revenue 

items. Generally, the balance sheet reflects the histmical costs of assets and liabilities. However, 

there are exceptions to this. Where a company has revalued its assets, that fact is disclosed as a 

footnote disclosure. An item by item desclipt:ion of what is mandatorily required for disclosure 

as provided :in the Ninth schedule is given in Appendix C. For the statement of source at.id 

application of funds, the provisions in the Act appear to be rather broad. The Act merely states 

that companies must show the funds provided from at.id used :in the operations of the company 

separately from other sources or uses of funds of the company. As such, IAS 7 forms the 

guideline for the preparation of the funds statement. 

11This gives information about company's principal activities, dividend payments, directors' benefits and events after 
balance sheet date. 

12Some examples of footnote disclosures include details of authorised and issued share capital, significant accounting 
policies, restrictions on distribution of reserves, depreciable fixed assets, nature and amount of contingent liabilities, 
categories of investments, etc. 

13Section 169, (16) provides that the financial statements must be accompanied by a statutory declaration by a director 
(or where that director is not primarily responsible for the financial management of the company, a responsible official of 
the company) setting forth his opinion as to the 'correctness' or otherwise of the financial statements. 

14The Companies Act stipulates that financial statements must be accompanied by an auditor's report attesting to the 
true and fair view of the state of corporate affairs. 
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5.1 Differences between UK and Malaysian reporting practices 

While Malaysia's rep01ting system is, in many respects, similar to the UK, there exists two main 

differences. Firstly, Malaysian companies must file a source and application of funds statement 

and secondly, directors and responsible company officers must file statutory declarations attesting 

to the truth and fairness as well as the correctness of the accounts (Tay, 1994). However there 

are other differences too. One is on the fonnat for disclosure of the balance sheet and the profit 

and loss account. Whereas a specific f01mat is provided for in the UK companies Act, this is not 

evident in the Malaysian Act. This led Ismail (1983) to conclude that the Malaysian Companies 

Act 'appears' to be incomplete. This apparent lack of uniformity, according to him, hinders 

comparison between films. In addition, this might lead to undesirable rep01ting practices with 

each fnm preparing its financial statements according to what they think would suit them most; 

disclosing items that will make them look good and hiding those items that may adversely affect 

their reputation (IsmaiL 1983). The proforma statement (provided in Appendix D) issued by the 

MACPA on financial statements of Blank Company may be considered, in part, to circumvent this 

matter. Another is on the disclosure of the cost of sales amount. While companies in the UK 

are required to disclose this, the Malaysian Companies Act does not stipulate such a requirement. 

5.2 Influence of Islam on accounting practices 

Islam's influence with regard to accounting practices in general and financial reporting in 

particular, is viltually non-existent :in Malaysia. In fact Section 2 (l)k of Schedule 9 of the 

Malaysian Companies Act, 1965 stipulates a practice that may be contrary to Islamic teachings. 

The section provides that stocks of assets held for trading are to be stated at: 

the lower of cost and the net value realizable by sale in the market where cost includes all expenses 
which relate to bringing the stock to its present location and condition. 

Islam, as one may recall, advocates net realisable value or current values without considering the 

fact that these values have to be lesser than historical costs (e.g. Gambling and Kadm, 1991; 
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Clarke et al, 1996). Thus, although Islamic revivalism in Malaysia is fast developing and may be 

said to be influencing various aspects of the lives of Malaysian Muslims, its Companies Act still 

retains the British colonial flavour. The British influence dates back to the Civil Law Act of 1956. 

Section 5 of the Act stipulates that: 

(1) in all questions or issues which arise or which have to be decided in the States of West Malaysia 
other than Malacca or Penang with respect to the law of partnerships, corporations, banks and banking, 
principals and agents, carriers by air, land and sea, marine insurance coverage, life and insurance, and 
with respect to mercantile law generally, the law to be administered shall be the same as would be 
administered in England in the like case at the date of the corning into force of this Act, if such question 
or issue had arisen or had to be decided in England, unless in any case other provision is or shall be 
made by written law. 

Subsection 2 of the same section provides a similar provision for the states of Malacca, Penang, 

Sa.bah and Sarawak (lbralmn, 1994). Given such a fact, the British influence on Malaysia's legal 

structure remains strong despite forty years of independence. The same can be said for the 

political and economic structure of the country. 

6 Summary 

This appendix examined the accounting environment in Malaysia. More specifically, it discussed 

the role of the two professional bodies in Malaysia, the MIA and the MACPA. Additionally, it 

provided an overview of the regulatory framework on financial reporting in Malaysia as well as 

its generally accepted accounting practices. The provisions of the Ninth Schedule of the 

Companies Act, 1965 were also discussed. 
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MIA. l...J.SC 
APPENDIX B Operational Operarimzal 

Date Dare 

APPROVED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

Statement of Approved Accounting Standards 1989 

International Accounting Standards (IAS) 

Preface to IAS 1988 lll~J 

(a) Adopted 

IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1987 1<>75 
,, 

IAS 2 Valuation and Presentation oflnventories in the Context 
of the Historical Cost System 1987 I \J7(, 

IAS 3 Consolidated Financial Statements superseded Sllpt.:l'SL'tkU 

(superseded by IAS 27 and IAS 28) 

IAS 4 Depreciation Accounting 1987 i ')77 

IAS 5 Information to be Disclosed in Financial Stateme:m 1987 l\);"7 

IAS 6 Accounting Responses to Changing Prices Withdrawn Witlidr:mn 

IAS 7 Statement of Changes in Financial Position 1987 I 'J7C) 

IAS 8 Unusual and Prior Period Items and Changes in 
Accounting Policies 1987 I 'i7'> 

IAS 9 Accounting for Research and Development Acti\·ities 1987 I ')XO 

IAS 10 Contingencies and Events Occuring After the Balance 
Sheet Date 1987 I ')XO 

IAS 11 Accounting for Construction Contracts 1987 I 'JXO 

IAS 12 Accounting for Taxes on Income 1987 I 1JX I 

IAS 13 Presentation of Current Assets and Current Liabilities 1987 1981 

IAS 14 Reporting Financial Information by Segment 1987 !983 

IAS 16 Accounting for Property, Plant & Equipment 1987 198] 

IAS 17 Accounting for Leases 1991 1984 

IAS 18 Revenue Recognition 1987 1984 

IAS 19 Accounting for Retirement Benefits in the Financial 
Statements of Employers 1991 1985 

IAS 21 Accounting for the Effects of Changes in Foreign 
Exchange Rates 1987 1985 

Source · MIA's Annual Report (1996) 
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IAS 23 Capitalisation of Borrowing Costs 

IAS 25 Accounting for Investments 

IAS 26 Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans 

IAS 27 Consolidated Financial Statements and Accounting for 
Investments in Subsidiaries 

IAS 28 Accounting for Investments in Associates 

IAS 31 Financial Reporting oflnterests in Joint Ventures 

(b) Informational Only 

IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure 
of Government Assistance 

IAS 22 Accounting for Business Combinations 

( c) MIA Exposure Draft 

IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures 

IAS 2 (Revised) Inventories 

IAS 7 (Revised) Cash Flow Statements 

IAS 16 (Revised) Property, Plant and Equipment 

MALAYSIAN ACCOUNTING ST AND ARDS (MAS) 

(a) Issued 

MAS l Earnings Per Share 

MAS2 Accounting for Acquisitions and Mergers 

MAS3 Accounting for General Insurance Business 

MAS4 Accounting for Life Insurance Business 

MASS Accounting for Aquaculture 

MAS6 Accounting for Goodwill 

MAS7 Accounting for Property Development 

(b) Being considered for Exposure Draft 

MAS 8 Accounting for Pre-Cropping Expenses 
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MIA 
Operational 
Date 

1987 

1993 

1993 

1993 

1993 

1993 

1989 

1990 

1992 

1992 

1992 

1997 

1994 

IASC 
Operational 
Date 

1986 

1984 

1988 

1989 

1989 

1992 

1984 

1985 

1986 

1995 

1995 

1995 



MIA TECHNICAL BULLETINS (TB) 

TB 4 Reporting in Connection with the Capital Adequacy Ratio 
of Banks 

TB 6 Auditor's Reports on Financial Statements Published in the 
Print Media by Financial Institutions 

TB 7 Accounting for Bankers' Acceptances 
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MIA 
Operatio11al 
Date 

June 1989 

June 1989 

June 1989 

IASC 
Issue 
Date 



STATUS OF OTHER INTER~ATIONAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (IAS) 

Being Considered for MIA Exposure Draft 

Framework for the Preparation and Presentation ofFin:.mcial Statements 

IAS 8 Net Profit or Loss for the Period. Fundamental Errors and 
Changes in Accounting Policies (Revised 1993) 

IAS 9 Research and Development Costs (Revised 199 3) 

IAS 11 Construction Contracts (Revised 1993) 

IAS 18 Revenue (Revised 1993) 

IAS 19 Retirement Benefit Costs (Revised 1993) 

IAS 21. The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates (Revised 1993) 

IAS 22 Business Combination (Revised 1993) 

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs (Revised l 993) 

IAS 30 Disclosure in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar Financial 
Institutions 
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IA.SC 
Operational 
Date 

1989 

1995 

1995 

1995 

1995 

1995 

1995 

1995 

1995 

1991 



APPENDIX C 

Ninth Schedule of the Malaysian Companies Act, 1965 
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APPENDIX C 

Malaysian Companies Act, 1965 

NINI'H SCHEDULE 

(Sed:iom--169, 326) 

ACCOUNIS 

Profit and.Lo: Accounrr 

-1: There mall be shown in rcpect of" the-period of accounting-

(a:) -sale or other ope:ating·ICYCnue:r, .stating the: b:uis on. which. they are· 
detennined;. 

(b) the net balance-of"profit or loss on the-company's trading; 

(c) the: gross income: before· the- deduction· of income- ta.,: from inv~-
mena in subsidiarie: of the company; · · 

(d) the gross.income. before deduction of income tax: from other inve:t
menu distingwshing between-

(i) income rec:ivetl from any shares or debenture: which. are 
quoted, listed or de:i.lt in on any pre:c:ibed stock. exchange in 
Malaysia; 

(Li) income rec:ivetl from any share: or debenture: which are· dedt 
in onsny prc:c:ibed stock. exchange outside Malaysia; :md 

(ill) income-rec:ived from other sources; 

(e) the amount of-

(i) interc:t income (other than from debenrures); and. 

(Li) income from rent of1and and buildings; 

. if) amounts charged. for depreciation, amortization or diminution in 
value on-

(i) fixed assets showing the charge for e::h. c:itegory of depre:ia-
ble asset;. · 

(ii) goodwill and other intangible =ets; :ind 

(ill) invc:tments, 

and the amount, if material. of the effect of changes in the methods 
or bases of providing for depreciation, amortization or diminution in 
value of assets and, by way of note, specify the re:isons for any such 
changes; 

(g) the amounts charged in respect of-

(i) interc:t on the company's debentures, loans, overdrafts and 
other borrowings; 

(ii) rent for land and buildings used by the company; 
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(ill) the hire-of plant and machinery used by the company; and 

(iv) research and. development including amortization ox develop
ment com previously defened; 

(h) any profit or loss. if material. aming from a sale or disposal. of fixed. 
or intangible assets;:. 

(1) the amounts set ·aside or proposed to be· set aside to, or withdiawn. 
from, reserves; 

(j) the amount. if material. set aside to provisions. other than provisions 
for depreciation, renewals or dinrinution in value ofassets or, as the 
case may be, the amount. if material, withdiawn from such provi-· 
sions and not ap:r,lied for the purposes thereof, .in each case classified 
separately under appropriate headings; 

(k) \.he amounts respectively provided for redemption of share capital 
and for redemption ofloans; · 

(1) provision made for all taxes on income distinguishlng between

(i) tax payable before double taxation relief in Malaysia; 

(ii) tax payable outside Malaysia; 

(iii) any relief granted bec:i.use of double taxation; and 

(iv) deferred taxation; 

(m) in respect to tax losses, if material-

(i) the amount of the tax saving for which credit is taken in the 
period of the loss; 

(ii) the amount of the tax saving for which credit is taken as a 
result of the realisation of a tax loss carried forward that had 
not been accounted for in the period of the loss; and 

(iii) the amount and future availability of tax losses forwhich the 
related tax effec:.S have not been accotu?-ted for in any period; 

(n) the aggregate amount of the dividends paid and the aggregate amount 
of the dividends proposed to be paid; 

(o) in respect of directors and past directors of the company, the 
amounts of- · 

(i) fees and other emoluments (distinguished separately), paid to 
or receivable by them from the company or its subsidiary com
panies as remuneration for their services to the company or 
its subsidiary companies, inclusive of all fees, percentages, 
bonuses, commissions, compc:nsation for loss of office, any 
contribution in respect of them under any pension or retire• 
ment benefit scheme and inclusive of commission paid or 
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payable- for- subscribing or- agreeing to subscribe. or procuring 
or agreeing to procure subscriptions for any shares in or-deben
tures or the- company or or its holding company or-any subsi· 
diary or the- company: provided that. where a. director or any 
fmn of which. the director is a member-. acts for the company 
in a. professional capacity, the amount paid to the director or 
to his firm for services rendered to the company in that capa• 
city shall not be included in the aforesaid total but shall be 
shown separately whether by way of note or otherwise; and 

(ii) by way of note or otherwise, the estimated money value of 
any other benefits received. or receivable by them otherwise 
than in cash from the company or- from any of its subsidiary 
companies; 

(pJ the total of amounts paid to or receivable by any third party in 
respect of the· services provided to the company or any of its subsi· 
diary companies by any director or past. director of the company; 

(q) the total of the amount paid to or receivable by the auditors as 
remuneration for their services as auditors, inclusive of all fees, 
percentages or other payments or consideration given by or from the 
company or by or from any subsidiary of the company; 

(r) under separate headings, and giving particulars of each item, any 
exceptional or unusual credits or charges, · if material, :ind where 
applicable, the tax effects thereon; 

(s) under separate headings, and giving particulars of each item, any 
prior ye:ir credits or charges, if material, and the tax effects thereon; 

(t) under separate headings and giving particulars of each item, any 
changes in estimates made for the purpose of accounting and inc!ud· 
ed in net profit or loss from trading, if material; and 

(u) significant transactions with related corporations. 

Balance-sheer 

2. (1) There shall be shown as at the end of the period of accounting-

(a) the amount of authorized capital and particulars of issued capital 
showing movements during the period of accounting and distinguish
ing between classes of shares and specifying by way of note to the 
balance-sheet any rights, preferences or restrictions with respect to 
distribution of dividends or repayment of capital attached to the 
shares and any portion of the share capital which has not already 
been called up and which is not capable of being called up except 
in the event and for the purposes of the company being wound.up 
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and stating the-rates of dividend. and whether participating or cumu
lative or both. attaching to shares other than ordinary shares, and 
stating amount of calls in arrear in each class; 

(b) the part of the issued capital that consists of redeemable preference: 
shares, the date on or before which these shares are, or are liable, to 
be- redeemed and the earliest date on which the company has power 
to redeem those shares (showing by way of note or otherwise whe
ther the redemption is optionai to or obligatory on the company) 
and the amount of the premium (if any) at which those shares are 
redeemable. 

(c) so far as the information is not given in the profit and loss account, 
any share capital on which interest has been paid out of capital 
during the financial year, and the rate at which interest has been so 
paid; 

(d) reserves classified under the separate headings

(i) share premium account; 

(ii) revaluation surplus; 

(iii) balance Qf profit and loss account; and 

(iv) other reserves, 

. indicating the movements for the period and any restrictions on dis· 
tribution including the extent to which tax credits are available for 
the company to frank the reserves available for distribution; 

(e) income or gain c:irried forward to subsequent periods of accounting, 
and by way of note, specify the basis for carrying that income or 
gain; 

(j) under separate headings, so far as they arc not written off

(i) the preliminary expenses; 

(li) . any expenses incurred in connection with any issue of shares 
or debentures; 

(iii) any sums paid by way of commission in respect of any shares 
or debentures; 

(iv) any sum allowed by way of discount in respect of any deben
tures; 

(v) the amount of the discount allowed on any issue of shares at a 
discount; 

( vi) if the amount of the goodwill and any patents anc1 trade marks 
or part of that amount is shown as a separate item in or is 
otherwise ascertainable from the books of the company or 
from any contract for the sale or purchase of any property to 
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be· acquired by the company or from any documents. in the. 
possession of the company relating to the stamp duty payable 
in respect of any such contract or the conveyance of any such 
propeny - the said amount so shown or ascertained; 

(vii) the amount of deferred development expenditure and move· 
men ts In the period of accounting; and 

(viii) any other expenditure carried forward by category of expen
diture,. 

and. by way of note, specify the basis for carrying forward any such 
expenditure; 

(g) particulars of any redeemed debentures which the company has 
power to reissue; 

Qz) the fixed assets, current assets, liabilities and provisions classified 
separately under headings appropriate to the company's business 
and stating the method used to arrive at the amount of assets under 
each heading but-

(i) where the amount of any class is not material. it may be in· 
eluded under the same heading as some other class; 

(ii) where any assets of one class are not separable from assets of 
another class, those assets may be included under the same 
heading; and 

(iii) where any assets cannot truly and fairly be shown as either 
fixed assets or current assets, those assets may be included 
separately under an appropriate heading; 

(i) In respect of fixed assets-

(i) under separate headings, the amount of lands and buildings, 
plant and machinery and other categories suitably identified; 

(ii) In the. case of fixed assets whose amount is arrived at in accor
dance with paragraph 3 (1) of this Schedule and is so arrived 
at by reference to a valuation, the years (so far as they are 
known to the directors) in which the assets were severally 
valued and the several values, whether an external valuer was 
involved and the basis of valuation used; 

(iii) of the amount of fixed assets consisting of land, how much is 
ascribable to land of freehold tenure and how much to land of 
leasehold tenure, and, of the latter, how much is ascribable to 
land held on long lease being a lease with an unexpired period 
of fifty years or more and how much to land held on short 
lease; 

(iv) any restrictions as to title; 

(v) the amount, if material, of any assets being acquired on install· 

286 



ment:purchase plans; 

(vi) the amount~ if material, of any assets retired from active use 
and held for disposal; and 

(vii) by way of note,. the methods of depreciation used for each 
category of fixed assets together with the rate of depreciation 
or number of years. over which provision is. made for deprecia
tion; 

(Jj · under separate· headings, stating the methods used to arrive at the 
amount of the investments under each heading and showing the 
quoted market values of investments. which are quoted, listed or 
dealt in on any prescribed stock exchange....: 

(i) investments in Federal Government securities; 

(ii) investments in other government, municipal or public deben
tures stock or bonds; 

(iii) investments in subsidi!1fies of the company; 

(iv) investments in shares ( of corporations which are not subsidia
ries of the company) which are quoted, listed or dealt in on 
any prescribed stock exchange in Malaysia or elsewhere; 

(v) investments in shares (of corporations which are not subsidia
ries of the company) which are not so quoted, listed or dealt 
in on any such prescribed stock exchange; 

(vi) investments in debentures (of corporations which are not sub
sidiaries of the company) which are quoted, listed or dealt in 
on any prescribed stock exchange in Malaysia or elsewhere; 

(vii) investments in debentures (of corporations which are not subsi
diaries of the company) which are not so quoted, listed or 
dealt in on any such prescribed stock exchange; 

(viii) other investments in corporations; and 

(ix) other investments; 

(k) the stock of assets held for trading classified in the· main. categories 
appropriate to the business of the company showing the amount 
held in each category, such amounts being stated at the lower of 
cost and the net value realisable by sale in the market where cost 
includes all those expenses which relate to bringing the stock to its 
prc:.ent location and. condition; 

(I) the. stock of assets representing long-term contract work in progress, 
stating by way of note-

(i) the methods used to arrive at the amounts of these assets; and 

(ii) the amounts received and receivable as progress payments, 
advances and retentions on account of contracts included in 
long-term contract work in progress; 
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(m) under separate he:idings-

(i) amounts owing by the holding company of the company;. 

(ii) amounts owing by subsidiaries- of the company; 

(iii) amounts owing by other related corporations of the. company; 

(iv) trade· debts and bills. receivable. (other than amounts owing by 
.related corporations of the company); 

(v) the amount outstanding of any loan made, guaranteed or se
cured by the company being· a loan made to a director of the 
company or of a related corporation or a loan made to another 
corporation in which one or more directors of the· company or 
of the- company which is. so deemed to be related to the com

pany owns a controlling interest; 

(vi) other debts owing to the company; and 

(vii) deposits distinguishing between those with licensed banks, 
finance companies, other corporations and others, 

and" where any amounts shown under such a heading include any 
sums which consists of or are in the nature of interest, accommoda
tion charges, service charges, maintenance charges or insurance 
premiums, those sums shall, except to the extent that they have 
become due and payable and have been demanded, be shown as 
deduction from the amounts shown under that heading; 

(n) under separate headings and showing separately amounts that are 
redeemable or payable not later than twelve months after the date 
to which the accounts are made up and amounts that are redeemabl,.. 
or payable later than twelve months after that date-

(i) debentures; 

(ii) liabilities (other than debentures and bank loans and over
drafts) secured by any charge on the assets whether registered 

or not; 

(iii) bank loans and overdrafts, distinguishing between those which 
are secured and those which are unsecured; and 

(iv) other amounts borrowed without security, 

giving details of the contractual terms and, where secured, of the 

nature of that security; 

(a) under separate he:idings-

(i) amounts owing to the holding·company of the company; 

(ii) amounts owing to the subsidiaries of the company; 

(iii) amounts owing to other related corporations of the company; 

(iv) amounts owing to trade creditors (other than amounts owing 
to related corporations of the company); 
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(v) amounts owing by the company or by :L subsidiary of the 
company to a directorofthe company; and 

(vi) other.amounts owing by the company; 

(p) the provision for taxation, distinguishing between taxation payable· 
and deferred taxation and stating any special circumstances affecting 
the liability to taxation; 

(q) provision for pension or retirement benefits; 

(r) dividends distinguishing between dividends payable and proposed; 

(s) arrears of dividends on preference shares; and 

(t) under separate headings (to be stated by way of note if not other
wise shown)-

(i) contingent liabilities unsecured; 

(ii) contingent liabilities secured upon the company's assets giving 
details of.the nature of security; and 

(ill) where practicable, the aggregate amount, if it is material, of 
contracts for capital expenditure, so far as that amount has 
not been provided for, and the aggregate amount or estimated 
amount, if it is material, of capital expenditure authorized by 
the directors which has not been contracted for. 

(2) For the purposes of this paragraph, where more than one method is 
used to arrive at any amount shown in the balance-sheet, there shall be shown 
in the balance-sheet a separate total in respect of each of the methods so 
used. 

(3) There shall be shown by way of note or otherwise on the balance
sheet of every company which is a borrowing corporation or a guarantor 
corporation, a schedule setting out separately estimates of the amounts of 
the liabilities payable by and the debts payable to the company-

(a) not later than two years; 

(b) later than two years but not later than five years; and 

(c) later than five years, 

calculated from the date to which the balance-sheet of the company was 
made up. 

3. (1) The method of arriving at the amount of any fixed asset or investment 
shall, subject to sub-paragraph (2), be to take the difference between-

(a) its cost or, if it stands in the company's books at a valuation other 
than cost, the amount of the valuation; and 

(b) the aggregate amount provided or written off since the date or 
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acquisition or valuation as the case may be, for depreciation or dimi
nution in value. 

(2) For the purposes of this paragraph the net amount at which any assets 
stand in the company's books at the commencement of this Act (after deduc
tion of the amounts previously provided or written off for depreciation or 
diminution in value) shall~ if the figures relating to the: period. before the 
commencement of this Act cannot be obtained without unreasonable expense 
or delay, be treated as if it were the amount of the valuation of those assets. 
made at the. commencement of this Act, and where any of. those assets are 
sold, the said net amount less the amount of the sales shall be treated as if it 
were the amount of a valuation so made of the remaining assets. 

(3) Sub-paragraph (I) shall not apply-

(a) to assets for which the figures relating to the period beginning with 
the commencement of this Act cannot be obtained without unrea
sonable expense or delay; or 

(b) to assets the replacement of which is provided for wholly or partly

(i) by making provision for renewals :ind charging the cost of 
replacement against the provision so made; or 

(ii) by charging the cost of replacement direct to revenue; or 

(c) to any investments of which the market value (or, in the case of 
investments not having a market value, their value as estimated by 
the directors) is shown either as the amount of the investments or 
byway ofnote;or 

(d) to goodwill, patents or trade marks. 

(4) For the assets under each heading whose amount is arrived at in 
accordance with sub-paragraph (I) there shall be·shown-

(a) the aggregate of the amounts referred to in sub-paragraph (1) (a); 
and 

(b) the aggregate of the amounts referred to in sub-paragraph (1) (b). 

(5) As respects the assets under each heading whose amount is not arrived 
at in accordance with-sub-paragraph (1) because their replacement is provided 
for as mentioned in sub-paragraph (3) (b) there shall be stated-

(a) the means by which their replacement is provided for; and 

(b) the aggregate amount of the provisions (if any) made for renewals 
and not used. 
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Statement of~ in Fuumdal Positiorr 

4. There shall be annexed to every profit and loss account and balance-sheet: 
a statement of changes in financial position showing separately- · 

(i) the- funds provided from and used in the operations of the· 
company; and 

(ii) other sources or uses of funds of the company, 

except that in respect of consolidated accounts of holding and subsidiary 
companies as required by paragraph S of this Schedule the statement of 
changes in financial position shall be the consolidated statement of changes in 
financial position of the holding and subsidiary companies and the statement 
relating to the holding company alone need not be- so annexed. 

Holding-and Subsidiary CompanieJ: 

S. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), there shall be annexed to the profit 
and loss account of every holding company a consolidated profit and loss 
account of the holding company and of its subsidiary companies eliminating 
all inter-company transactions and showing separately that part of the profit 
or loss of the subsidiary companies attributable to shares in subsidiary com
panies owned other than by the holding company or its subsidiary companies. 

(2) There shall be clearly stated (by way of note or otherwise) either in 
the profit and loss account of the· holding company or in any document 
annexed thereto pursuant to sub-paragraph (1) the name, place of incorpora
tion, principal activities of, and percentage of issued share capital held by the 
holding company in each subsidiary to which that profit and loss account or 
other docum~nt relates. · 

(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), there shall be annexed to the balance· 
sheet of every holding company a consolidated balance sheet of the holding 
company and of its subsidiary companies eliminating all inter-company 
balances and showing separately that part of the net assets of the subsidiary 
companies attributable to shares in subsidiary companies owned other than 
by the holding company or its subsidiary companies. 

( 4) Notwithstanding anything in this paragraph-

(a) consolidated accounts shall not be required where the company is 
at the end of its financial year the wholly owned subsidiary of 
another body corporate incorporated in Malaysia; 

(b) consolidated accounts need not deal with a subsidiary of the com
pany if the company's directors are of the opinion that-

(i) it is impracticable, or would be of no real value to members 
of the company, in view of the insignific:mt amounts involved, 
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or would involve expense or delay out of proportion to the 
value to members of the company; or 

(ii) controlling interest in. the subsidiary company is to be- tempo
rary; or 

(iii) the subsidiary company operates outside Malaysia under con
ditions which impair the exercise- by the company of its con
trolling interest; or 

(iv) the result" would be misleading, or harmful to the business of 
the company or any of its subsidiaries; or 

(v) the- business of the company and that of the subsidiary are so 
different that they cannot reasonably be treated as- a single 
undertaking. 

and if the directors are of such an opinion about each of the com· 
pany's subsidiaries, then consolidated accounts shall not be required: 

Provided that the approval of the Registrar shall be required for 
not dealing in the consolidated accounts with a subsidiary on the 
ground that the result would be harmful or on the ground of the 
difference between the business of the holding company and that of 
the subsidiary; and 

(c) where consolidated accounts are not submitted or where the conso· 
lidated accounts do not deal with a subsidiary of a company-

(i) the directors shall disclose by way of a note on the accounts 
their reason for not causing the accounts for such one or more 
subsidiaries to be consolidated; and 

(ii) there shall be annexed to the accounts of the holding company 
the· accounts of each subsidiary, the accounts of which are not 
consolidated with those of the holding company. Such ac
counts shall be accompanied by the auditor's report thereon. 

(5) Such profit and loss accounts and balance-sheet as required by sub· 
paragraphs 5 (1), 5 (3) and 5 (4) of this Sch.:dule shall be in the same form as 
the profit and loss ac::ount and balance-sheet of the holding company and 
shall be accompanied by the auditor's report thereon. 

( 6) In the c:ise of a subsidiary company incorporated in a country outside 
Malaysia (whether it has or has not established a place of business in Malay
sia), which country has been declared by the Minister by notice published in 
the Gazette to be a country to which this paragraph applies, it shall be suffi. 
cient if the separate profit and loss account or balance-sheet (as the case 
requires) of the subsidiary company is in such form and is so reported upon 
by auditors and contains such particulars and includes such documents (if 
any) as the company is required to make out and lay before the company in a 
general meeting by the law for the time being applicable to the company in 
the place where it is incorporated. 
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(7) If the auditor's report on the· accounts of" a subsidiary company is 
qualified in any way, the· consolidated balance-sheet of the holding company 
(as the case may be) sh.all contain particulars ofthemanner:in which the report 
is qualified in so far as the matter which is the subject of the-qualification is 
not covered by the- holding company's own accounts and is material from the 
point of view ofits members. 

(8) There shall be shown under separate headings in the balance sheet of 
every subsidiary company the extent of its holding of shares in its holding 
company and in other related corporations. 

(9) This dau~e shall not apply to a. subsidiary which would. not be subsi
diary but for the operation of section 5 (1) (a) (i) or (ii). 

General 

6. (1) All amounts shown in profit. and loss accounts and balance-sheets 
shall be quoted in Malaysian currency, and not otherwise . 

. (2) Except in the. case of the first balance-sheet or profit and loss account 
laid before the company after the commencement of this Act, there shall be 
shown in every balance-sheet and profit and loss account the corresponding 
amounts for all items shown in the· balance-sheet or profit and loss account 
for the previous financial year. 

(3) Where any such corresponding amount is not comparable with the 
amount to be shown for the item in question in respect of the financial year 
to which the balance-sheet or profit and loss account relates, the former 
amount shall be adjusted and. if material, particulars of the adjustment and. 
the reasons for it shall be disclosed in a note to the accounts. 

(4) Every profit and loss account or balance-sheet shall state by way of 
note if any translation into Malaysian currency has been made for the pur
poses of the profit and loss account and balance-sheet together with the basis 
of the translation of the other currency into Malaysian currency. 

(5) Every profit and loss account and balance-sheet shall include a state
ment of accounting policies adopted by the company or, as appropriate, the 
holding company and its subsidiaries. 

(6) In the case of any consolidated profit and loss account and balance
sheet as required by sub-paragraphs 5 (1) and 5 (3) of this Schedule the 
accounting policies·adopted by the holding company and its subsidiaries shall 
be the same, and where different accounting policies are used in the accounts 
of a subsidiary and the effect is material, appropriate adjustments should be 
made in the consolidated profit and loss account and balance-sheet. 
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APPENDIX D 
BLANK COMPANY BERHAD 

(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

And Its Subsidiary Companies 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET - 30TH JUNE, 19X9 

SHARE CAPITAL 
RESERVES 

TOTAL CAPITAL AND RESERVES 
MINORITY INTERESTS 

Notes 

2 
3 

DEFERRED AND LONG TERM LIABILITIES 

Term loans 
Retirement aratuities 
Deferred tax-ation 

Represented by: 

FIXED ASSETS 
SUBSlDIARY COMPANY NOT 

CONSOLIDATED 
ASSOCIATED COMPANIES 
INVESTMENTS 
GOODWILL ARISING ON CONSO

LIDATION 1 
CURRENT ASSETS 

Stocks 
Trade debtors less provision for 

doubtful debts $183,000 
(19X8: $270.000) . 

Amount owing by holding 
company 

Amounts owing by related 
companies 

Other debtors and prepayments 
Cash and bank balances 

Less: 
CURR~NT LIABILITIES 

Trade creditors 
Term loans 
Amount owing to related 

companies 
Other creditors and accrued 

liabilities 
Bank overdrafts 
Taxation 
Proposed ordinary dividend 

NET CURRENT ASSETS/ 
(LIABILITIES) 

4 

5 

6 

7 
8 
9 

10 

11 

4 

12 

295 

19X9 
$'000 

11,612 

4,102 

15,71<t 

2.257 

6.475 
300 

1.359 

8,134 

26,105 

23.411 

150 
708 

1,080 

333 

4,921 

3.765 

505 

256 
182 
452 

10,081 

4,501 

1,278 

366 
2,929 

397 
187 

9.658 

423 

26.105 --------------

19X8 
$'000 

10,612 

2,581 

13.193 

2.114 

5.780 
250 
975 

7,005 

22.312 
------- -----

22.427 

100 

485 

750 

315 

5,276 

3,962 

450 

288 
166 
12 

10.154 

4,067 
3,150 

932 

349 
3,195 

226 

11,919 

(1,765) 

22.312 
==-==== 

Act 
Reference 

9th 
Schedule 

4(3) 

5(2) 

2(1)(a) 

2(1)(d) 

2(1)(g) 

2(1)(g) 

2(1 )(i) 

2(1)(g) 

2(1 )(h) 

2(1 )(g) 

2(1 )(h) 

2(1)(g) 

2(1 )(i)(i i) 

4(7) 

4(7) 
2( 1 )(i)(iv) 

2(1)(g) 

2(1}(p} 
2(1}(i) 

4(7) 

2(1}(q} 
2(1)(m) 
2(1}(g) 
2(1 )(q) 

IAS 
Reference 
Statement 

No. 

5.7 

1.21 

5.17(a) 

5.17(b} 

3.43 

5.14 
5.16 
12.45 

5. 11 

3.47 

3.44 
5.12(a) 

5.1.2(c) 

5.13(d) 

5.13(c) 

5.13(c) 

5.13/c) 
5.13(c) 
5.13(a) 

5.15(c} 
5.15(b) 

5.15(c) 

5.15(c) 
5.15(a) 
5.15(c) 
5.15(c) 



BLANK COMPANY BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

And Its Subsidiary Companies 

CONSOLIDATED PROFlT AND LOSS ACCOUNT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30TH JUNE. i9X9 

Act IAS 
Reference Reference 

9th Statement ,. 
Schedule No. 

4(1)(a) 5.7 

Notes 19X9 19X8 5(2) 1.21 
$"000 $"000 

TURNOVER 13 29.524 21.803 5.18(al 
--- - -- ------

OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS) 15 2.070 (c:;::::;• ~-~I 1(a1(i) 
SHARE OF PROFITS LESS LOSSES 

OF ASSOCIATED COMPANIES 150 160 3.44 

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION 2,220 (426j 
TAXATION 16 521 220 1(h)&1(j) 

PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER TAXATION 1,669 (65Si 
PROFlT ATTRIBUTABLE TO 

MINORITY INTERESTS 96 60 3.43 

PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER TAXATION 
AND BEFORE EXTRAORDINARY 
ITEM ATTRIBUTABLE TO 
THE SHAREHOLDERS OF 
THE COMPANY 1,603 (7 ~6'1 

EXTRAORDINARY ITEM LESS 
TAXATION AND MINORITY 
INTERESTS 17 16i 8.18 

PROFlT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 
ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE 
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE 
COMPANY 1.764 (7i6j 1(al 5.18(ii 

PROFIT UNAPPROPRIATED/ 
(ACCUMULATED LOSS) 

~ [;J BROUGHT FORWARD 
PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENT 18 1(n) 8.19(a) 8 

AS RESTATED (136) 442 

PROFIT AVAILABLE FOR 
APPROPRIATION/(ACCUMULATED 
LOSS) . 1,628 (274) 

DIVIDENDS 19 348 1(k) "/ 

PROFIT UNAPPROPRIATED/ 
(ACCUMULATED LOSS) 
CARRIED FORWARD 1.280 =}~!!t 5.17(b) 

=-==-==-=-= 
Retained by: 

The Company 305 (844) 5.17(b) Subsidiary Companies 795 468 
Associated Companies 180 102 

1,280 (274) 
----- - - ---
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BLANK COMPANY BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

And Its Subsidiary Companies 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SOURCE AND APPLICATION OF FUNDS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30TH JUNE, 19X9 

SOURCE OF FUNDS 

Funds generated from operations: 

Profit/(Loss) before taxation, 
and before minority interest 

Extraordinary item before taxation 
Prior year adjustment before taxation 

Adjustments for items not involving 
the movement of funds: 

Depreciation 
Retirement gratuities 
Profit on sale of fixed assets 
Minority interests in the retained profit 

of the year 
Profit retained in associated companies 

before taxation 

Total Generated from Operations 

Funds from Other Sources: 

Issue of share capital 
Mortgages issued by subsidiary companies 
Sale proceeds of fixed assets 

APPLICATION OF FUNDS 

Divrdends paid 
Tax paid 
Purchase of fixed assets 
Repayment of term loans 
Purchase of Brown Sdn. Bhd. (note) 
Purchase of investments 
Expenses on rights issue of shares 

INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN WORKING CAPITAL 

Stocks 
Debtors 
Creditors and provision 
Movement in net liquid funds: 

Cash and bank balances 

Note: 

19X9 19X8 
$'000 $"000 

2,220 

314 

245 

(436) 

2.779 (436) 

2,188 
50 

(150) 

47 

(130) 

2.005 

4,784 

1,000 
695 

3.517 

9,996 

161 
166 

5,467 
3,150 
1,300 

330 
35 

10,609 

(613) 
------

(475) 
(57) 

(787) 

706 

(613) 
--- ---------

1,988 

(51) 

40 

(160) 

1,817 

1,381 

100 
500 

1,743 

3,724 

104 
791 

3.188 

200 

4,283 

(559) 
------

271 
129 
460 

(1.419) 

(559) 

Summary of the effects of the acquisition of Brown Sdn. Bhd. 

Net Assets Acquired 

Fixed assets 
Goodwill 
Stocks 
Debtors 
Creditors 

$ 

1,072 
18 

120 
100 
(10) 

$1,300 

Discharged By 

Cash paid 
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IAS 
Reference 
Statement 

No. 

7.20 

7.21 

1'.21 

s 
1.300 

S1.300 
~ ==-= == 



BLANK COMPANY BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

BALANCE SHEET - 30TH JUNE, 19X9 

Notes 

SHARE CAPITAL 
RESERVES 

TOTAL CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

DEFERRED AND LONG TERM LIABILITIES 

Term loans 
Retirement gratuities 
Deferred taxation 

Represented by: 

FIXED ASSETS 
SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 
ASSOCIATED COMPANIES 
INVESTMENTS 
CURRENT ASSETS 

Stocks 
Trade debtors less provision for 

doubtful debts $97,000 
(19X8: $173,000) 

Amount owing by holding 
company 

Other debtors and prepayments 
Cash and bank balances 

Less: 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Trade creditors 
Term loans 
Amounts owing to related 

companies 
Other creditors and accrued 

liabilities 
Bank overdrafts 
Taxation 
Proposed ordinary dividend 

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES 

2 
3 

4 

5 

6 
7 
8 
9 

11 

4 

12 

298 

19X9 
$'000 

11,612 

2,382 

13,994 

2,000 
150 
850 

19X8 
$'000 

10,612 
1,268 

11,880 

2.000 
100 
517 

3,000 2.617 

16,994 14,497 
:,:===== :.===== 

9.518 
8,119 

182 
1,080 

1,669 

1,108 

505 
113 
200 

3,595 

1,209 

1,278 

155 
2.648 

23 
187 

5.500 

(1.905) 

16.994 

9.401 
7,460 

182 
750 

1,986 

1,328 

450 
102 

5 

3.871 

1,434 
2.000 

932 

157 
2.583 

61 

7.167 

(3.296) 

14.497 
====-== 

Act 
Reference 

9th 
Schedule 

5(2) 

2(1}(a} 

2(1 }(d} 

2(1}(g) 

2(1}(i) 

2(1)(g) 
2(1}(h) 

2(1)(g) 
2(1)(h) 
2(1)(g) 

2(1)(i)(ii) 

4(7) 
2(1)(i)(iv) 

2(1)(g) 

2(1)(p) 
2(1)(i) 

4(7) 

2(1)(q) 
2(1)(m) 
2(1)(g) 
2(1)(q) 

IAS 
Reference 
Statement 

No. 

5.7 

1.21 

5.17(a) 
5.17(b) 

5.14 
5.16 
12.45 

5.11 

5.12(a) 

5.13(d) 

5.13(c) 

5.13(c) 
5.13(c) 
5.13(al 

5.15(c) 
5.15(b) 

5.15(c) -

5.15(c) 
5.15ia) 
5.15ic) 
5.15ic1 



;, BLANK COMPANY BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30TH JUNE, 19X9 

Act IAS 
Reference Reference 

9th Statement 
Schedule No. 

5.7 

Notes 19X9 19X8 5(2) 1.21 
$'000 $'000 

TURNOVER 13 17,319 14.728 5.18(a) 
------

OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS) 15 1,798 (851) 

TAXATION 16 353 53 1(h)&1(j) 

PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER TAXATION 1,445 (904) 1(a) 5.18(j) 

PROFIT UNAPPROPRIATED/ 
(ACCUMULATED LOSS) 

~ C:J BROUGHT FORWARD 

PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENT 18 1(n) 8.19 2 

AS RESTATED (792) 60 

PROFIT AVAILABLE FOR 
APPROPRIATION/(ACCUMULATED 
LOSS} 653 (844) 

DIVIDENDS 19 348 1(k) 

PROFIT UNAPPROPRIATED/ 
(ACCUMULATED LOSS) 
CARRIED FORWARD 305 (844) 5.17(b) 
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APPENDIX E : Islam in Malaysia 

Introduction 

This appendix, consisting of four main sections, focuses on Islam in Malaysia, tracing its 

development from pre-colonial days to the present. The primary objective of this appendix is to 

examine the depth with which Islamic values are entrenched in the minds of Malaysian Muslims 

and how colonialism may have influenced the manner Islam is practised in Malaysia today. The 

following section discusses Islam before colonialism while section 2 concentrates on the period 

during British rule. Section 3 examines Islam's role after independence, Islamic revivalism and 

Islamic education in Malaysia. Section 4 provides the summary. 

1 Early Islam 

Although Islam is the official religion, 42 % of the citizens of Malaysia are non-Muslims (Hassan, 

1994) and other religions are allowed to be practised freely. Malaysia is not an Islamic state by 

any means. However, with more than half of the population being Muslims and with Islam being 

the official religion, Islam occupies an important place in Malaysian society and more importantly, 

the govemment1
. Thus, Malaysia is a country, though dominantly Islamic, embodies a deep 

expression of religious tolerance. 

Islam was brought to this part of the world between the 12th to the 14th centuries by Muslim 

traders from Persia, Arabia and India. As such, influences from these three countries appear to 

be strong2
• It was also reported that conversion to Islam was facilitated because the early Indian 

missionaries were able to syncretise Islamic teachings with existing beliefs (Osman, 1985). As 

1A Muslim state and an Islamic state should be distinguished. The former refers to the actual way of life in Muslim 
countries today (Al-Buraey, 1990) while the latter refers to a state in which the Shari'a is the authoritative regulative law 
of the state and the society, both in theory and practice (Rosenthal, 1965). Malaysia, according to Rosenthal (1965), is 
definitely a Muslim state (p295). 

2Before Islam, the Malay culture was a mixture of Hindu and Buddhist beliefs (Johns, 1985). 
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a result, aspects of Islamic teachings were practised with differing levels of intensity alongside the 

cultural practices of pre-Islamic times (Hassan, 1994). More specifically, the Persian tradition 

of kingship :influenced the Malay rulers to conve1t to Islam. According to this tradition, the 'king' 

was the person who governed on earth in place of God3
• Consequently, in embracing Islam the 

rulers' positions would be further strengthened. The Arabs familialised the Malays with the 

orthodox teachings of Islam while Persian and Indian traders were responsible for the spread of 

mysticism. Thus, the total Islamic culture of Malaysian Muslims is said to be woven from these 

three main cultures (Osman, 1985). 

According to Osman (1985), the Islamic belief and ethos have become the foundation of the 

culture of the Malays. However, some writers have suggested that adat or custom is by far a 

greater influence on how the Malay Muslims conduct themselves primarily because custom was 

conditioned by social forces earlier placed than Islam (Jomo, 1993). This is inevitable considering 

the fact that Islam amved at a time when there is already in existence an established system. 

Hofstede (1980), as one may recall, argued that once a religion has been established in a country, 

it reinforces the values that led to its acceptance in the first place. This may be true in the case 

of Malay kingship in Malaysia. Although the tradition of kingship may be regarded by many 

Muslims as unislamic (because of the hierarchical nature of such a structure), the practice is still 

maintained till the present time. Malaysia today is still made up of traditional Malay states under 

the control of hereditary Malay Sultans, who are effectively the religious Head of State 4. 

3The institution that existed then, the kerajaan (the condition of having a Raja) recognises the Malay subject to be 
subservient to the King. This tradition had deep roots in the Malay world's animistic and Indian influenced past (Milner, 
1985). 

4The word 'Sultan' is itself a Persian word denoting a king. In Malaysia, we still refer to the king as the Sultan. 
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2 Islam during colonialism 

Before the British came to Malaya, the Malay states were Islamic :in the true sense of the word 

pr:imaiily because not only were the rulers Muslims, their subjects were also of the same faith. 

Added to this is the fact that the law applicable at that time was the Muslim law. Under such a 

law, the Sultan was regarded as God's vicegerent on earth and he was entrusted with the power 

to run the country :in accordance with the Shari'a (Ibrahim, 1994). When the British came, 

through a series of treaties with the Sultans, Islam became separated into two domains, the public 

and the private (Ibrahim, 1994). The Pangkor Treaty of 1874 was the beginning of British rule 

in the Malay states5
• It was during this period that the position of Islam and consequently the 

Shari 'a Court were severely affected. Although in theory the Shari 'a was the law of the land, 

in practice this was replaced by legislations and enactments that were purely British :in flavour 

(Ibrahim, 1994). Further, Ibrahim (1994) argued that the 'development of the public aspect of 

Islam had left the religion as a mere adjunct to the ruler's power and sovereignty' (p36). If before, 

the ruler was regarded as God's vicegerent on eaith, with British rule, the ruler is considered a 

sovereign within his territory. By so doing, the divine source of legal validity is severed, thus 

turning the legal system into a secular institution (Ibrahim, 1994). 

When the British colonised Malaya in the late 18th century, they did not supplant the feudal system 

of Sultans but instead, chose to rule the country through them (Hassan, 1986). Through this 

system of indirect rule and establishment of secular institutions, Islamic law was isolated to the 

nmrnw confines of the sphere of marriage, divorce and inheritance. The Malay ruler had to seek 

the advice of the resident on all matters except those touching the 'Malay religion and custom'. 

As a result, the control of the Malay sultan and the secular traditional elites over religious 

5Three Straits Settlements were, however, acquired earlier than the Pangkor Treaty. Penang was colonised in 1786, 
Singapore in 1819 and Malacca in 1824. 
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teachings was further strengthened (Hassan, 1986). It was during this period that the British 

created an :indigenous urban lower middle class of merchants, moneylenders, civil servants, and 

others who were educated to serve the colonial-political and economic establishment. With the 

impact of reculturation, the colonial-educated lower middle class often attempted to reform its 

culture in line with the colonising power. This was made possible through new urban institutions 

like schools, welfare associations and sectarian and secular reform groups (Von Laue, 1987). In 

some way, this may have influenced the attitude of resignation and submission to British rule of 

the Malay rulers and the wider population at that time (Hassan, 1994). The Western idea of 

separating religion from the state (politics) met with no opposition from the Malays (Rosenthal, 

1965). The Shari1a was merely applied as 'personal status law' (e.g. Rosenthal, 1965, p301; 

Ibrahim, 1994). English law, as stated above, replaced Islamic law in many matters. The Civil 

Law Act of 1956 confitmed this. Section 3a of the Act states: 

Save so far as other provision has been made or may hereafter be made by any written law 
in force in Malaysia, the court shall in West Malaysia or any part thereof apply the common law of 
England and the rules of equity as administered in England on the 7th day of April 1956. 

Similar provisions were also evident in the case of the two states in East Malaysia, namely, Sabah 

and Sarawak (Ibrahim, 1994). 

The early twentieth century witnessed the emergence of the Islamic ref01mist movement. The 

movement criticised the conservatism of traditional Malay society of the 19th century and 

questioned the socio-economic position of the Malays6
• They also challenged the political order 

of the British colonialists. Consequently, the seeds of Malay nationalistic consciousness were 

sown by the refonnists. It was a new emerging elite (educated in the secular system as well as 

offsprings of aristocratic families) who took up the anti-imperialist struggle (Hassan, 1994). In 

fact, it was this same group of people, used by the British earlier as an instrument of colonial 

6The Malaysian Constitution defines a Malay as one who professes Islam as his religion. 
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exploitation, that became a vehicle for anticolonial protest. 

Islamic refonnism, however, did not become an effective social force p1imarily because of the 

opposition from both the traditionalists and the Malay secular elites as well as British colonial 

policy (Hassan, 1994). While the Islamic refmmist elan remain suppressed, Malay nationalist 

sentiments were gathering momentum, culminating in the fmmation of the United Malay 

Nationalist Organisation (UMNO) in 1946. The turning point for the development of Islamic 

thought in the Malay states began in 1955 when the idea of establishing an Islamic state was 

mooted. At the same time, Malay nationalists pressed for independence from British rule. Thus, 

Malay nationalist values were often invoked within an Islamic context7. This was necessary to 

appease the Islamists8
• Finally, in 1957, the Federation of Malaya gained its independence. 

3 Islam during post independence era 

The position of Islam as the official religion of post independent Malaysia was guaranteed in the 

Constitution. Despite this, only some aspects of the life of the Muslim community were actually 

in accordance with Islamic teachings (Hassan, 1994). While Islam in the colonial era was used 

to mobilise the population to go against a common enemy, in the post-independence period, Islam 

was used to maintain the status quo. The ruling classes afraid that they may lose whatever power 

that was given to them by the British, garnered the support of the religious teachers to ensure that 

they maintained their social and material advantage. Islam was, thus, used to provide religious 

endorsement to conservative attitudes; using appeals to God, tradition and traditional morality in 

order to mask the exploitation of the masses (e.g. Rodinson, 1974; Jomo, 1993). This was 

possible primarily because the teachings of Islam was compartmentalised; treating Islam more as 

7For an interesting discussion on the conflicts of nationalism and Islamism, readers may refer to Abu Bakar (1986). 

8The Islamists were members of the Malay society who emphasised the larger community of Islam (Abu Bakar, 1986). 
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a religion of rituals and not as sometlring dynamic that is to be applied in every sphere of one's life, 

a British colonial legacy. 

It was only in the seventies that the da'wah (Islamic proselytisation) movement began. The 

Muslim Youth Movement of Malaysia, established in 1971, pressed for the greater application of 

Islamic values in the national life and articulated the holistic Islamic perspective of social, 

economic and spiritual development. The movement continued to exert its influence, demanding 

that more Islamic institutions be established in the country and greater Islamic identity for the 

Malay community. It was also dming this period (1979-1982) that a feasibility study on the 

setting up of the Islamic Bank commenced (Hassan, 1994). Islamicisation efforts in Malaysia 

since then have been at full force. The following section discusses Islamic education. 

3.1 Islamic education 

The colonial legacy of separating religion from science and other worldly affairs has had 

detrimental effects in the lives and culture of Muslims. Realising this and very much aware that 

there is a need to change the thoughts of Muslims to accord with Islam, Muslim scholars and the 

Muslim community as early as the 1950's demanded that religious education be integrated with 

the secular education system inherited from the British9• Formal Islamic religious education was 

only integrated with the secular education system in 195610
• Islam was taught for two hours per 

week in government schools only to classes which had more than 15 Muslim students in a class. 

With the Education Act of 1961, Islamic religious knowledge was made compulsory for all 

Muslim students. Muslim students are now exposed to Islamic religious knowledge for a period 

9Having Sundays (and a half day on Saturday) as public holidays is also inherited from the British. However, three 
states in Malaysia, namely, Pahang, Trengganu and Kelantan still maintain Fridays ( and a half day on Saturday) as public 
holidays till today. 

10Prior to this, religious instruction was carried out privately. Malay religious leaders and scholars who were hostile 
towards Western culture and colonial rule started their own madrasahs (religious schools) where Islam was taught. 
Because of the non-integration with the secular educational system, religion was kept separate from the temporal aspects 
of life. 
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of 11 years for two hours per week throughout their plimary and secondary school years (Hassan, 

1986). 

In 1972, the Religious Education Division was set up within the Ministry of Education. The 

division has made notable progress in promoting the teaching of Islam and the Arabic language, 

training of religious teachers, improvement and revision of cuniculum and holding annual Qur'an 

reading competitions amongst schools. The division also took over the administration of thirteen 

religious secondary schools which formerly belonged to the respective state governments. 

Currently, Muslim pupils are given three hours per week of religious instruction at the plimary 

level while those in secondary schools are taught two hours of the theoretical aspects and another 

two hours of 'practical' application (Hassan, 1994). All these constitute part of the formal school 

cuniculum. Besides this, there are religious schools run by the state government where parents 

may send their children to have additional Islamic religious instruction, outside normal school 

hours. In addition, most Muslim parents also engage plivate tutors solely for the learning 

(reciting) of the Qur'an. 

Disenchanted with the competitive and aggressive approach to learning the 'value free' sciences 

(which are after all manifestations of Western bias) have led to questioning the very premises and 

values on which the sciences rest. Consequently, Islamic religious instruction is followed through 

up to the tertiary level. In fact the University of Technology of Malaysia, realising that there was 

an urgent agenda to produce a future generation of Islamically-committed technologists and 

technocrats, made Islamic education compulsory for all its Muslim students. In 1981, a course 

on Islamic civilisation was introduced :in all colleges in universities. Somewhat similar to the way 

'The History of the Blitish Empire' was taught :in Malaysian schools duling colonial times, the 

course projected the achievements and developments of Islamic civilisation without going into 
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Islamic theology. Its primary aim was to make Muslims and non-Muslims aware of the positive 

contribution of Islam to the history of human civilisation, thus, dispelling some of the popular 

misconceptions concerning Islam amongst Muslims and non-Muslims. Further, since Islam is the 

official religion, it is only fitting that a course such as this is taught in order for students to 

appreciate Islam's contribution to human development. 

In 1983, to further pursue the 'Islamisation of human knowledge', the International Islamic 

University was established. The fo1mation of this university marks a milestone in the integration 

of Islamic values with the sciences. All undergraduates at the university11
, irrespective of the 

degree they are pursuing (Law, Economics, Accounting12
, Business Management, Medicine or 

Engineering), must follow courses in fundamental Islamic religious knowledge throughout their 

four years in the university. Appendix F provides the diagrammatic representation of the 

underlying philosophy of the university cmTiculum. The university's philosophy is represented by 

the principle of the unity of knowledge and the integration of Islamic values in all academic 

disciplines. Appendix G demonstrates the three components of revealed knowledge pertinent to 

an Islamic university education: Aqidah (Islamic creed), Shari'a (Divine Law) andAkhlak (Islamic 

ethics). These three constitute the core of the cmTiculum. It is hoped that the integration of 

these courses with those courses more specific to their professional degrees will produce graduates 

which are imbued with Islamic values. 

3.2 Islamic revivalism 

Given that Islam is a state religion, the status of Islam as a political factor is strong in Malaysia 

uundergraduates at the university comprise Muslims from all over the world as well as non-Muslims from Malaysia. 

Muslims and non-Muslims have to take courses in fundamental Islamic religious knowledge. 

12In the Bachelor of Accounting program, 'Zakat Accounting and Accounting for Islamic Banks are offered as electives. 
Although offered as electives, these subjects are taken by almost all students doing the Accounting program. In addition, 
accounting students must also do two courses of Islamic economics. 
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(Choudhury, 1993). The Islamic resurgence in the Muslim world today has brought an even 

greater role for Islam in Malaysia. Despite this, Islam in Malaysia does not appear to influence 

a Muslim's life in totality (Hassan, 1986). However, Nagata (1984) contends that there is 

evidence of a generally enhanced religious consciousness amongst Malaysians in general and 

Muslims in particular. The Islamicisation efforts of the government brought about a lot of 

changes, especially during the eighties and the nineties. More importantly, the public sector 

underwent various changes. Unislamic practices in the conduct of official ceremonies were 

eradicated. More specifically, liquor was not served at government functions 13
• Today, the 

recitation of the verses of the Qur'an usually marks the start and the end of official ceremonies. 

Muslim employees in the private sector are allowed a two hour break on Fridays to enable them 

to pe1fonn their congregational prayers. Government offices remain close for the duration of the 

Hiday mid-afternoon prayers. Interest charged on government loans to Muslim employees were 

abolished. In its place was the mudaraba principle advocated by Islam. Programmes on Islamic 

p1inciples and values were conducted for all employees in government departments. hltellectual 

discourses amongst civil servants and institutions of higher learning were encouraged. Such 

practices are still going on today. The setting up of the Islamic Bank of Malaysia in 1983 charts 

another milestone in the Islamicisation process. A decade later, in 1993, conventional banks 

started to provide interest-free banking facilities. The government, recognising the need to 

correct the misconceptions of non-Muslims and Muslims on Islam, established the hlstitute of 

Islamic Understanding (IKIM) in 199214
• The International Institute of Islamic Thought and 

Civilisation was fmmed five years earlier (Hassan, 1994). 

13It was reported in Ibrahim (1985) that the then Prime Minister, Tunku Abdul Rahman deplored bringing in religion 
to mingle with the affairs of the state saying that "I would like to make it clear that this country is not an Islamic State as 
it is generally understood, we merely provide that Islam shall be the official religion of the State" (p217). 

14IKIM is a think-tank which is committed to effect the true understanding of Islam towards achieving peace, 
togetherness, economic and spiritual vibrance. 
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Besides institutional changes discussed above, other evidences (more general in nature) are also 

visible. It is evident in an increase in the number of Muslim women with modest attire (more in 

keeping with Islamic teachings), an increase in the building of new mosques, special rooms 

reserved for Muslim employees to pe1form their prayers, in the ove1flowing mosques at the Friday 

congregational prayer, in the orientation of the arts as well as the content of radio and television 

prograimning. Liquor advertisements have been totally banned from the mass media. Whether 

these me indications of increase in piety, religious mindedness or simply an increase in political 

action (Antoun, 1989) is difficult to detennine. However such visible signs promote social 

cohesion and also compel participa11ts' actions to conform with the cultural n01ms, whatever their 

beliefs (Gambling a11d Kaiim, 1991). This is certainly true in the case of Malaysia. A good 

exainple is the call for prayers. In Malaysia, this is done using loud speakers, five times a day. 

Non-Muslims have accepted and respected this practice with understanding and tolerance15 just 

like the Muslims' acceptance of the Hindu procession dming Thaipusam16
• 

4Summary 

This appendix dealt with the development of !slain in Malaysia. Three main pedods were 

distinguished: eai·ly !slain during pre-colonial era, Islam during Bdtish rule and post independence 

period. Of the three, perhaps what is most interesting is Islainic revivalism during the post 

independence period. The Islainic resurgence has cha11ged the lives of Muslims in Malaysia. 

Whether the steps taken by the Malaysian government so far, especially in the domain of 

education, will culminate in a generation of Muslims who ai·e not only religious-minded but 

religious (i.e. where Islam is embodied in their daily activities as oppose to mere rationalising of 

their beliefs) may perhaps, in part, be revealed by the results of this study. 

15This is definitely not the case in Singapore, where this practice was discontinued in the seventies, despite this being 
a significant part of Islamic culture. 

16A Hindu ritual. 
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APPENDIX F 

The Curriculum of the International Islamic University (i) 

{ 
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APPENDIX F 

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

6. 

The organic relationship of all 
disciplines to a common religious 
foundation. 

The harmonious relationship 
among all the disciplines. 

The interrelationship of all the 
disciplines to serve a common 
objective. 

The pre-eminence of knowledge 
revealed by Allah through Wahyu 
(Divine Inspiration) 

The unity of Revealed and 
Acquired Knowledge. 

The integration of the Islamic 
world-view in human knowledge 

AQIDAH (Islamic creed), 

SHARl'AH (Divine Law), 

AKHLAQ (Islamic ethics), 

the three main components of 
Revealed Knowledge providing 
the basis of all the academic 
disciplines. 

THE CURRICULUM OF THE INTERNATIONAL ISLAMIC UN_IVERSITY (i) 
Source : Hassan (1986) 
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APPENDIX G 

The Curriculum of the International Islamic University (ii) 
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APPENDIXG 

1. The Principle of Tauhid 
(Oneness of Allah and 
supremacy of His Authority 
over all creation as the 
centre of all knowledge). 

"' co {:J 
0) ~ ,... 

I e 
""" 

3. Courses which 
integrate Islamic 
religious principles 
and values in the 
discipline. 

198 9* 

* The year of establishment is purely conjectural 

2. Islamic religious knowledge 
as the core of the curriculum 
compulsory for all students. 
This is administered by the 
Centre for Fundamental 
Knowledge. Arabic is 
compulsory fro all students 
and this is provided by the 
Centre for Languages. 

.> 
~ 
~ 

u:>* 

4: Specialized courses 
in the discipline 

THE CURRICULUM OF THE INTERNATIONAL ISLAMIC UNIVERSITY (ii) 
Source : Hassan (1986) 
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APPENDIX H 

Survey Questionnaire (English : A Berhad) 
Survey Questionnaire (English : L Berhad) 
Survey Questionnaire (Malay) 
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APPENUIX H 

Department of Accountancy 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

University of Otago 
Te Whare Wananga o Otago 

4th Floor, Commerce Building 
P O Box 56, Dunedin, New Zealand 

Tel. (64-3)479-8192 Fax. (64-3)479-8450 

15th September, 1995. 

Re: Research on corporate information disclosure in annual reports 

The objective of this letter is to seek your participation in a survey constituting a vital part of my doctoral 
research in accounting at the University of Otago, New Zealand. In the past, you may have been asked to 
participate in studies concerning· financial information disclosure in annual reports. These requests can be 
burdensome, yet only through such surveys are we able to discern the types of information users require. 

Prior research in this area has not reflected the needs of Malaysian users. As such the present study is an attempt 
to address this issue. More specifically, this study aims to look at the different needs (if any) of the various user 
groups such as bank lending officers, institutional investors, private investors, etc. 

The enclosed questionnaire has been designed to solicit your information needs. At first glance, the 
questionnaire may appear to be long but a large portion of it contains the same questions regarding four different 
types of financial statements. May I request 10 to 15 minutes of your time to answer the attached questionnaire. 
If you would do this, it will greatly enhance the results of the study. The findings of this survey may well help 

shape future financial reporting regulations in Malaysia. 

I am most grateful for your assistance in this research. Please rest assured that all information divulged will be 
strictly confidential and will be used for research purposes only. A self addressed prepaid envelope is enclosed 
for your convenience in returning the questionnaire. 

Thank you for your cooperation. 

Yours sincerely, 

~ 
Maliah Siilaiman, 
Department of Accountancy, 
University of Otago, 
P.O. Box 56, 
Dunedin, NEW ZEALAND. 
Tel: 479-9046 Fax: 479-8450 
Email: msulaiman@commerce.otago.ac.nz 

Contact address in Malaysia: 
Head of Department of Accounting, 
Kulliyyah of Economics and Management, 
International Islamic University, 
Jalan University, Petaling Jaya. 
Tel: 755-3773 Fax: 757-4407 
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Instructions 

In answering the questions, please disregard the possible cost of information that is involved in 
reporting the item. 

For each item, please tick (../) at the appropriate place to the right of the question your assessment 
of the importance which should be assigned to that purpose. 

On the five point scale the numbers are considered to be evenly spaced. That is, the difference in 
'importance' or 'usefulness' between 1 and 2 is considered to be the same as that between 2 and 3, 3 and 
4 and 4 and 5. 

Please rest assured that confidentiality will be strictly observed. The findings of this survey is for research 
purposes only. 

PART A 

1. Below is a list of possible users and objectives for the preparation of published accounts. Please give 
your assessment of their relative importance. 

Least important 2 3 4 5 Most important 

1 2 3 ( 4 5 

a. Investors to assist in their investment decisions 

b. Financial institutions to assist in their lending decisions 

c. Employees for the prote.ction of their interests 

d. The general public to enable them to judge whether the company is 
socially responsible ( e.g. disclosing issues pertaining to pollution, 
employment, involvement with the community, etc.) 

e. The zakat office for the determination of zakat* 

f. The government for economic planning 

g. Managers to assist in monitoring the performance of the company 

h. Shareholders to judge the effectiveness and efficiency of management. 

* Zakat is a wealth tax that is obligatory on all Muslims whose wealth exceed a certain minimum level, the 
level being fixed by the Zakat Office. Net wealth is taxed at 2.5%. 
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FIGURE 1 

Below are the profit and loss account and the value added statement. 

L BERHAD 

Profit and Loss Statement for year ending 31.12.94. 

RM '000 
Operating revenue 2000 

Profit from operations 1000 

Profit before tax 1000 
Less Tax 50 

Profit after tax 950 
Less: Dividends 800 

Retained profit for the year 150 

Notes: 
Depreciation for the year RM 50,000. 
Interest on loan RM 250,000. 

Value Added Statement for year ending 31.12.94. 

Operating revenue 
Less: Bought-in-goods and services 

Value added 

Distributed as follows: 

Employees 
Salaries, wages and benefits 

Government 
Income tax 

Providers of funds 
Interest on borrowings 
Dividends to shareholders 

Retained in the business 
Depreciation 
Retained profits 

Total value added distributed 

RM '000 
2000 
600 

1400 

100 

50 

250 
800 

50 
150 

1400 

00 -('f') 



The Value Added Statement rearranges the information in the profit and loss account into a format 
which emphasizes the shares of various groups i11 society (for example, the employees, providers of 
capital, the government and the shareholders) in the value created by the firm rather than just 
emphasizing the distributable profit due to the owners of the firm. 

Please refer to Figure 1 on the opposite page for an illustration of the value added statement 

2. To what extent do you think a value added statement is useful in meeting the following objectives? 

Not useful at all 2 3 4 5 Extremely useful 

I 2 3 4 5 

a. Investors to assist in their investment decisions 

b. Financial institutions to assist in their lending decisions 

c. Employees for the protection of their interests 

d. The general public to enable them to judge whether the company is 
socially responsible ( e.g. disclosing issues pertaining to pollution, 
employment, involvement with the community, etc.) 

e. The zakat office for the determination of zakat 

f. The government for economic planning 

g. Managers to assist in monitoring the performance of the company 

h. Shareholders to judge the effectiveness and efficiency of management. 

3. To what extent do you think a profit and loss account is useful in meeting the following objectives? 

Not useful at all 2 3 4 5 Extremely useful 

I 2 3 4 5 

a. Investors to assist in their investment decisions 

b. Financial institutions to assist in their lending decisions 

c. Employees for the protection of their interests 

d. The general public to enable them to judge whether the company is 
socially responsible ( e.g. disclosing issues pertaining to pollution, 
employment, involvement with the community, etc.) 

e. The zakat office for the determination of zakat 

f. The government for economic planning 

g. Managers to assist in monitoring the performance of the company 

h. Shareholders to judge the effectiveness and efficiency of management. 
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4. To what extent do you think a current value* balance sheet is useful in meeting the following objectives? 
*The current value represents the amount of cash for which an asset might be sold ( i.e. its net realizable 
value) or a liability might be refinanced. 

Not useful at all 2 3 4 5 Extremely useful 

1 2 3 4 5 

a. Investors to assist in their investment decisions 

b. Financial institutions to assist in their lending decisions 

c. Employees for the protection of their interests 

d. The general public to enable them to judge whether the company is 
socially responsible ( e.g. disclosing issues pertaining to pollution, 
employment, involvement with the community, etc.) 

e. The zakat office for the determination of zakat 

f. The government for economic planning 

g. Managers to assist in monitoring the performance of the company 

h. Shareholders to judge the effectiveness and efficiency of management. 

5. To what extent do you think a historical cost balance sheet is useful in meeting the following objectives? 

Not useful at all 2 3 4 5 Extremely useful 

1 2 3 4 5 

a. Investors to assist in their investment decisions 

b. Financial institutions to assist in their lending decisions 

c. Employees for the protection of their interests 

d. The general public to enable them to judge whether the company is 
socially responsible ( e.g. disclosing issues pertaining to pollution, 
employment, involvement with the community, etc.) 

e. The zakat office for the determination of zakat 

f. The government for economic planning 

g. Managers to assist in monitoring the performance of the company 

h. Shareholders to judge the effectiveness and efficiency of management. 

320 



6. How important is it to you to have the following disclosed in annual reports? 

Of no importance 1 2 3 4 5 Of utmost importance 

1 2 3 4 5 

a. Source and application of funds statement 

b. Historical cost balance sheet 

c. Historical cost profit and loss statement 

d. Value added statement 

e. Cashflow statement 

f. Current value balance sheet 

g. Report on the environment such as pollution control, prevention or 
repair of environmental damage, conservation of natural resources, etc 

h. Disclosure on the amount of zakat paid on behalf of Muslim 
shareholders 

i. Employment report i.e. a report about the workforce 

j. Other, please specify 

7. To what extent do you agree with the following statements? 

Strongly Disagree 2 3 4 5 Strongly Agree 

1 2 3 4 5 

a. Gambling should be banned 

b. Alcohol consumption in moderation is acceptable 

c. Firms should be made accountable to the public for the consequences 
of their operations 

d. Zakat should be deducted on behalf of Muslim shareholders by the 
company 

e. Religion should be taught as one of the subjects in school 

f. Earning a living is part of religious duty 

g. My immediate superior should be of the same faith 

h. Companies should be made to disclose monopoly practices in their 
annual reports 

i. A system of social audit should be instituted 

j. Interest or riba should be banned 

321 



PARTS 

To help me classify your answers in a statistical manner, please answer the following. 

Instructions: Please tick ( ) the appropriate category. 

1. Which of the following best describes your occupation? 

Accountant 
Bank lending officer 
Zakat officer 
Financial/Investment analyst 
Other ________ _ 

2. How long have you been in the profession as in (1) above? 3. My age is: 

§Under 5 years 
Between 5 and 1 O years 
Between 11 and 15 years 
Above 15 years 

4. My qualification(s) is(are): 

Diploma 
Bachelors degree 
Master degree 
PhD 

Under25 
25 to 30 
31 to 35 
36 to 40 
41 to 45 
46 to 50 

Above 50 

5. My gender is: 

0Male 
0Female 

Professional qualification (please specify _______ _ 
Other ________ _ 

6. I obtained my qualification(s) from: 

United Kingdom 
United States of America 
New Zealand 
Australia 
Local (Malaysia) 
Other ________ _ 

7. My religious affiliation is: 

Islam 
Buddhism 
Christianity 
Hinduism 
Other---------; 

THANK YOU FOR ANSWERING THIS QUESTIONNAIRE 

A self addressed envelope is provided for you to return this questionnaire. If you would like the results 
of this survey, please provide your name and address on the reverse of the envelope. Do not write here 
for confidentiality reasons. 

Have you any other comments? 
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Department of Accountancy 

SAPIRE•AUDE 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

University of Otago 
Te Whare Wananga o Otago 

4th Floor, Commerce Building 
P O Box 56, Dunedin, New Zealand 

Tel. (64-3)479-8192 Fax. (64-3)479-8450 

15th September, 1995. 

Re: Research on corporate information disclosure in annual reports 

The objective of this letter is to seek your participation in a survey constituting a vital part of my doctoral 
research in accounting at the University of Otago, New Zealand. In the past, you may have been asked to 
participate in studies concerning financial information disclosure in annual reports. These requests can be 
burdensome, yet only through such surveys are we able to discern the types of information users require. 

Prior research in this area has not reflected the needs of Malaysian users. As such the present study is an attempt 
to address this issue. More specifically, this study aims to look at the different needs (if any) of the various user 
groups such as bank lending officers, institutional investors, private investors, etc. 

The enclosed questionnaire has been designed to solicit your information needs. At first glance, the 
questionnaire may appear to be long but a large portion of it contains the same questions regarding four different 
types of financial statements. May I request 10 to 15 minutes of your time to answer the attached questionnaire. 
If you would do this, it will greatly enhance the results of the study. The findings of this survey may well help 

shape future financial reporting regulations in Malaysia. 

I am most grateful for your assistance in this research. Please rest assured that all information divulged will be 
strictly confidential and will be used for research purposes only. A self addressed prepaid envelope is enclosed 
for your convenience in returning the questionnaire. 

Thank you for your cooperation. 

Yours sincerely, 

~ --Maliah Sulaiman, 
Department of Accountancy, 
University of Otago, 
P.O. Box 56, 
Dunedin, NEW ZEALAND. 
Tel: 479-9046 Fax: 479-8450 
Email: msulaiman@commerce.otago.ac.nz 

Contact address in Malaysia: 
Head of Department of Accounting, 
Kulliyyah of Economics and Management, 
International Islamic University, 
Jalan University, Petaling Jaya. 
Tel: 755-3773 Fax: 757-4407 

323 

Supervisor: 
Professor Roger Willett, 
Department of Accountancy, 
University of Otago. 
Email: rwillett@commerce.otago.ac.nz 



Instructions 

In answering the questions, please disregard the possible cost of information that is involved in 
reporting the item. 

For each item, please tick (v) at the appropriate place to the right of the question your assessment 
of the importance which should be assigned to that purpose. 

On the five point scale the numbers are considered to be evenly spaced. That is, the difference in 
'importance' or 'usefulness' between 1 and 2 is considered to be the same as that between 2 and 3, 3 and 
4 and 4 and 5. 

Please rest assured that confidentiality will be strictly observed. The findings of this survey is for research 
purposes only. 

PART A 

1. Below is a list of possible users and objectives for the preparation of published accounts. Please give 
your assessment of their relative importance. 

Least important 2 3 4 5 Most important 

1 2 3 4 5 

a. Investors to assist in their investment decisions 

b. Financial institutions to assist in their lending decisions 

c. Employees for the protection of their interests 

d. The general public to enable them to judge whether the company is 
socially responsible ( e.g. disclosing issues pertaining to pollution, 
employment, involvement with the community, etc.) 

e. The zakat office for the determination of zakat* 

f. The government for economic planning 

g. Managers to assist in monitoring the performance of the company 

h. Shareholders to judge the effectiveness and efficiency of management. 

* Zakat is a wealth tax that is obligatory on all Muslims whose wealth exceed a certain minimum level, the 
level being fixed by the Zakat Office. Net wealth is taxed at 2.5%. 
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2. To what extent do you think a current value* balance sheet is useful in meeting the following objectives? 
*The current value represents the amount of cash for which an asset might be sold ( i.e. its net realizable 
value) or a liability might be refinanced. 

Not useful at all 2 3 4 5 Extremely useful 

1 2 3 4 5 

a. Investors to assist in their investment decisions 

b. Financial institutions to assist in their lending decisions 

c. Employees for the protection of their interests 

d. The general public to enable them to judge whether the company is 
socially responsible ( e.g. disclosing issues pertaining to pollution, 
employment, involvement with the community, etc.) 

e. The zakat office for the determination of zakat 

f. The government for economic planning 

g. Managers to assist in monitoring the performance of the company 

h. Shareholders to judge the effectiveness and efficiency of management. 

3. To what extent do you think a historical cost balance sheet is useful in meeting the following objectives? 

Not useful at all 2 3 4 5 Extremely useful 

1 2 3 4 5 

a. Investors to assist in their investment decisions 

b. Financial institutions to assist in their lending decisions 

c. Employees for the protection of their interests 

d. The general public to enable them to judge whether the company is 
socially responsible ( e.g. disclosing issues pertaining to pollution, 
employment, involvement with the community, etc.) 

e. The zakat office for the determination of zakat 

f. The government for economic planning 

g. Managers to assist in monitoring the performance of the company 

h. Shareholders to judge the effectiveness and efficiency of management. 
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FIGURE 1 

Below are the profit and loss account and the value added statement. 

A BERHAD 

Profit and Loss Statement for year endinq 31.12.94. 

RM '000 
Operating revenue 2000 

Profit from operations 450 

Profit before tax 450 
Less Tax 200 

Profit after tax 250 
Less: Dividends 100 

Retained profit for the year 150 

Notes: 
Depreciation for the year RM 50,000. 
Interest on loan RM 100,000. 

Value Added Statement for year ending 31.12.94. 

Operating revenue 
Less: Bought-in-goods and services 

Value added 

Distributed as follows: 

Employees 
Salaries, wages and benefits 

Government 
Income tax 

Providers of funds 
Interest on borrowings 
Dividends to shareholders 

Retained in the business 
Depreciation 
Retained profits 

Total value added distributed 

{'~ 

r 

RM'OOO 
2000 
600 

1400 

800 

200 

100 
100 

50 
150 

1400 

\0 
01 
("') 
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The Value Added Statement rearranges the information in the profit and loss account into a format 
which emphasizes tlte shares of various groups in society (for example, tlte employees, providers of 
capital, tlte government and the sltareholders) in tlte value created by tlte firm rather titan just 
emphasizing the distributable profit due to tlte owners of the firm. 

Please refer to Figure 1 on the opposite page for an illustration of the value added statement 

4. To what extent do you think a value added statement is useful in meeting the following objectives? 

Not useful at all 2 3 4 5 Extremely useful 

1 2 3 4 5 

a. Investors to assist in their investment decisions 

b. Financial institutions to assist in their lending decisions 

c. Employees for the protection of their interests 

d. The general public to enable them to judge whether the company is 
socially responsible ( e.g. disclosing issues pertaining to pollution, 
employment, involvement with the community, etc.) 

e. The zakat office for the determination of zakat 

f. The government for economic planning 

g. Managers to assist in monitoring the performance of the company 

h. Shareholders to judge the effectiveness and efficiency of management. 

5. To what extent do you think a profit and loss account is useful in meeting the following objectives? 

Not useful at all 2 3 4 5 Extremely useful 

1 2 3 4 5 

a. Investors to assist in their investment decisions 

b. Financial institutions to assist in their lending decisions 

c. Employees for the protection of their interests 

d. The general public to enable them to judge whether the company is 
socially responsible ( e.g. disclosing issues pertaining to pollution, 
employment, involvement with the community, etc.) 

e. The zakat office for the determination of zakat 

f. The government for economic planning 

g. Managers to assist in monitoring the performance of the company 

h. Shareholders to judge the effectiveness and efficiency of management. 
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6. How important is it to you to have the following disclosed in annual reports? 

Of no importance 2 3 4 5 Of utmost importance 

1 2 3 4 5 

a. Source and application of funds statement 

b. Historical cost balance sheet 

c. Historical cost profit and loss statement 

d. Value added statement 

e. Cashflow statement 

f. Current value balance sheet 

g. Report on the environment such as pollution control, prevention or 
repair of environmental damage, conservation of natural resources, etc 

h. Disclosure on the amount of zakat paid on behalf of Muslim 
shareholders 

i. Employment report i.e. a report about the workforce 

j. Other, please specify 

7. To what extent do you agree with the following statements? 

Strongly Disagree 2 3 4 5 Strongly Agree 

1 2 3 4 5 

a. Gambling should be banned 

b. Alcohol consumption in moderation is acceptable 

c. Firms should be made accountable to the public for the consequences 
of their operations 

d. Zakat should be deducted on behalf of Muslim shareholders by the 
company 

e. Religion should be taught as one of the subjects in school 

f. Earning a living is part of religious duty 

g. My immediate superior should be of the same faith 

h. Companies should be made to disclose monopoly practices in their 
annual reports 

i. A system of social audit should be instituted 

j. Interest or riba should be banned 
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PARTS 

To help me classify your answers in a statistical manner, please answer the following. 

Instructions: Please tick ( ) the appropriate category. 

1. Which of the following best describes your occupation? 

Bank lending officer 
Zakat officer 

§Accountant 
Financial/Investment analyst 
Other 

2. How long have you been in the profession as in (1) above? 3. My age is: 

~ Under 5 years ~Under25 
>--

Between 5 and 10 years 25 to 30 
r--

Between 11 and 15 years 31 to 35 -Above 15 years 36 to 40 - 41 to 45 
r--

46 to 50 -
Above 50 -

4. My qualification(s) is(are): 5. My gender is: 

-
BMale Diploma 

>--
Bachelors degree Female 

- Master degree 
PhD -
Professional qualification (please specify ) 
Other -

6. I obtained my qualification(s) from: 7. My religious affiliation is: 

- United Kingdom §Islam -
United States of America Buddhism -
New Zealand Christianity -
Australia Hinduism - Local (Malaysia) Other 
Other -

THANK YOU FOR ANSWERING THIS QUESTIONNAIRE 

A self addressed envelope is provided for you to return this questionnaire. If you would like the results 
of this survey, please provide your name and address on the reverse of the envelope. Do not write here 
for confidentiality reasons. 

Have you any other comments? 

(If you would like more space, please continue on back) 
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Department of Accountancy 

Assalamualaikum wbrt. 

Tuan/Puan, 

University of Otago 
Te Whare Wananga o Otago 

4th Floor, Commerce Building 
PO Box 56, Dunedin, New Zealand 

Tel. (03)479-8192 Fax. (03)479-8450 

16hb September, 1995. 

Perkara: Kajiselidik mengenai pembentangan maklumat kewangan koporat dalam Lapuran Tahunan 

Tujuan surat ini ialah untuk memohon jasa baik Tuan/Puan bagi membantu saya dalam satu kajiselidik yang 
merangkumi satu aspek penting dalam penyelidikan saya. Saya ialah seorang pensyarah dari Jabatan Perakaunan, 
Universiti Islam Antarabangsa dan sekarang dalam cuti belajar dalam usaha untuk menyiapkan kajian PhD saya 
dalam bidang perakaunan di Otago University. Kajiselidik saya ialah mengenai pembentangan maklumat 
kewangan korporat. 

Tujuan utama kajiselidik ini ialah untuk mengkaji keperluan maklumat kewangan bagi pengguna-pengguna akaun 
lapuran kewangan di Malaysia saperti pegawai zakat, pegawai kredit, pelabur institusi, pelabur persendirian dan 
sebagainya. Ingin saya menekankan disini bahawa besar kemungkinan rumusan kajiselidik ini dapat membantu 
dalam membentuk dan menyediakan peraturan-peraturan lapuran kewangan pada masa yang akan datang. Oleh 
yang demikian, saya berharap Tuan/Puan akan merasakan perlu untuk menjawab soalan kajiselidik yang 
dilampirkan. Maklumat yang diberi adalah rahsia. Kajiselidik ini adalah pendek dan dianggarkan memerlu selama 
10 hingga 15 minit untuk mengisinya. 

Bersama surat ini juga disertakan satu sampul surat yang tidak memerlukan setem bagi memudahkan Tuan/Puan 
menghantar kembali soalan kajiselidik tersebut. 

Kerjasama pihak Tuan/Puan didahului dengan ucapan terima kasih. 
memerlukan sebarang maklumat lanjut. 

Sila hubungi saya jika Tuan/Puan 

Wassalam. 

Yang benar, 

Maliah Sulaiman, 
Department of Accountancy, 
University of Otago, 
P.O. Box 56, 
Dunedin, NEW ZEALAND. 
Tel: 479-9046 Fax: 479-'8450 

Alamat di Malaysia: 
Head of Department of Accounting, 
Kulliyyah of Economics and Management, 
International Islamic University, 
Jalan University, Petaling Jaya. 
Tel: 755-3773 Fax: 755-4407 
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Arahan 

Dalam menjawab soalan berikut, anda tidak perlu mengambil kira kos maklumat yang mungkin 
terlibat semasa melaporkan butiran maklumat tersebut. 

Bagi setiap soalan, sila tanda ( ) pada ruang yang sesuai yang disediakan di sebelah kanan soalan 
mengikut penilaian anda mengenai kepentingan yang harus ditetapkan bagi setiap objektif. 

Pada ukuran skala lima, nombor-nombor berikut adalah dianggap seimbang. Perbezaan dari segi 
kepentingan di antara 1 dan 2 dianggap sam berbanding dengan 2 dan 3, 3 dan 4 dan seterusnya 4 dan 5. 

Maklumat yang diberi adalah rahsia. 
penyelidikan sahaja. 

Ia hanya akan digunakan untuk tujuan semata-mata untuk 

BAHAGIAN A 

1. Di bawah ialah senarai pengguna bersama dengan objektif penyediaan Iaporan kewangan tahunan 
terbitan (published accounts). Sila nyatakan penilaian anda berhubung dengan kepentingannya. 

Kurang penting 2 3 4 5 Paling penting 

1 2 3 4 5 

a. Pelabur-pelabur untuk membantu dalam keputusan pelaburan mereka 

b. Institusi kewangan untuk membantu dalam keputusan peminjaman mereka 

c. Para pekerja untuk melindungi kepentingan mereka 

d. Pihak awam bagi membolehkan mereka menilai sama ada sesebuah 
syarikat itu bertanggungjawab atas perkara sosial (iaitu aspek 
pertanggungjawaban syarikat seperti pendedahan isu yang berkaitan dengan 
pencemaran, pekerjaan, penglibatan dengan masyarakat dan sebagainya) 

e. Pejabat zakat untuk penentuan zakat 

f. Pengurus untuk membantu mengawasi prestasi syarikat 

g. Pihak kerajaan untuk perancangan ekonomi 

h. Pemegang-pemegang saham bagi menilai keberkesanan dan kecekapan 
pihak pengurusan. 
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2. Pada pendapat anda, sejauh manakah penyata akhir nilai semasa* amat berguna bagi memenuhi objektif 
berikut? 
*Nilai semasa ialah jumlah wang yang diperolehi dari jualan sesebuah aset (iaitu nilai harga bersih jualan) 
ataupun liability yang di 'finance' semula. 

Tidak berguna langsung 2 3 4 5 Amat berguna 

1 2 3 4 5 

a. Pelabur-pelabur untuk membantu dalam keputusan pelaburan mereka 

b. Institusi kewangan untuk membantu dalam keputusan peminjaman mereka 

c. Para pekerja untuk melindungi kepentingan mereka 

d. Pihak awam bagi membolehkan mereka menilai sama ada sesebuah 
syarikat itu bertanggungjawab atas perkara sosial (iaitu aspek 
pertanggungjawaban syarikat seperti pendedahan isu yang berkaitan dengan 
pencemaran, pekerjaan, penglibatan dengan masyarakat dan sebagainya) 

e. Pejabat zakat untuk penentuan zakat 

f. Pengurus untuk membantu mengawasi prestasi syarikat 

g. Pihak kerajaan untuk perancangan ekonomi 

h. Pemegang-pemegang saham bagi menilai keberkesanan dan kecekapan 
pihak pengurusan. 

3. Sejauhmanakah kos Iampau (historical costs) amat berguna bagi memenuhi objektif berikut? 

Tidak berguna langsung 2 3 4 5 Sangat berguna 

1 2 3 4 5 

a. Pelabur-pelabur untuk membantu dalam keputusan pelaburan mereka 

b. Institusi kewangan untuk membantu dalam keputusan peminjaman mereka 

c. Para pekerja untuk melindungi kepentingan mereka 

d. Pihak awam bagi membolehkan mereka menilai sama ada sesebuah 
syarikat itu bertanggungjawab atas perkara sosial (iaitu aspek 
pertanggungjawaban syarikat seperti pendedahan isu yang berkaitan dengan 
pencemaran, pekerjaan, penglibatan dengan masyarakat dan sebagainya) 

e. Pejabat zakat untuk penentuan zakat 

f. Pengurus untuk membantu mengawasi prestasi syarikat 

g. Pihak kerajaan untuk perancangan ekonomi 

h. Pemegang-pemegang saham bagi menilai keberkesanan dan kecekapan 
pihak pengurusan. 
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Penyata Nilai Tambah (Value Added Statement) menyusun semula maklumat yang sedia ada dalam 
akaun untung rugi dalam satu bentuk yang memberi penekanan kepada bahagian milik pelbagai 
kumpulan (contohnya, pekerja-pekerja, penyumbang modal, kerajaan dan pemegang saham) atas nilai 
tambah yang diperolelti ole/z syarikat berbanding dengan penekanan atas pembahagian keuntzmgan 
semata-mata kepada pemegang saham syarikat. 

Sila rujuk Rajah 1 di mukasurat yang bertentangan untuk contoh penyata nilai tambah 

4. Pada pendapat anda, sejauhmanakah penyata nilai tambah (value added statement) berguna bagi 
memenuhi objektif berikut? 

Tidak berguna langsung 2 3 4 5 Sangat berguna 

1 2 3 4 5 

a. Pelabur-pelabur untuk membantu dalam keputusan pelaburan mereka 

b. Institusi kewangan untuk membantu dalam keputusan peminjaman mereka 

c. Para pekerja untuk melindungi kepentingan mereka 

d. Pihak awam bagi membolehkan mereka menilai sama ada sesebuah 
syarikat itu bertanggungjawab atas perkara sosial (iaitu aspek 
pertanggungjawaban syarikat seperti pendedahan isu yang berkaitan dengan 
pencemaran, pekerjaan, penglibatan dengan masyarakat dan sebagainya) 

e. Pejabat zakat untuk penentuan zakat 

f. Pengurus untuk membantu mengawasi prestasi syarikat 

g. Pihak kerajaan untuk perancangan ekonomi 

h. Pemegang-pemegang saham bagi menilai keberkesanan dan kecekapan 
pihak pengurusan. 

5. Pada pendapat anda, sejauhmanakah akaun untung rugi berguna bagi mencapai objektif berikut? 

Tidak berguna langsung 2 3 4 5 Sangat berguna 

1 2 3 4 5 

a. Pelabur-pelabur untuk membantu dalam keputusan pelaburan mereka 

b. Institusi kewangan untuk membantu dalam keputusan peminjaman mereka 

c. Para pekerja untuk melindungi kepentingan mereka 

d. Pihak awam bagi membolehkan mereka menilai sama ada sesebuah 
syarikat itu bertanggungjawab atas perkara sosial (iaitu aspek 
pertanggungjawaban syarikat seperti pendedahan isu yang berkaitan dengan 
pencemaran, pekerjaan, penglibatan dengan masyarakat dan sebagainya) 

e. Pejabat zakat untuk penentuan zakat 

f. Pengurus untuk membantu mengawasi prestasi syarikat 

g. Pihak kerajaan untuk perancangan ekonomi 

h. Pemegang-pemegang saham bagi menilai keberkesanan dan kecekapan 
pihak pengurusan. 
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6. Sejauhmanakah pentingnya maklumat berikut perlu didedahkan dalam penyata kewangan? 

Tidak penting 2 3 4 5 Sangat penting 

1 2 3 4 5 

a. Penyat perubahan dalam kedudukan kewangan 

b. Kunci kira-kira kos lampau 

c. Penyata untung rugi kos lampau 

d. Kunci kira-kira nilai semasa 

e. Penyata nilai tambah 

f. Penyata aliran tunai 

g. Laporan mengenai persekitaran saperti pencemaran, pencegahan atau 
pemulihan kerosakan persekitaran, pemeliharan sumber semulajadi dan 
sebagainya 

h. Pendedahan jumlah zakat yang dibayar bagi pihak pemwgan saham 
berugama Islam 

i. Laporan mengenai tenaga pekerja 

j. Lain-lain, sila nyatakan 

7. Sejauhmanakah anda bersetuju dengan pernyataan berikut? 

Tidak bersetuju 2 3 4 5 Amat bersetuju 

1 2 3 4 5 

a. Perjudian patut diharamkan 

b. Minum minuman keras secara sederhana adalah tidak salah 

c. Sebahagian daripada pendapatan perseorangan patut dipotong untuk tujuan 
kebajikan 

d. Syarikat perlu bertanggungjawab kepada orang ramai akibat daripada 
operasi yang dijalankan 

-- 1'( 
e. Pihak syarikat perlu memotong zakat bagi pihak pemegang saham yang 

berugama Islam 

f. Agama patut diajar sebagai salah satu matapelajaran disekolah 

g. Bekerja untuk mencari nafkah hidup adalah sebahagian dari kewajipan 
ugama 

h. Pihak atasan yang terdekat dari saya perlu mempunyai kepercayaan agama 
yang sama 

i. Perlu ada undang-undang yang memerlukan syarikat mengamalkan 
pendedahan sepenuhnya, mendedahkan amalan yang boleh membahayakan 
masyarakat seperti amalan monopoli, tidak memenuhi tanggungjawab 
kontrak dan sebagainya 

j. Satu sistem odit sosial perlu dibentuk iaitu satu badan berkecuali yang 
tidak mengambil untung yang bertujuan untuk imemperbaiki tindakbalas 
korperat terhadap pihak awam secara umumnya 

k. Faedah atau riba patut diharamkan 

334 



SAHAGIAN B 

Arahan: Sila tanda (/) categori yang sesuai. 

1. Apakah pekerjaan anda? 

~~~~::~ bank 
Pegawai zakat 
Penganalisa pelaburan 
Lain-lain ________ _ 

2. Berapa lamakah anda telah berkecimpung dalam profesyen 
diatas? 

Ii Kurang dari 5 tahun r- Antara 5 hingga 10 tahun 
: Antara 11 hingga 15 tahun 
I i Lebeh dari 15 tahun 

4. Kelayakan saya ialah: 

Coiploma 
l___j ljazah pertama 
~Sarjanah 
LJPhD 
I : Kelulusan profesyenal (sila nyatakan ________ _ n Lain ________ _ 

6. Saya memperolehi kelayakan saya dari: 

! United Kingdom 
I , Amerika Syarikat 

I New Zealand 
I Australia 

Fl Dalam negeri (Malaysia) 
__ Lain ________ _ 

3. Umur saya ialah: 

Fl Bawah 25 tahun 
f--------125 hingga 30 
: I 31 hingga 35 
, I 36 hingga 40 
LJ 41 hingga 45 
LJ 46 hingga 50 
LJ Atas 50 tahun 

5. Jantina saya ialah: 

-! Laki-laki 
I I Perempuan 

7. Ugama saya ialah: 

i-llslam 
nsudha 

§Kristian 
Hindu 
Lain ________ _ 

TERIMA KASIH ATAS KESUDIAN ANDA MENJAWAB 'QUESTIONNAIRE' INI 

Satu sampul surat telah disediakan untuk memudahkan anda mengirim kembali 'questionnaire' ini 
Jika anda ingin mendapatkan rumusan kajian ini, sila tulis alamat anda disebelah belakang sampul 
surat yang disediakan. 

Adakah anda mempunyai sebarang komen? 
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APPENDIX I 

Laboratory Experiment 
Version 1 
Version 2 
Version 3 
Version 4 
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APPENDIX I 

AN EXPERIMENT IN INVESTMENT DECISION MAKING 

The package in front of you contains extracts of the financial statements of 
ABA BERHAD, a company listed on the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange. Assume 
that you have RM 50,000 in excess funds and you are considering investing in shares. 
In a normal situation, you would probably demand more information than that included 
here. However, tor the purpose of this experiment, it is necessary to limit the 
information package to that enclosed. On the basis of the financial information 
provided, please · answer the following questions. 

1. On a scale of '1' to '1 O', please indicate how favourable it is to invest in ABA BER HAO. 

Least favourable 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 Most favourable 

In the space provided, please provide reasons tor your choice. 

2. How much of the RM 50,000 would you invest in ABA BERHAD? 

RM ____ _ 

In the space provided, please provide reasons for your choice. 

3. On a scale of '1' to '10', please indicate how adequate is the information that 
you have been provided with in order for you to arrive at your decisions above. 

Least adequate 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 Most adequate 

In the space provided, please provide reasons for your choice. 
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4. If you had the opportunity to purchase one of the following financial statements, 
which would you choose? Please tick ( ) one. 

a. value added statement 
b. cashflow statement 
c. current value balance sheet 
d. Other, please specify: 

5. What is the maximum amount you would be willing to set aside from the RM 50,000 
to pay for the financial statement in (4) above? 

RM ______ _ 

To help me classify your answers in a statistical manner, please answer 
the following by ticking ( ) the appropriate category. 

Name of institution: 

Degree: 

UM 
UKM 
UPM 
UIA 
UUM 
ITM 
Other, please specify: ______ _ 

Advanced Diploma in Accountancy 
Bachelor of Accounting 
Bachelor of Economics 
Bachelor of Business Administration 
Diploma in Accountancy 
MBA 
Other, please specify: ______ _ 

Religious Affiliation: 

Islam 
Christianity 
Buddhism 
Hinduism 
Other, please specify: ______ _ 

Year of Study: 

Age: 

I [ 
I I 

B 

Year1 
Year 2 
Year3 
Year 4 
Other, please specify: ____ _ 

Under20 
20 to 23 
24 to 27 
Above 28 

If you have answered all the questions, please put the questionnaire and 
the financial statements back into the envelope. 
THANK YOU FOR PARTICIPATING IN THIS RESEARCH. 
The findings of this study will be made available to you through your 
lecturer. 
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-----~·---- -·-------·--

VaJue Added Statement fou~ear ending_ ............. 

Operating revenue 
Less: Bought-in-goods and services 

Value added 
THIS IS A PRO FORMA 

VALUE ADDED STATEMENT 

Distributed as follows: 

Employees 
Salaries, wages and benefits 

Government 
Income tax 

Providers of funds 
Interest on borrowings 
Dividends to shareholders 

Retained in the business 
Depreciation 
Retained profits 

Total value added distributed 

" 1, 

RM '000 
xx 
xx 

XXX 

xx 

xx 
xx 
xx 

xx 
xx 

XXX 

fc 

0\ 
M 
M 



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF 

ABABERHAD 

ABA BERHAD 

-----·-· 

Consolidated balance sheet as at 31.12.94 
---------·· 

CURRENT ASSETS 
Cash and bank balances 
Short term deposits 
Debtors 
Stocks 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Bank borrowings 
Creditors 
Taxation 
Proposed dividend 

NET CURRENT ASSETS 
INVESTMENTS 
FIXED ASSETS 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
Less: LONG TERM LIABILITIES 

SHAREHOLDERS'FUNDS 
Share capital 
Share premium 
Retained profits 

~ 
J-

RM '000 

24,000 
72,000 

400,000 
364,000 
860,000 

176,000 
322,000 

31,000 
12,000 

541,000 

319,000 
48,000 

346,000 
7,000 

191,000 

529,000 

230,000 
59,000 

240,000 

929,000 

1993 

RM '000 

12,000 
52,000 

312,000 
378,000 
754,000 

160,000 
216,000 

49,000 
11,000 

436,000 

318,000 
10,000 

275,000 
11,000 

126,000 

488,000 

220,000 
57,000 

211,000 

488,000 

0 

""" (") 



ABA BERHAD 

· · Consolidated 
-------·--~------------·•.+ 

Profit and Loss Statement for tear ending 31.12.94. 1993 
·----- ----------

RM '000 RM '000 
Turnover 1,810,000 1,780,000 

Profit from operations 72,i)QO 135.000 

Profit before tax 72,000 135,000 
Less Tax 31,000 49,000 

Profit after tax 41,000 86,000 
Less: Dividends 12,000 11,000 

Retained profit for the year 29,000 75,000 
Retained profits brought forward 211,000 136,000 
Retained profits carried forward 240,000 21_1,000 

·, 

ABA BERHAD 

Notes to the accounts 

1. Significant accounting policies 
a. The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost 

convention and comply with approved accounting standards. 

b. Consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the parent 
company and a wholly owned domestic subsidiary. 

c. Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. 

d. Stocks are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value 

2. Operating profit 

Operating profit is stated: 
After charging: 

Directors fees, salaries and other emoluments 
Depreciation 
Rental of land and buildings 
Auditors' remuneration 
Interest 
Provision for doubtful debts 

3. Investments 
Quoted shares at cost (market value RM 58,000) 
Unquoted shares at cost 

RM'OOO 

3,500 
29,000 

6,200 
850 

21,500 
6,800 

33,000 
15,000 

...... 
'tj" 
M 



AN EXPERIMENT IN INVESTMENT DECISION MAKING 

The package in front of you contains extracts of the financial statements of 
ABA BERHAD, a company listed on the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange. Assume 
that you have RM 50,000 in excess funds and you are considering investing in shares. 
In a normal situation, you would probably demand more information than that included 
here. However, for the purpose of this experiment, it is necessary to limit the 
information package to that enclosed. On the basis of the financial information 
provided, please ,, answer the following questions. 

1. On a scale of '1' to '1 O', please indicate how favourable it is to invest in ABA BERHAD. 

Least favourable 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 Most favourable 
~ 

In the space provided, please provide reasons for your choice. 

2. How much of the RM 50,000 would you invest in ABA BERHAD? 

RM _____ _ 

In the space provided, please provide reasons for your choice. 

3. On a scale of '1' to '10', please indicate how adequate is the information that 
you have been provided with in order for you to arrive at your decisions above. 

Least adequate 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 Most adequate 

In the space provided, please provide reasons for your choice. 
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4. If you had the opportunity to purchase one of the following financial statements, 
which would you choose? Please tick ( ) one. 

a. Value added statement 
b. cashflow statement 
c. source and application of funds statement 
d. other, please specify: 

5. What is the maximum amount you would be willing to set aside from the RM 50,000 
to pay for the financial statement in (4) above? 

RM ______ _ 

To help me classify your answers in a statistical manner, please answer 
the following by ticking ( ) the appropriate category. 

Name of institution: Year of Study: 

Year 1 
Year 2 
Year3 
Year4 

21 

UM 
UKM 
UPM 
UIA 
UUM 
ITM 

Other, please specify: ____ _ 

Degree: 

Other, please specify: ______ _ 

Advanced Diploma in Accountancy 
Bachelor of Accounting 
Bachelor of Economics 
Bachelor of Business Administration 
Diploma in Accountancy 
MBA 
Other, please specify: ______ _ 

Religious Affiliation: 

Islam 
Christianity 
Buddhism 
Hinduism 
Other, please specify: ______ _ 

Age: 

Under20 
20 to 23 
24 to 27 
Above 28 

If you have answered all the questions, please put the questionnaire and 
the financial statements back into the envelope. 
THANK YOU FOR PARTICIPATING IN THIS RESEARCH. 
The findings of this study will be made available to you through your 
lecturer. 

343 



THIS IS AN ADDITIONAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENT 

ABA BERHAD 

Consolidated current value balance sheet as at 31.12.94 

CURRENT ASSETS 
Cash and bank balances 
Short term deposits 
Debtors 
Stocks 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Bank borrowings 
Creditors 
Taxation 
Proposed dividend 

NET CURRENT ASSETS 
INVESTMENTS 
FIXED ASSETS 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
Less: LONG TERM LIABILITIES 

SHAREHOLDERS'FUNDS 
Share capital 
Share premium 
Revaluation Reserve 
Retained profits 

,.., 

RM '000 

24,000 
72,000 

404,000 
880,000 

1,380,000 

176,000 
322,000 

31,000 
12,000 

541,000 

839,000 
68,000 

300,000 
0 

191,000 

1,016.000 

230,000 
59,000 

487,000 
240,000 

1.016,000 
I 

<:j"" 
<:j"" 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF 

ABABERHAD 

ABA BERHAD 

Consolidated balance sheet as at 31.12.94 

CURRENT ASSETS 
Cash and bank balances 
Short term deposits 
Debtors 
Stocks 

j,, 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Bank borrowings 
Creditors 
Taxation 
Proposed dividend 

NET CURRENT ASSETS 
INVESTMENTS 
FIXED ASSETS 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
Less: LONG TERM LIABILITIES 

SHAREHOLDERS'FUNDS 
Share capital 
Share premium 
Retained profits 

RM 'ODO 

24,000 
72,000 

400,000 
364,000 
860,000 

176,000 
322,000 

31,000 
12,000 

541,000 

319,000 
48,000 

346,000 
7,000 

191,000 

529,000 

230,000 
59,000 

240,000 

529,000 

2 

1993 

RM 'ODO 

12,000 
52,000 

312,000 
378,000 
754,000 

160,000 
216,000 

49,000 
11,000 

436,000 

318,000 
10,000 

275,000 
11,000 

126,000 

488,000 

220,000 
57,000 

211,000 

488,000 

<n 
"l" 
(") 
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ABA BERHAD 

~- Consolidated 
Profit and Loss Statement for year endin~12.9~-'---1 1993 

1 

RM '000 RM '000 
Turnover 1,11JQ,QQQ / lalfil!,OOQ 

Profit from operations 72,000 135,00Q 

Profit before tax 72,000 I 135,000 
Less Tax 31,000 49,000 

Profit after tax 41,000 86,000 
Less: Dividends 12,000 11,000 

Retained profit for the year 29,000 75,000 
Retained profits brought forward 211,000 136,000 
Retained profits carried forward 240,000 .lll,000 

ABA BERHAD 

Notes to the accounts 

1. Significant accounting policies 
a. The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost 

convention and comply with approved accounting standards. 

b. Consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the parent 
company and a wholly owned domestic subsidiary. 

h 
c. Fixed assets are sta~ed at cost Jess accumulated depreciation. 

d. Stocks are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value 

2. Operating profit 

Operating profit is stated: 
After charging: 

Directors fees, salaries and other emoluments 
Depreciation 
Rental of land and buildings 
Auditors' remuneration 
Interest 
Provision for doubtful debts 

3. Investments 
Quoted shares at cost (market value RM 58,000) 
Unquoted shares at cost 

'\. 

RM'OOO 

3,500 
29,000 

6,200 
850 

21,500 
6,800 

33,000 
15,000 

I.O 
"'1" 
M 



AN EXPERIMENT IN INVESTMENT DECISION MAKING 

The package in front of you contains extracts of the financial statements of 
ABA BERHAD, a company listed on the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange. Assume 
that you have RM 50,000 in excess funds and you are considering investing in shares. 
In a normal situation, you would probably demand more information than that included 
here. However, for the purpose of this experiment, it is necessary to limit the 
information package to that enclosed. On the basis of the financial information 
provided, please answer the following questions . 

. 1. On a scale of '1' to '1 O', please indicate how favourable it is to invest in ABA BERHAD. 

Least favourable 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 Most favourable 
.It 

In the space provided, please provide reasons for your choice. 

2. How much of the RM 50,000 would you invest in ABA BERHAD? 

RM _____ _ 

In the space provided, please provide reasons for your choice. 

3. On a scale of '1' to '10', please indicate how adequate is the information that 
you have been provided with in order for you to arrive at your decisions above. 

Least adequate 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 Most adequate 

In the space provided, please provide reasons for your choice. 
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4. If you had the opportunity to purchase one of the following financial statements, 
which would you choose? Please tick ( ) one. 

a. current value balance sheet 
b. cashflow statement 
c. source and application of funds statement 
d. other, please specify: 

5. What is the maximum amount you would be willing to set aside from the RM 50,000 
to pay for the financial statement in (4) above? 

RM ______ _ 

To help me classify your answers in a statistical manner, please answer 
the following by ticking ( ) the appropriate category. 

Name of institution: Year of Study: 

Year1 
Year2 
Year 3 
Year 4 

3 

UM 
UKM 
UPM 
UIA 
UUM 
ITM 

other, please specify: ____ _ 

Degree: 

Other, please specify: ______ _ 

Advanced Diploma in Accountancy 
Bachelor of Accounting 
Bachelor of Economics 
Bachelor of Business Administration 
Diploma in Accountancy 
MBA 
Other, please specify: ______ _ 

Religious Affiliation: 

Islam 
Christianity 
Buddhism 
Hinduism 
Other, please specify: ______ _ 

Age: 

§ Under20 
20 to 23 
24 to 27 
Above 28 

If you have answered all the questions, please put the questionnaire and 
the financial statements back into the envelope. 
THANK YOU FOR PARTICIPATING IN THIS RESEARCH. 
The findings of this study will be made available to you through your 
lecturer. 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF 

ABA BERHAD 

ABA BERHAD 

.------------------

Consolidated balance sheet as at 31.12.94 

CURRENT ASSETS 
Cash and bank balances 
Short term deposits 
Debtors 
Stocks 

" 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Bank borrowings 
Creditors 
Taxation 
Proposed dividend 

NET CURRENT ASSETS 
INVESTMENTS 
FIXED ASSETS 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
Less: LONG TERM LIABILITIES 

SHAREHOLDERS'FUNDS 
Share capital 
Share premium 
Retained profits 

RM '000 

24,000 
72,000 

400,000 
364,000 
860,000 

176,000 
322,000 

31,000 
12,000 

541,000 

319,000 
48,000 

346,000 
7,000 

191,000 

529,000 

230,000 
59,000 

240,000 

529,000 

3 

1993 

RM '000 

12,000 
52,000 

312,000 
378,000 
754,000 

160,000 
216,000 

49,000 
11,000 

436,000 

318,000 
10,000 

275,000 
11,000 

126,000 

488,000 

220,000 
57,000 

211,000 

488,000 

·I 

°' "'1" 
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ABA BERHAD 

Consolidated 
Profit and Loss Statement for year endinq 31.12.94. 1993 

RM '000 RM '000 
Turnover .LlilQ,QOO 1 ,780,0_00 

Profit from operations 72,_QQO 135,000 

Profit before tax 72,000 135,000 
Less Tax ~J.000 49,000 

Profit after tax 41,000 86,000 
Less: Dividends 12,000 11,000 

Retained profit for the year 29,000 75,000 
Retained profits brought forward 211,000 136,000 
Retained profits carried forward 240,QQO 211,000 

ABA BERHAD 

Notes to the accounts 

1. Significant accounting policies 
a. The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost 

convention and comply with approved accounting standards. 

b. Consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the parent 
company and a wholly owned domestic subsidiary . .. 

c. Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. 

d. Stocks are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value 

2. Operating profit 

Operating profit is stated: 
After charging: 

Directors fees, salaries and other emoluments 
Depreciation 
Rental of land and buildings 
Auditors' remuneration 
Interest 
Provision for doubtful debts 

3. Investments 
Quoted shares at cost (market value RM 58,000) 
Unquoted shares at cost 

I' 

RM'OOO 

3,500 
29,000 

6,200 
850 

21,500 
6,800 

33,000 
15,000 

-, 

0 
I/') 

M 
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THIS JS AN ADDITIONAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENT 

ABA BERHAD 

--

Value Added Statement for year ending 31.12.94. 

Turnover 
Less: Bought-in-goods and services 

Value added .. 

Distributed as follows: 

Employees 
Salaries, wages and benefits 

Government 
Income tax 

Providers of funds 
Interest on borrowings 
Dividends to shareholders 

Retained in the business 
Depreciation 
Retained profits 

Total value added distributed 

r 

RM '000 
1,810,000 
1,663,500 

146,500 

24,000 

31,000 

21,500 
12,000 

29,000 
29,000 

146,500 

,-< 

lf) 
('<) 



AN EXPERIMENT IN INVESTMENT DECISION MAKING 

The package in front of you contains extracts of the financial statements of 
ABA BERHAD, a company listed on the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange. Assume 
that you have RM 50,000 in excess funds and you are considering investing in shares. 
In a normal situation, you would probably demand more information than that included 
here. However, for the purpose of this experiment, it is necessary to limit the 
information package to that enclosed. On the basis of the financial information 
provided, please · answer the following questions. 

1. On a scale of '1' to '1 O', please indicate how favourable it is to invest in ABA BERHAD. 

Least favourable 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 Most favourable 
J: 

In the space provided, please provide reasons for your choice. 

2. How much of the RM 50,000 would you invest in ABA BERHAD? 

RM ____ _ 

In the space provided, please provide reasons for your choice. 

3. On a scale of '1' to '1 O', please indicate how adequate is the information that 
you have been provided with in order for you to arrive at your decisions above. 

Least adequate 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 Most adequate 

In the space provided, please provide reasons for your choice. 
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4. If you had the opportunity to purchase one of the following financial statements, 
which would you choose? Please tick ( ) one. 

a. cashflow statement 
b. source and application of funds statement 
c. other, please specify: 

5. What is the maximum amount you would be willing to set aside from the RM 50,000 
to pay for the financial statement in (4) above? 

RM ______ _ 

To help me classify your answers in a statistical manner, please answer 
the following by ticking ( ) the appropriate category. 

Name of institution: Year of Study: 

Year 1 
Year 2 
Year3 
Year4 

4 

UM 
UKM 
UPM 
UIA 
UUM 
ITM 

other, please specify: ____ _ 

Degree: 

other, please specify: ______ _ 

Advanced Diploma in Accountancy 
Bachelor of Accounting 
Bachelor of Economics 
Bachelor of Business Administration 
Diploma in Accountancy 
MBA 
Other, please specify: ______ _ 

Religious Affiliation: 

Islam 
Christianity 
Buddhism 
Hinduism 
other, please specify: ______ _ 

Age: 

Under20 
20 to 23 
24 to 27 
Above 28 

If you have answered all the questions, please put the questionnaire and 
the financial statements back into the envelope. 
THANK YOU FOR PARTICIPATING IN THIS RESEARCH. 
The findings of this study will be made available to you through your 
lecturer. 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF 

ABA BERHAD 

ABA BERHAD 

-·----·---

Consolidated balance sheet as at 31.12.94 

cu 
Cas 
Sho 
Deb 
Sto 

cu 
Ban 
Cre 
Tax 
Pro 

NET 
INV 
FIX 
INT 
Les 

SHA 
Sha 
Sha 
Reta 

------

RENT ASSETS 
1 and bank balances 
t term deposits 
ors 
{S 

RENT LIABILITIES 
: borrowings 
itors 
lion 
osed dividend 

CURRENT ASSETS 
:STMENTS 
D ASSETS 
NGIBLE ASSETS 
: LONG TERM LIABILITIES 

REHOLDERS' FUNDS 
e capital 
e premium 
ined profits 

-·--------· 

~ 

-\ 

RM 'ODO 

24,000 
72,000 

400,000 
364,000 
860,000 

176,000 
322,000 

31,000 
12,000 

541,000 

319,000 
48,000 

346,000 
7,000 

191,000 

529,000 

230,000 
59,000 

240,000 

529,000 

4 

1993 

RM 'ODO 

12,000 
52,000 

312,000 
378,000 
754,000 

160,000 
216,000 

49,000 
11,000 

436,000 

318,000 
10,000 

275,000 
11,000 

126,000 

488,000 

220,000 
57,000 

211,000 

488,000 

r 

'tj'" 
tr) 
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ABA BERHAD 

Consolidated 
Profit and Loss Statement for year endinq 31.12.94. 1993 

RM '000 RM '000 
Turnover lJllQ,000 .1,BlQ,000 

Profit from operations 72,000 135,000 

Profit before tax 72,000 135,000 
Less Tax 31,000 1.§LOOQ 

Profit after tax 41,000 86,000 
Less: Dividends gooo 11,000 

Retained profit for the year 29,000 75,000 
Retained profits brought forward 211,000 136,000 
Retained profits carried forward 240,000 21_1,000 

ABA BERHAD 

~--

Notes to the accounts 

1. Significant accounting policies 
a. The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost 

convention and comply with approved accounting standards. 

b. Consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the parent 
company and a wholly owned domestic subsidiary. 

c. Fixed assets are sta~ed at cost less accumulated depreciation. 

d. Stocks are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value 

2. Operating profit 

Operating profit is stated: 
After charging: 

Directors fees, salaries and other emoluments 
Depreciation 
Rental of land and buildings 
Auditors' remuneration 
Interest 
Provision for doubtful debts 

3. Investments 
Quoted shares at cost (market value RM 58,000) 
Unquoted shares at cost 

,-

RM'OOO 

3,500 
29,000 

6,200 
850 

21,500 
6,800 

33,000 
15,000 

l/") 
l/") 

("') 



THIS IS AN ADDITIONAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENT 

,I fa 

ABA BERHAD 

Consolidated current value balance sheet as at 31.12.94 

CURRENT ASSETS 
Cash and bank balances 
Short term deposits 
Debtors 
Stocks ,.,. 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Bank borrowings 
Creditors 
Taxation 
Proposed dividend 

NET CURRENT ASSETS 
INVESTMENTS 
FIXED ASSETS 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
Less: LONG TERM LIABILITIES 

SHAREHOLDERS'FUNDS 
Share capital 
Share premium 
Revaluation Reserve 
Retained profits 

~ 

RM '000 

24,000 
72,000 

404,000 
880,000 

1,380,000 

176,000 
322,000 

31,000 
12,000 

541,000 

839,000 
68,000 

300,000 
0 

191,000 

1,016,000 

230,000 
59,000 

487,000 
240,000 

1,016,000 

?~ 

'° V, 
("f'\ 



THIS IS AN ADDITIONAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENT 

~ 

ABA BERHAD 

Value Added Statement for year ending 31.12.94. 

Turnover 
Less: Bought-in-goods and services 

Value added ~ 

Distributed as follows: 

Employees 
Salaries, wages and benefits 

Government 
Income tax 

Providers of funds 
Interest on borrowings 
Dividends to shareholders 

Retained in the business 
Depreciation 
Retained profits 

Total value added distributed 

RM '000 
1,810,000 
1,663,500 

146.500 

24,000 

31,000 

21,500 
12,000 

29,000 
29,000 

146.500 

r--. 
IJ) 

M 



Letters 

d • 

APPENDIX J 

: Head of Corporate Banking 
: Head of Investment Division 
: Head of Zakat Office 
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APPENDIXJ 

Department of Accountancy 

Assalamualaikum wbrt. 

Tuan/Puan, 

University of Otago 
Te Whare Wananga o Otago 

4th Floor, Commerce Building 
P O Box 56, Dunedin, New Zealand 

Tel. (03)479-8192 Fax. (03)479-8450 

16hb September, 1995. 

Perkara: Kajiselidik mengenai pembentangan maklumat kewangan koporat dalam Lapuran Tahunan 

Tujuan surat ini ialah untuk memohon jasa baik Tuan/Puan bagi membantu saya dalam satu kajiselidik yang 
merangkumi satu aspek penting dalam penyelidikan saya. Saya ialah seorang pensyarah dari Jabatan Perakaunan, 
Universiti Islam Antarabangsa clan sekarang dalam cuti belajar dalam usaha untuk menyiapkan kajian PhD saya 
dalam bidang perakaunan di Otago University. Kajiselidik saya ialah mengenai pembentangan maklumat 
kewangan korporat. 

Tujuan utama kajiselidik ini ialah untuk mengkaji keperluan maklumat kewangan bagi pengguna-pengguna akaun 
lapuran kewangan di Malaysia saperti pegawai zakat, pegawai kredit, pelabur institusi, pelabur persendirian dan 
sebagainya. Ingin saya menekankan disini bahawa besar kemungkinan rumusan kajiselidik ini dapat membantu 
dalam membentuk clan menyediakan peraturan-peraturan lapuran kewangan pada masa yang akan datang. Oleh 
yang demikian, saya berharap Tuan/Puan akan merasakan perlu untuk menjawab soalan kajiselidik yang 
dilampirkan. Maklumat yang diberi adalah rahsia. Kajiselidik ini adalah pendek dan dianggarkan memerlu selama 
10 hingga 15 minit untuk mengisinya. 

Bersama surat ini juga disertakan satu sampul surat yang tidak memerlukan setem bagi memudahkan Tuan/Puan 
menghantar kembali soalan kajiselidik tersebut. 

Kerjasama pihak Tuan/Puan didahului dengan ucapan terima kasih. Sila hubungi saya jika tuan memerlukan 
sebarang maklumat lanjut. 

· Wassalam. 

Yang benar, 

~ 
Maliah 'Sulaiman, 
Department of Accountancy, 
University of Otago, 
P.O. Box 56, 
Dunedin, NEW ZEALAND. 
Tel: 479-9046 Fax: 479-8450 

Alamat di Malaysia: 
Head of Department of Accounting, 
Kulliyyah of Economics and Management, 
International Islamic University, 
Jalan University, Petaling Jaya. 
Tel: 755-3773 Fax: 755-4407 
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Supervisor: 
Professor Roger Willett, 
Department of Accountancy, 
University of Otago. 



Department of Accountancy 

Dear Sir, 

Re: Research on corporate information disclosure 

University of Otago 
Te Whare Wananga o Otago 

4th Floor, Commerce Building 
P O Box 56, Dunedin, New Zealand 

Tel. (03)479-9046 Fax. (03)479-8450 

16th September, 1995. 

The purpose of this letter is to seek your assistance in obtaining the panicipation of the officers in your 
division in a survey constituting a vital pan of my doctoral research. I am a lecturer from the International 
Islamic University, now on study leave, pursuing my PhD in Accounting at Otago University. My research 
topic is on corporate information disclosure. The major focus of this research is to examine the financial 
information needs of Malaysian users. More specifically, this study aims to look at the different needs of 
the various user groups such as bank lending officers, institutional investors, private investors, etc as well as 
examining the possible influence of culture and religion on accounting. 

One of the problems of conducting a survey of this nature is the response rate. However, I must add that 
the findings of this survey may well help shape the future financial reponing regulations in Malaysia. As 
such I am hoping that you would also oblige by answering the attached questionnaire. I have enclosed 
several sets of the same questionnaire for the financial/invesunent analysts in your division. If you could 
additionally forward to them, I would be most grateful. 

Thank you for your assistance. Should you need funher information, please do not hesitate to contact me. 

Yours sincerely, 

Maliah Sulaiman, 
Depanment of Accountancy, 
University of Otago, 
P.O. Box 56, 
Dunedin, NEW ZEALAND. 
Tel: 479-9046 Fax: 479-8450 
Email: msulaiman@commerce.otago.ac.nz 

Contact address in Malaysia: 
Head of Depanment of Accounting, 
Kulliyyah of Economics and Management, 
International Islamic University, 
Jalan University, Petaling Jaya. 
Tel: 755-3773 Fax: 757-4407 
Tel: 734-3354 
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Department of Accountancy 

Dear Sir, 

Re: Research on corporate information disclosure 

University of Otago 
Te Whare Wananga o Otago 

4th Floor, Commerce Bmldmg 
P O Box 56, Dunedin, New Zealand 

Tel. (03)479-9046 Fa.x. (03)479-8450 

16th September, 1995. 

The purpose of this letter is to seek your assistance in obtaining the participation of the officers in your 
division in a survey constituting a vital part of my doctoral research. I am a lecturer from the International 
Islamic University, now on study leave, pursuing my PhD in Accounting at Otago University. My research 
topic is on corporate information disclosure. The major focus of this research is to examine the financial 
information needs of Malaysian users. More specifically, this study aims to look at the different needs of 
the various user groups such as bank lending officers, institutional investors, private investors, etc as well as 
examining the possible influence of culture on accounting. 

One of the problems of conducting a survey of this nature is the response rate. However, I must add that 
the findings of this survey may well help shape the future financial reporting regulations in Malaysia. As 
such I am hoping that you would also oblige by answering the attached questionnaire. I have enclosed 
several sets of the same questionnaire for the lending officers in your division. If you could additionally 
forward to them, I would be most grateful. 

Thank you for your assistance. Should you need further information, please do not hesitate to contact me. 

Yours sincerely, 

Maliah Sulaiman, 
Department of Accountancy, 
University of Otago, 
P.O. Box 56, 
Dunedin, NEW ZEALAND. 
Tel: 479-9046 Fax: 479-8450 
Email: msulaiman@commerce.otago.ac.nz 

Contact address in Malaysia: 
Head of Department of Accounting, 
Kulliyyah of Economics and Management, 
International Islamic University, 
Jalan University, Peta.ling Jaya. 
Tel: 755-3773 Fax: 757-4407 
Tel: 734-3354 
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APPENDIX K : Demographics of each user/preparer group 
.. 

Experience 

"\ ·- BLO FA zo ACCT 

,~ 
;. 

- > 

~ 

' .. Total 66 100 44 100 21 100 124 100 

.. 
·, -" 

>I 

• Age 
• 
- ,. BLO FA zo ACCT 

No % No % No % No % 
-"I 

r ... 

I io-

.J • 

f '· Total 66 100 44 100 21 100 124 100 

(.' 
Qualifications 

BLO FA zo ACCT 
f No 

~~ 

., 

r· 

V 

.... 
Total 65 100 44 100 21 100 100 

, . 
... 
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APPENDIX L 

Kurtosis, skewness and normality tests of survey data 
Kurtosis, skewness and normality tests of experimental data 
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APPENDIX L : Tests of normality for survey data and experiment 

QUESTIONNAIRE SURVEY 

Question Kurtosis Skewness Lilliefor's test 
-value 

1a -0.72 0 .0000 

4e ..... - ····· < 1·25 . . O.o? ~. O.CX:XX) 

=wCI,,6,..,.0,"~·•'l:~~.-0.00~~" .=:-2~d: • ,~ .. ~2.:0CX!O -·-

5d 
5e 

.• . Sf 

5g 
A:511 , 

-0.74 
-0.79 

"-0_74 ·· 

-0.85 0.0000 
-0.87 . 0.0000 

-·"-·''"·--''- ·'· •· · = .. 

-0.13 0.0000 
v'-0_32<:l' · . o.oci:Jo ~ 

O.~ ~· 

0.0000 
·· ·"·a.boob · 

0.0000 
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QUESTIONNAIRE SURVEY 

Question Kurtosis Skewness Lilliefor's test 

-value 
6a 0.08 -0.82 0.(XXX) 

-1.31 0.(XXX) 

. "'"'7g .. · . ... - ' - ····-· ~.~ .• ~-~ ...... ~ ~:~~ ' '"'-
7h -0.37 -0.61 0.(XXX) 

7i -0.45 """'' c::-0.4,g ·· / a.~2:~·~ 
7j -1 .60 -023 0.(XXX) 

.. 
LABORATORY EXPERIMENT .. 
Question Kurtosis Skewness Li lliefor's test .. 

p-value 

1 -0.56 0.36 0.0000 

2 -0.80 0.17 0.0000 
3 -0.04 0.00 0.0000 

.. 

. ... 

/~ 

. ' 
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APPENDIX M 

Perception differences between BLOs and FAs 
Perception differences between BLOs and ZOs 
Perception differences between ZOs and FAs 
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APPENDIX M : MWU tests of differences between BLO and FA, BLO and 20 and 
FA and 20 

Differences in perceived usefulness between BLO 
and FA for questions1 through 5 

01 02 03 Q4 
Objectives VAS PL CV 

a. imestors p=0.0068* p=0.0127* 

05 
HC 

b."'cr99ifut~J,·~~~·~ p=:0;04~7* ·-··~M&K, .·~.,~, .=K. ~2:_~5* •CL,, -• ,·,,· 

c. employees 
d. pu6Jic'"==•rn ··=·=-·• ,_, ,-,-=-,--
, .. ,, ..... ~,-····-·" -·-·"il--~~,.;;..>h.-""""" ....... ~ ,J,.~=~··='···--
e. zakat office 
fgo\emmoof······· ··-·~···%; 
·-"-"~~=~-M"'~·~-~~1.c,,,c=,cCCCL,,•="-•··l ·"''2:=,~'''"'~'"·1-•-"'"""·""""""'""'l'"-~'•D!=,,=.1>•.c'""-'=·'°'""''"·'~' ·1 
g. managers 
HF'sharaoofders:.;~"7T''Cl:!T 

• Significant at 5% le\el 

Differences in perceived usefulness between BLO 
and 20 for questions1 through 5 

01 02 03 
Objectives VAS 

• Significant at 5% le\el 

Differences in perceived usefulness between FA 
and 20 for questions1 through 5 

01 02 
Objectives VAS 

a. im.estors p=0.0003* 

b. ?fE39it9rs j " v •. · .. ,,i" :P=2,2J.~~~~ 
c. employees 

PL 

03 
PL 

Q4 05 
CV HC 

Q4 05 
CV HC 

d.'pu6Hc~~ ·-:. . , ~ """ ,~ .:::~.- ~· -~"" s:. ___ :::'" ~ ... ~:;:: .. ~ E~9:_01 ~J::. e. z~kat ~ffi~~ p=0.0007* p=0.0168* p=0.0167* p=0.0002* 
t: go\emmenf - ·- p~ Orno• -- < p:0.0012*' p::0.0110* p=0.0002* 
g. managers = ~ · - · - ~ 0366* = - ··· 
h. s'Ka.relfio1cfers · -··';'.= ·p=o:oloo*· · =· "'! - y • "" 

* Significant at 5% le\el 
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APPENDIX N 

Parametric tests (t-tests and paired t-tests) 
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APPENDIX N: Results of the t-tests and the paired t-tests 

Differences in perceived usefulness between users (excluding 
20) and preparers on questions 1through 5 (compare Table 6.1.9) 

01 02 03 04 05 
Objecti\es VAS PL CV HC 

a. investors p=0.007* p=0.000* p=0.009* 
b.-·c:'redftors·:· ·- - - -P=·o.oos· ~ · =~ .. ;--:" -~p";67oos· r ... ·- ~ -":·- r·P··;,o.ooo· 

.. · ._,_,,._ -M ~AM= 0 -=---~·-~-.A,,.·~""~- .. · -_..._. _..,,,._~~-- -~·4,. ·"'~~- -='·- ' ~~-· .. ,~..-~ --~,-..,,=; -...-~ ----·- ~ ·"'·~ -~- -~ ·~~= ~,.., ' .,·-,· .... 

c. employees 
c:r public :-=·=:v·-·'."-"" ··= 

e. zakat
0

offic e . 

g. managers 
fi:'J'snareno1Hers~···~r".""'"'~ ·= 

* Significant at 5% le\el 
***Significant under MWU test 

afferen::es in perc:ei\ed irrp:t1arl:e a finardal irtarratia, ds::laue in am.al repats betv.een 
l&!l'S (exdudrg 2D) am irer:arers(c:arf81'9 Table 6.1.1~ 

Users 
std devn Park 

*Sgrificart at 5%1evel 
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std devn Park 

4 ~6 " .. 
5 

Sgrifi 
test 

~-(IB* 
_,._ "Yf''. >'(' 

~ .015* 
, .. .,_ ,,. ,•~; , 
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Summary table showing the differences in perceived 
usefulness of the current value balance sheet between 
Muslims and non-Muslims (compare Table 6.1.12) 

BLO FA ACCTS 

a. investors 
1:r 'creoffors,-~:yc··";,;: ·7 ", .. 
C. 8rD pl~ye~S· -·-- <~'=~- l--=~=''"°'"-'-iEG,., I 

a~puB~ --·;0·- -=-··:. ·r:··· --~=-· _--__ --~~···· 
e~zakaroffice~---···=·-·· -·-------~- p;;o-:-ocr:F-
f.;govehifnem 
·"~ ··. · ,.<,.+ _-,>;:.c,...~=,==~·"' """',e;,,.c,~c.1""'-''-~·-"-""'· 
g. managers 
h . . sha,reholders · 

*Significant at 5% le\el 
***Significant under MWU test 

Summary table showing the differences in perceived 
usefulness of the value added statement between 
Muslims and non-Muslims (compare Table 6.1.13) 

a. investors 
&:-cre~Tfors · 
c. employees 

*Significant at 5% le\el 
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Summary table showing significant differences between the VAS and the PL for Muslims 
and non-Muslims for each user/preparer group (compare Table 6.1.17) 

Accountants 
M NM 

* Significant at 5% level 
** Not significant under MWU test 

Bank officers 
M NM 

Financial analysts 
M NM 

kat officer 
M 

Summary table showing significant differences between the CV and the HC balance 
sheets for Muslims and non-Muslims for each user/preparer group (compare Table 6.1.15) 

Accountants Bank officers Financial analysts 
M NM M NM M NM 

* Significant difference at 5% 
** Not significant under MWU test 
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